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Key Figures
 
 

 
 

 
2016

 
2017

 
2018

Change 
2017/2018

EARNINGS SITUATION

Revenue excl. trans-o-flex EUR m 1,895.6 1,938.9 1,958.5 1.0 %

Revenue EUR m 2,030.5 1,938.9 1,958.5 1.0 %

thereof Mail & Branch Network  1 EUR m 1,478.5 1,447.8 1,412.3 –2.5 %

thereof Parcel & Logistics  1 EUR m 556.0 495.6 552.4 11.5 %

thereof Corporate/Consolidation  1 EUR m –4.0 –4.5 –6.2 –38.9 %

EBITDA EUR m 277.1 294.6 305.4 3.7 %

EBITDA margin % 13.6 15.2 15.6 –

EBIT EUR m 202.3 207.8 210.9 1.5 %

EBIT margin % 10.0 10.7 10.8 –

Earnings before tax EUR m 201.5 220.6 197.8 –10.3 %

Profit for the period EUR m 152.7 165.0 144.2 –12.6 %

Earnings per share  2 EUR 2.26 2.45 2.13 –13.0 %

CASH FLOW

Gross cash flow 3 EUR m 274.7 316.6 352.9 11.5 %

Cash flow from operating activities EUR m 223.6 255.7 295.9 15.7 %

Investment in property, plant and equipment (CAPEX) EUR m –103.3 –102.1 –139.4 –36.6 %

thereof growth CAPEX EUR m –33.5 –24.3 –58.1 < –100 %

Free cash flow EUR m 118.5 146.6 158.4 8.0 %

Operating free cash flow  4 EUR m 156.8 171.4 161.9 –5.6 %

BALANCE SHEET

Total assets  5 EUR m 1,541.8 1,674.2 1,681.2 0.4 %

Equity EUR m 670.0 698.8 699.1 0.0 %

Net cash (–) EUR m –25.7 –10.2 –13.7 –34.1 %

Equity ratio % 43.5 41.7 41.6 –

Return on equity (ROE) % 30.0 30.9 25.8 –

Capital employed EUR m 567.9 616.4 607.9 –1.4 %

Return on capital employed (ROCE) % 35.3 35.1 34.4 –

POST SHARE

Share price at the end of December EUR 31.89 37.42 30.02 –19.8 %

High/low (closing price) EUR 36.57/27.28 40.40/32.43 41.88/29.50 –

Dividends per share (for the financial year) 6 EUR 2.00 2.05 2.08 1.5 %

Total shareholder return 7 % 0.6 23.6 –14.3 –

Market capitalisation at the end of December EUR m 2,154.3 2,527.8 2,027.9 –19.8 %

Shares in circulation at the end of December Shares 67,552,638 67,552,638 67,552,638 –

Free float % 47.2 47.2 47.2 –

NON-FINANCIAL INDICATORS

Employees (average for the period) FTE 21,695 20,524 20,545 0.1 %

Employee sick leave 8 FTE in % 8.9 10.1 10.6 –

Seminars 8 Number 1,048 1,066 1,062 –0.4 %

Customer satisfaction CSI 9 68 69 70 –

CO2 emissions (Scope 1 – 3) 8 t 67,491 68,982 71,389 3.5 %

1	� 2016: Adjustment of revenue in segment reporting
2	� Undiluted earnings per share in relation to 67,552,638 shares 
3	 Reclassification of taxes paid – reported separately in the cash flow from operating activities
4	� Free cash flow before acqusitions/securities and old/new corporate headquarters, adjusted for major property sales, 2017: excl. change in temporary customer cash 

holdings not yet remitted to them; 2018: excl. special effect relating to BAWAG P.S.K. of EUR 70.0 m
5	 Includes assets held for sale in the amount of EUR 2.4 m as at December 31, 2016, and EUR 0.3 m as at December 31, 2018
6	 For the 2018 financial year – Proposal to the Annual General Meeting on April 11, 2019
7	 Change in the share price in a year-on-year comparison plus dividend payments this year excl. reinvestments of dividends
8	 Excl. subsidiaries
9	 Customer Satisfaction Index: Scale of 0 – 100, < 50: critical, 51– 60: fair, 61 –70: good, 71 – 80: very good, 81 – 100: excellent
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AUSTRIAN POST  
AT A GLANCE

Austrian Post is the leading logistics and postal services 
provider in the country. Its core business encompasses the 
transport and delivery of letters, direct mail items, print media, 
packets and parcels as well as various logistics services and 
innovative online services. Customers are offered high-quality 
products and services in the fields of banking and telecommuni
cations by the branch network. Austrian Post is internationally 
active in nine other European countries.

The divisions and their services

Parcel & 
Logistics

■  � Parcels, Pallets and 
Express Parcels

■  � Food Shipments
■  � Additional Logistics Services
■  � Fulfillment & Valuable Goods 

and Cash Transport
■  � E-commerce Services

Mail & 
Branch 
Network

■   Letter Mail
■  � Direct Mail
■  � Media Post
■  � Branch Services
■  � Financial Services

Revenue Mix 
2018

Development of Key Management Indicators

A 
B 
C 
D 
E 
F 
G 

 – Letter Mail 
 – Direct Mail 
 – Media Post 
 – Parcel Austria 
 – Parcel CEE 
 – Financial Services 
 – Branch Services

Revenue
EUR m

2,363.5

1,863.5

2,401.9

1,903.9

2,030.5

1,895.6

1,938.9 1,958.5

2014 1 2015 2016 2017 2018

A – Revenue trans-o-flex 
B – Revenue excl. trans-o-flex

1	� The presentation of revenue in the Parcel & Logistics Division was adjusted. 
Exported services were recognised according to the net method (previously 
reported as revenue and expenses for services used).

Earnings per Share
EUR

2.17 2.10 1
2.26

2.45
2.13

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

1	�� Adjusted for special effects

Letter Mail and Direct Mail
items million

5,637

3,703

1,934

5,597

3,777

1,820 1,733

5,363

3,630

1,710

5,544

3,834

5,283

3,667

1,615

2014 1 2015 2016 1 2017 2018

A – Unaddressed mail items in Austria
B – Addressed mail items in Austria

1	 Adjusted reporting due to automated calculating method

A

B

1.06

A

B

EBITDA and EBIT
EUR m

333.8

196.9

277.1

202.3

294.6

207.8

305.4

210.9

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

 
  –  EBITDA      –  EBIT

1	�� Adjusted for special effects

Dividend per Share
EUR

1.95 1.95 2.00 2.05 2.08 1

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

1	 Proposal to the Annual General Meeting on April 11, 2019

Parcel Volume in Austria
items million

74
80 81

97

108

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

302.7

198.0 1

89.0

1,958  
EUR m

A  40 %21 %  D

5 %    E

3 %
             F

2 %
 G

    B   

21 %

            C 

7 %
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INTRODUCTION BY  
THE MANAGEMENT BOARD

�  left to right WALTER OBLIN, GEORG PÖLZL, PETER UMUNDUM
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Introduction by the Management Board - 03

Ladies and Gentlemen,  
Dear Shareholders!

The business of Austrian Post developed very well in 
2018. Group revenue rose 1.0 % to EUR 1,958.5m. Growth 
in the parcel business (+11.5 %) could offset the decline in 
the mail business (–2.5 %) in spite of a challenging market 
environment. We also succeeded in achieving our earn-
ings targets for the year 2018. Based on the sound reve
nue development combined with stringent cost discipline, 
Group EBIT amounted to EUR 210.9 m, comprising a year-
on-year increase of 1.5 %. During the reporting period, 
the mail business area continued to be characterised 
by a general decrease in addressed letter mail volumes 
triggered by electronic substitution, lower direct mail 
revenue compared to the strong advertising business in 
the previous year and a redimensioned financial services 
business. The new product and rate model which took 
effect July 1, 2018, and offers customers the option to 
choose between time-critical and not time-critical delivery 
had a positive impact on revenue development. Signifi-
cant increases were generated in the parcel area, where 
Austrian Post profited from dynamic market growth driven 
by the ongoing e-commerce trend. The related competitive 
intensity and price pressure remain high. We succeeded 
in increasing parcel volumes by 11 % despite these chal-
lenging conditions. We are confident that we will be able 
to maintain our strong competitive position in this hard-
fought market thanks to our outstanding delivery quality 
and the broad offering of individual customer solutions.

We launched a capacity expansion programme to 
enable us to handle fast-growing parcel volumes in the 
future as well. The existing sorting capacities should be 
increased as quickly as possible. The ground-breaking 

ceremony for the new parcel centre in Hagenbrunn north 
of Vienna already took place in July 2018. Preparations 
are underway for construction of a new logistics centre in 
Kalsdorf near Graz. Moreover, the company is continuously 
pressing ahead with the extension of its service offering 
featuring self-service and online solutions making it even 
easier and more convenient to ship or receive parcels.  

We will propose that the Annual General Meeting ap
prove a dividend of EUR 2.08 per share for the 2018 finan-
cial year based on the strong cash flow and sound balance 
sheet. The 1.5 % dividend increase is consistent with our 
EBIT growth. In this way we once again underline our posi-
tioning as a reliable and predictable investment.  

We are striving for stability in revenue and operating 
earnings once again in the 2019 financial year, accompa
nied by an enhancement of service efficiency and a change 
in structures and processes. For example, mail and par-
cel logistics were bundled under one unified operational 
management at the beginning of 2019. The objective is 
to leverage further synergies in the new structure based 
on volume forecasts for Austrian Post’s mail and parcel 
business, in order to further expand our role as the quality 
leader on the Austrian mail and parcel markets. The key 
to our success is the capability to precisely satisfy current 
customer needs. The foundation for this is our quality lea
dership guaranteed by the untiring commitment each day 
of our more than 20,500 employees. We would like to ex
tend our heartfelt thanks to them for making this possible. 
Together we will succeed in remaining the preferred part-
ner of our customers.

INTRODUCTION BY  
THE MANAGEMENT BOARD

Vienna, March 13, 2019

GEORG PÖLZL 
Chairman of the Management Board  
Chief Executive Officer

WALTER OBLIN 
Deputy Chairman of the Management Board 
Mail & Direct Mail, Finance

PETER UMUNDUM 
Member of the Management Board
Parcel & Logistics, Logistics Networks
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PERFORMANCE DIVERSITY  
WITH HIGH QUALITY 

Austrian Post is the leading logistics and postal services  
provider in Austria. In addition to transporting letters, direct 
mail items, print media, packets, parcels and express mail  
items, Austrian Post also offers various logistics solutions as  
well as innovative online services. 

Mail & Branch Network Division 

The service portfolio of the Mail & Branch Network 
Division encompasses the collection, sorting and delivery 
of letters, postcards, addressed, partly addressed and 
unaddressed direct mail items and newspapers as well 
as parcels and packets within the context of joint delivery 
services. Furthermore, the division also offers postal 
and telecommunications products, financial services as 
well as various online services such as the e-letter and 
cross-media solutions. The offering is complemented by 
physical and digital value-added services for measurable 
successes in customer communication and optimisation 
of document processing (acceptance, processing, print-
ing and dual transmission). In 2018, Austrian Post delivered 
723 million letters, 550 million addressed and 3.3 billion 
unaddressed direct mail items, 342 million print media 
and 336 million regional media items. 

Parcel & Logistics Division 

The Parcel & Logistics Division offers parcel shipment 
solutions from a single provider along the entire value 
chain. The core business of the division is transporting 
parcels and express mail service (EMS) items. Austrian 
Post delivered about 108 million parcels and EMS items in 
its domestic market in 2018. As a result, it is the lead-
ing service provider for delivering parcels for mail order 
companies and private customers as well as B2B ship-
ments, providing the highest quality of nationwide delivery. 
In addition to express services, the product and service 
portfolio also includes a broad spectrum of value-added 
services. Accordingly, the company offers customised 
fulfillment solutions such as warehousing, commission-
ing, returns management, the transport of valuable goods 
and cash, webshop logistics and webshop infrastructure. 
The division offers its services in eight other European 
countries through its subsidiaries. 
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mail and  

7 
parcel logistics centres

413  
drop-off boxes

260 
delivery bases

1,791  
postal service points

15,001  
letterboxes

349 
pick-up stations

34,100  
pick-up boxes



Austrian Post has interna-
tional presence, especially 
in the growth segment of 
parcel and logistics.
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Performance Diversity with High Quality - 05

Slovakia

Montenegro

Austria

Serbia

Bulgaria

Czech Republic  1 

Hungary

Turkey 2

Croatia

Bosnia and 
Herzegovina

Germany

Quality 
Indicators

95.8 %
of all letters posted reach  
their recipients already  
on the next working day

97.3 %
of all parcels to private 
customers are delivered 
within two working days

91.4 %
of all parcels are delivered  
to a recipient on first delivery 
attempt

About 92 % of revenue was generated in the home market 
of Austria in 2018. Here Austrian Post is the market leader  
in the delivery of letters, direct mail items and newspapers 

as well as parcels. Austrian Post could further increase 
parcel volumes in 2018 in the strongly contested parcel 
market in spite of growing competition and price pressure. 
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1	 Recognised as financial asset accounted for using the equity method
2	 Recognised as financial asset

Austrian Parcel Market  1

in %

A – Austrian Post 
B – DPD 
C – DHL

D – GLS 
E – Other

1	 Source: BRANCHENRADAR study CEP services in Austria in 2019

A  48

18  C

6  D

6
E

22  B

Austrian Letter Mail Market  1

in %

A – Austrian Post
B – Other

1	 Source: in-house market estimates for letter mail

A  98

2 
B
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1. �Defending market 
leadership in the core 
business

3. �Enhancing efficiency  
and optimising the cost 
structure

STRATEGY, MISSION,  
MISSION STATEMENT, GOALS

■  �We deliver values – reliably, confidentially 
and personally. 

■  �We are the first choice for all our customers, 
partners and employees – yesterday, today 
and tomorrow. 

■  �We are the leading postal and logistics 
provider in Austria. We are growing in Europe 
as a successful specialist.

 

The three main values of the mission statement: 

1. �CUSTOMER FOCUS 
Our central focus is the customer.

2. �ECONOMIC EFFICIENCY AND 
SUSTAINABILITY 
We focus on the future. 

3. �COMMUNICATION AND APPRECIATION 
We are all part of Austrian Post. 

The Code of Conduct and Ethics supports the 
implementation of the mutually held values. 
The compliance management system ensures 
adherence to the rules.

The Integrated Corporate  
and Sustainability Strategy

Mission

Mission Statement

Goals:

→ Further develop  
the sustainable business 
model of Austrian Post

Goals:

→ Ensure reliable  
supply of postal services 
and shape underlying 
conditions 

→ Focus on customers  
and innovation 

→ Promote social 
commitment 
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2. �Profitable growth  
in selected markets

4. �Customer orientation  
and innovation

Strategy, Mission, Mission Statement, Goals - 07

STRATEGY, MISSION,  
MISSION STATEMENT, GOALS

Market Environment 

Austrian Post operates with its business model in a dynam-
ically changing market. For years digitalisation has been 
the driving force behind the transformation of the postal 
and logistics market. This poses major entrepreneurial 
challenges but also offers significant business opportuni-
ties. The trend towards e-substitution has led to a decline 

in the letter mail business, whereas the strong expansion 
of e-commerce is driving growth in the parcel segment. 

Against this backdrop, Austrian Post has specified 
four strategic directions and implements them consist-
ently through numerous initiatives and measures. Austrian 
Post’s operations are oriented towards its clearly-defined 
set of values. 

The Integrated Corporate  
and Sustainability Strategy

Goals

Economic Goals 

1. SOLID REVENUE DEVELOPMENT 	
2. SUSTAINABLY HIGH PROFITABILITY 	
3. �CONTINUATION OF THE ATTRACTIVE 

DIVIDEND POLICY 
 

Non-financial Goals 

Specific targets with respect to: 

1. EMPLOYEES 
2. SOCIETY
3. ENVIRONMENT 

In line with the principle “Promised – Delivered”, 
the defined targets have been achieved year 
after year. Austrian Post stands on a stable 
economic foundation and takes the concerns of 
different stakeholder groups into consideration 
in order to be able to operate in a sustainably 
successful manner. Austrian Post wants to live 
up to its positioning as a solid, predictable and 
reliable company in the future as well. 

   see Sustainability Report 2018, p. 58

Goals:

→ Promote a corporate  
and leadership culture 

Goals:

→ Protect the climate 
and conserve resources 

→ Pay attention  
to health and safety

→ Strengthen environ
mental awareness 
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Direct Mail/Unaddressed Media Post
Millions of items

4,467 4,311 4,319 4,364 4,222 4,437 4,218

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

A – Unaddressed   
B – Addressed

Parcel Volumes of Austrian Post
Million of parcels

65 70 74
80 81

97
108

~150

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018  2022 

2. Profitable Growth  
in Selected Markets

Austrian Post pursues a focused growth 
strategy complementing its core busi-
ness. For example, it is leveraging growth 
opportunities in the South East and 
Eastern European region with a par-

ticular emphasis on the parcel business. In Austria, the 
company strives to expand its service portfolio along the 

 –1 %

–0.1 %

–4.9 %

A

B

3,822 3,659 3,703 3,777 3,630 3,834 3,667

645 652 615 587 592 603 550

1. Defending Market Leadership 
in the Core Business

Austrian Post is the market leader in 
the domestic letter mail and parcel busi-
ness. It’s business strategy is designed 
to enable the company to maintain this 
strong position and expand its leadership, 

particularly with respect to parcel delivery. In addition to 
ensuring the profitability of its services, Austrian Post 
keeps the focus on high quality service. Austrian Post 
makes a consistent performance promise to its custom-
ers throughout Austria in both its letter mail and parcel 
business, taking current customer requirements into 
account in its product and service portfolio. Parcel volumes 
are growing rapidly. At the same time, expectations are 
increasing with respect to delivery speed and flexibility. 
Austrian Post has launched a comprehensive Austrian-
wide capacity expansion programme to maintain this high 
level of quality.

Letter Mail and Addressed Media Post
Millions of items

1,355 1,357
1,274 1,233

1,141 1,107 1,065

2012 2013 2014  1 2015 2016  1 2017 2018

A – Letter Mail   
B – Adressed Media Post (newspapers / magazines)

1	 Adjusted reporting due to automated calculating method

A

B

 –4 %

–3.8 %

STRATEGIC FOCUS 
2019 – 2021

939 931 866 832 763 728 723

416 426 408 401 378 379 342

 +9 %

150 million 
parcels 

likely to be 
achieved 

earlier
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Strategic Focus 2019  – 2021 - 09

e-commerce value chain. In this regard, the subsidiary 
ACL commerce labs offers complete e-commerce software 
solutions. Generally, other growth areas with earnings 
potential are continuously being identified. Examples 
include the joint venture AEP in the pharmaceutical whole-
sale segment as well as the planned medium-term rea-
lignment of financial services to be handled by the branch 
network.

Start-up companies deepen and extend Austrian Post’s value chain

3. Enhancing Efficiency  
and Flexibilisation of the Cost 
Structure

Austrian Post is relying on an ongoing 
enhancement of efficiency in all of its 
business areas. Regular investments 
designed to modernise the logistics 
infrastructure play a significant role in 

strengthening Austrian Post’s cost leadership. Against 
the backdrop of further volume growth, an investment 
programme in the field of parcel logistics was initiated 
to expand existing sorting capacities as quickly as pos-
sible. Process and staff costs are also subject to ongoing 
evaluation and optimisation. One focus is the reduction 
of staff turnover. Today Austrian Post offers the most 
efficient, highest quality network in Austria and benefits 
from synergies in parcel and letter mail delivery. These 
potential synergies should be further leveraged.

CAPEX
EUR m 1

83

105 103 102

81

58

139

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019  2020 2021

1	 2014  –  2017 incl. CAPEX for new corporate headquarters

~50

~70
Maintenance 
CAPEX

Growth CAPEX
Parcel capacity 
expansion

4. Customer Orientation  
and Innovation

Austrian Post can only be successful in 
the long term on the basis of attractive 
offers which satisfy customer needs. 
For this reason, the company focuses on 
ongoing innovations in its product and 

service portfolio as a means of enhancing customer com-
fort and convenience. The demands of online shoppers are 
increasing as a consequence of the trend towards online 
shopping. Parcels should be sent out and received on a 
24 / 7 basis. Austrian Post is steadily expanding its offering 
in this direction. This includes self-service solutions such 
as drop-off boxes, pick-up boxes and pick-up stations as 
well as the Post App, which enables track and trace as well 
as parcel redirection. Moreover, Austrian Post is launch-
ing the “AllesPost“ service in the spring of 2019 to allow 
customers to assign all parcels to be delivered by Austrian 
Post.

Self-service Solutions
drop-off boxes, pick-up boxes, pick-up stations  
in thousands

3 33

164

315

465

636

869

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

Mail Items in Self-service Solutions
in thousands

32 300
1,174

3,138

5,467

7,883

10,662

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

STRATEGIC FOCUS 
2019 – 2021
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Examples of Control Parameters for  
the Four Strategic Cornerstones

BUSINESS MANAGEMENT

The business management system forms the basis for 
the strategic and operational corporate management. It 
serves as the foundation for management decisions and 
is supported up by the reporting system. On a Group level, 
the business management system is guided by the key 
performance indicators of revenue, EBITDA, EBIT and 
free cash flow, and is thus consistent with the company’s 
three main economic objectives. Another important con-
trol parameter is the profitability of investments (return 
on investment – ROI). 

The business management concept of the Austrian Post 
Group clearly assigns responsibility for business areas 
to its executives. The core business in Austria is divided 
into operational areas of responsibility, to which the re
spective subsidiaries are assigned. This structure ensures 
that the first reporting level shares responsibility for the 

performance benchmarks and, at the same time, each 
business area of the Austrian Group is scrutinised. 

The profitability indicator EBIT is used alongside other 
area-specific indicators. These indicators are divided into 
performance indicators such as sales and process volumes 
or staff deployment. The project business is evaluated on 
the basis of product and customer profitability. Further-
more, the indicator system is complemented by qualitative 
parameters such as the quality of service or customer 
satisfaction on different levels of the value chain as meas-
ured by an external institute. 

The balanced mixture of short-term earnings-oriented  
performance indicators and qualitative parameters 
impacting long-time profitability enables business man-
agement in the interest of sustainable corporate  
success. 

3. Enhancing Efficiency and Flexibilisation of the Cost Structure
■   Development of cost items
■  � Attrition rate in operating or administrative areas

4. Customer Orientation and Innovation 
■  � Customer satisfaction and delivery speed
■  � Ramp-up curve for self-service solutions

2. Profitable Growth in Selected Markets 
■  � Revenue of Group subsidiaries
■   EBIT of Group subsidiaries

1. Defending Market Leadership in the Core Business 
■  � Revenue of the mail and parcel businesses
■  � EBIT of the mail and parcel businesses
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Investment projects are assessed using the dis-
counted cash flow (DCF) method of profitability, in which 
case the discount rate of 7 % is used as the hurdle rate. 
Multiple processes in comparison to relevant peer groups 
are applied for corporate acquisitions. This is designed to 
ensure an effective and efficient allocation of resources. 
In case of foreign acquisitions, macroeconomic analyses 
are queried, which then feed into the business case of the 
respective acquisition target.

Business Management 
in Accordance with Strategic 
Business Areas

The control parameters of Austrian Post are guided by 
the strategic cornerstones of the company. Revenue and 
earnings indicators of the divisions are relevant for the 
priority areas of “defending market leadership in the core 
business” and “profitable growth in selected markets”. 
The emphasis on “enhancing efficiency and increasing flex-
ibility of the cost structure” focuses on the main expendi-
tures and management of the network of postal service 
points. With respect to “customer orientation and innova
tion”, non-financial performance indicators such as the 

Business Management - 11

Revenue 2000  –  2018  1

EUR m

1,542.3 1,565.2 1,571.7 1,585.2
1,654.4 1,701.6 1,736.7

2,315.7

1,809.6

2,441.4

1,887.1

2,356.9

1,834.2

2,351.1

1,820.2

2,348.7

1,791.3

2,366.1

1,839.2

2,366.8

1,862.0

2,363.5

1,863.5

2,401.9

1,903.9

2,030.5

1,895.6

1,938.9 1,958.5

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

Note: 2000 consolidated financial statements in accordance with the Commercial Code, as of 2001 in accordance with IFRS

1	 Revenue excl. trans-o-flex

 

EBIT 2000  –  2018
EUR m

17.4 15.1
4.1

28.1

82.2

103.0

123.3

162.8
169.5

149.4
156.9

167.5

182.4 186.0
196.9 198.0  1 202.3 207.8 210.9

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

Note: 2000 consolidated financial statements in accordance with the Commercial Code, as of 2001 in accordance with IFRS

1	 EBIT adjusted for special effects
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number of postal service points, customer satisfaction and 
the promotion of new self-service solutions are used. 

In addition to the congruence of executives and the 
business area, the cascading of the key performance 
indicators of revenue, EBIT, delivery time quality and cus-
tomer satisfaction comprises an important element in 
the comprehensive control of the Group. Indicators criti-
cal to the success of control measures on the lowest level 
are extremely relevant in the cascade up to the highest 
control level. 

The monthly strategy cockpit as part of the monthly 
report discussed by the Management Board in its capac-
ity as the steering body ensures the seamless intercon
nectivity of the four strategic cornerstones of the Austrian 
Post Group and the Group strategy. A regular strategic 
evaluation is carried out at the beginning of the annual 
planning cycle, serving as the foundation for determining 
key assumptions underlying multi-year planning. In turn, 
this serves as the basis for the first set of measures to 
be derived. 

Ongoing control takes place by means of a monthly 
comparison of the status quo with the previous year, 
planned targets and forecasts for all business units of the 
company. Moreover, automated daily reports are gener-
ated with respect to employee deployment, quality and the 

processed and expected volumes for the purpose of tacti-
cal control. The above-mentioned basic principles of clar-
ity, congruence and consistency are ensured for all these 
assessments. Monthly performance evaluations form the 
centrepiece of financial and operational management. 

Control and Remuneration

The remuneration of the Management Board is in line with 
strategic and operational parameters and is based on a 
three-tiered approach. It consists of a fixed and varia-
ble salary component as well as a Long-term Incentive 
Programme (LTIP). The variable remuneration is based on 
a list of objectives with measurable, quantitative per-
formance indicators and the achievement of qualitative 
performance targets. The list of objectives takes all areas 
of the sustainability strategy into consideration and thus 
reproduces the integrated corporate and sustainability 
strategy we incorporated. The Long-Term Incentive Pro-
gramme is contingent upon Management Board members 
making their own investments in Austrian Post shares and 
aims at a positive, long-term increase in the company’s 
shareholder value. It aligns the interests of company man-
agement with those of Austrian Post shareholders.
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Economic Objectives and their Value Drivers - 13

ECONOMIC OBJECTIVES AND  
THEIR VALUE DRIVERS
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The solid revenue development and sustainably high profitability both constitute  
the basis for continuing the attractive dividend policy.

The solid revenue development is the basis for sustainably high profitability.  
Cost components and their value drivers also have an impact.

Inflation/salary demands,  
labour market development,  

changes in the staff  
structure, collective wage  

agreements,  
interest rates (provisions),  

legal framework  
(duties and charges,  

employment), sick leave,  
employee turnover,  

qualifications,  
employee satisfaction

Va
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e 
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s
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or
sEnergy prices,  

property offering,  
technological developments  

(machinery),  
competition/economic climate

Price structureFuel prices,  
supply of freight  

companies,  
supply of vehicles/repairs

Innovations,  
technological  
parameters

Legally stipulated 
environmental standards

Changes in customer needs, demand for environmentally-friendly products

Staff TransportsIT Infrastructure Other equipment
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e 
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s
In
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ng

 fa
ct

or
sDigitalisation,  

e-substitution,  
regulation

Advertising budgets/ 
economic climate,  

split of advertising channels

Subscription 
business

Demand for  
financial  
services

Online shopping  
growth

Economic situation

Elections

Reliability of supply

Consumer 
expenditures

Competition

Changes in customer needs, corporate image, demand for environmentally-friendly products

Branch Services Private Customer 
Parcels

Business ParcelsLetter Mail Media PostDirect Mail

Valuation  
of property,  

plant and equipment/ 
intangible assets,  

accounting  
standards

Investment  
requirements

Interest rate development,  
stock market,  

alternative investments

Balance sheet Cash flow Capital market expectations
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PARCEL & LOGISTICS DIVISION
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Attractive Dividend Policy 
■   �Further development of dividends based on profitability and generated cash flow
■   �Annual dividend distribution of at least 75 % of the Group net profit

Dividend yield of 

6.9 %

CLEAR CAPITAL MARKET 
POSITIONING AND STABLE 
SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE

A company does not always need an overly exciting busi-
ness model. Reliability is more important for investors, 
primarily in the form of stable dividends. Austrian Post has 
been publicly traded on the Vienna Stock Exchange since 
May 2006 and has shown an impressive track record. 
The company has consistently fulfilled the promise of its 
investment story, even in challenging times. 

Strong Peformance  
Since the IPO 

At its initial public offering, Austrian Post defined a clear 
objective, i. e. to generate sustainable and attractive  
dividends on the basis of its solid business model. Overall, 

investors who purchased Post shares at the IPO in May 
2006 have been paid dividends in the amount of EUR 22.35 
per share. Based on the issue price of EUR 19.00, share-
holders already received a return on investment of more 
than 100 % just from the dividend payments.

Austrian Post aims to continue offering attractive divi-
dends to its shareholders. The Management Board will pro-
pose distribution of a dividend amounting to EUR 140.5 m 
for the 2018 financial year to the Annual General Meeting 
scheduled for April 11, 2019. This corresponds to a dividend 
of EUR 2.08 per share (dividend payment day on April 25, 
2019). Accordingly, the dividend yield equals 6.9 % based on 
the share price of EUR 30.02 at the end of December 2018. 
As a result, Austrian Post ranks as one of the most attrac-
tive dividend stocks on the Vienna Stock Exchange as well 
as in comparison to its peers in the international postal 

Solid Business Model 
■   �Stable revenue development due to its leading market position in Austria
■   �Sustainable profitability due to an efficient cost structure

Promised – Delivered
■   �Prudent and realistic guidance with clearly-defined objectives 
■   �Clear commitment to achieve communicated targets

EBIT 

+1.5 %

Equity ratio of

41.6 %
Strong Balance Sheet and Solid Cash Flow 
■   �Conservative balance sheet structure – high level of cash and cash equivalents  

and low financial liabilities
■   �Solid cash flow allows future-oriented investments

Good Reasons for an Investment  
in Austrian Post
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Clear Capital Market Positioning - 15

and logistics sector. Austrian Post also aims for a dividend 
payout ratio of at least 75 % of the profit for the period 
attributable to shareholders in the future. The company 
strives to distribute a sustainable dividend that develops 
in line with the Group net profit. 

Dividends per Share 2014  –  2018
EUR

1.95 1.95 2.00 2.05 2.08 1

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

1	 Proposal to the Annual General Meeting on April 11, 2019

When taking into account the share price development, in 
addition to the dividend payments, the return on invest-
ment for the original shareholders is actually much higher. 
The price of Austrian Post shares rose from EUR 19.00 in 
May 2006 to EUR 30.02 at the end of December 2018. On 
the basis of the issue price as at May 30, 2006, the total 
shareholder return including dividend payments exceeds 
175 %.

The Post Share in 2018

The Austrian Post share started the year 2018 at a price 
of EUR 37.42. The value of the share appreciated modestly 
and reached the year’s high of EUR 41.88 at the end of 
the second quarter. The Post share dropped to its year-
low of EUR 29.50 towards the end of the fourth quarter. 
The Austrian Post share closed the year at EUR 30.02, 
implying a year-on-year decline of 19.8 %. 

The development of the entire European postal sector 
was comparatively weak in 2018. Austrian Post’s peers on 
the international capital market, i. e. bpost, CTT, Deutsche 
Post, PostNL and Royal Mail, consistently fell in value. 
In the course of the year, the industry barometer EURO 
STOXX TMI Industrial Transportation was down 26.8 %.

Total Shareholder Return since the Initial Public Offering (IPO 2006 to December 31, 2018)

350 %

300 %

250 %

200 %

150 %

100 %

50 %

0 %

May 30, 
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Dec. 31, 
2018

  Austrian Post Total Shareholder Return (+175.6 %) 
  Austrian Post Share Price (+58.0 %)
  EURO STOXX TMI Industrial Transportation (+10.7 %)
  ATX (–26.6 %)

Total Shareholder Return of +175.6 %

Austrian Post
EUR 19.00

Austrian Post
EUR 30.02
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Stable Shareholder Structure

A shareholder ID carried out at the beginning of 2019 con-
cluded that, in addition to the main shareholder ÖBAG  1, 
about 34.7 % of total shares are held by European inves-
tors (–0.3 percentage points compared to the previous 
analysis at the beginning of 2018). Thereby 19.2 % of these 
shares are held by private and institutional investors 
in Austria (+0.8 percentage points), 9.8 % in continental 
Europe (+0.2) and 5.7 % in the UK and Ireland (–0.7).  
A total of 12.2 % of the shares (–0.2) are currently held by 
North American investors (USA, Canada), whereas inves-
tors in the rest of the world account for 0.2 % (–0.2).

Since the buy-back of 2,447,362 shares in 2008 and the 
subsequent withdrawal of all the company’s own shares on 
April 24, 2009, the share capital of Austrian Post contin-
ues to be divided into 67,552,638 non-par value ordinary 
shares. This corresponds to a nominal value of EUR 5.00 
per share. There are no voting rights restrictions or syndi-
cate agreements applying to Austrian Post that the com-
pany is aware of. The principle of “one share – one vote” 
applies without exception.

Shareholder Structure
in %

A – ÖBAG 1

B – �Private and institutional investors  
in Austria

C – Continental Europe (excl. Austria)

D – UK and Ireland
E – North America 
F – Rest of the world

0.2

52.8A

19.2 B

9.8 C

5.7 D

12.2
E

F

Development of the Post Share and Peers (Jan. 1, 2018, to Dec. 31, 2018)

140 %

120 %

100 %

80 %

60 %

40 %

20 %

0 %

01/2018 02/2018 03/2018 04/2018 05/2018 06/2018 07/2018 08/2018 09/2018 10/2018 11/2018 12/2018

  Austrian Post (–19.8 %) 
  CTT (–16.0 %)
  Deutsche Post (–39.8 %)
  Royal Mail (–39.9 %)
  PostNL (–51.0 %)
  bPost (–68.5 %)

1	� Österreichische Bundes- und Industriebeteiligungen GmbH (ÖBIB) was converted 
into a public limited company on February 15, 2019. The name of the company was 
changed to Österreichische Beteiligungs AG (ÖBAG).

Austrian Post
–19.8 %
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Ongoing Communication with 
the Capital Market 

Solid, predictable and reliable: this is how Austrian 
Post wants to be regarded by its investors. Since its IPO, 
Austrian Post pays a great attention to actively com-
municating with investors and analysts. In addition to 
numerous visits by institutional investors and analysts 
in Vienna, regular meetings were held with representa-
tives of the financial community in Austria and in inter-
national financial centres such as Frankfurt, London, 
Zurich, New York, Amsterdam, Madrid and Paris in 2018. 
In total, the Management Board and investor relations 
team engaged in an intensive dialogue with more than 
200 institutional investors at about 30 roadshows and 
investor conferences. 

The high quality of Austrian Post’s financial reporting was 
demonstrated by the Special Annual Report Award and 
the SILVER award it received at the Austrian Financial 
Communications Awards. Apart from the annual and half-
year reports, the presence on the capital market and 
investor relations activities of companies were assessed. 
However, Austrian Post’s financial market communica-
tions not only succeeded with respect to contents. Several 
international awards were given to Austrian Post for the 
graphic design of its 2017 annual report. Accordingly, 
the company received one “Grand” and “Best of Austria” 
as well as three GOLD and one SILVER once in various 
categories of the ARC Award and PLATINUM at the Vision 
Award LACP as the “TOP 100” worldwide and “Best Agency 
Report EMEA Region”. 

Represented in Numerous Indices  
and Good Ratings

Austrian Post has been listed in the ATX, the blue-chip 
index of the Vienna Stock Exchange, since September 18, 
2006. The ATX index measures the valuation develop-
ment of the 20 Austrian companies with the highest 
trading volume and market capitalisation. The weighting 
of Austrian Post shares equalled 2.5 % as at December 31, 
2018. In addition to the ATX, Austrian Post is also rep-
resented in ATX Prime and EURO STOXX TMI Industrial 
Transportation, amongst others.

The fact that Austrian Post operates in a sustainable 
manner is confirmed by its ongoing listing in the VÖNIX 
Sustainability Index of the Vienna Stock Exchange since 
2007. Austrian Post was once again given an outstanding 
assessment (A– Rating) in the Carbon Disclosure Project 
(CDP), the world’s largest database for company-related 
environmental and climate information used by capital 
market participants to evaluate potential investments. 
Moreover, the sustainability activities of Austrian Post 
were analysed and positively rated by ISS oekom research 
(Prime Status Rating) and MSCI ESG Research. In Septem-
ber 2018 Austrian Post was once again given the highest 
rating of AAA by MSCI. 

Austrian Post is not rated by any mayor rating agency 
due to the fact that it has not raised any substantial 
amount of debt and is in a position to cover its current 
financing projects on its own.

Extensive Research Coverage

The recommendations and share price targets of analysts 
play an important role for investment decisions next to the 
overall business environment and the specific character-
istics of a company. At the same time, Austrian Post views 
the analyst reports as valuable feedback on the compa-
ny’s strategy and development from industry experts. As 
at the end of December 2018, Austrian Post is regularly 
covered by a total of thirteen investment banks: Barclays, 
Berenberg, Citi, Deutsche Bank, Erste Group, Goldman 
Sachs, HSBC, Jefferies, Kepler Cheuvreux, MainFirst Bank, 
Raiffeisen Centrobank, Royal Bank of Canada and UBS.

An overview of the latest assessments by these invest
ment banks is available on the internet.  

  �� post.at/ir
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Share and Dividend Indicators
  

 
 

2017
 

2018 Change 2017/2018

Earnings per share 1 EUR 2.45 2.13 –13.1 %

Dividends per share EUR 2.05 2.08  2 1.5 %

Dividend payout EUR m 138.5 140.5  2 1.5 %

Dividend yield  3 % 5.5 6.9  2 –

Total shareholder return (annual performance incl. dividend) 4 % 23.6 –14.3 –

Total shareholder return since IPO 4 % 203.8 175.6 –

Share price performance % 17.3 –19.8 –

PE (price/earnings ratio) at the end of December – 15.3 14.1 –7.8 %

Share price at the end of December EUR 37.42 30.02 –19.8 %

High/low (closing price) EUR 40.40/32.43 41.88/29.50 –

Market capitalisation at the end of December EUR m 2,527.8 2,027.9 –19.8 %

Number of shares in circulation at the end of December Shares 67,552,638 67,552,638 –

Free float % 47.2 47.2 –

1	 Undiluted earnings per share in relation to 67,552,638 shares 
2 	 Proposal to the Annual General Meeting on April 11, 2019
3 	 Dividends per share divided by share price at year-end of the respective financial year
4 	 Change in the share price plus dividend payment (excl. reinvestment of the dividend)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Austrian Post is a joint stock company under Austrian 
law and is publicly listed on the Vienna Stock Exchange. 
The Austrian Stock Corporation Act, Austrian Capital 
Market Act, Austrian Commercial Code, regulations on 
co-determination, the Articles of Association and by-laws 
for corporate bodies of the company together with the 
Austrian Corporate Governance Code (ACGC) comprise 
the legal framework for corporate governance at Austrian 
Post.

Adherence to the principles of proper corporate gov-
ernance constitutes the basis for the trust of our employ-
ees, shareholders, customers, suppliers and the general 
public in the management and supervision of the company 
based on the orientation towards the long-term creation 
of value. 

1. Commitment to the Austrian 
Corporate Governance Code

The Austrian Corporate Governance Code provides a 
framework for the management and control of a company, 
complementing Austrian stock corporation and capital 
market regulations on the basis of recommendations and 
suggestions with respect to good corporate governance. 

Austrian Post is unreservedly committed to complying 
with the current and valid version of the Austrian Cor-
porate Governance Code and considers maintaining and 
further developing the company’s high internal standards 
as a top priority. In the 2018 financial year, Austrian Post 
complied with all rules and recommendations of the Aus-
trian Corporate Governance Code.

The Austrian Corporate Governance Code is publicly 
available on the Austrian Post Website at post.at/ir or on 
the Website of the Austrian Working Group for Corporate 
Governance at corporate-governance.at.

 In accordance with Rule 62 of the Austrian Corporate 
Governance Code, Austrian Post regularly has its compli-
ance with the code and the accuracy of its related public 
reporting evaluated externally. The last appraisal carried 
out for the 2017 financial year by the auditor, KPMG 
Austria GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungs- und Steuerberatungs
gesellschaft, did not recognise any facts which contradict 
the company’s public declarations with respect to its 

adherence to the Austrian Corporate Governance Code. 
The next external evaluation is scheduled to be carried out 
for the 2019 financial year.

Group Auditing, Risk Management  
and Compliance

The Internal Audit department at Austrian Post per-
forms important controlling and monitoring functions in 
the Group as part of an integrated overall system. This 
department promotes transparency, supplies facts for 
decision-making processes, presents solutions and pro-
motes their sustainable implementation.

Risk management at Austrian Post enables the Group-
wide identification and analysis of risks on the basis of 
strategic and operational targets. The proper functioning 
and suitability are evaluated by the auditor pursuant to 
C-Rule 83 of the Austrian Corporate Governance Code.

Austrian Post’s Group internal control system (ICS) 
makes use of process-integrated measures, mechanisms 
and controls in its organisation and technical processes. 
The ICS at Austrian Post is based on existing risk manage-
ment and process structures in the company, encompasses 
the internal control activities relating to major risks and 
monitors the internal control implementation process. The 
Internal Audit department carries out an ex-post exami-
nation of compliance with relevant regulations. Its findings 
serve as the basis for determining the effectiveness of the 
integrated control process and mechanisms.

Compliance comprises the third pillar of good cor-
porate governance in addition to risk management and 
Group auditing. A compliance management system (CMS) 
was already launched in 2010 and continuously expanded 
since then. The Code of Conduct and Ethics of Austrian 
Post serves as the basis for the compliance management 
system. It provides the framework and guidelines for the 
interactions of employees with each other and the rela-
tions with stakeholders.

The focal points of Austrian Post’s compliance 
management system are business compliance and capital 
market compliance. The department also supports the 
company on other issues such as antitrust compliance 

  �� post.at/ir�  
corporate-governance.at
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and business partner compliance. The new directive on 
the issue of business compliance was issued in 2018, and 
comprehensive training, information and communications 
activities were continued. The focus was on the improve-
ment and professionalisation of the compliance manage-
ment system. The top priority in the company’s compli-
ance work in 2018 was the certification of the compliance 
management system in line with the standards ISO 37001 
and 19600 by external auditors. The ongoing efforts in 
compliance management were ultimately confirmed and 

rewarded with the issuing of the ISO certificate in October 
2018.

2. Composition of the 
Management Board

As at December 31, 2018, the Management Board of 
Austrian Post consisted of the following members:

Name (year of birth) Position First appointed Current term of office expires

Georg Pölzl (1957) Chairman of the Management Board Oct. 1, 2009 Sept. 30, 2024  1

Walter Oblin (1969) Deputy Chairman of the Management Board  2 July 1, 2012 June 30, 2020

Peter Umundum (1964) Member of the Management Board April 1, 2011 March 31, 2021  1

Walter Hitziger (1960) Member of the Management Board May 1, 2004 Resigned effective Dec. 31, 2018

1	 Taking account of the extension option
2	 since January 1, 2019

Areas of Responsibility

   Georg Pölzl    Walter Oblin    Peter Umundum

■  � Strategy and Group Development
■  � Corporate Communications
■  � Investor Relations, Group Auditing & 

Compliance
■  � Innovation and Digitalisation
■  � End Customer Initiatives and Customer 

Service
■  � Human Resources Management 
■  � Branch Network 
■  � E-Commerce GmbH

■  � Mail & Direct Mail Division incl.  
strategic investments in Austria  
and Germany 

■  � Group Controlling
■  � Group Accounting
■  � Group Treasury 
■  � Group Information Technology
■  � Group Procurement and Vehicle Fleet 
■  � Legal 
■  � Corporate Real Estate 

■  �� Parcel & Logistics Division incl. strategic 
investments in Austria, Czech Republic, 
Croatia, Hungary, Slovakia, Serbia, Bosnia 
and Herzegovina, Montenegro, Bulgaria and 
Turkey 

■  � Logistics Network Mail, Direct Mail and Parcel
■  � Logistics Services 
■   Process Optimisation in Logistics
■ 	 International Business Development

Changes were made to the Management Board of 
Austrian Post as at January 1, 2019. Walter Hitziger, Mem-
ber of the Management Board with responsibility for the 
Mail & Branch Network Division resigned from his position 
effective December 31, 2018. An extraordinary meeting 
of the Supervisory Board held on December 17, 2018, 
resolved to downsize the Management Board and reassign 
responsibilities in a three-member board.

Georg Pölzl was already reappointed to the posi-
tion of Chairman of the Management Board of Austrian 
Post at the Supervisory Board meeting of November 14, 
2018, in accordance with the regulations contained in the 

Public Appointments Act. The current term of office of 
Georg Pölzl will last until September 30, 2019, and will be 
extended thereafter for a period of three years with a sub-
sequent extension option for a further two years. At the 
same time, Walter Oblin was appointed by the Supervisory 
Board to serve as Deputy Chairman of the Management 
Board effective January 1, 2019. 

Information on the individual Management Board 
members including their professional careers is presented 
below. The members of the Management Board do not 
hold any management or supervisory positions in Austrian 
Post’s main subsidiaries.
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Professional Careers 

GEORG PÖLZL
Georg Pölzl studied and graduated from Montan 

University of Natural Resources and Applied Life Sciences 
Austria in Leoben. His professional career started as a 
corporate consultant for McKinsey & Company. Subse-
quently, he was appointed to the Management Board of 
the mechanical engineering and plant building company 
Binder+Co AG. He then served as Managing Director of 
T-Mobile Austria, Vienna, for a total of nine years before 
moving to Germany to assume the position as special 
deputy of the Management Board of Deutsche Telekom 
with responsibility for implementing the successful 
restructuring programme at the company. He served as 
the Spokesman of the Management Board of T-Mobile 
Germany before his initial appointment to the position 
of Chairman of the Management Board of Austrian Post 
in 2009. The Supervisory Board reappointed Georg Pölzl 
to serve as Chairman of the Management Board in its 
meeting held on November 14, 2018. His current term of 
office, taking account of the extension option, expires on 
September 30, 2024.

WALTER OBLIN
Walter Oblin concluded his studies in mechanical 

engineering and business administration at the Graz Uni-
versity of Technology and also holds a Master of Science 
in Industrial Administration from Purdue University in 
Indiana (USA). He worked at McKinsey & Company in 
Vienna during the period 1994 to 2008 and was appointed 
a managing partner and member of the Management 
Board in the year 2000. During this time, he primarily con-
sulted international transport, infrastructure and logis-
tics companies in dealing with strategic and operational 
changes. Following a managing board position with the 
German technology company SorTech AG, he joined Aus-
trian Post in October 2009, where he was responsible for 
Strategy and Group Development until his appointment to 
the Management Board in 2012. The Supervisory Board 
re-appointed Walter Oblin to serve as Deputy Chairman 
of the Management Board in its meeting held on Novem-
ber 14, 2018. His current term of office expires on June 30, 
2020.

PETER UMUNDUM
Following his studies in computer sciences at the 

Graz University of Technology, Peter Umundum com-
menced his professional career in 1988 at Steirerbrau 
AG, where he assumed managerial responsibility for the 
Organisation and Computing Department. In 1994, he 
moved to Styria Medien AG as the head of IT and just 
two years later was appointed as the CEO of the subsid-
iary Media Consult Austria GmbH. In 1999, he acted as 

one of the founders and CEO of redmail. In 2001, Peter 
Umundum became managing director of the daily news
paper “Die Presse” and three years later he joined the 
executive management of the daily newspaper “Kleine 
Zeitung”. In 2005, he accepted a position at Austrian 
Post, where he served as a managing director of the Mail 
Division with responsibility for production and logistics 
as well as domestic and international subsidiaries until 
being appointed to the Management Board in 2011. 
His current term of office, taking account of the exten-
sion option, expires on March 31, 2021.

3. Composition of the 
Supervisory Board

As at December 31, 2018, the Supervisory Board con-
sisted of a total of twelve members, i. e. eight shareholder 
representatives elected by the Annual General Meeting 
and four employee representatives elected by the Central 
Works Council of Austrian Post.

The following changes took place in the Supervisory 
Board during the 2018 financial year. Erich Hampel, 
Markus Pichler and Elisabeth Stadler left the Supervisory 
Board effective at the end of the Annual General Meet-
ing on April 19, 2018. Huberta Gheneff, Jochen Danninger 
and Stefan Szyszkowitz were elected to the Supervisory 
Board of Austrian Post for the first time. At the same 
time, Edith Hlawati, Peter E. Kruse and Chris E. Muntwyler 
were re-elected to serve on the Supervisory Board. 

The terms of office of the shareholder representatives 
elected by the Annual General Meeting 2018 will expire 
at the end of the Annual General Meeting resolving upon 
the discharge of the Supervisory Board members for the 
2022 financial year. The terms of office of the members 
Edeltraud Stiftinger and Herta Stockbauer, who have 
served on the Supervisory Board since 2015, will expire 
at the end of the Annual General Meeting resolving upon 
the discharge of the Supervisory Board members for the 
2019 financial year. 

At the constituent meeting of the new Supervisory 
Board which took place on April 19, 2018, Edith Hlawati 
was re-elected to serve as its Chairwoman. 

The constituent meeting of the new Central Works 
Council of Austrian Post on October 30, 2018, elected 
Maria Klima to serve as the successor to Andreas 
Schieder on the Supervisory Board pursuant to Sec-
tion 110 Labour Constitution Act (ArbVG).



C
O

R
P

O
R

A
TE

 G
O

V
E

R
N

A
N

C
E

Corporate Governance Report - 23

Name 
(year of birth) Nationality Main job

First  
appointed 

Current term of  
office expires

Mandates in publicly listed 
companies (as at Dec. 31, 2018)

SHAREHOLDER REPRESENTATIVES

 

Edith Hlawati  
(1957)  
Chairwoman Austrian Lawyer April 26, 2007 

Annual General Meeting 
2023 Telekom Austria AG

 

Edeltraud Stiftinger 
(1966)  
Deputy Chairwoman Austrian

Managing Director 
Austria Wirtschafts-
service GmbH April 15, 2015 

Annual General Meeting 
2020  

 

Jochen Danninger 
(1975) Austrian

Managing Director 
ecoplus. Niederöster-
reichs Wirtschafts-
agentur GmbH April 19, 2018

Annual General Meeting 
2023  

 

Huberta Gheneff 
(1964) Austrian Lawyer April 19, 2018 

Annual General Meeting 
2023  

 

Peter E. Kruse 
(1950) Swiss

Management 
consultant April 24, 2014 

Annual General Meeting 
2023  

 

Chris E. Muntwyler 
(1952) Swiss

CEO of Conlogic AG 
(Switzerland) April 22, 2010 

Annual General Meeting 
2023

National Express Group 
PLC (UK)

 

Herta Stockbauer 
(1960)  
Financial expert Austrian

Chairwoman of the 
Managing Board,  
BKS Bank AG April 15, 2015 

Annual General Meeting 
2020

SW Umwelttechnik Stoiser 
& Wolschner AG, Oberbank 
AG, Bank für Tirol und 
Vorarlberg AG 

 

Stefan Szyszkowitz 
(1964) Austrian

Spokesman of the 
Executive Board, 
EVN AG April 19, 2018

Annual General Meeting 
2023

Burgenland Holding AG, 
Verbund AG

EMPLOYEE REPRESENTATIVES	

 

Maria Klima  
(1980) Austrian Central Works Council April 14, 2005   

 

Helmut Köstinger 
(1957) Austrian

Central Works Council 
(Chairman) Feb. 22, 2002   

 

Martin Palensky  
(1963) Austrian

Central Works Council 
(Deputy Chairman) Oct. 30, 2018   

 

Manfred Wiedner 
(1963) Austrian Central Works Council March 3, 1999   
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Independence

In accordance with C-Rule 53 of the Austrian Corpo
rate Governance Code, the Supervisory Board of Austrian 
Post has defined the following criteria to determine the 
independence of Supervisory Board members in compli-
ance with Appendix 1 of the January 2018 version of the 
Austrian Corporate Governance Code: 

1.	� The Supervisory Board member shall not have served 
as a member of the Management Board or as a man-
ager of the company or one of its subsidiaries in the 
past five years.

2.	� The Supervisory Board member shall not maintain 
or have maintained in the past year any business 
relations with the company or one of its subsidiaries 
to an extent of significance for the Supervisory Board 
member. This shall also apply to relationships with 
companies in which the Supervisory Board member 
has a considerable economic interest, but not to car-
rying out functions on corporate bodies. The approval 
of individual transactions by the Supervisory Board 
according to L-Rule 48 does not automatically mean 
the person is qualified as being not independent.

3.	� The Supervisory Board member shall not have been 
an auditor of the company, have owned a share in 
the auditing company or have worked there as an 
employee over the past three years.

4.	� The Supervisory Board member shall not be a member 
of the Management Board of another company in 
which a Management Board member of this company 
is a Supervisory Board member.

5.	� The Supervisory Board member shall not serve as a 
member of the Supervisory Board for longer than 15 
years. This does not apply to Supervisory Board mem-
bers who are shareholders with a stake in the com-
pany or who represent such a shareholder’s interests.

6.	� The Supervisory Board member shall not be a close 
relative (i. e. direct offspring, spouse, partner, parent, 
uncle, aunt, sibling, niece or nephew) of a Manage-
ment Board member or of persons in one of the 
above-mentioned positions.

All shareholder representatives of Austrian Post are 
independent. Written declarations of their independence 
have been submitted in accordance with the above-men-
tioned criteria. No shareholder representative has a stake 
of more than 10 % in the company or represents the inter-
ests of such a shareholder. 

There are no contracts between the Supervisory Board 
members and Austrian Post which would require consent 
or disclosure pursuant to Rules 48 and 49 of the Austrian 
Corporate Governance Code.

4. Diversity Concept and 
Measures to Promote the 
Advancement of Women

Equal opportunity at work and equal treatment of 
employees without rgard to gender and age are self-evi-
dent for Austrian Post as well as Group subsidiaries. 

Positions on the corporate bodies of Management 
Board and Supervisory Board should be filled with individ-
uals who provide the relevant qualifications and personal 
competence promoting and safeguarding the management 
and supervision of a publicly-listed logistics and postal 
services provider. Ensuring a professional and personal 
balance in the composition of the Supervisory Board 
should be borne in mind. In this case, the diversity of the 
Supervisory Board with respect to the representation of 
both genders, a balanced age structure and the interna-
tionality of the members are to be taken into account. 

A total of five women are represented on the Super-
visory Board, comprising a share of about 42 %. This 
completely fulfils the statutory gender quota of 30 % which 
took effect on January 1, 2018, and which applies sepa-
rately for shareholder and employee representatives. 

The Supervisory Board members show a balanced 
age structure ranging from 39 to 68. Two members are 
not Austrian nationals. As a whole, the Supervisory Board 
covers the entire spectrum of fields which are impor-
tant for the company such as finance and know-how in 
the fields of logistics and services. Business manage-
ment skills and legal knowledge as well as longstanding 
management experience and competence round out the 
profile of the Austrian Post Supervisory Board. 

No woman currently serves on the Management Board 
of Austrian Post. Women have been promoted to man-
agement jobs on the first and second reporting levels in 
numerous business areas and held 25 % of senior manage
ment positions at Austrian Post in 2018. On balance, 
women comprised 32 % of the workforce throughout the 
Austrian Post Group. Against the backdrop of a conceiva-
ble filling of vacant Management Board positions from the 
company’s own ranks, the strategic objective is to achieve 
the best possible diversity at the highest management 
level and gradually increase the proportion of women in 
executive positions.

In 2018, Austrian Post developed the flagship project 
“Gender Balance”, a strategy designed to gradually achieve 
a balance between women and men on all levels. The 
cornerstones of the strategy are target agreements with 
the top management, the gradual embedding of effective 
measures and the establishment of a gender balance team 
to implement measures and support the change process. 

Austrian Post was the first purely Austrian company 
to apply the Women Career Index within the context of its 
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strategy development. The index, which was developed 
and firmly entrenched in Germany, measures the openness 
of the company for women climbing the career ladder and 
opportunities in executive positions. Austrian Post will 
now subject itself to an annual assessment by the Women 
Career Index in order to continue reliably measuring the 
progress and potential of the company’s commitment to 
gender balance.

Different target parameters were defined for the 
worlds of work in determining the corporate gender bal-
ance objectives applying for the years 2019 to 2023. These 
parameters will be evaluated each year and then defined 
for the next five-year period on a rolling basis. To take an 
example, the target parameters  1 for 2023 specify a 41 % 
share of “women overall” and a share of 39 % for “women 
in executive positions”. 

The programme “Mentoring for Women at Austrian 
Post” under the patronage of Edith Hlawati, Chairwoman 
of the Supervisory Board, and Edeltraud Stiftinger, Dep-
uty Chairwoman of the Supervisory Board, was initiated 
in 2018 as a specific measure to promote the career 
advancement of women. Approximately 25 selected female 
junior executives (mentees) have an experienced executive 
from another company at their disposal to serve as their 
mentor for career and development issues. Various events 
were held to offer mentees the possibility to promote their 
own personal and professional development and to ensure 
a mutual exchange of experiences.

Austrian Post aims to position itself as an attractive 
employer for women. For this purpose, implemented 
measures particularly focus on ensuring the compatibility 
of career and family and creating suitable career oppor-
tunities. In 2016, Austrian Post was once again given the 
“Career and Family Certificate” by the Austrian Federal 
Ministry of Families and Youth, which is valid until 2019. 
The Austrian Post programme to promote the career 
advancement of women was revamped in 2017. Its underly
ing objective is to ensure equal opportunities for women 
and men in the company on the basis of the Federal Equal 
Treatment Act (B-GIBG).

5. Mode of Operation of the 
Management and Supervisory 
Boards

The Management Board is the managing body of the 
Austrian Post Group and is bound to act in the company’s 
best interests. It manages the business of the company 
on the basis of prevailing legal regulations, the Articles of 
Association and the by-laws. The by-laws for the Manage-
ment Board stipulate the assignment of responsibilities 
and cooperation within the Management Board. They also 
define the information and reporting obligations of the 
Management Board as well as a catalogue of measures 
requiring the formal approval of the Supervisory Board.

The Management Board discusses the current busi-
ness development at Austrian Post, as well as strategic 
and operational issues during meetings held at least every 
fourteen days. At these meetings decisions are made that 
require the approval of the entire Management Board. 
Moreover, the members of the Management Board contin-
ually exchange information about relevant activities and 
events with each other and with the responsible executives.

A so-called Executive Management Council provides 
support to the Management Board in running the com-
pany. This leadership team consists of approximately 50 
top-level employees and plays an advisory and supporting 
role with respect to all operational and strategic issues 
affecting Austrian Post. 

The Management Board regularly provides the Super-
visory Board with timely and comprehensive information 
about all relevant issues relating to business development, 
including the assessment of the risk situation and risk 
management at Austrian Post and all key Group subsidiar-
ies. Moreover, in the spirit of good corporate governance, 
ongoing consultations take place between the respective 
chairmen of the Supervisory and Management Boards 
concerning those matters which fall under the jurisdiction 
of the Supervisory Board. 

The Supervisory Board monitors and oversees the 
activities of the Management Board and makes decisions 
on issues of fundamental importance as well as the strate-
gic direction of the company. The work of the Supervisory 
Board is characterised by a high level of openness. The 
intensive work carried out by Supervisory Board commit-
tees supports the Supervisory Board with a view to ensur-
ing focused discussions and efficient decision making. 

Eight meetings of the Supervisory Board were held in 
the 2018 financial year. The focus of the ordinary meetings 
of the Supervisory Board was on monitoring the ongoing 
business development of Austrian Post and its subsidiar-
ies as well as various transactions requiring Supervisory 
Board approval. Ongoing strategic development projects 
were intensively discussed in detail at all sessions. The 1	 Target parameters calculated in relation to the number of employees
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priorities of the work carried out by the Supervisory Board 
in 2018 are summarised in the Report of the Supervisory 
Board to the Annual General Meeting. 

The average attendance of the members at Super
visory Board meetings was about 89 %. No member per-
sonally attended fewer than half of the sessions. 

The training programme for the Supervisory Board 
has become an integral part of the Supervisory Board’s 
work and was continued in 2018. The main focal points 
of the events were “Trends in the banking sector”, 
“Current developments on the postal and logistics market”, 
“Turkey – economic development forecasts”, “Gender 
balance” and “Employee protection”. The discussions 
held with internal and external experts are particularly 
designed to deepen the market knowledge of the Super
visory Board members and intensify an exchange of 
experiences outside of the meetings. 

In accordance with the stipulations of the Austrian 
Corporate Governance Code (C-Rule 36), the Supervisory 
Board carried out a self-evaluation of its work in the 2018 
financial year on the basis of a questionnaire. The evalu-
ated results were extensively discussed, and they will be 
integrated into the future work of the Supervisory Board.

Both the Management Board and the Supervisory 
Board are required to disclose any potential conflicts of 
interest. Members of the Supervisory Board are required 
to immediately report any potential conflicts of interest to 
the Chairman of the Supervisory Board. If the Chairman 
himself is involved in a conflict of interest, he is required 
to immediately disclose this to the Deputy Chairman. With 
respect to Management Board meetings dealing with the 
personal or economic interests of a particular Manage-
ment Board member, this member is not permitted to take 
part in the relevant decision making. 

Committees

 Executive Committee Nomination Committee Remuneration Committee Audit Committee Parcel & Logistics Committee

Edith Hlawati   (Chairwoman)   (Chairwoman)   

Jochen Danninger     

Huberta Gheneff     

Peter E. Kruse       (Chairman)

Chris E. Muntwyler     

Edeltraud Stiftinger   (Chairwoman)  

Herta Stockbauer     

Stefan Szyszkowitz     

Maria Klima      

Helmut Köstinger   

Martin Palensky      

Manfred Wiedner     

The Executive Committee is responsible for regulating 
the relationships between the company and the members 
of the Management Board, including granting approval 
to secondary employment, inasmuch as this does not fall 
within the jurisdiction of the entire Supervisory Board, 
the Remuneration or Nomination Committee. In addition, 
the Executive Committee maintains regular contact to the 
Chairman of the Management Board, discussing strategy 
and business development with him. 

The Nomination Committee submits recommen-
dations to the Supervisory Board with respect to filling 
vacant positions on the Management Board, and also 
deals with issues relating to succession planning. The 
Nomination Committee or the entire Supervisory Board 
submits specific proposals to the Annual General Meeting 

on filling vacant Supervisory Board positions. In the 2018 
financial year, one session of the Nomination Committee 
dealt with filling the position of the Chairman of the 
Management Board.

The Remuneration Committee deals with the contents 
of employment contracts with Management Board mem-
bers, ensures implementation of the remuneration rules 
contained in the Austrian Corporate Governance Code, 
and regularly evaluates the policies governing remunera-
tion of Management Board members.

Eleven meetings of the Remuneration Committee were 
held in 2018. The focal points were the remuneration for 
the 2017 financial year as well as target agreements for 
2018 and the Long-term Incentive Programme 2018 – 2020. 
The Remuneration Committee also carried out an overall 



C
O

R
P

O
R

A
TE

 G
O

V
E

R
N

A
N

C
E

Corporate Governance Report - 27

analysis of the amount and structure of Management 
Board remuneration at Austrian Post. More information 
can be found in the Remuneration Report. 

The Remuneration Committee also prepared changes 
in the composition of the Management Board and the 
agreement to terminate the Management Board employ-
ment contract with Walter Hitziger. 

The Audit Committee performs the tasks assigned to 
it pursuant to Section 92 Para. 4a Austrian Stock Corpo-
ration Act as well as Rule 40 of the Austrian Corporate 
Governance Code. The Audit Committee includes a finan-
cial expert as required by the law and the code.

The Audit Committee held four meetings in the 2018 
financial year. In addition to reviewing and preparing 
approval of the annual financial statements and consoli-
dated annual financial statements for 2017, great impor-
tance was attached to supervising the financial reporting 
process, the internal control system as well as the audit 
and risk management systems. A further focus of its work 
was preparing the proposal of the Supervisory Board for 
the election of the auditor and monitoring the indepen
dence of the auditor. 

The Parcel & Logistics Committee supports the 
Management Board in preparing complex decisions on 
fundamental strategic issues impacting the Parcel & 
Logistics Division. In 2018 the committee mainly focused 
on the development of parcel logistics in Austria and 
planned capacity expansion measures. It also dealt with 
the company’s stake in the Turkish parcel services pro-
vider Aras Kargo.

The Financial Services Committee set up in the previ-
ous financial year was dissolved at the constituent meet-
ing of the new Supervisory Board on April 19, 2018. The 
focus of this temporary committee was on the realignment 
of financial services. However, this issue is now dealt with 
by the entire Supervisory Board due to its complexity and 
high strategic importance to the company.

 

6. Remuneration Report

The Remuneration Report describes the amount 
and structure of the income received by the members of 
the Management Board and Supervisory Board of Austrian 
Post. 

Structure of Management Board 
Remuneration

The remuneration system for the Management Board 
is oriented to the corporate strategy and aims to ensure 
a success-oriented and sustainable business management. 
Four pillars comprise the core aspects of the corporate 
strategy and are completely integrated into the variable 
remuneration paid to the Management Board members:

1.	 Defending market leadership in the core business
2.	 Profitable growth in selected markets
3.	� Enhancing efficiency and flexibilisation of the cost 

structure
4.	 Customer orientation and innovation

The remuneration system for the Management Board 
is based on the fundamental idea of taking a three-tiered 
approach consisting of fixed and variable salary compo-
nents as well as a Long-term Incentive Programme. The 
Remuneration Committee is responsible for specifying the 
structure and features of the programme. The fixed salary 
is linked to the salary structure of publicly listed Austrian 
companies and takes into account the range of duties 
and responsibilities assumed by each of the members of 
the Management Board. 

The variable remuneration system is linked to a large 
extent to measurable, short-term performance indica-
tors and also encompasses the achievement of qualitative 
performance targets. The targets agreed upon with the 
Management Board members are consistent with the Group 
strategy and comprised 65 % financial aspects and 35 % 
non-financial aspects. The financial objectives include the 
selected revenue and earnings indicators of the Group and 
of the mail and parcel businesses based on the specified 
annual planning. Non-financial targets include indicators 
relating to customer orientation (delivery quality), environ
ment and employees. Individual targets are assigned to 
the four strategic areas. The targets in 2018 were clustered 
as follows: 60 % relates to defending market leadership 
in the core business and enhancing efficiency, 25 % relates 
to growth and 15 % to customer orientation and innovation. 
The Remuneration Committee evaluates attainment of the 
agreed objectives. A ceiling of 120 % of the annual fixed 
salary was set for the variable salary component. 
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The total cash remuneration paid to the active 
members of the Management Board in 2018 amounted 
to EUR 4,351 m. 

 
 
Name of the Management Board member

Fixed salary  
(incl. payments in kind)  

in EUR thousand

 
Variable salary  

in EUR thousand

Total remuneration  
(incl. payments in kind)  

in EUR thousand

2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018

Georg Pölzl 615 615 720 720 1,335 1,335

Walter Oblin 449 485 480 522 929 1,007

Peter Umundum 414 414 470 480 885 894

Walter Hitziger  
resigned effective Dec. 31, 2018 515 515 528 600 1,043 1,115

Total 1,994 2,029 2,198 2,322 4,192 4,351

The remuneration of the variable salary components 
is paid in the following year due to the fact that the extent 
to which stipulated targets have been achieved can first 
be determined at the end of the financial year. For this 
reason, the chart presents the variable salary granted to 
the Management Board members in 2017 and 2018 for the 
2016 and 2017 financial years. 

The Long-term Incentive Programme (LTIP) launched 
in 2010 for the Management Board represents a long-
term remuneration instrument based on share-based 
success components. The underlying objective is to align  
the interests of company management with those of 
Austrian Post shareholders to achieve a medium- to 
long-term increase in shareholder value. The LTIP is con-
tingent upon each of the Management Board members 
making their own one-time investment for the duration of 
three years and a subsequent one-year retention period. 

The number of shares required for the Management Board 
member’s own investment is calculated on the basis of a 
pre-defined percentage of the gross fixed salary, divided 
by the reference average share price in the fourth quarter 
of the previous year. 

At the beginning of the programme, target val-
ues were defined for key performance indicators (total 
shareholder return, free cash flow and earnings per 
share), whereby each indicator is considered to be equally 
important. The success in achieving the pre-defined 
objectives is monitored over a three-year observation 
period. Payment of the LTIP for the years 2015  –  2017 took 
place in cash in the 2018 financial year, and ownership 
of no shares was transferred. For this reason, the Annual 
General Meeting does not resolve upon the LTIP for the 
Management Board members.

Name of the Management Board member LTIP 2015  –  2017 Own investment  LTIP 2015  –  2017

Required number  
of shares

Equivalent value  
in EUR thousand  1 

Number of shares held 
up to Dec. 31, 2018 

Equivalent value in 
EUR thousand  2 

Payment in EUR 
thousand

Georg Pölzl 13,140 480 27,054 908 1,215

Walter Oblin 5,963 218 9,899 332 572

Peter Umundum 5,963 218 10,827 363 572

Walter Hitziger  
resigned effective Dec. 31, 2018 7,227 264 12,100 406 693

1	 Basis: average share price in 2014
2	 Basis: average share price in Q4 2018
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Entitlements Relating to Termination  
of Employment

Walter Hitziger resigned from his position as a member 
of the Management Board effective December 31, 2018. 
His employment contract remains valid until December 31, 
2019, and expires at the end of this day due to the expiry 
of his term of employment. Mr. Hitzinger will be compen-
sated for his entitled remuneration as stipulated in his 
employment contract with respect to his fixed salary for 
2019, variable remuneration for 2018 and the Long-term 
Incentive Programme for 2016, 2017 and 2018. The entitle
ments relating to his annual salary, the entitlement to the 
variable salary component which will first be determined 
and claims relating to the LTIP will have to be paid in 2019 
for the most part. The settlement of all other entitlements 
from the employment contract involved a one-off com
pensation payment of EUR 100,000. 

Introduction of Earnings Ceilings 

In the past financial year, the Remuneration Commit-
tee intensively focused on the amount and structure of 
Management Board remuneration. The appropriateness 
of the remuneration was reviewed, taking account of the 
scope of responsibility of each Management Board mem-
ber, his personal accomplishments, the economic situation 
of the company as well as the remuneration structure in a 
comparable market environment. 

The three cornerstones of the remuneration system 
(fixed, short-term variable and long-term variable) will 
remain fundamentally unchanged. However, the Remuner-
ation Committee agreed upon a new remuneration scheme 
for the future remuneration of Management Board mem-
bers, which will be applied in case of new appointments to 
the Management Board. Ranges and upper limits for the 
maximum total remuneration were defined depending on 
the respective position on the Management Board and the 
duration of the member’s term of office.

A transitional model was developed for the Manage-
ment Board members based on this new remuneration 
scheme without interfering with existing contracts. It 
defines specific adjustments to fixed and variable salary 
components in the case of possible contract extensions 
to more closely reflect the new system. Moreover, the 
Remuneration Committee set earnings ceilings for the 
Management Board members for the 2018 financial year 
within the context of approving the LTIP 2018 – 2020.

The ceiling for the maximum Management Board 
remuneration consisting of fixed and variable salary com
ponents and the LTIP was set at EUR 2,535 thousand for 
Georg Pölzl, EUR 1,566 thousand for Walter Oblin and 
EUR 1,334 thousand for Peter Umundum. 

The Remuneration Committee concluded that the 
individual components and maximum total of the remuner-
ation paid to the Management Board members are in line 
with current market practices and are thus to be consid-
ered as appropriate. 

Other Remuneration Components  
and Agreements

In case the employment contract of a Management 
Board member is terminated, the employment contract 
stipulates that the Management Board member is entitled 
to severance pay of up to an entire year’s annual salary 
or the right to be covered by the Company Employee and 
Self-Employed Pension Plan Act (BMSVG). All members of 
the Management Board have concluded a pension fund 
agreement in accordance with the stipulations contained 
in model contracts (BGBI – Federal Law Gazette) under 
which Austrian Post is required to pay 10 % of the individ-
ual’s fixed annual gross salary into the pension fund each 
year. The Management Board members do not have any 
“change of control” clauses in their contracts.

Pension Fund Contributions
EUR

Georg Pölzl 61,500

Walter Oblin 48,175

Peter Umundum 41,000

Walter Hitziger  
resigned effective Dec. 31, 2018 51,250
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The members of the Management and Supervisory 
Boards of Austrian Post are insured within the framework 
of Directors and Officers Liability Insurance with liability 
coverage to the amount of EUR 70 m. The insurance cov-
ers judicial and extrajudicial protection against unfounded 
claims for damages as well as the settlement of such 
claims which may be considered as legally justified.

Any additional work carried out by a member of the 
Management Board outside of the company requires the 
approval of the Executive Committee of the Supervisory 
Board. This ensures that neither the time involved nor 
the remuneration granted for this work represents a con-
flict of interest with the board member’s responsibilities 
to Austrian Post.

Principles Underlying the Remuneration  
of Executives

The principles governing the remuneration paid to 
the Management Board have also been adapted for 
the company’s senior managers and managing directors 
of important subsidiaries. Their salaries contain fixed 
and variable components based on the achievement of 
financial and non-financial targets as well as individually 
defined objectives.

In addition, a Long-term Incentive Programme exists 
for senior managers, in which selected members of various 
management levels of the Group are entitled to partici-
pate. The LTIP links pre-defined, measurable, long-term 
and sustainable criteria (total shareholder return, free 
cash flow and earnings per share) and is contingent upon 
participants making their own corresponding investment 

in shares. The achievement of objectives is monitored 
over a period of three years. 

Supervisory Board Remuneration

Remuneration of the Supervisory Board for the 
previous financial year is determined annually by the 
Annual General Meeting. Moreover, Supervisory Board 
members are reimbursed for travel costs which are 
incurred. The Annual General Meeting held on April 19, 
2018, specified the remuneration paid to the Supervisory 
Board members for the 2017 financial year as follows:

■  � Chairwoman: EUR 30,000
■  � Deputy Chairwoman: EUR 25,000
■  � Other Supervisory Board members: EUR 20,000

■  � Chairperson of a committee: EUR 14,000
■  � Deputy chairperson of a committee: EUR 12,000
■  � Other committee members: EUR 10,000

Committee remuneration is limited to membership on 
one committee and is thus paid only once even if a Super
visory Board member belongs to several committees. In 
addition, every Supervisory Board and committee member 
residing in Austria is paid an attendance fee of EUR 600 
per person and meeting. The attendance fee for every 
international expert has been set at EUR 1,600 per mem-
ber and Supervisory Board session attended. Remunera-
tion is made on a pro rata (daily) basis if a member did not 
belong to the Supervisory Board for the entire year.
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The total remuneration paid to the individual Super-
visory Board members in the 2018 financial year is as 
follows: 

Supervisory Board Remuneration 2018 in EUR

Name 
Remuneration granted for 2017  

and paid in 2018
 

Attendance fees 2018

SHAREHOLDER REPRESENTATIVES

Edith Hlawati, Chairwoman 44,000 12,000

Edeltraud Stiftinger, Deputy Chairwoman 39,000 13,800

Jochen Danninger (since April 19, 2018)  9,600

Huberta Gheneff (since April 19, 2018)  5,400

Erich Hampel (retired as at April 19, 2018) 20,000 600

Peter E. Kruse 34,000 19,200

Chris E. Muntwyler 30,000 16,600

Markus Pichler (retired as at April 19, 2018) 30,000 1,800

Elisabeth Stadler (retired as at April 19, 2018) 30,000 1,800

Herta Stockbauer 32,000 6,000

Stefan Szyszkowitz (since April 19, 2018)  5,400

EMPLOYEE REPRESENTATIVES

Maria Klima (since Oct. 30, 2018)  1,200

Helmut Köstinger  10,200

Martin Palensky  4,800

Andreas Schieder (retired as at Oct. 30, 2018)  4,200

Manfred Wiedner  6,000

The employee representatives perform their duties 
on the Supervisory Board on an honorary basis and are 
compensated for their involvement in the Central Works 
Council in accordance with their respective employment 
contracts. They are only entitled to receive attendance 
fees. They may only be discharged of their responsibilities 
by the Central Works Council, but this may occur at any 
time. 

In accordance with Article 19 Market Abuse Regula
tion (European Regulation (EU) No. 596/2014), purchases 
or sales of shares by Management Board and Supervisory 
Board members must be published within three working 
days after the day on which the transaction was concluded 
and are available for download online. 

Vienna, February 22, 2019

The Management Board

  �� post.at/ir�  
corporate-governance.at

GEORG PÖLZL 
Chairman of the Management Board  
Chief Executive Officer

WALTER OBLIN 
Deputy Chairman of the Management Board 
Mail & Direct Mail, Finance

PETER UMUNDUM 
Member of the Management Board
Parcel & Logistics, Logistics Networks
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REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY  
BOARD OF AUSTRIAN POST ON THE 
2018 FINANCIAL YEAR

The 2018 financial year was a challenging time for 
Austrian Post, which showed a very satisfactory business 
development in spite of the difficult operating environ-
ment. Group revenue was up 1.0 % to EUR 1,958 m, which 
can be particularly attributed to growth in the parcel 
segment. The objective of a further rise in earnings was 
achieved, with Group EBIT at close to EUR 211 m. 

Austrian Post succeeded in increasing its profitability 
and competitiveness on the basis of a focused strategic 
orientation and the resolute implementation of compre-
hensive efficiency enhancement and service improvement 
measures. The company is on a stable economic footing 
and is well positioned for the future. 

Changes on the Supervisory 
Board and Management Board

Erich Hampel, Markus Pichler and Elisabeth Stadler 
left the Supervisory Board effective at the end of the 
Annual General Meeting on April 19, 2018. I would like to 
sincerely thank the former members for their longstand-
ing work on behalf of the Supervisory Board of Austrian 
Post, characterised by their expertise and sense of 
responsibility. 

Huberta Gheneff, Jochen Danninger and Stefan 
Szyszkowitz were elected to the Supervisory Board of 
Austrian Post for the first time. At the same time, Edith 
Hlawati, Peter E. Kruse and Chris E. Muntwyler were 
re-elected to serve on the Supervisory Board. The terms 
of office of the new shareholder representatives expire 
at the Annual General Meeting in 2023. The Supervisory 
Board mandates of Edeltraud Stiftinger and Herta 
Stockbauer remain unchanged and will last until the 
Annual General Meeting 2020. 

At the subsequent constituent meeting of the 
Supervisory Board, I was once again elected to serve as 
its Chairwoman. Moreover, Huberta Gheneff and Stefan 
Szyszkowitz were elected to the Audit Committee and 
Jochen Danninger was elected as a further member of the 
Remuneration Committee. 

The meeting of the Central Works Council of Austrian 
Post on October 30, 2018, elected Maria Klima to serve 

as the successor to Andreas Schieder on the Supervisory 
Board. 

With respect to the composition of the Management 
Board, it should be noted that Georg Pölzl was recon-
firmed as Chairman of the Management Board at the 
meeting held on November 11, 2018, and reappointed to 
serve until September 30, 2022, with an extension option 
for another two years. Furthermore, Walter Oblin was 
named Deputy Chairman of the Management Board effec-
tive January 1, 2019. 

Walter Hitziger, Member of the Management Board 
with responsibility for the Mail & Branch Network Division 
resigned from his position effective December 31, 2018. 
An extraordinary meeting of the Supervisory Board held 
on December 17, 2018, resolved to downsize the Manage
ment Board and reassign responsibilities in a three-
member board. Georg Pölzl will take charge of the Branch 
Network business area. Walter Oblin will serve as head 
of the Mail & Direct Mail Division alongside his previous 
tasks. In addition to the Parcel & Logistics Division, Peter 
Umundum will also be in charge of logistics operations 
in the mail and parcel segments.

The Supervisory Board thanks Walter Hitziger, who 
made a major contribution to the success of Austrian Post 
in more than fourteen years at the company. It is important 
to highlight his accomplishments in the core mail business, 
which is a highly profitable division in spite of declining 
volumes. 

 

Activities of the Supervisory 
Board

The Supervisory Board took great care to fulfil its 
obligations during the year under review and performed 
the tasks incumbent upon it as stipulated by legal regu-
lations, the Articles of Association of Austrian Post and 
the internal rules of procedure for the Supervisory Board. 
We regularly advised the Management Board in its efforts 
to manage the company and monitored its activities. At 
all meetings, the Management Board provided the Super-
visory Board with ongoing information about the general 
economic situation in the core markets of Austrian Post 
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and important business transactions. Moreover, the chair-
persons of the committees and I were regularly in contact 
in order to discuss opportunities and risks related to the 
current business development. 

Eight sessions of the Supervisory Board were held 
in 2018. The revenue and earnings development of the 
Austrian Post Group as well as the mail and parcel busi-
nesses were presented at the four ordinary Supervisory 
Board meetings. Other issues included the development of 
key subsidiaries as well as selected strategic projects. 

In particular, the capacity expansion plans of parcel 
logistics in Austria and the realignment of the financial 
services business should be mentioned in this regard. 
Accordingly, the Supervisory Board approved investments 
in the construction of the new distribution centres in 
Hagenbrunn, Lower Austria and Kalsdorf, Styria. The inten
sive discussions concerning the further development of 
the financial services business were also the focal point of 
the extraordinary Supervisory Board meetings.

At its meeting held on March 13, 2018, the Super
visory Board reviewed the annual financial statements 
presented by the Management Board, along with the Man
agement Report and the profit appropriation proposal for 
the 2017 financial year and adopted the financial state-
ments. Moreover, the session focused on preparations 
for the Annual General Meeting. The budget for the 2019 
financial year and a report on medium-term planning 
2019  –  2021 were presented and approved at the meeting 
held on November 11, 2018. 

In the meantime, the training programme for the 
Supervisory Board launched in 2015 has become an 
integral part of the Supervisory Board’s work and was 
continued in 2018. The Supervisory Board debated and 
discussed the issues of “Trends in the banking sector”, 
“Current developments on the postal and logistics market”, 
“Turkey – economic development forecasts”, “Gender 
balance” and “Employee protection” in detail at three 
events with internal and external experts. The discussions 
held with internal and external experts are particularly 
designed to deepen the market knowledge of the Super
visory Board members and intensify an exchange of expe-
riences outside of the meetings. 

Activities of the Committees

The committees set up by the Supervisory Board 
prepare decisions by the plenary sessions and adopt 
resolutions on matters to which they have been assigned 
decision-making rights. The chairpersons of the com
mittees report about the work of the committees to the 
entire Supervisory Board. 

At its four meetings, the Audit Committee of the 
Supervisory Board duly carried out the responsibilities 

assigned to it. It monitored accounting processes, the 
audit and the effectiveness of the internal control sys-
tem, the risk management system and the internal audit 
system. The auditors and the Audit Committee could 
also exchange information without the presence of the 
Management Board. The quarterly results were thor-
oughly analysed by the Audit Committee. The Supervisory 
Board was continually provided with information about 
the results of the Audit Committee meetings. In accord-
ance with Section 270 Para. 1a of the Austrian Commer-
cial Code, KPMG Austria GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungs- und 
Steuerberatungsgesellschaft credibly demonstrated its 
impartiality towards the Audit Committee.

The Parcel & Logistics Committee convened a total 
of four times, dealing with complex issues relating to the 
Parcel & Logistics Division. The focus of the committee’s 
regular deliberations taking place before the Supervisory 
Board meetings prepared decisions on investment pro-
jects relating to the expansion of the distribution centres 
on the basis of comprehensive information and intensive 
discussions. Other focal points were the launch of own 
delivery services by Amazon in Vienna in the autumn of 
2018 and the development of Austrian Post’s stake in the 
Turkish parcel services provider Aras Kargo. 

The Remuneration Committee fulfilled its duties in 
eleven meetings. In addition to evaluating target achieve-
ment in 2017 and the related bonus payments, one focal 
point of this year’s committee work was on reviewing remu-
neration policies for the Management Board of Austrian 
Post. It considered the appropriateness of the remunera-
tion, taking account of the scope of responsibility of each 
Management Board member, his personal accomplishments, 
the economic situation of the company as well as the remu-
neration structure in a comparable market environment. 

The result of the Remuneration Committee’s consul-
tations was a new remuneration scheme for the Manage-
ment Board which will be applied in case of new appoint-
ments to the board. A model designed to bridge the 
previous and new remuneration schemes was developed 
for the current Management Board members. It defines 
specific adjustments to salary components in the case of 
possible contract extensions to more closely reflect the 
new system. Moreover, the Remuneration Committee set 
earnings ceilings for the Management Board members 
which will take effect starting in 2021. 

The Remuneration Committee also dealt with prepa-
rations for changes on the Management Board and the 
agreement to terminate the Management Board contract 
with Walter Hitziger. 

The Nomination Committee convened once and 
dealt with the issue of filling the position of Chairman of 
the Management Board. It recommended that the Super-
visory Board extend the Management Board mandate 
of Georg Pölzl.
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Consolidated and Annual 
Financial Statements

KPMG Austria GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungs- und 
Steuerberatungsgesellschaft was appointed by the Annual 
General Meeting held on April 19, 2018, to serve as the 
auditor of the company’s annual financial statements and 
consolidated annual financial statements for the 2018 
financial year. 

The annual financial statements and consolidated 
annual financial statements of Austrian Post as at 
December 31, 2018, were audited by KPMG Austria GmbH 
Wirtschaftsprüfungs- und Steuerberatungsgesellschaft 
and were granted an unqualified auditor’s opinion. The 
Management Report and Group Management Report are 
consistent with the company and consolidated annual 
financial statements. All documentation relating to the 
annual financial statements, the profit appropriation pro-
posal as submitted by the Management Board, the Cor-
porate Governance Report and the auditor’s report were 
thoroughly discussed in the Audit Committee together 
with the auditors and subsequently presented to the 
Supervisory Board.

The Supervisory Board examined all the documents in 
accordance with Section 96 of the Austrian Stock Cor-
poration Act and did not discover any inconsistencies or 

objections. As a result, it formally approved the results of 
the audit. The Supervisory Board formally approved the 
annual financial statements for the 2018 financial year, 
which are hereby adopted in accordance with Section 
96 Para. 4 of the Austrian Stock Corporation Act, and 
declares its acceptance of the IFRS consolidated financial 
statements, the Management Report, the Group Man
agement Report and the Consolidated Corporate Gover
nance Report pursuant to Section 245a of the Austrian 
Commercial Code. The report on non-financial aspects 
published in accordance with the Sustainability and 
Diversity Improvement Act (NADiVeG), was reviewed by 
KPMG Austria GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungs- und Steuer
beratungsgesellschaft. 

The Supervisory Board concurs with the Manage-
ment Board’s proposal to distribute a basic dividend of 
EUR 140,509,487.04 from the net profit amounting to 
EUR 250,151,834.16 and to carry forward the balance of 
EUR 109,642,347.12 to the new account.

Finally, on behalf of the entire Supervisory Board, 
I would like to express my gratitude and appreciation to 
all the members of the Management Board as well as all 
employees for their successful work during the past finan-
cial year. In particular, special thanks are also owed to 
the customers and above all the shareholders of Austrian 
Post for their trust and confidence in the company.

Vienna, March 13, 2019

Edith Hlawati m. p.
Chairwoman of the Supervisory Board
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Sustainability is of great importance to Austrian Post. Austrian Post 
will positively shape its impacts on the economy, employees, the  
environment and society based on a large number of targeted meas-
ures. As a company Austrian Post is committed to generating eco-
nomic success on behalf of its shareholders. At the same time, it is 
also very much aware of its corporate social responsibility, its role as 
an employer and its ecological footprint. The successful future of the 
company can be secured through the integration of sustainability in 
its core business. 

Report Contents

Since full-scale market liberalisation took effect in 
Austria, Austrian Post (AG) has been a universal services 
provider, guaranteeing the supply of high-quality postal 
services throughout the country. Austrian Post (AG) gener-
ates 88 % of Group revenue. For this reason, in its annual 
Sustainability Report published since 2010 in accordance 
with GRI Standards, Austrian Post focused on Austrian 
Post (AG). The Sustainability and Diversity Improvement 
Act (NaDiVeG) entered into force, which resulted in new 
disclosure requirements for Austrian Post. In 2017, for the 
first time, Austrian Post expanded its reporting on key 
non-financial aspects of its business operations to cover 
the entire Austrian Post Group, with respect to observing 
human rights, combatting corruption and bribery as well 
as environment, social and employee issues. 

The following chapter contains the required informa-
tion in line with Section 243b Para. 1 – 3 Austrian Com-
mercial Code (UGB) UGB in connection with Section 267a 
1 – 3 of the UGB and contains non-financial information 
about Austrian Post (AG) as well as its fully consolidated 
subsidiaries. In order to avoid redundancy, there are refer-
ences to parts of the Management Report and Corporate 
Governance Report, which also contain non-financial 
information. This particularly relates to additional infor-
mation about the business model, risk management and 
the diversity concept of Austrian Post. 

Non-financial indicators are presented in a two-year 
comparison. 

The published information was audited by an indepen
dent third party. A corresponding declaration made by 
KPMG Austria GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungs- und Steuer-
beratungsgesellschaft can be found at the end of the 
Non-financial Report.

Additional information on individual sustainability 
issues with project examples are disclosed in a separate 
Sustainability Report. This Sustainability Report was also 
audited by KPMG Austria GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungs- 
und Steuerberatungsgesellschaft and published at the 
same time as the Financial Report.

   Refer to p. 63f

   Refer to Sustainability Report 2018



General Information - 37

N
O

N
-F

IN
A

N
C

IA
L 

R
E

P
O

R
T

Business Model

Austrian Post is an important logistics and postal 
services provider in and beyond Austria, with about 
20,500 employees and annual revenue of EUR 2 bn. The 
core business of the company encompasses the transport 
and delivery of letters, direct mail items, print media  
and parcels as well as various logistics services. Austrian 
Post concentrates its business activities in two divisions, 
namely the Mail & Branch Network Division as well as 
the Parcel & Logistics Division.

Together with its Group companies, Austrian Post is 
also active in Germany and Southeast and Eastern Europe 
in the fields of letter mail, direct mail and branch offices 

as well as parcel and logistics. The following Non-financial 
Report covers the entire Group with the exception of the 
environmental indicators of the subsidiary Express One 
Hungary. The parent company Austrian Post (AG) gener-
ates 88 % of total revenue and employs 85 % of the 
employees. Data compilation in the scope of consolidation 
of the Group was expanded in 2018. For this reason, the 
non-financial indicators on a Group level are not directly 
comparable with the information provided in the previous 
year. The company is working on ensuring further harmo-
nisation in order to enable improved comparability of 
indicators on a Group level. For this reason, changes will 
be commented upon in relation to Austrian Post (AG) only. 
Further information on the business model as well as the 
strategy of Austrian Post is provided in chapter Group and 
Shareholders.

Subsidiary Country

ACL advanced commerce labs GmbH Austria

EMD – Elektronische- u. Mikrofilm-Dokumentationssysteme Ges.m.b.H. Austria

feibra GmbH Austria

Medien.Zustell GmbH Austria

Post E-Commerce GmbH Austria

Post Immobilien GmbH Austria

Post Systemlogistik GmbH Austria

Post.Wertlogistik GmbH Austria

Scanpoint GmbH Austria

sendhybrid ÖPBD GmbH Austria

AUSTRIAN POST International Deutschland GmbH Germany

City Express d.o.o. Serbia

City Express Montenegro d.o.o. Montenegro

Express One d.o.o., Sarajevo Bosnia and Herzegovina

Express One Hungary Kft. Hungary

IN TIME s.r.o. Slovakia

M&BM Express OOD Bulgaria

Overseas Trade Co. Ltd. d.o.o. Croatia

Scanpoint Slovakia s.r.o. Slovakia

Slovak Parcel Service s.r.o. Slovakia

Weber Escal d.o.o. Croatia

  � Refer to description of business operations and  
the organisational structure p. 58

   Refer to p. 04f
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Material Topics

Austrian Post elaborated the most significant issues 
within the context of an interactive process involving 
both external stakeholders and internal specialists. The 
importance of the material topics as well as their impacts 
on the economic environment, society, employees and the 
environment were developed in collaboration with external 
and internal stakeholders. The results were subsequently 
embedded in a materiality matrix. 

These material topics are relevant to the business of  
the parent company Austrian Post (AG) as well as its sub-
sidiaries and and comprise areas covered by law. However, 
in its capacity as a universal services provider in Austria, 
Austrian Post (AG) is subject to legal regulations with 
respect to the reliability of the postal supply and delivery 
speed which do not apply to its subsidiaries. Accordingly, 
the topic “Regional infrastructure and reliability of supply” 
is only relevant for Austrian Post (AG). 

Due to their importance for Austrian Post and its 
stakeholders, these topics are also included in the inte-
grated corporate and sustainability strategy of Austrian 
Post and taken into consideration with the help of the 
defined objectives and measures. 

The Non-financial Report is divided into the following four 
sections, in which all the above-mentioned topics includ-
ing challenges, concepts and results as well as significant 
risks and non-financial indicators are presented.

■  � Employees and diversity –  
We are all part of Austrian Post 

■  � Society and data security –  
Everything we do revolves around our customers

■  � Human rights, anti-corruption and bribery –  
We act responsibly 

■  � Environment – We focus on the future

Risk Assessment

The Non-financial Report handles risks which are 
derived from the material topics mentioned above. These 
are dealt with in detail in the respective sections of the 
report. At present, Austrian Post faces no serious risks 
with respect to these topics.

In addition, Austrian Post operates a comprehensive 
risk management system encompassing risks faced by 
the company and all business units and Group subsidi-
aries. In the interest of sustainability, ecological, social 
and ethical aspects are taken into consideration in the 
company’s risk management efforts. 

  � Refer to p. 42f, 54ff
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Sustainability is monitored by specialists in respec-
tive organisational units, and any cases in which mate-
riality limits are exceeded are reported to Central Risk 
Management. Reported sustainability risks are subject to 
Group-wide risk assessment and analysis and evaluated 
either on a qualitative or quantitative level. If a qualitative 
assessment reveals a particularly high risk potential, a 
quantification of risks has to be subsequently carried out. 

The Group implements a biannual update of all risks 
and subsequent reporting to the Management Board. In 
this case, qualitative as well as quantitative sustainability 
risks are reported to the Management Board any time an 
internally-defined risk threshold is exceeded.

Honours and Awards

Austrian Post operates in a sustainable manner – this 
has been confirmed by the capital markets and various 
national and international ratings. 

MSCI ESG RESEARCH
Austrian Post was granted the best possible rating of 

AAA in 2018 within the context of the MSCI Environmen-
tal, Social and Governance Ratings. As a part of the rating 
process, the company was evaluated according to the 
best-in-class approach and compared to other companies 
in the postal sector. In particular, MSCI also positively 
assessed the expansion of the e-vehicle fleet, the attrac-
tive remuneration systems, further education and profes-
sional development offerings for employees and the good 
and solid business management structures.

ISS OEKOM RESEARCH 
ISS oekom research is one of the world’s leading rating 

agencies in the field of sustainable investments. Austrian 
Post was awarded the Prime Status rating within the 
context of the oekom Corporate Rating in May 2018. As a 
result, Austrian Post ranks among the leading transport 
and logistics companies in terms of sustainability. 

CARBON DISCLOSURE PROJECT
Austrian Post was assigned an A– rating by the Carbon 

Disclosure Project (CDP), world’s largest database for  
corporate environmental and climate change information 
and which is extensively used by capital market partici-
pants to evaluate potential investments. This recognition 
not only confirms Austrian Post’s transparent environ
mental reporting but also serves as evidence of the quality 
of the initiated climate protection measures. 

ECOVADIS 
EcoVadis awarded a “Gold Recognition Level” rating 

to Austrian Post in recognition of its CSR activities. 
EcoVadis is a sustainability assessment platform, which 
aims to improve the environmental and social practices  
of companies by CSR performance monitoring within  
the supply chain and supporting companies in improving 
their sustainability scorecards. 

VÖNIX
The renewed inclusion of Austrian Post in the Austrian 

sustainability index VÖNIX of the Vienna Stock Exchange 
for the period 2018/19 confirms the sustainable manner in  
which Austrian Post operates from a capital market per-
spective. 

 

  � Refer to p. 85ff
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IPC GOLD AWARD 2018
Austrian Post actively participates in international 

programmes such as the “Environmental Measurement 
and Monitoring System (EMMS)” of the International Post 
Corporation (IPC) and was awarded the IPC Gold Award 
in 2018.

ENERGY GLOBE AWARD
Austrian Post (AG) was given the internationally 

renowned “Energy Globe World Award” at the beginning  
of 2018 for its e-mobility concept. The award is given on  
an annual basis to outstanding projects with a focus on 
conserving natural resources, energy efficiency and the 
use of renewable energy.

AUSTRIAN SUSTAINABILITY REPORTING AWARD
In November 2018, Austrian Post (AG) placed third in  

the category “Separate sustainability report of large com-
panies” within the context of the Austrian Sustainability 
Reporting Award (ASRA) in recognition of the best Austrian 
sustainability reports. The ASRA honours those Austrian 
companies which fulfil the requirements of operating sus-
tainably in an exemplary manner and transparently present 
it in their sustainability reports.
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EMPLOYEES AND DIVERSITY

We are all Part of Austrian Post

Human resources management is of particular 
importance for Austrian Post in its role as a service com-
pany. Its measures make a decisive contribution to the 
company’s success and future viability. In this regard, a 
good working environment, attractive career opportunities, 
workplace safety and occupational healthcare also play  
a significant role.

The megatrends impacting the postal business in 
the focus area of employees are demographic change 
including the need to maintain employability, increasing 
complexity of work, pressure to be efficient and auto-
mation of processes. All this is also related to minimis-
ing accident risks, protecting employees and ensuring a 
work-life balance to enhance motivation and employee 
retention.

Concepts and Their Results

Mutually shared visions and values are important for 
employees as the basis for acting in a targeted and sus-
tainable manner in an environment strongly influenced by 
changes and transition. The services rendered by Austrian 
Post are aligned to the material topics identified in the 
dialogues with stakeholders as follows

■  � Corporate culture and working environments
■  � Occupational safety and health protection
■  � Further education and professional development
■   Customer proximity

Promoting the corporate and leadership culture is of crucial 
importance to the human resources work of Austrian Post. 
The company has defined employee-related targets and 
measures for management and control purposes, regularly 
evaluates them and adjusts them if necessary. The following 
table provides an overview of these targets and measures:

Main Target: Promote a Corporate and Leadership Culture

Targets in 2018 Achieved in 2018 Planned for 2019

Training for executive management: Implemen-
tation of at least 1,000 person-days of training 
and seminars for executives

2,122 person-days of training and seminars 
were carried out for executives  

Implementation of at least 1,000 person-days  
of training and seminars for executives 

A Day Visiting Customers: Participation of  
at least 250 executives in the programme  
“A Day Visiting Customers”

304 executives took part in the programme  
“A Day Visiting Customers” 

Participation of at least 250 executives in the 
programme “A Day Visiting Customers” 

“Career and family” audit: Continuation of  
the re-audit 

Measures planned within the context of the 
re-audit and included in the Annual Report for 
target achievement purposes

Continue the planned measures or implement 
them on an ongoing basis 

Main Target: Pay Attention to Health and Safety

Targets in 2018 Achieved in 2018 Planned for 2019

Heart rate variability analyses: Implementation 
of heart rate variability analyses and health 
workshops at five sites or more

273 heart rate variability analyses were  
carried out at 20 sites 

Evaluation of the implemented measures 
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Targets in 2018 Achieved in 2018 Planned for 2019

Health-related activities: At least 1,000 health 
consultations and 15 Health Days are to be held

1,130 health consultations and 18 Health Days 
were held

Implementation of 1,000 health consultations 
and 15 Health Days

Development and continuation of health pro-
jects: Austrian Post is on the move (“The right 
exercise is good for everybody”): production of 
ten short movies and a brochure on right exer-
cise including a training initiative

Twelve short movies were produced (“The right 
exercise is good for everybody”), including a 
training initiative 
 

Production of a brochure and posters on 
proper exercise including a training initiative; 
implementation of the “Fit2Work” project at the 
Vienna Letter Mail Centre 

Evaluation of psychological stress:  
Development of measures for parcel logistics 
in Austria and distribution centres as well as 
transport logistics

Evaluation of psychological stress for parcel 
logistics in Austria as well as distribution cen-
tres and transport logistics was completed 

Evaluation of psychological stress at corporate 
headquarters 
 

Accident prevention: Compulsory wearing of 
safety helmets for delivery staff on bicycles 
 

Compulsory wearing of safety helmets for de-
livery staff on bicycles and equipping them with 
clearly visible Post helmets, along with produc-
tion of a short movie on accident prevention

Development of measures to deal with the most 
frequent causes of accidents in 2018, creation 
of posters on the issue of falling and measures 
focusing on traffic safety

Safety and health at work – employee protec-
tion: Production of a brochure including check-
lists for individual management levels and areas 
for easy use and implementation of employee 
protection measures

Production of a brochure on “Safety and health 
at work” for the individual management levels 
and areas for easy use and implementation of 
employee protection measures 

Development of checklists for individual areas 
for easy use and implementation of employee 
protection measures; campaign targeting exec-
utives focusing on training and instruction  

CORPORATE CULTURE AND WORKING  
ENVIRONMENTS

Austrian Post attaches great importance to establish-
ing an open and modern corporate and leadership culture. 
Leadership guidelines were developed on the basis of 
the mission statement in order to create a good working 
atmosphere and performance-enhancing working condi-
tions. These guidelines are designed to help contribute 
to an ongoing further development of the corporate and 
leadership culture. 

In addition to standardised leadership guidelines and 
an open communication culture, the offering of additional 
social services via the association post.sozial rounds off 
the motivating and performance-enhancing working con-
ditions at Austrian Post. The non-profit association aims 
to provide social support to active employees of Austrian 
Post (AG) and its subsidiaries as well as to retired employ-
ees, family members and surviving relatives of employees. 
Services range from financial support to employees faced 
with exceptional expenses arising as a result of illness or 
natural disasters, discounted tickets for cultural and sport 
events to less expensive holiday deals alongside child care 
and day care services during vacations. 

OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH PROTECTION
Preserving and promoting the health and safety of em
ployees as well prevention of accidents and work-related 
illnesses are matters of great concern to Austrian Post.

Occupational safety is also firmly embedded on 
an organisational level due to its crucial importance 
for Austrian Post (AG). At the larger sites, the issue of 
employee protection is dealt with in occupational safety 
committees in which safety experts, occupational physi-
cians, safety officers, employee representatives and the 

employer are represented. The related standards are 
specified in the Employee Protection Act. 

In addition, Austrian Post aims to preserve and 
promote the health and well-being of its employees. For 
this reason, it offers a series of measures and initiatives 
focusing on health protection, such as heart rate variability 
analyses, health consultations and Health Days, providing  
a comprehensive consulting and information offering as 
well as the promotion of sporting activities.

In addition to our corporate social responsibility, 
employee protection is also a factor of relevance to our 
business operations, because accidents and working days  
lost lead to additional costs. Promoting occupational  
safety and health also serves as the basis for greater  
operational efficiency and productivity increases. 

FURTHER EDUCATION AND PROFESSIONAL  
DEVELOPMENT

Austrian Post has established target group-oriented 
and competence-oriented training and further education 
programmes, which are designed to fully leverage the 
existing potential of its employees and sustainably guar-
antee corporate success. These measures encompass spe-
cialised instruction, continuing education courses, coach-
ing and training at Austrian Post (AG) and its subsidiaries. 

Furthermore, the education of young employees is 
supported on the basis of a special trainee programme as 
well as within the context of “apprenticeship with a sec-
ondary school diploma”.

The investments in further education and professional 
development enable long-term career paths based on the 
professional and personal development of employees. 
We believe this is a relevant factor for employee satisfac-
tion and retention. A low employee attrition rate prevents 
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knowledge drain and contributes to keeping recruiting and 
trainings costs for new employees at a low level. 

CUSTOMER PROXIMITY
The topic of customer and service orientation is in

corporated in the mission statement of Austrian Post and 
is thus important to all employees. All employee develop-
ment measures also have a positive impact on customer 
proximity. In line with the guiding principle “Everything we 
do revolves around our customers”, well-trained employ-
ees offer optimal service and thus contribute to increasing 
customer satisfaction. 

In order to respond to the changed life styles and de
mands of customers, Austrian Post is continuously working 
on innovative services to expand its product and services. 
In this regard, customer comfort and service quality are 
always at the forefront of the company’s efforts. The cus-
tomer orientation and high level of service of employees is 
reflected by good customer satisfaction ratings of Austrian 
Post (AG), which are measured by an external institute on 
a quarterly basis.

DIVERSITY
Equal opportunities at work and the equal treatment 

of employees are a matter of course at Austrian Post 
(AG) and its subsidiaries. Within the context of its diver-
sity management, Austrian Post promotes social diver-
sity and constructively seeks to benefit from it. Austrian 

Post not only aims to tolerate the individual differences 
among employees, but to particularly highlight them in the 
spirit of promoting mutual appreciation and respect. This 
creates a productive overall atmosphere in the company. 
In order to ensure equal opportunity at work, Austrian 
Post strongly opposes any kind of discrimination, bullying 
and sexual harassment and already signed the Charter of 
Diversity in 2013. 

We are convinced that diversity at Austrian Post 
enhances innovative strength and enables us to fulfil the  
manifold demands of customers and master future devel-
opments in order to secure the company’s long-term prof-
itability. 

Reference is made to the Corporate Governance 
Report for further information on measures being taken 
to promote diversity within the company as well as details 
concerning diversity in the Management and Supervisory 
Boards.

Significant Risks

In spite of measures designed to prevent accidents 
and maintain employee health, significant risks related to 
employees exist on the basis of potential health hazards 
for employees which can arise due to work-related stress 
and strain. 

  � Refer to p. 24f
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Non-financial Indicators

The total number of employees working at Austrian 
Post (AG) rose slightly from 17,225 full-time equivalents in 
2017 to 17,406 in 2018. This is due to the good capacity 
utilisation for letter mail items as well as the increasing 
volume development in the parcel business reflected in a 
double-digit growth rate of 11.1 % in transported parcel 
volumes in 2018.

A review of diversity at Austrian Post in 2018 showed  
a continuation of the balanced mix of employees by  
age groups. The indicator “Women in executive positions” 
revealed an increase in the proportion of women  
in executive positions in 2018 as a consequence of 

Austrian Post’s ongoing measures to promote the career 
advancement of women.

 The turnover statistics showed a trend towards 
increasing employee turnover, which reflects the current 
situation on the labour market. The good economic situation 
generally led to an enhanced willingness on the part of 
employees to change jobs. Austrian Post (AG) initiated 
a programme in response to this development as a means 
of reducing employee turnover and ensure the long-term 
retention of employees in the company.

Corresponding measures were developed and imple-
mented both with respect to administrative positions as 
well as in the fields of mail and parcel logistics. 

Employees
 Austrian Post (AG) Group  1  

2017 2018 2017 2018

Total Employees (FTE 2) 17,225 17,406 19,956 20,545

thereof women 5,027 5,264 5,996 6,481

thereof men 12,198 12,142 13,960 14,064

by age group

under 30 2,317 2,731 2,799 3,396

30 – 50 years 7,690 7,535 9,325 9,377

over 51 7,218 7,139 7,832 7,772

Employees in management positions 3 (FTE)   887 778 993 972

thereof women  202 186 224 245

thereof men 685 591 769 727

by age group

under 30 14 19 n/a  5 24

30 – 50 years 438 363 n/a  5 513

over 51 435 395 n/a  5 435

Full-time employees (head-count) 15,256 15,324 n/a  5 18,228

Part-time employees (head-count) 3,474 3,600 n/a  5 3,951

Employee attrition (total staff departures)  4 2,309 2,548 n/a  5 3,280

thereof women 885 918 n/a  5 1,211

thereof men 1,424 1,630 n/a  5 2,069

by age group

under 30 651 735 n/a  5 969

30 – 50 years 764 789 n/a  5 1,130

over 51 894 1,024 n/a  5 1,181

1	�� Austrian Post Group 2017: This includes Austrian Post (AG) and the subsidiaries Medien.Zustell GmbH, feibra GmbH, Post Wertlogistik GmbH, Post Systemlogistik GmbH, Slovak 
Parcel Service s.r.o., IN TIME s.r.o., City Express d.o.o., City Express Montenegro d.o.o., Weber Escal d.o.o., M&BM Express OOD, Overseas Trade Co Ltd d.o.o. and Express One 
d.o.o. Sarajevo. For this reason, the indicator “Total employees (FTE) does not correpond to the total number of employees (FTE) included in the Financial Report on page 45.  
Austrian Post Group 2018: The indicators apply to the entire Austrian Post Group. 

2	 FTE = Full-time equivalents
3	� Management Board members, management team (reporting directly to the Management Board), expanded management team (directly reporting to the management team or 

executives) and leadership conference (employees of the reporting level 2 to 5 responsible for at least three employees) as well as all other executives, who are responsible for at 
least three employees. 

4	 Persons leaving the permanent staff who have been employed by the company for at least six months. All forms of staff departures are taken into account. 
5	 This indicator will be used for the Austrian Post Group for the first time in 2018. 
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Employees by Division

 Austrian Post (AG) Group

2017 2018 2017  1 2018

Employees (FTE 2) 17,225 17,406 20,524 20,545

Mail & Branch Network Division 13,690 13,590 14,820 14,270

Parcel & Logistics Division 1,568 1,710 3,695 4,118

Coporate 1,967 2,106 2,009 2,157

1	� The 2017 figures include all subsidiaries and therefore differ from the 2017 figures in the Employees table on page 44. 
2	� FTE = Full-time equivalents (annual average)

Sick Leave and Accidents

A statistically higher number of occupational accidents 
has been registered since 2018. This is attributable to a 
modified and improved data compilation and evaluation 
system. The sick leave ration remained virtually unchanged 
despite the increase in parcel volumes. 

 Austrian Post (AG) Group  1

2017 2018 2017 2018

Employees on sick leave (FTE   in %) 10.1 10.6 n/a  3 9.7

Number of occupational accidents  2 617 718 676 809

Fatal accidents 0 0 0 3

1	�� Austrian Post Group 2017: This includes Austrian Post (AG) and the subsidiaries Medien.Zustell GmbH, feibra GmbH, Post Wertlogistik GmbH, Post Systemlogistik GmbH,  
Slovak Parcel Service s.r.o., IN TIME s.r.o., City Express d.o.o., City Express Montenegro d.o.o., Weber Escal d.o.o., M&BM Express OOD, Overseas Trade Co Ltd d.o.o. and Express 
One d.o.o. Sarajevo.  
 Austrian Post Group 2018: The indicators apply to the entire Austrian Post Group. 

2	 Accidents beginning with one working day lost including subsequent sick leave (incl. commuting accidents during work).
3	� This indicator will be used for the Austrian Post Group for the first time in 2018.		
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Further Education and Professional  
Development

The number of seminar participants increased com
pared to the prior-year level, whereas the number of 
seminars remained stable. The number of person-hours at 
118,415 was above the long-term average. The indicators 

for 2017 were impacted by special effects such as the 
discontinuation of participant registration for heart rate 
variability measurements at the delivery bases.

 Austrian Post (AG) Group  1

2017 2018 2017 2018

Number of seminars 1,066 1,062 1,133 1,259

Number of participants 6,092 6,473 6,326 6,868

Person hours 131,894 118,415 n/a  2 123,496

1	� Austrian Post Group 2017: This includes Austrian Post (AG) and the subsidiaries Medien.Zustell GmbH, feibra GmbH, Post Wertlogistik GmbH, Post Systemlogistik GmbH, Slovak 
Parcel Service s.r.o., IN TIME s.r.o., City Express d.o.o., City Express Montenegro d.o.o., Weber Escal d.o.o., M&BM Express OOD, Overseas Trade Co Ltd d.o.o. and Express One 
d.o.o. Sarajevo.  
Austrian Post Group 2018: The indicators apply to the entire Austrian Post Group.

2	� This indicator will be used for the Austrian Post Group for the first time in 2018. 
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SOCIETY AND DATA SECURITY

Everything We Do Revolves 
Around Our Customers

As the universal service provider, the parent company 
Austrian Post (AG) is required to fulfil its obligation to 
supply high-quality postal services for every household 
throughout the country at a uniform price and operate a 
nationwide branch network. For this reason, much of the 
information in this chapter applies to the parent company 
Austrian Post (AG) and not to the Austrian Post Group.

As a means of dealing with the major changes impact-
ing the postal business, especially due to social change 
and digitalisation, Austrian Post closely monitors and 
analyses these challenges and adjusts its business 
accordingly. 

The challenges in the field of society primarily relate 
to demographic change, differentiated life styles on the 
part of customers and the growing awareness of sustain
ability and environmental issues.

Concepts and Their Results

Austrian Post (AG)’s top priority is to ensure the supply 
of top-quality postal services throughout the country. This 
is because the company plays a decisive role in Austria’s 
communications infrastructure. Furthermore, Austrian 
Post (AG) supports various social projects directly linked 
to its core business.

In addition, confidentiality as well as information and 
data security are extremely important topics for Austrian 
Post. This is due to the fact that both business customers 
as well as recipients of mail items put data at the disposal 
of the company to ensure smooth operation of transport 
and delivery. 

With respect to society, the following topics were identi-
fied as material in cooperation with stakeholders:

■  � Regional infrastructure and reliability of supply
■  � Social commitment 
■  � Data protection and data security

Austrian Post has defined targets which are revised on an 
annual basis in order to measure its success and progress 
in its focus area of society as well as to document and 
manage its performance. The objectives for 2018 and 2019 
are as follows:

Main Target: Ensure a Reliable Supply and Shape Framework Conditions

Targets in 2018 Achieved in 2018 Planned for 2019

Ensuring reliable delivery services at all  
times and exceeding legal requirements by  
Austrian Post (AG)

95.8 % of letters were successfully delivered on 
the first working day after letters were posted 
by Austrian Post (AG)

Ensuring reliable delivery services at all times 
and exceeding legally stipulated performance 
targets by Austrian Post (AG)

Ensuring a nationwide network of postal  
service points exceeding legal requirements by 
Austrian Post (AG)

Austrian Post (AG) surpassed legal stipulations: 
the network encompassed 1,791 postal service 
points at the end of 2018

Ensuring a nationwide network of postal  
service points exceeding legal requirements by 
Austrian Post (AG)
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Main Target: Promote Social Commitment

Targets in 2018 Achieved in 2018 Planned for 2019

Continuation of support for social projects  
on the basis of Austrian Post’s logistics com-
petence 
 

412,000 mobile phones collected for the Ö3 
Wundertüte campaign. 7,300 “gift parcels for 
the Christ Child” 3,000 school boxes are sent 
throughout the country each year by Austrian 
Post (AG)

Continuation of support for social projects  
on the basis of Austrian Post’s logistics com-
petence 
 

REGIONAL INFRASTRUCTURE AND  
RELIABILITY OF SUPPLY

Due to the universal service obligation of Austrian 
Post (AG), this material topic only applies to Austrian Post 
(AG) and not to its subsidiaries. 

Each year Austrian Post (AG) delivers letters and par-
cels throughout Austria. In order to safeguard the supply of 
basic postal services to the Austrian population, Austrian 
Post (AG) offers nation-wide services and delivers 5.3 bil-
lion mail items annually. Austrian Post (AG) fulfils its 
mandate by providing services of outstanding quality. In 
2018, 95.8 % of letters were already delivered on the next 
working day, and 97.3 % of parcels to private customers 
within two working days. 

Both figures surpass the legally required levels of the 
Universal Service Obligation. Based on its broad online 
and offline service offering, Austrian Post takes account 
of customer needs and integrates them in its core busi-
ness via practical, everyday solutions.

The optimisation of facilities and processes ensures 
efficient logistics and thus customer satisfaction. The 
reputation of Austrian Post (AG) and the related annual 
Customer Satisfaction Index are influencing factors for 
long-term growth of the company. 

COMMITMENT TO SOCIETY 
Furthermore, Austrian Post is committed to society 

beyond the company’s boundaries, supporting a range 
of business-related social projects and activities. In this 
regard, the company attaches great importance to ensur-
ing that its social involvement is clearly linked to its core 
business. In 2018, Austrian Post (AG) once again supported 
the Ö3 Wundertüte initiative and the “Gift parcels for  
the Christ Child” campaign.

DATA PROTECTION AND DATA SECURITY
Due to technical developments and the steadily increas-

ing importance of data for the successful development of 
Austrian Post, the Austrian Post Group implements exten-
sive measures to ensure the confidentiality of customer and 
company data as well as the integrity and availability of the 
IT systems operated by Austrian Post. 

In 2018 Austrian Post (AG) carried out various measures  
as a means of meeting the statutory demands contained 
in the General Data Protection Regulation (EU GDPR). 
New processes were set up and existing processes were 
adapted to reflect the new legal situation. Various guide-
lines were issued on data-specific topics and communi-
cated to all employees.

Raising awareness among employees throughout the 
Group with regard to the issues of data protection and data 
security also play a major role. The company established  
a data protection organisation to ensure that data protec-
tion is practiced and lived by all employees and to prevent 
potential penalties and damage to the company’s repu-
tation caused by non-compliance with legal regulations. 
It consists of data protection managers in all specialised 
departments at the company and the data protection 
officers and data protection managers in the subsidiaries. 
A company-wide e-learning course on the issue of data  
and information security was rolled out in 2018. 

Moreover, information events were held for groups 
of individuals with special security requirements such as 
executives and accounting employees. 

In compiling, using and processing personal data, 
Austrian Post strictly adheres to the legal data protection 
regulations (e. g. Data Protection Act, the EU’s General 
Data Protection Regulation). Austrian Post is moving in 
new directions and developing innovative products and 
services in order to design more modern and attractive 
service offerings for its customers. The legal framework 
for new, innovative products and services and the related 
data processing leaves room for interpretation with 
respect to the data protection regulations applicable since 
May 2018 and can thus repeatedly become the focal point 
of discussions and legal proceedings relating to  
data protection.
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Main Risks

The main risks relating to ensuring the reliability 
of supply relate to potential interruptions in the supply 
of postal services in Austria which could arise as a result 
of operational breakdowns or restrictions, environmental 
incidents, IT failures, strikes, staff shortages and flu 
epidemics, and thus have a negative impact on customer 
satisfaction.

The main risks in the field of data protection and 
data security involve the potential theft or illegal disclo-
sure of sensitive customer and employee data and the 
subsequent damage to the company’s reputation, increas-
ing customer dissatisfaction and threat of having to pay 
fines in accordance with the stipulations contained in the 
General Data Protection Regulation (EU GDPR).

Non-financial Indicators 

Indicators Austrian Post (AG) Group 

2017 2018 2017   2018

Number of postal service points 1,802 1,791 Not applicable  1 Not applicable  1

Delivery success rate on the first  
working day after posting 
 

95.4 % of letters were 
delivered on the first 
working day after 
posting

95.8 % of letters were 
delivered on the first 
working day after 
posting

Not applicable  1 

 

 

Not applicable  1 

 

 

Customer satisfaction  
(Customer Satisfaction Index value)  2

The average CSI value 
was 69 points

The average good CSI 
value was 70 points

Indicator not available 
on a Group level

Indicator not available 
on a Group level

Susbtantiated complaints with respect to  
violations of data protection or loss of  
customer data 
 
 
 

There were no serious 
complaints in 2017 con-
cerning the violation of 
data protection or loss 
of customer data 
 

There were no serious 
complaints and legal 
cases in 2018 concern-
ing alleged breaches  
of customer privacy, 
data theft or loss of 
customer data

There were no serious 
complaints in 2017 con-
cerning the violation of 
data protection or loss 
of customer data 
 

There were no serious 
complaints and legal 
cases in 2018 concern-
ing alleged breaches  
of customer privacy, 
data theft or loss of 
customer data

1	 These indicators are not applicable to the subsidiaries of Austrian Post (AG) in light of the fact that they are not subject to the Universal Service Obligation.
2	 Customer Satisfaction Index (CSI) value on a scale from 0 – 100, < 50 points: critical, 51 – 60: moderate, 61 – 70: good, 71 – 80: very good, 81 – 100: excellent.
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HUMAN RIGHTS, COMPLIANCE 
AND ANTI-CORRUPTION

We Act Reponsibly – 
Human Rights

Austrian Post (AG) and its subsidiaries attach particu-
lar importance to a correct interaction with employees, 
business partners and customers as well as public author-
ities and institutions. For this reason, full compliance with 
all applicable regulations and laws plays an important 
role in Austrian Post’s business operations. The company 
wants to be perceived as a trustworthy and responsible 
business partner, employer and service provider.

Concepts and Their Results

In this connection, Austrian Post also takes its obligation 
to respect human rights very seriously. The material topics 
which reflect this are:

■  � Corporate culture and working environments
■  � Responsible procurement

The Austrian Post Group stands up for respecting 
human rights and recognises the dignity of every individual. 
Austrian Post (AG) has been a member of the UN Global 
Compact (unglobalcompact.com) since 2007 and orients 
its goals and activities to these principles with respect to 

human and labour rights. The company strongly rejects 
every form of human rights violation as well as child 
labour and forced labour. Austrian Post also expects its 
business partners to adhere to these principles. 

This is expressed in the Code of Conduct and Ethics 
approved by the Management Board in 2011, which is 
binding throughout the Group. The contents of the Code 
of Conduct and Ethics reflect the commitment of the 
Austrian Post Group to the principles contained in the UN 
Global Compact. All other Group guidelines and behav-
ioural instructions are based on the Code of Conduct and 
Ethics and are derived from it. The commitment to various 
conventions of the International Labour Organisation 
(ILO), a specialised agency of the United Nations which 
promotes social justice, human rights and labour rights, 
is a further indication that Austrian Post stands up for 
human rights. In addition, human rights are embedded in 
the constitution of the Republic of Austria and are pro-
tected in numerous laws. The European Convention on 
Human Rights also has constitutional status.

Due to its commitment to respect human rights, Aus-
trian Post fulfils its ethical and moral responsibility and 
thus avoids legal proceedings, fines, damage to its reputa-
tion and the related losses. 

Austrian Post has defined the following objectives with 
respect to human rights protection:

Main Target: Positively Shape the Corporate Culture and Working Environments

Targets in 2018 Achieved in 2018 Planned for 2019

Promote a humane corporate culture 
 
 
 
 

Measures to promote legally- and  
company-compliant behaviour.  
 
 
 

Further implementation of preventive measures 
to promote legally- and company-compliant 
behaviour

 �Continuation of measures to protect  
employee rights



Human Rights, Compliance and Anti-corruption - 51

N
O

N
-F

IN
A

N
C

IA
L 

R
E

P
O

R
T

Main Target: Assume Responsibility in Procurement

Targets in 2018 Achieved in 2018 Planned for 2019

Continuation of supplier assessments and 
evaluation of improvement potential in supplier 
assessments

Conversion of the vendor integrity check  
(part of the supplier assessment) to a  
system-supported process

Continuation of supplier assessments 
 
 

CORPORATE CULTURE AND WORKING  
ENVIRONMENTS

Respect for human dignity is an important issue,  
especially when it comes to employees. For this reason, 
Austrian Post strongly opposes prejudices and any type  
of discrimination. Equal treatment of all employees 
regardless of their age, gender, sexual orientation or  
identity, nationality, ethnic origin, disability, religion  
or ideology is ensured on the basis of collective agreement 
regulations concerning working conditions and the Group-
wide Code of Conduct and Ethics. Furthermore, Austrian 
Post proactively promotes a corporate culture which is 
characterised by respect, openness, trust and appreci-
ation. For example, the issue of bullying is discussed in 
various training courses. Furthermore, the Central Works 
Council of Austrian Post (AG) is committed to ensuring 
adherence to these values, and continuously stands up for 
fair and equal treatment. The representation of the Cen-
tral Works Council on the Supervisory Board ensures that 
employee concerns are also voiced at Supervisory Board 
meetings and that employees are involved in important 
management decisions.

RESPONSIBLE PROCUREMENT
Austrian Post wants to take responsibility along the 

value chain. For this reason, great importance is also 
attached to respecting human rights in the company’s 
central procurement activities. Group-wide procurement 
guidelines stipulate that all business relationships must be 
oriented to ethical principles and fulfil the intrinsic value 
of fairness. Moreover, since 2012 the Code of Conduct for 

Suppliers of Austrian Post has been part of the standard 
documentation given to suppliers within the context of 
tender procedures. Suppliers are obliged to adhere to the 
minimum social standards and safeguard human rights as 
laid down in the code. Another instrument to ensure the 
preservation of human rights in central procurement is the 
vendor integrity check, which evaluates compliance with 
the Code of Conduct for Suppliers. Suppliers are subject to 
a Vendor Integrity Check (VIC) in case of high purchasing 
volumes or high-risk categories. In 2018 the vendor integ-
rity check was converted from a supplier self-disclosure to 
a system-supported process. Various issues are reviewed, 
including human rights and labour rights. 

All verified suppliers are included in the system’s 
portfolio, thus launching ongoing monitoring of key com-
pany characteristics. For suppliers which do not meet the 
criteria of the VIC, measures are specified in consultation 
with the Compliance Department and their subsequent 
implementation is assessed. Austrian Post is working on 
implementing an upstream inspection process as part of 
its continuous improvement of supplier management. 

Main Risks

The main risk involving the non-observance of human 
rights could arise due to the large number of business 
relationships. This can lead to inhumane living and working 
conditions caused by unlawful business ties to third par-
ties. Measures such as the vendor integrity check and the 
supplier assessment have been implemented throughout 
the Group in order to minimise this risk. 

Non-financial Indicator

Indicator Group 

2017 2018

Number of supplier assessments 36 81
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We Act Responsibly –  
Compliance & Anti-corruption

Values such as honesty, predictability and transpar
ency comprise key benchmarks of Austrian Post’s busi-
ness dealings. This is complemented by all employees in 
the Group avoiding any appearance of corruptibility or 
dishonesty in their business dealings.

Concepts and Their Results

As a signatory of the UN Global Compact, Austrian 
Post is committed to compliance with its principles and 
resolutely rejects unfair business practices, corruption 
and bribery. Austrian Post also expects adherence to 
these principles from its business partners. 

This is reflected by the following material topics iden-
tified by Austrian Post: 

■  � Corporate culture and working environments
■  � Responsible procurement

Austrian Post established a Group-wide compli-
ance management system (CMS) in 2010. The CMS 
encompasses the areas of capital market and business 
compliance, which includes the issue of anti-corruption. 
It corresponds to the ISO standards 37001 (Anti-
bribery management systems) and 19600 (Compliance 

management systems) and was examined and certified by 
TÜV Süd. 

The CMS of Austrian Post creates transparency con-
cerning compliance-related circumstances with the help 
of a risk-oriented prevention strategy. Rules designed to 
reduce risks are established based on the results of the 
compliance risk analyses and appropriate measures are 
integrated in business processes. 

A responsible corporate culture is of central impor-
tance to the CMS. The basis for this is the mission state
ment, the Code of Conduct and Ethics, clear rules spec
ifying roles and responsibilities as well as compliance 
guidelines. All steps are accompanied by comprehensive 
information and training measures as well as an 
action-oriented consulting offering. 

The Central Compliance Officer is supported by 
compliance officers in the individual departments and 
in all subsidiaries in which it holds a majority stake in 
embedding CMS throughout the entire Group. At present 
there are 23 compliance officers in Austria and seven 
compliance officers in foreign subsidiaries. The activi-
ties of the central and regional compliance organisation 
contribute towards ensuring the sustainable, practice-
oriented and action-based professionalisation and further 
development of the compliance management system.

Ethical behaviour is a top priority at Austrian Post. 
For this reason, the CMS pursues the following goals:

Main Target: Ensure Impeccable and Exemplary Behaviour

Targets in 2018 Achieved in 2018 Planned for 2019

Rules for impeccable and lawful behaviour

�Information, communication and training  
regarding these rules

 
 
Help desk (contact point for compliance issues)

2 Group-wide guidelines were issued

50 classroom training sessions were  
held with a total of 735 participants in Austria

 �125 e-learning training sessions 
 
185 inquiries were processed by the help desk

Rules for impeccable and lawful behaviour 

�Information, communication and training  
regarding these rules

 
 
Help desk (contact point for compliance issues)

 Monitoring the implementation of measures

Support for pre-defined business activities  
and assessments

4 partnerships for internal audits 
 
 

Monitoring the implementation of measures

Support for pre-defined business activities  
and assessments
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Main Target: Strengthen Perception as a Trustworthy Partner

Targets in 2018 Achieved in 2018 Planned for 2019

�Continuation of the compliance risk analysis
�

Expansion of risk discussions with international 
compliance officers 

Definition of measures and implementation

Case management

18 personal risk discussions with national  
compliance officers

6 risk discussions with international  
compliance officers
�

81 supplier assessments 
 

�Continuation of the compliance risk analysis
�

Extension of risk discussions with international 
compliance officers incl. site inspections,  
specification and implementation of measures

Definition of measures and implementation

Case management

Communication with and information to  
external stakeholders via the CMS 
 
 
 

Participation in 2 Transparency International 
working groups

3 external reports (Annual Report/Non-
financial Indicators, Corporate Governance 
Report, Sustainability Report)

Communication and information provided to 
external stakeholders about the CMS 
 
 
 

IDENTIFICATION OF POTENTIAL RISKS AS THE  
BASIS FOR COMPLIANCE MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS

The major pillar in recognising corruption risks is the 
annual compliance risk analysis carried out by the com-
pliance team. The risk analysis incorporates information 
from Group risk management, personal discussions with 
the compliance officers and compliance observations. 
No corruption risks were reported to Group risk manage
ment in 2018. The personal risk discussions including the 
compliance observations encompassed all Austrian and 
six international subsidiaries and thus covered 60 % of all 
Group sites. The results are reported to the Management 
Board, which then approves the resulting compliance pro-
gramme.

COMPLIANCE AND ANTI-CORRUPTION DIRECTIVE  
FOR RESPONSIBLE BEHAVIOUR

Other instruments to prevent corruption and bribery 
are the regulations pertaining to compliance and anti-
corruption. These guidelines are derived from the Code 
of Conduct and Ethics and specifically spell out rules 
and instructions on the respective issues on the basis of 
this overall framework. 

The objective of the Capital Market Compliance Direc-
tive is to ensure that Austrian Post acts with integrity 
on the capital market and to promote an understanding 
of compliance issues on the part of all employees in the 
Austrian Post Group. The essential content of the rules is 
the prevention of the improper use of insider information. 
The directive reflects valid European and Austrian capital 
market regulations as well as the Issuer Compliance Ordi-
nance of the Financial Market Authority and is binding on 
all employees of the Group.

In 2018 Austrian Post also issued a new directive with 
rules relating to the topic of anti-corruption. The Group 
directive on the “Acceptance and Granting of Gifts, Invi-
tations and Other Benefits” as well as the Group directive 
on “Handling Donations and Sponsoring” were merged 
to create one Business Compliance Directive. It was also 
expanded to include the issues of dealing with conflicts of 
interest and dealing with company resources. 

AWARENESS RAISING BASED ON  
TRAINING ACTIVITIES

Raising the awareness of employees concerning the 
issues of compliance and anti-corruption represents 
another important activity carried out within the context 
of the CMS. The company makes use of notice boards, 
articles in the employee magazine, information e-mails as 
well as classroom and online training. These various forms 
of communication and training enable a target group-
specific and broad focus on compliance issues. Arrange-
ments were made in 2018 to reproduce a compliance 
training video, which will be rolled out in 2019. 

In the field of BUSINESS COMPLIANCE, the focus in 
2018 was on classroom training. 50 such training sessions 
with a total of 731 participants were held in Austria in 
collaboration with the compliance officers.

 With respect to the issue of CAPITAL MARKET 
COMPLIANCE, the year 2018 was characterised by a 
continuation of the company’s training and information 
activities. Training contents were conveyed in the form 
of classroom training and e-learning. Moreover, the 
employee magazine “Meine Post” also provided informa-
tion about the most important points relating to capital 
market compliance.
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The focus on ANTI-TRUST COMPLIANCE is very impor-
tant for a limited number of employees who have direct 
contact with competitors. For this reason, the Compliance 
Office, in collaboration with the Legal Department, wrote 
a manual on dealing with competitors and used it as the 
training tool for educating employees. 

In addition to training for employees, the further 
education of compliance officers is also a part of training 
activities. The International Compliance Day took place in 
April 2018, and an in-house Compliance Officer Course 
has been started since October 2018. Completion of the 
study programme is scheduled for June 2019.

100 % of all employees were informed about this 
issue thanks to the measures implemented in the fields 
of anti-corruption and compliance. Moreover, the entire 
Management Board and Supervisory Board as well as 
82 % of employees exposed to risks were trained on 
anti-corruption and compliance. 

The compliance team and a Compliance Help Desk 
accessible to employees throughout the Austrian Post 
Group are available personally per telephone, anony-
mously on the Intranet or per e-mail to deal with questions, 
comments and concerns. In 2018 a total of 185 employee 
inquiries and documents were processed by the Compliance 
Help Desk on the issues of accepting and granting of gifts, 

donations and sponsoring as well as Austrian Post’s behav-
ioural principles. 

MEASURES TAKEN IN RESPONSE TO  
CASES OF CORRUPTION 

No cases of corruption were reported at Austrian Post 
in 2018. If such a case occurs, legal steps in line with 
applicable labour laws as well as disciplinary measures will 
be taken. Measures to prevent corruption were success-
fully carried out throughout the Group in the year 2018 
within the context of the compliance management system.

Main Risks

Potential corruption risks are identified via the Group 
risk management system and the annual compliance risk 
analysis of Austrian Post. In spite of existing guidelines on 
sponsoring, donations and anti-corruption, there is a risk 
that third parties may attempt bribery (gifts, invitations, 
other benefits). 

The compliance risk analysis as well as the risk man-
agement system show that ongoing activities with regard 
to anti-corruption are still required. However, there is no 
serious problem relating to corruption at the present time. 

Non-financial Indicator

Indicator Group 

2017 2018

Non-compliance with social and economic  
laws and regulations 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

There were no major lawsuits, sanctions or 
fines imposed against Austrian Post in 2017 
due to violations of social or economic laws or 
regulations 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

In the year 2018 there were no lawsuits 
filed against Austrian Post nor sanctions or 
fines imposed upon the company for anti-
competitive behaviour, formation of cartels or 
monopolistic practices, based on the Federal 
Act Against Unfair Competition (UMG) or the 
Austrian Cartel Act (KartG).  
 
In the year 2018 there were no lawsuits filed 
against Austrian Post nor sanctions or fines 
imposed upon the company for violations of 
social laws or regulations
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ENVIRONMENT

 We Focus on the Future

As a logistics company, Austrian Post bears a huge 
responsibility. In order to fulfil its responsibility, Austrian 
Post analyses developments and challenges, and aligns its 
concepts and measures in this area. 

Megatrends which pose a challenge to Austrian Post 
are global climate change, local emissions, shortage of 
natural resources and the resulting energy transition. In 
particular, globalisation and the ongoing increase in inter-
national trade have a major impact on the environment 
and the climate, especially due to emissions of harmful 
greenhouse gases such as CO₂. 

 

Concepts and Their Results

Austrian Post has been consistently integrating envi-
ronmental protection activities in its core business for 
many years in order to decrease its ecological footprint 
from year to year. The environmental protection measures 
taken by Austrian Post are tailored to reflect the material 
topics:

■  � Climate protection and energy
■   Resource efficiency
■  � Responsible procurement

Austrian Post considers environmental protection to 
be an ongoing process. For this reason, it regularly eval-
uates its priorities, objectives and measures, and adjusts 
them, if necessary. 

In order to manage and monitor its environmental 
performance, Austrian Post has defined the following tar-
gets and measures for 2018 and 2019:

Main Target: Protect the Climate and Conserve Resources

Targets in 2018 Achieved in 2018 Planned for 2019

Continuation of the CO2 NEUTRAL DELIVERY 
initiative and evaluation of expanding it to 
subsidiaries 
 

The CO2 emissions of Austrian Post (AG) and 
their compensation were confirmed by TÜV 
Austria again in 2018. The potential expansion 
of the initiative was assessed but a decision has 
not yet been made

Continuation of the CO2 NEUTRAL DELIVERY 
initiative and evaluation of expanding it to 
subsidiaries 
 

Science Based Target CO2 reduction goal: 
Reduction of CO2 emissions by 14 % by 2025 
(base year: 2013) and evaluation of CO2 reduc-
tion targets for subsidiaries

Increase in CO2 emissions of Austrian Post (AG) 
by 1.4 % due to rising parcel volumes (base year: 
2013). An evaluation was carried out but a deci-
sion has not yet been made

Reduction of CO2 emissions by 14 % by 2025 
(base year: 2013) and evaluation of CO2 reduc-
tion targets for subsidiaries 

Steady expansion of the e-vehicle fleet to  
1,800 vehicles by the end of 2020 
 

1,592 e-powered vehicles at Austrian Post (AG) 
were in use at the end of 2018, comprising a 
share of 17.2 %  

Deployment of 100 % e-powered vehicles for  
all delivery operations in urban and rural areas 
by 2030 

Expansion of the “Green Vienna” project  
(delivery of letter mail and direct mail to private 
customers by foot, bicycle or e-bike) to other 
provincial capitals and urban areas  
 

100 % “green delivery” takes place in Eisenstadt. 
Green delivery services apply to more than 90 % 
of all mail items in Vienna, Wiener Neustadt and 
St. Pölten and 60 – 80 % of all items delivered  
in the other provincial capitals by Austrian Post 
(AG)

Deployment of 100  % e-powered vehicles for 
all delivery operations in urban and rural areas 
by 2030 
 
 

Additional energy efficiency measures at  
Austrian Post (AG) and its subsidiaries 
 

Implementation of 31 energy efficiency meas-
ures in the categories of lighting, room heating, 
electricity measurement and water heating at 
Austrian Post (AG) and its subsidiaries

Further implementation of energy efficiency 
measures at Austrian Post (AG) and its  
subsidiaries  
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Targets in 2018 Achieved in 2018 Planned for 2019

Evaluation of further optimisation and quality 
assurance potential 

Waste and recycling management was reor-
ganised at six logistics centres of Austrian Post 
(AG) and in the subsidiary feibra 

Continuation of optimisation and quality assur-
ance projects at Austrian Post (AG) in the field 
of waste and recycling management 

  
 

 
 

Construction of a photovoltaic plant on the 
roof of the new Hagenbrunn Parcel Centre and 
exploration of other potential sites

Main Target: Strengthen Environmental Awareness
 
Targets in 2018 Achieved in 2018 Planned for 2019

Roll-out of the environmental management sys-
tem pursuant to ISO 14001:2015 to other sites 
of Austrian Post (AG) and Medien.Zustell GmbH  
 
Evaluation of other sites 
 

The Wernberg Parcel Centre and two other sites 
of the subsidiary Medien.Zustell GmbH were 
successfully certified pursuant to ISO 14001

The evaluation of other sites was completed 
and targets were subsequently defined for the 
coming years

Preparation for ISO 14001 certification of two 
other sites (the Hagenbrunn Logistics Centre 
and the corporate headquarters Post am  
Rochus) 
 
 

Employee awareness with the help of a new 
campaign on the Internet and Intranet  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Publication of the “Fact Book” on sustainability 

Introduction of the issue of sustainability at the 
Welcome Day for new employees

Creation of a new recruiting homepage

Implementation of a waste management cam-
paign at corporate headquarters

Promotion of participation in the “Bike to Work” 
initiative via the Intranet

Training on waste separation for all employees 
of the subsidiary Medien.Zustell GmbH

Roll-out of the internal quality seal “CSR  
INSIDE” to certify projects and employees on 
the issue of sustainability  

Internal promotion and Austrian-wide partici-
pation in the “Austria Goes Biking” initiative to 
enhance environmental awareness and promote 
health 
 
 
 
 
 
 

    Project to recycle working clothes which are  
no longer in use

 Development of a handbook for sustainable 
events

Application of the handbook for sustainable 
events at Austrian Post events

CLIMATE PROTECTION AND ENERGY
The reduction of CO₂ emissions, and thus the CO₂ 

NEUTRAL DELIVERY initiative, plays a key role in the 
company’s efforts in the field of climate protection and 
energy. All mail items within Austria are delivered in a CO₂ 
neutral manner. Within the context of this initiative, the 
first step is taking measures to ensure greater efficiency 
in core processes, for example the energy optimisation of 
buildings and lighting, and the continuous renewal of the 
vehicle fleet. 

The second step involves the increased use of 
alternative technologies. Austrian Post operates three 
photovoltaic facilities and operates the largest e-vehicle 
fleet in Austria. The energy generated by the photovoltaic 
plants supplies sufficient electricity to power the entire 
fleet of electric vehicles, without greenhouse gas emis-
sions.

All the remaining unavoidable CO₂ emissions are offset 
in a third step by supporting national and international 
climate protection projects. In order to enhance credibil-
ity, the CO₂ neutral delivery of all mail items by Austrian 
Post (AG) is confirmed each year by TÜV Austria. In the 
meantime, more than 150 customers use the logo in their 
communications, in light of the fact that the CO₂ neutral 
delivery of their mail items also improves the CO₂ score-
card of Austrian Post’s customers.

An important factor in reducing CO₂ emissions is rais-
ing energy efficiency of buildings. For this reason, building 
renovation and energy efficiency measures are a key 
aspect of the strategy pursued by Austrian Post (AG) and 
its subsidiaries. Since 2012, Austrian Post has already been 
exclusively procuring electricity from renewable energy 
sources. Since 2018, Austrian Post (AG) and all its Austrian 
subsidiaries exclusively use renewable energy from Aus-
trian sources.
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Moreover, Austrian Post deploys new technologies. 
Austrian Post (AG) operates the country’s largest e-vehicle 
fleet featuring 1,592 electric-powered vehicles. It supplies 
two large logistics centres and one office building with 
electricity generated by its photovoltaic facilities and uses 
LED lighting in its buildings.

In 2016, Austrian Post defined a scientifically sound 
climate target, i. e. the Science Based Targets, stipulating a 
further 14 % reduction in emissions by the year 2025 com-
pared to the base year of 2013. Nevertheless, in spite of 
many measures designed to reduce emissions, the level of 
emissions rose by 1.4 % compared to the base year. Strong 
parcel volume growth (+54 % in the period 2013 – 2018)  
led to an increase in the number of kilometres driven. In 
turn, this resulted in higher energy consumption by the 
vehicle fleet and thus a rise in CO₂ emissions.

Austrian Post compiles all relevant indicators required 
to calculate CO₂ emissions on a Group level and on the 
basis of ISO 14064 Part 1. All indicators and calculations 
are checked by an external audit. Austrian Post (AG) data 
is also certified according to ISO 14064. This process 
ensures that the necessary due diligence will be exercised 
in compiling key figures for the material topic of climate 
protection.

RESOURCE EFFICIENCY
When it comes to resource efficiency, the focus is on 

the conscious use of natural resources. This requires an 
analysis of the materials used by the Group and subse-
quent proactive management. A key instrument in increas-
ing resource efficiency is the environmental management 
system in accordance with the ISO 14001 standard applied 
by Austrian Post since 2016. A more conscious use of 
materials is possible with aware employees. In the mean-
time, the Vienna Letter Mail Centre, the company’s largest 
logistics centre, along with the Wernberg Parcel Centre 
and the entire subsidiary Medien.Zustell GmbH are certi-
fied pursuant to ISO 14001.

Responsible waste and recycling management also 
plays an important role with respect to the issue of energy 
efficiency. In the spirit of ensuring sustainable waste man-
agement, measures are taken to keep the waste produced 
by Austrian Post (AG) and its domestic subsidiaries at a 
minimum. If waste cannot be avoided, it will be disposed of 
in an environmentally compatible manner. Waste materials 
are separated by category. 

RESPONSIBLE PROCUREMENT
Within the context of its high sustainability standards, 

Austrian Post not only strives to minimise the environmen-
tal impacts of its business operations. A shared under-
standing with respect to environmental protection and 
responsibility is also important in the selection of business 
partners. 

Austrian Post is aware of its role in the supply chain 
and the implications of its purchasing decisions. For this 
reason, it consistently demands compliance with environ-
mental and social standards within the context of its Code 
of Conduct for Suppliers (refer to page 51).

Main Risks

The main risk related to Austrian Post’s energy-
intensive business operations as a logistic company is its 
contribution to climate change. In order to minimise this 
risk, Austrian Post has implemented numerous measures 
listed in the section on concepts and results on page 55f. 

The primary risks relating to the environment which 
Austrian Post faces are natural effects occurring directly 
or indirectly as a result of climate change. Normative 
changes in the area of climate policy and economic influ-
ences such as certificate trading can also affect the com-
pany’s activities.
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Non-financial Indicators

Austrian Post compiles energy indicators relating to its 
property holdings and vehicle fleet for Austrian Post (AG) 
and all national and international subsidiaries. The compi-
lation of figures is regulated by special work instructions. 
All indicators and calculations are checked by an exter-
nal audit. This process ensures that the necessary due 
diligence will be exercised in compiling key figures for the 
material topic of energy. 

Energy Overview  

The entire energy consumption of Austrian Post (AG)  
for its commercial properties and vehicle fleet increased 
by 3 % year-on-year to about 402 m kWh. However, energy 
consumption of its property holdings fell by 3 % to about 
122 m kWh. Energy consumption of the vehicle fleet rose by 
6 %. The main influencing factor in this regard was parcel 
volume growth of 11.1 %. This required a spatial extension of 
logistics processes and a conversion to larger and  
more powerful vehicles.

 Unit Austrian Post (AG) Group 1

2017  2 2018 2017 2018

Energy consumption buildings and vehicle fleet m kWh 389.0 401.7 469.7 484.4

Energy consumption buildings (total)  3 m kWh 125.5 121.6 147.7 143.5

Energy consumption vehicle fleet (total)4 m kWh 263.5 280.0 322.0 340.9

1	�� Austrian Post Group 2017: This includes Austrian Post (AG) and the subsidiaries Medien.Zustell GmbH, feibra GmbH, Post Wertlogistik GmbH, Post Systemlogistik GmbH, Slovak 
Parcel Service s.r.o., IN TIME s.r.o., City Express d.o.o., City Express Montenegro d.o.o., Weber Escal d.o.o., M&BM Express OOD, Overseas Trade Co Ltd d.o.o. and Express One 
d.o.o. Sarajevo.  
Austrian Post Group 2018: The indicators apply to the entire Austrian Post Group with the exception of the subsidiary Express One Hungary. 

2	 Within the context of the audit, indicators relating to external vehicles for the year 2017 were revised upwards due to adjustments made to the original calculations. 
3	� Energy indicators for property holdings in the year 2018 include all space occupied by Austrian Post (office space, delivery bases, logistics centres, branch offices). The indicators 

for Austrian Post (AG) are based on real data available as at the deadline of January 17, 2019. The remaining share is based on estimates. Indicators for subsidiaries are based on 
data made available by them as at the deadline of January 24, 2019. Extrapolations were used in some cases. 

4	� Energy indicators for the vehicle fleet in 2018 refer to all motorised vehicles of Austrian Post. The indicators for Austrian Post (AG) are based on real data. The indicators apply-
ing to subsidiaries is based on data made available by them as at the deadline of January 24, 2019. Extrapolations were used in some cases. 
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Energy – Property and Buildings

Austrian Post (AG) manages more than one million 
square metres of building space. The total area in m² rose 
slightly by 1 % in 2018 compared to the previous year. The 
entire amount of energy consumed by property holdings 
fell by 3 % to about 122 m kWh due to adjustments carried 

out in the data collection and evaluation system combined 
with energy efficiency measures. Specific CO2 emissions in 
tonnes per thousand m² declined even more strongly and 
was down by 10 %.

 Unit Austrian Post (AG) Group 1

2017 2018 2017 2018

Building space (m2) m2 1,048,295 1,055,669 1,185,294 1,208,212

Total energy consumption in buildings 2 m kWh 125.5 121.6 147.7 143.5

Natural gas m kWh 32.3 32.7 42.3 42.5

Heating oil m kWh 3.1 2.0 3.3 2.1

District heat m kWh 34.5 30.3 36.9 33.0

Electricity (total) m kWh 55.6 56.6 65.3 65.8

�thereof electricity from renewable energy sources m kWh 52.4 55.4 55.4 59.0

�thereof electricity from own photovoltaic plants m kWh 1.5 1.4 1.5 1.6

thereof grey electricity m kWh 3.1 1.2 9.9 6.8

1	� Austrian Post Group 2017: This includes Austrian Post (AG) and the subsidiaries Medien.Zustell GmbH, feibra GmbH, Post Wertlogistik GmbH, Post Systemlogistik GmbH, Slovak 
Parcel Service s.r.o., IN TIME s.r.o., City Express d.o.o., City Express Montenegro d.o.o., Weber Escal d.o.o., M&BM Express OOD, Overseas Trade Co Ltd d.o.o. and Express One 
d.o.o. Sarajevo.  
Austrian Post Group 2018: The indicators apply to the entire Austrian Post Group with the exception of the subsidiary Express One Hungary.

2	� Energy indicators for property holdings in the year 2018 include all space occupied by Austrian Post (office space, delivery bases, logistics centres, branch offices). The indicators 
for Austrian Post (AG) are based on real data available as at the deadline of January 17, 2019. The remaining share is based on estimates. Indicators for subsidiaries are based on 
data made available by them as at the deadline of January 24, 2019. Extrapolations were used in some cases. 

 
Energy – Vehicle Fleet

In 2018 Austrian Post (AG) travelled a total of 170 m km to 
provide its services. The number of kilometres driven rose 
by 5 % as a result of increased parcel volumes. Volume 
growth of 11.1 % and weight increases in this segment not 
only required a conversion to larger and more powerful 
vehicles but a spatial extension of logistics processes, in 
particular in the case of third-party vehicles deployed to 
transport goods (vehicles > 3.5 t). This freight transport 

and use of lorries led to a vehicle-related rise in fuel 
consumption. For this reason, overall fuel consump-
tion climbed by 6 % to 280 million kWh. Austrian Post 
cannot directly influence energy consumption by external 
vehicles, which is why the company implements a large 
number of measures in its own vehicle fleet (expansion of 
e-mobility, modern and efficient vehicle fleet).

 Unit Austrian Post (AG) Group  1

2017  2 2018 2017 2018

Kilometres driven   3 m km 162.2 170.1 218.5 229.4

Total fuel consumption vehicle fleet  3 m kWh 263.5 280.0 322.0 340.9

thereof own vehicle fleet m kWh 170.7 176.5 198.7 208.5

�thereof electricity consumption e-mobility m kWh 1.1 1.2 1.1 1.2

thereof external vehicle fleet m kWh 92.8 103.5 123.3 132.3

1	� Austrian Post Group 2017: This includes Austrian Post (AG) and the subsidiaries Medien.Zustell GmbH, feibra GmbH, Post Wertlogistik GmbH, Post Systemlogistik GmbH, Slovak 
Parcel Service s.r.o., IN TIME s.r.o., City Express d.o.o., City Express Montenegro d.o.o., Weber Escal d.o.o., M&BM Express OOD, Overseas Trade Co Ltd d.o.o. and Express One 
d.o.o. Sarajevo.  
 Austrian Post Group 2018: The indicators apply to the entire Austrian Post Group with the exception of the subsidiary Express One Hungary.

2	 Within the context of the audit, indicators relating to external vehicles for the year 2017 were revised upwards due to adjustments made to the original calculations. 
3	� Energy indicators for the vehicle fleet in 2018 refer to all motorised vehicles of Austrian Post. The indicators for Austrian Post (AG) are based on real data. The indicators apply-

ing to subsidiaries is based on data made available by them as at the deadline of January 24, 2019. Extrapolations were used in some cases. 

M
A

N
A

G
E

M
E

N
T 

R
E

P
O

R
T



60 - Financial Report 2018 - Austrian Post

Emissions

CO2e emissions (Scope 1 – 3) of Austrian Post (AG) in
creased by 3 % to 71,389 tonnes compared to the previous 
year. Strong parcel growth was the main factor respon
sible for this rise in emissions. The CO2e emissions in 
property and buildings (Scope 1 and Scope 2) was up 9 % 

to 12,365 tonnes. The 7 % increase in CO2e emissions 
(Scope 1 and Scope 3) in the vehicle fleet to 59,024 tonnes 
offset the drop in emissions in the company’s property  
and buildings.

 Unit Austrian Post (AG) Group  1

2017 2018 2017 2018

Total CO2 emissions (Scope 1  –  3) 2  
according to the Greenhouse Gas Protocol t CO2e 68,982 71,389 89,166 95,354

CO2e emissions buildings t CO2e 13,649 12,365 18,941 17,829

CO2e Scope 1 – buildings t CO2e 7,312 7,078 9,343 9,073

Natural gas t CO2e 6,462 6,541 8,455 8,506

Heating oil t CO2e 850 537 888 567

CO2e Scope 2 – buildings 3 t CO2e 6,337 5,287 9,598 8,756

District heat t CO2e 5,401 4,991 5,858 5,543

Electricity t CO2e 936 296 3,740 3,213

CO2e emissions vehicle fleet t CO2e 55,333 59,024 70,225 77,525

CO2e Scope 1 – own vehicle fleet t CO2e 35,713 37,065 42,804 47,953

CO2e Scope 3 – partner companies t CO2e 19,620 21,959 27,421 29,573

1	  �Austrian Post Group 2017: This includes Austrian Post (AG) and the subsidiaries Medien.Zustell GmbH, feibra GmbH, Post Wertlogistik GmbH, Post Systemlogistik GmbH, Slo-
vak Parcel Service s.r.o., IN TIME s.r.o., City Express d.o.o., City Express Montenegro d.o.o., Weber Escal d.o.o., M&BM Express OOD, Overseas Trade Co Ltd d.o.o. and Express One 
d.o.o. Sarajevo.  
Austrian Post Group 2018: The indicators apply to the entire Austrian Post Group with the exception of the subsidiary Express One Hungary. 

2	� All gases named by GRI are taken into account in calculating Scope 1, Scope 2 and Scope 3 emissions. In order to fulfil GRI requirements, the CO2 emissions for Austrian Post 
(AG) for the base year 2013 are listed as follows: CO2 Scope 1 – road transport (own emissions: 35,199 t; CO2 Scope 1 – buildings: 8,887 t; CO2 Scope 2 – buildings: 6,346 t;  
CO2 Scope 3 – partner companies: 19,951 t. These figures refer exclusively to Austrian Post (AG). The difference to previously published CO2 emission figures for the year 2013 
arises by not taking account of Post Wertlogistik GmbH. 

3	� The calculation of Scope 2 emissions (electricity and district heat) for Austrian Post (AG) is carried out in line with the market-based method. This means supplier-specific 
emission factors are used if available. When Scope 2 emissions are calculated using the location-based method (no supplier-specific emission factors, no green electricity), CO2 
emissions for the year 2018 are at 19,839.9 tonnes. This shows the impact of procuring electricity from renewable energy sources. The calculation of Scope 2 emissions (elec-
tricity and district heat) for the national subsidiaries is carried out in line with the market-based method. This means supplier-specific emission factors are used if available. The 
calculation of Scope 2 emissions (electricity and district heat) for international subsidiaries is carried out in line with the location-based method.
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Relative Emissions

Due to the changes in the mail and parcel businesses, 
it makes sense to compare CO2e emissions to the respec-
tive reference value. CO2e emissions in property and 
buildings fell by 10 % to 11.7 tonnes per thousand m², a 
more pronounced decrease than for absolute emissions. 

CO2e emissions of the vehicle fleet climbed by 2 % to about 
347 tonnes of CO2e per million kilometres, less than the 
comparable increase for absolute CO2e emissions.

 Unit Austrian Post (AG) Group  1

2017 2018 2017 1 2018

Relative CO2e emissions buildings  2 t CO2e / 1000 m2 13.0 11.7 16.0 14.8

Relative CO2e emissions vehicle fleet t CO2e / m km 341.1 347.0 321.5 337.9

1	�� Austrian Post Group 2017: This includes Austrian Post (AG) and the subsidiaries Medien.Zustell GmbH, feibra GmbH, Post Wertlogistik GmbH, Post Systemlogistik GmbH, Slovak 
Parcel Service s.r.o., IN TIME s.r.o., City Express d.o.o., City Express Montenegro d.o.o., Weber Escal d.o.o., M&BM Express OOD, Overseas Trade Co Ltd d.o.o. and Express One 
d.o.o. Sarajevo.  
 Austrian Post Group 2018: The indicators apply to the entire Austrian Post Group with the exception of the subsidiary Express One Hungary. 

2	� All gases named by GRI are taken into account in calculating Scope 1, Scope 2 and Scope 3 emissions. In order to fulfil GRI requirements, the CO2 emissions for Austrian Post 
(AG) for the base year 2013 are listed as follows: CO2 Scope 1 – road transport (own emissions: 35,199 t; CO2 Scope 1 – buildings: 8,887 t; CO2 Scope 2 – buildings: 6,346 t;  
CO2 Scope 3 – partner companies: 19,951 t. These figures refer exclusively to Austrian Post (AG). The difference to previously published CO2 emission figures for the year 2013 
arises by not taking account of Post Wertlogistik GmbH.

Vehicles

The number of e-vehicles in the Austrian Post (AG) 
vehicle fleet in 2018 was up 12 % to 1,592. The total number 
of vehicles rose by 7 % to 9,257 in comparison to the 
prior-year figure. This can be attributed to the fact that 

new vehicles were put into operation at the end of 2018. 
However, the decommissioned vehicles were not yet 
eliminated from the vehicle fleet during the period under 
review, which explains the increase.

 Austrian Post (AG) Group  1

2017 2018 2017 2018

Total vehicles 8,680 9,257 9,952 10,473

Bicycles 714 719 715 758

thereof electric bicycles 613 620 613 621

Mopeds 809 921 944 970

thereof electric mopeds 369 416 370 417

Vehicles up to 3.5 t 6,996 7,467 8,066 8,529

thereof natural gas-driven vehicles up to 3.5 t 0 0 0 3

thereof e-vehicles up to 3.5 t 441 556 443 559

Vehicles over 3.5 t 161 150 227 216

1	� Austrian Post Group 2017: This includes Austrian Post (AG) and the subsidiaries Medien.Zustell GmbH, feibra GmbH, Post Wertlogistik GmbH, Post Systemlogistik GmbH, Slovak 
Parcel Service s.r.o., IN TIME s.r.o., City Express d.o.o., City Express Montenegro d.o.o., Weber Escal d.o.o., M&BM Express OOD, Overseas Trade Co Ltd d.o.o. and Express One 
d.o.o. Sarajevo.  
Austrian Post Group 2018: The indicators apply to the entire Austrian Post Group with the exception of the subsidiary Express One Hungary. 
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Paper

Paper consumption fell by 70 tonnes due to a variety  
of different measures (printer settings, awareness  
building measures, etc.). The share of paper from sus
tainable sources (FSC or PEFC) remains at a constant  
high level (more than 90 %).

 Unit Austrian Post (AG) Group  1

2017 2018 2017 2018

Total paper consumption t 5,539 5,469 5,755 5,697

�thereof sustainably produced paper  
(PEFC and FSC paper) t 5,372 5,195 5,415 5,243

1	� Austrian Post Group 2017: This includes Austrian Post (AG) and the subsidiaries Medien.Zustell GmbH, feibra GmbH, Post Wertlogistik GmbH, Post Systemlogistik GmbH, Slovak 
Parcel Service s.r.o., IN TIME s.r.o., City Express d.o.o., City Express Montenegro d.o.o., Weber Escal d.o.o., M&BM Express OOD, Overseas Trade Co Ltd d.o.o. and Express One 
d.o.o. Sarajevo. 
Austrian Post Group 2018: The indicators apply to the entire Austrian Post Group with the exception of the subsidiary Express One Hungary. 

Vienna, February 22, 2019

The Management Board

GEORG PÖLZL 
Chairman of the Management Board  
Chief Executive Officer

WALTER OBLIN 
Deputy Chairman of the Management Board 
Mail & Direct Mail, Finance

PETER UMUNDUM 
Member of the Management Board
Parcel & Logistics, Logistics Networks
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INDEPENDENT ASSURANCE REPORT 
ON THE NON-FINANCIAL REPORTING 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR

To the Board of Directors of Österreichische Post AG. 

We have performed an independent assurance on the consolidated  
Non-financial Report (“NFI Report”) for the financial year 2018 of  
Österreichische Post AG, Vienna (“the Company”).

This report is a translation of the original report in German, which is solely valid.

Management’s Responsibility 

The Company’s management is responsible for the 
proper preparation of the NFI Report in accordance with 
the reporting criteria. The Company applies the legal 
requirements of the Austrian Sustainability and Diversity 
Improvement Act (§§ 243b and 267a UGB) as reporting 
criteria.

The responsibility of the legal representatives of the 
company includes the selection and application of rea
sonable methods for Non-financial Reporting (especially  
the selection of material topics) as well as the use of 
assumptions and estimates for individual non-financial 
disclosures that are reasonable under the circumstances. 
Furthermore, the responsibility includes the design, im
plementation and maintenance of systems, processes 
and internal controls relevant for the preparation of the 
sustainability reporting in a way that is free of – intended 
or unintended – material misstatements.

Auditors’ Responsibility and Scope of  
the Engagement

Our responsibility is to state whether, based on our 
procedures performed, anything has come to our attention 
that causes us to believe that the NFI Report of the Com-
pany is not in accordance with the legal requirements of 
the Austrian Sustainability and Diversity Improvement Act 
(§§ 243b and 267a UGB) in all material respects. 

Our engagement was conducted in conformity with the 
International Standard on Assurance Engagements (ISAE 

3000) applicable to such engagements. These standards 
require us to comply with our professional requirements 
including independence requirements, and to plan and 
perform the engagement to enable us to express a conclu-
sion with limited assurance, taking into account materiality. 

An independent assurance engagement with the pur-
pose of expressing a conclusion with limited assurance is 
substantially less in scope than an independent assurance 
engagement with the purpose of expressing a conclusion 
with reasonable assurance, thus providing reduced assur-
ance. In spite of conscientious planning and execution of 
the engagement it cannot be ruled out that material mis-
takes, unlawful acts or irregularities within the Non-finan-
cial Reporting will remain undetected.

The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judg-
ment and included the following procedures in particular:

�■  � Inquiries of personnel on corporate level, which are 
responsible for the materiality analysis, in order to gain 
an understanding of the processes for determining 
material sustainability topics and respective reporting 
boundaries of the Company;

■  � Conduct of a media analysis on relevant information 
concerning the sustainability performance of the Com-
pany in the reporting period; 

■  � Evaluation of the design and implementation of the 
systems and processes for the collection, processing 
and control of the disclosures on environmental, social- 
and employee matters, respect for human rights and 
anti-corruption and bribery, including the consolidation 
of the data;
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■  � Inquiries of personnel on corporate level responsible 
for providing and consolidating and for carrying out 
internal control procedures concerning the disclosures 
on concepts, risks, due diligence processes, results and 
performance indicators;

■  � Inspection of selected internal and external documents 
in order to determine whether qualitative and quantita-
tive information is supported by sufficient evidence and 
presented in an accurate and balanced manner;

■  � Inquiry of employees as part of a site visit of a subsidi-
ary in Austria (feibra GmbH) to assess local data collec-
tion and reporting processes and the reliability of the 
reported data;

■  � Analytical evaluation of the data and trend explanations 
of quantitative disclosures, submitted by all sites for 
consolidation at corporate level;

■  � Evaluation of the consistency of the for the Company 
applicable requirements of the Austrian Sustainability 
and Diversity Improvement Act (§§ 243b and 267a UGB) 
with disclosures and indicators of the NFI Report; 

■  � Evaluation of the overall presentation of the disclosures 
by critical reading of the NFI Report.

The procedures that we performed do not constitute 
an audit or a review in accordance with Austrian profes-
sional guidelines, International Standards on Auditing 
(ISA) or International Standards on Review Engagements 
(ISRE). Our engagement did not focus on revealing and 

clarifying of illegal acts such as fraud, nor did it focus on 
assessing the efficiency of management. Furthermore, 
it is not part of our engagement to review future-related 
disclosures, figures from previous periods and statements 
from external information sources and expert opinions. 
Disclosures which were audited within the scope of the 
Annual Financial Statement were assessed for correct 
presentation (no substantial testing). 

This assurance report is issued based on the assur-
ance agreement concluded with the Company. Our 
responsibility and liability towards the Company and any 
third party is subject to paragraph 7 of the General 
Conditions of Contract for the Public Accounting Profes-
sions. 

Conclusion

Based on the procedures performed, nothing has 
come to our attention that causes us to believe that the 
NFI Report of the Company is not in accordance with the 
legal requirements of the Austrian Sustainability and 
Diversity Improvement Act (§§ 243b and 267a UGB) in all 
material respects. 

Vienna, 22 February 2019

KPMG Austria GmbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungs- und Steuerberatungsgesellschaft

Mag. Peter Ertl e. h.
Wirtschaftsprüfer

  �� The respective latest version of the AAB  
is accessible at kpmg.at/aab
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1. GROUP OVERVIEW AND  
MARKET ENVIRONMENT

1.1 Business Operations and 
Organisational Structure 

Austrian Post Group, also called Austrian Post or the 
Group in this report, is the leading logistics and postal 
services provider in the country, with annual revenue of 
EUR 2bn and about 20,500 employees. Its core business 
consists of transporting and delivering letters, direct mail 
items, print media, packets, parcels and express mail 
items as well as providing various logistics and innovative 
online services. On an international level, Austrian Post 
is active in nine other European countries. 

Austrian Post bundles its activities in two divisions, 
Mail & Branch Network and Parcel & Logistics. In addition, 
the Corporate Division mainly offers services relating to 
Group administration, innovation management and the 
development of new business models. These three divi-
sions represent the operating segments of Austrian Post 
in line with IFRS 8 requirements.

The core business of the Mail & Branch Network 
Division encompasses the collection, sorting and deliv-
ery of letters, postcards, addressed, partly addressed 
and unaddressed direct mail items, newspapers, parcels 
and packets delivered jointly with mail. In addition, postal 
and telecommunications products as well as financial 
services are offered in the branch network. Austrian Post 
also offers various online services such as the e-letter 
and cross-media solutions to its customers. The offer-
ing is complemented by physical and digital value-added 
services for measurable success in customer communica-
tion and document processing. 

The Parcel & Logistics Division provides parcel 
shipping solutions from one source covering the entire 
value chain. Its core business consists of the transport 
of parcels as well as Express Mail Service (EMS) items. 
Austrian Post transported about 108 million parcels and 
EMS items in its home market in 2018, which makes it 
the leading service provider in the delivery of mail order 
and private customer parcels as well as B2B shipments, 
that offers nationwide services of the highest quality. In 
addition to conventional parcel products, express deliv-
ery and food delivery, the portfolio also includes a broad 

range of value-added services. For example, the company 
offers customised fulfillment solutions such as warehous-
ing, commissioning, returns management, the transport of 
valuable goods and cash, webshop logistics and webshop 
infrastructure. Furthermore, the division also operates in 
eight other European countries. 

1.2 Sales Markets and  
Market Position

Austrian Post and its Group subsidiaries operate in 
ten countries. About 92 % of the revenue is currently gen-
erated in the domestic market, where Austrian Post plays 
a leading role in the delivery of letter mail, direct mail and 
newspapers as well as parcels. Despite growing competi-
tion and price pressure in the highly competitive parcels 
market, Austrian Post was able to increase parcel volumes 
in 2018. The company has a market share of about 59 % 
in the private parcel business and 32 % of parcel volumes 
in the business parcel (B2B) segment (Source: Branchen
radar CEP Services 2019). 

On an international level, the Group subsidiaries of 
Austrian Post also have good market positions. Austrian 
Post Group is number one in the business parcel segment 
in Slovakia and a top player in Croatia, Serbia, Monte
negro, and Bosnia and Herzegovina. 

1.3 Economic Environment

Global economic growth is weakening according 
to the economists at the International Monetary Fund 
(IMF). In 2018, the world economy was impacted mainly 
by political issues, such as the trade conflict between 
the USA and China, Brexit and the budget dispute be
tween the Italian government and the EU. These and 
other looming conflicts create uncertainty for glob-
ally operating companies and dampen economic fore-
casts. According to the IMF, global GDP increased by 
3.7 % in 2018, almost by the same amount as in the pre
vious year (2017: 3.8 %). In 2019 and 2020, worldwide 
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economic growth is expected to be 3.5 % and 3.6 % 
respectively (IMF, January 2019). 

Europe’s economic expansion did not match the 
prior-year growth rate of 2.4 %. Brexit and the ongoing 
budget dispute between Italy and the EU are the big-
gest factors of uncertainty. This resulted in a weakening 
of economic growth to 1.8 % in 2018. The IMF predicts 
European GDP growth of 1.6 % in 2019 and 1.7 % in 2020 
(IMF, January 2019). 

Austria’s economic growth is very strong and is higher 
than the eurozone average. Strong industrial activity 
and expanding business sectors comprise the main driv-
ing forces for growth. The Austrian Institute of Economic 
Research (WIFO) projects growth of 2.7 % in 2018 following 
a level of 2.6 % in the previous year. A somewhat damp-
ened economic development is expected in 2019, with GDP 
projected to increase by 2.0 %. GDP growth of 1.8 % is pre-
dicted for 2020 (WIFO, December 2018). 

Current signs point to a slowdown in growth in the 
years to come in the other European markets where 
Austrian Post operates, against the backdrop of major 
cyclical risks. The IMF predicts economic growth of 1.5 % 
in Germany in 2018 following 2.5 % in the previous year, 
and forecasts 1.3 % and 1.6 % growth, respectively, in the 
years 2019 and 2020. Germany will only face a more 
restrained economic performance, whereas the markets 
of South East and Eastern Europe have been subject to 
a downturn in economic output since 2017 after a very 
strong growth period. The IMF anticipates GDP growth 
of 3.8 % in 2018 in the European emerging markets com-
pared to 6.0 % in 2017, and forecasts GDP increases to 
slow down to 0.7 % in 2019 and 2.4 % in 2020 (IMF, Janu-
ary 2019).

1.4 Market Environment

In addition to the overall economic environment, the 
business development of Austrian Post is impacted mainly 
by the following international trends, which pose risks but 
also offer new opportunities. 

The electronic substitution of traditional addressed 
letter mail is continuing. This global trend impacts all 
postal companies and is essentially irreversible. In 
particular, customers in the public sector are trying to 
reduce mail volumes. As a result, Austrian Post continues 
to expect an ongoing decline of about 5 % p. a. More
over, customers have shown uncertainty with regard 
to addressed advertising mail as a consequence of the 
implementation of the General Data Protection Reg-
ulation. Generally, the business with direct mail items 
strongly depends on the economic situation, the par-
ticular sector and the intensity of advertising activities 
by companies. The market development for addressed 

and unaddressed advertising mail is currently rather 
subdued. 

Parcel volumes in the private customer segment are 
increasing due to the steadily growing importance of 
online shopping. In particular, there is still a gap to be 
filled in the e-commerce segment of the CEE/SEE mar-
kets. This should result in a more dynamic market envi-
ronment.

In turn, the development of the international parcel 
and freight business depends largely on general economic 
trends as well as international trade flows and related 
price developments. Competition and price pressure 
remain high in this area. Trade flows and the required 
logistics services are becoming increasingly globalised.

Another important market trend is the increasing 
importance of non-financial factors in the fields of soci-
ety, employees and the environment. This is accompanied 
by growing transparency requirements imposed on com-
panies with regards to sustainability. Increased awareness 
of sustainability is also leading to growing demand for 
the resource-friendly transport of goods. Austrian Post 
complies with these requirements by offering the CO₂ 
neutral delivery of mail items in its domestic market of 
Austria. This is designed to prevent and reduce the nega-
tive impact on the global climate as a consequence of its 
business operations, on behalf of both the company and 
its customers. 

1.5 Legal Framework

The legal framework for Austrian Post’s business oper-
ations is mainly based on the Austrian Postal Market Act, 
which took effect on January 1, 2011:

■  � Austrian Post remains the universal service provider 
in Austria even after the full-scale market liberalisation, 
guaranteeing high-quality postal services throughout 
Austria. As legally stipulated, the regulatory authority 
(Post Control Commission) carried out an evaluation in 
2016 to determine whether other postal companies can 
provide universal postal services defined by law. This 
is not the case.

■  � The Universal Postal Service Obligation is limited pri-
marily to mail posted at the legally stipulated access 
points, i. e. postal service points or letterboxes, based 
on general terms of trade (not individually negotiated). 
This safeguards the supply of basic postal services 
to the Austrian population and economy. Postal ser-
vices for mail items brought to sorting centres by large 
customers, with the exception of newspapers, are not 
considered an integral component of universal postal 
services.
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■  � A change in the Postal Market Act took effect on 
November 27, 2015. This enables Austrian Post to 
offer, in addition to letter mail (with strict delivery time 
standards), so-called non-priority letter mail within the 
context of universal postal services. The delivery time 
of these non-priority letters is allowed to take up to 
four days on a regular basis. Since July 1, 2018, Austrian 
Post has offered the new ECO Letter within the context 
of its universal postal services and correspondingly 
expanded its product portfolio. Senders have the option 
of choosing between a delivery time of two to three days 
for not time-critical mail items and the quicker PRIO 
Letter, which will continue to be delivered the day after 
the letter was posted. This change was accompanied by 
an adjustment of postal rates.



M
A

N
A

G
E

M
E

N
T 

R
E

P
O

R
T

2. BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT AND 
ECONOMIC SITUATION

2.1 Changes in the Scope 
of Consolidation

The segment change of Weber Escal d.o.o, Croatia, 
from the Mail & Branch Network Division to the Parcel & 
Logistics Division took place as at January 1, 2018. The 
underlying reason for this realignment is a change in 
the company’s business model from letter mail to parcel 
distribution. 

The closing of the acquisition of an additional 25 % 
shareholding in sendhybrid ÖPBD GmbH took effect on 
July 1, 2018. Austrian Post now holds 51 % of the shares in 
the company.

A complete overview of all changes in the scope of 
consolidation can be found in Note 4.2 of the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements.

At large, the revenue effects of the changes in the 
scope of consolidation are classified as immaterial.

2.2 Revenue and Earnings

2.2.1 REVENUE DEVELOPMENT

The Group revenue of Austrian Post improved by 
1.0 % to EUR 1,958.5 m in the 2018 financial year. Revenue 
growth of 11.5 % in the Parcel & Logistics Division compen-
sated for the 2.5 % revenue decline in the Mail & Branch 
Network Division. 

The Mail & Branch Network Division accounted for 
71.9 % of the Group revenue. Revenue development during 
the period under review continued to be impacted by the 
fundamental decline in addressed letter mail as a result 
of electronic substitution, lower direct mail revenue com-
pared to the strong advertising business in the previous 
year and the redimensioning of the financial services 
business. In turn, the new product structure, expansion 
in the area of Mail Solutions and growth driven by higher 
international e-commerce volumes helped to increase 
revenue. 

The Parcel & Logistics Division generated 28.1 % of 
the total Group revenue in the reporting period against the 
backdrop of an ongoing upward trend. The 11.5 % reve-
nue increase was driven primarily by the organic volume 
growth in Austria. 

Revenue Development 
EUR m

B

A

2,363.5

1,863.5

2,401.9

1,903.9

2,030.5

1,895.6

1,938.9 1,958.5

2014  1 2015 2016 2017 2018 

A – Revenue excl. trans-o-flex   
B – Revenue trans-o-flex

1	� The presentation of revenue in the Parcel & Logistics Division was adjusted. Exported 
services are recognised according to the net method (previously reported as revenue 
and expenses for services used).
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Revenue by Division

Change 2017/2018

EUR m 2016  1 2017 2018 % EUR m

Revenue 1,895.6 1,938.9 1,958.5 1.0 19.6

Mail & Branch Network 1,478.5 1,447.8 1,412.3 –2.5 –35.6

Parcel & Logistics 421.1 495.6 552.4 11.5 56.9

Corporate/Consolidation –4.0 –4.5 –6.2 –38.9 –1.7

Working days in Austria 250 248 250 – –

1	� Adjustment of revenue in segment reporting in the 2017 consolidated financial statements; presentation without revenue of trans-o-flex

From a regional perspective, Austrian Post generated 
91.8 % of its Group revenue in Austria in the reporting 
period, whereas South East and Eastern Europe accounted 

for 5.5 % and Germany for 2.7 % of Group revenue. 99.0 % of 
Austrian Post’s total revenue is generated in the eurozone. 
For this reason, there are no significant currency effects.

Revenue by Division 2018 
in %

A – Mail & Branch Network
B – �Parcel & Logistics

Revenue by Region 2018 
in %

A – Austria
B – �Germany
C – �South East & Eastern Europe

Revenue Development of the Mail & Branch Network Division 

Change 2017/2018

EUR m 2016  1 2017 2018 % EUR m

Revenue 1,478.5 1,447.8 1,412.3 –2.5 –35.6

Letter Mail & Mail Solutions 801.8 782.8 804.8 2.8 22.0

Direct Mail 416.7 413.3 382.6 –7.4 –30.7

Media Post 141.6 137.1 131.2 –4.3 –6.0

Branch Services 118.4 114.6 93.7 –18.2 –20.9

Revenue intra-Group 85.1 101.7 112.9 11.0 11.2

Total revenue 1,563.6 1,549.5 1,525.2 –1.6 –24.4

thereof revenue with third parties 1,478.0 1,446.8 1,409.6 –2.6 –37.2

1	� Adjustment of revenue in segment reporting in the 2017 consolidated financial statements

71.9A

28.1 B

91.8A

2.7 B

5.5

C
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Revenue of the Mail & Branch Network Division 
totalled EUR 1,412.3 m in the 2018 financial year. Of this 
amount, 57.0 % can be attributed to the Letter Mail & Mail 
Solutions business, Direct Mail accounted for 27.1 % of 
total divisional revenue and Media Post had a share of 
9.3 %. Branch Services generated 6.6 % of the division’s 
revenue. 

Letter Mail & Mail Solutions revenue amounted to 
EUR 804.8 m, representing a year-on-year increase of 
2.8 %. The downward volume development as a conse
quence of the substitution of letters by electronic forms 
of communication continued. Revenue was also im
pacted by various special effects. Transported volumes 
were supported by numerous one-off mailings by banks. 
Furthermore, a positive pricing outcome took place due 
to the launch of the new product structure as of July 1, 
2018. Moreover, the additional revenue of EUR 18.2 m was 
achieved by increased international e-commerce volumes, 
which were partly recognised as direct mail revenue in 
the previous year. New services for the transport of tra-
ditional letter mail also increased the revenue. The Mail 
Solutions business area generated a higher revenue of 
EUR 5.0 m, mainly in the fields of document logistics and 
output management. Furthermore, the 2018 financial year 
had two more working days than in the previous year. In 
contrast, Austrian Post’s exit from the mail business in 
South East and Eastern Europe as well as the segment 
change of the Croatian subsidiary Weber Escal d.o.o. as
signed to the Parcel & Logistics Division since January 1, 
2018, have negatively impacted revenue.

Mail Revenue by Product Group
EUR m

A

B

C
D

1,488.2

123.0
143.2

431.0

791.0

1,502.3

123.8
140.8

428.8

809.0

1,478.5

118.4
141.6

416.7

801.8

1,447.8

114.6
137.1

413.3

782.8

1,412.3

93.7
131.2

382.6

804.8

2014  1 2015  1 2016  1 2017 2018 

A – Letter Mail & Mail Solutions 
B – Direct Mail

C – Media Post
D – Branch Services

1	� Adjustment of revenue in segment reporting in the 2017 consolidated financial state-
ments 

Revenue of the Direct Mail business amounted to 
EUR 382.6 m in 2018, comprising a year-on-year decline 
of 7.4 %. The revenue decrease resulted from a drop in 
operating revenue of about 2 – 3 % and the previously 
mentioned change in the product assignment of interna-
tional mail items currently presented under Letter Mail. In 
addition, increased direct mail revenue was generated in 
the previous year due to higher special effects from elec-
tions and a strong rise related to selected sales initiatives. 
Several customers showed uncertainty with respect to 
addressed mail items as a result of the new General Data 
Protection Regulation. Similarly, the exit of Austrian Post 
from the direct mail business in South East and Eastern 
Europe also had the effect of reducing the revenue. 

Mail Revenue by Product Group 2018
in %

A – Letter Mail & Mail Solutions 
B – Direct Mail

C – Media Post
D – Branch Services

Media Post revenue from the delivery of newspapers 
and magazines was down by 4.3 % in a year-on-year com-
parison to EUR 131.2 m. This development is mainly attrib-
utable to the declining subscription business for news
papers and magazines. 

Branch Services revenue amounted to EUR 93.7 m 
in the 2018 financial year, below the prior-year figure of 
EUR 114.6 m. In line with the agreement concluded with 
the banking partner BAWAG P.S.K., the termination of the 
partnership will take place by the end of 2020. Revenue 
from consulting services will be continuously reduced 
in 2019. The change in accounting treatment of sales in 
the area of telecommunications and services in line with 
IFRS 15 also reduced the revenue, accompanied with a 
decrease in the corresponding expense item.

6.6

D

57.0A

9.3

C

27.1 B

Business Development and Economic Situation - 71

C
O

N
S

O
LI

D
A

TE
D

FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L 
S

TA
TE

M
E

N
TS



72 - Financial Report 2018 - Austrian Post

Revenue Development of the Parcel & Logistics Division 

Change 2017/2018

EUR m 2016  1 2017 2018 % EUR m

Revenue 421.1 495.6 552.4 11.5 56.9

Premium Parcels 206.6 240.7 266.1 10.6 25.5

Standard Parcels 186.1 219.0 229.6 4.8 10.6

Other Parcel Services 28.4 35.9 56.6 58.0 20.8

Revenue intra-Group 7.8 4.8 4.9 2.1 0.1

Total revenue 428.9 500.4 557.4 11.4 57.0

thereof revenue with third parties 417.6 491.9 548.6 11.5 56.7

1	� Adjustment of revenue in segment reporting in the 2017 consolidated financial statements; presentation without revenue of trans-o-flex

Total revenue of the Parcel & Logistics Division 
increased to EUR 552.4 m from EUR 495.6 m in the previ-
ous year. The segment change of the Croatian subsidiary 
Weber Escal d.o.o. effective January 1, 2018, increased 
the revenue during the reporting period, given the fact 
that the company was still recognised as part of the Mail & 
Branch Network Division in the prior-year period. ACL 
advanced commerce labs GmbH, which has been fully con-
solidated since November 1, 2017, also contributed to reve-
nue growth of the division. Adjusted for Weber Escal d.o.o. 
and ACL advanced commerce labs GmbH, the divisional 
revenue was up by 8.1 %. 

This strong growth in the parcel business resulted 
mainly from the ongoing e-commerce trend in Austria, 
which in turn led to a substantial increase in private cus-
tomer parcels. Generally speaking, the Austrian parcel 
market is developing very dynamically. Intense compe
tition still prevails. At the same time, the demand for 
quality and delivery speed as well as price pressure are 
increasing.

On balance, the Premium Parcels business (parcel 
delivery within 24 hours) accounted for 48.2 % of the 
total divisional revenue in the period under review. This 
represents a revenue increase of 10.6 % to EUR 266.1 m. 

Standard Parcels, which mainly constitutes shipments 
to private customers in Austria, contributed 41.6 % to 
the division’s revenue. This business area generated rev-
enue of EUR 229.6 m in 2018, an increase of 4.8 % from 
the previous year. 

Other Parcel Services, which include various addi-
tional logistics services, accounted for revenue of 
EUR 56.6 m in the reporting period, or 10.3 % of divisional 
revenue. The year-on-year revenue increase of EUR 20.8 m 
can be primarily attributed to the full consolidation of 
the subsidiary ACL advanced commerce labs GmbH and 
the segment change of Weber Escal d.o.o. 

 

Parcel & Logistics Division Revenue 
EUR m

B

A

877.1

377.2

902.9

404.8

556.0

421.1

495.6 552.4

2014  1 2015  1 2016  1 2017 2018 

A – Revenue excl. trans-o-flex   
B – Revenue trans-o-flex

1	��� Adjustments of revenue in segment reporting in the 2017 consolidated financial 
statements

From a regional perspective, 80.4 % of the total rev-
enue in the Parcel & Logistics Division was generated in 
Austria in 2018, and 19.6 % by the subsidiaries in South 
East and Eastern Europe. The business in Austria showed 
revenue growth of 11.4 % in 2018. Taking account of the 
full consolidation of ACL advanced commerce labs GmbH, 
the increase in revenue equalled 10.0 % in Austria on a 
like-for-like basis. Revenue in the highly competitive South 
East and Eastern European region was up by 11.8 % during 
the period under review. Divisional revenue in the CEE/
SEE region in 2018 showed a stable development taking 
into account the segment change of Weber Escal d.o.o., 
Croatia. 
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Parcel Revenue by Region 2018
in %

A – Austria
B – South East & Eastern Europe

2.2.2 Earnings Development 

Staff costs comprise a major factor in the cost 
structure of Austrian Post’s operating expenses. Accord-
ingly, 54.8 % of total operating expenses incurred by 
Austrian Post in 2018 were attributed to staff costs. The 
second largest expense item, accounting for 24.0 % of 
operating expenses, was raw materials, consumables and 
services used, of which a large part related to external 
transport services. Other operating expenses comprised 
16.1 % of total costs, whereas depreciation, amortisation 
and impairments accounted for 5.1 %. 

Austrian Post’s staff costs amounted to EUR 1,008.7 m 
in the 2018 financial year, equating to a year-on-year 
decline of 1.1 %. The included operational staff costs for 
wages and salaries were largely stable compared to the 
previous year. The underlying objective is to ensure that 
steady efficiency improvements and structural changes 
make it possible to offset salary increases mandated by 
collective wage agreements. On balance, the Austrian 
Post Group employed an average of 20,545 people (full-
time equivalents) in the 2018 financial year, compared to 
20,524 employees in 2017.

In addition to operational staff costs, staff costs of 
Austrian Post also include various non-operational costs 
such as termination benefits and changes in provisions, 
which are primarily related to the specific employment 
situation of civil servants at Austrian Post. Non-opera
tional staff costs including changes in provisions and 
various parameter adjustments in the 2018 financial year 
were below the prior-year level due to various parameter 
adjustments. As in the previous year, provisions allocated 
for the redimensioning of financial services totalling EUR 
21.5 m in the 2018 financial year comprised the largest 
share of these costs. In contrast, lower expenses for social 
plan models had the opposite effect. 

Raw materials, consumables and services used 
increased by 7.6 % to EUR 441.2 m during the financial year 
2018, which was primarily related to higher transport costs 
as a result of increased parcel volumes.

Both other operating expenses and other operating 
income showed a substantial decrease in the reporting 
period. Other operating income equalled EUR 96.2 m com-
pared to EUR 112.7 m in the previous year. This includes 
one-off income of EUR 20.1 m paid in the first quarter of 
2018 representing the lump sum compensation by the 
banking partner BAWAG P.S.K. for shortening the duration 
of the contractual agreement. Austrian Post also gener-
ated income from the “Neutorgasse 7” real estate devel-
opment project in the amount of EUR 17.9 m, in contrast to 
expenses for services used in the amount of EUR 10.5 m. 
Other operating income in the previous year included 
claims related to non-wage labour costs paid in previous 
periods. Netted against any compensation payments, which 
are reported under other operating expenses, these claims 
amounted to EUR 21.0 m. As a result of these compensa-
tion payments, other operating expenses were significantly 
higher in the previous year at EUR 325.0 m than the com
parable figure of EUR 295.7 m in the reporting period. 
Higher IT costs in the 2018 financial year had the opposite 
effect. 

The results of the financial assets accounted for using 
the equity method include proportional profits for the 
period of joint venture and associated companies and 
fell from minus EUR 1.9 m to minus EUR 3.6 m in the 2018 
financial year. The development was related to the write-
down on a loan for the Group’s Czech subsidiary. 

Earnings show a stable to slightly positive develop
ment. EBITDA at EUR 305.4 m was 3.7 % above the 
previous year, corresponding to an EBITDA margin of 
15.6 %. 

80.4A

19.6

B
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Allocation of Expenses 2018
in %

A – Raw materials, consumables and services used 
B – Staff costs
C – Other operating expenses 
D – Depreciation, amortisation and impairments
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D
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In total, depreciation, amortisation and impairment 
losses in the reporting period amounted to EUR 94.5 m, 
compared to EUR 86.8 m in the previous year. Planned 
depreciation and amortisation increased to EUR 80.6 m, 
whereas impairment losses at EUR 13.9 m were slightly 
below the prior-year level. The impairment losses recog-
nised in the 2018 financial year primarily related to ad
justments made to goodwill as well as impairment losses 
on real estate in Croatia and Austria.

EBIT in 2018 totalled EUR 210.9 m compared to EUR 
207.8 m in the previous year. The EBIT margin equalled 
10.8 %. 

The other financial result fell from EUR 12.8 m in 
2017 to minus EUR 13.1 m in the 2018 financial year. The 

other financial result in the previous year included a pos-
itive effect in the amount of EUR 11.0 m from the sale of 
shares in BAWAG Group AG. In contrast, there was a nega-
tive effect in the reporting period resulting from the write-
down of EUR 14.4 m related to shares of FinTech Group AG.

Earnings before tax were EUR 197.8 m in 2018 com-
pared to EUR 220.6 m in the previous year. The income tax 
expense in the reporting period amounted to EUR 53.6 m, 
down by EUR 2.0 m from the 2017 financial year. 

After deducting income tax, the Group’s profit for the 
period (profit after tax) totalled EUR 144.2 m, compared to 
the prior-year figure of EUR 165.0 m. Accordingly, undi-
luted earnings per share were EUR 2.13 for the 2018 finan-
cial year compared to EUR 2.45 in the previous year. 

Earnings Situation

Change 2017/2018

EUR m 2016  1 2017 2018 % EUR m

Revenue 2,030.5 1,938.9 1,958.5 1.0 19.6

Other operating income 70.1 112.7 96.2 –14.7 –16.5

Raw materials, consumables and services used –495.2 –409.9 –441.2 –7.6 –31.3

Staff costs –1,035.2 –1,020.1 –1,008.7 1.1 11.4

Other operating expenses –294.1 –325.0 –295.7 9.0 29.3

Results from financial assets accounted for using  
the equity method 0.9 –1.9 –3.6 –85.4 –1.7

EBITDA 2 277.1 294.6 305.4 3.7 10.8

Depreciation and amortisation –72.6 –72.8 –80.6 –10.7 –7.8

Impairment losses –2.3 –14.1 –13.9 0.9 0.1

EBIT  3 202.3 207.8 210.9 1.5 3.1

Other financial result –0.7 12.8 –13.1 < –100 –25.9

Earnings before tax 201.5 220.6 197.8 –10.3 –22.8

Income tax –48.8 –55.6 –53.6 3.6 2.0

Profit for the period 152.7 165.0 144.2 –12.6 –20.8

Earnings per share (EUR)  4 2.26 2.45 2.13 –13.0 –0.32

1	� Adjustment of other operating expenses and income for financial assets accounted for using the equity method
2	� Earnings before depreciation, amortisation, impairment losses, other financial result and income tax
3	� Earnings before other financial result and income tax
4	� Undiluted earnings per share in relation to 67,552,638 shares
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EBIT
EUR m

196.9 198.01

89.0

202.3 207.8 210.9

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

1	�� Adjusted for special effects

Profit for the Period 
EUR m

146.8 142.2  1

71.6

152.7 165.0
144.2

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

1	�� Adjusted for special effects

EBITDA and EBIT by Division 

Change 2017/2018 Margin 2018  1

EUR m 2016 2017 2018 % EUR m %

EBITDA 277.1 294.6 305.4 3.7 10.8 15.6

Mail & Branch Network 319.7 312.8 311.2 –0.5 –1.6 20.4

Parcel & Logistics 29.8 58.1 54.9 –5.5 –3.2 9.8

Corporate/Consolidation –72.4 –76.3 –60.7 20.4 15.6 –

EBIT 202.3 207.8 210.9 1.5 3.1 10.8

Mail & Branch Network 285.1 289.6 289.8 0.1 0.2 19.0

Parcel & Logistics 18.5 42.8 41.3 –3.5 –1.5 7.4

Corporate/Consolidation –101.3 –124.7 –120.2 3.5 4.4 –

1	� Margin of the divisions in relation to total revenue

From a divisional perspective, EBITDA of the Mail & 
Branch Network Division totalled EUR 311.2 m in 2018, 
comprising a decrease of 0.5 % from the prior-year 
period. Divisional EBIT improved by 0.1 % in the period 
under review to EUR 289.8 m. The high level of cost dis-
cipline intensified synergies in logistics as a result of 
the increased delivery of parcels and packets by letter 
mail logistics have positively impacted earnings.

 The Parcel & Logistics Division achieved revenue 
growth against the backdrop of intense competition and 
margin pressure and generated an EBITDA of EUR 54.9 m 
(–5.5 %) and EBIT of EUR 41.3 m (–3.5 %) in the 2018 finan-
cial year. This decrease is mainly attributable to higher 

costs in the logistics network to avoid capacity bottle-
necks as well as an increase in IT expenses.

EBIT of the Corporate Division (incl. Consolidation) 
improved by EUR 4.4 m to minus EUR 120.2 m, primarily 
due to the reduced need to allocate provisions in com
parison to the previous year. The Corporate Division 
provides non-operational services for the purpose of man-
aging and controlling at a Corporate Group level. These 
services include, among others, the management of com-
mercial properties owned by the Group, the provision of 
IT services, the development of new business models, 
and the administration of the Internal Labour Market of 
Austrian Post.
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2.3 Assets and Finances

Austrian Post pursues a conservative balance sheet 
policy and financing structure. This is demonstrated by 
the high equity ratio, low financial liabilities and the solid 
amount of cash and cash equivalents invested at the low-
est possible risk.

2.3.1 Balance Sheet Structure 

The balance sheet total of Austrian Post amounted to 
EUR 1,681.2 m as at December 31, 2018. On the assets side, 
property, plant and equipment constituted the largest 
single balance sheet item at EUR 652.8 m, whereas intan
gible assets totalled EUR 83.3 m. This included goodwill 
of EUR 58.7 m reported for acquisitions as at Decem-
ber 31, 2018. Receivables, constituting the second largest 
single balance sheet item on the asset side, totalled EUR 
320.2 m. Other financial assets amounted to EUR 107.7 m 
as at December 31, 2018, including the stake in Aras 
Kargo a.s. reported at EUR 25.9 m as well as its share-
holding in FinTech Group AG of EUR 20.5 m. Austrian Post 
acquired a stake in FinTech Group AG in the course of 
negotiations to establish a joint venture to provide finan-
cial services. Ultimately it was mutually agreed to with-
draw from this cooperation. 

Furthermore, at the end of 2018 Austrian Post owned 
securities amounting to EUR 55.8 m. The securities owned 
by Austrian Post carry an investment grade or compara-
ble credit rating, which, in turn implies the high liquidity of 
these assets.

The balance sheet shows that Austrian Post had 
cash and cash equivalents of EUR 310.0 m at its disposal 
as at December 31, 2018. Accordingly, cash and cash 
equivalents and investments in securities of Austrian Post 
equalled EUR 365.8 m at the end of the year 2018. 

The equity and liabilities side of the balance sheet is 
characterised by a high equity ratio of 41.6 % as at Decem-
ber 31, 2018. This corresponds to equity of EUR 699.1 m.

Non-current liabilities were EUR 421.7 m at the end 
of the reporting period. Current liabilities totalled EUR 
560.4 m, including provisions of EUR 551.1 m as at Decem-
ber 31, 2018. About 90 % of provisions are staff-related 
provisions primarily due to the specific employment 
situation of civil servants at Austrian Post. Accordingly, 
provisions for employee under-utilisation totalled EUR 
206.4 m, whereas EUR 187.9 m related to legally stipulated 
and contractually binding provisions for social capital 
(termination and jubilee benefits) and EUR 106.2 m related 
to other staff-related provisions. On balance, 57.1 % of 
provisions at Austrian Post have a term to maturity of 
over three years, and 12.9 % of more than one year. 29.9 % 
of provisions are current provisions with a term to matu-
rity of less than one year.

Balance Sheet Structure by Item 
EUR m

1,681.2

652.8

139.5

439.6

83.3

365.8

1,681.2

420.6

551.1

699.1

10.3

 ASSETS EQUITY AND 
LIABILITIES

 

1	� Securities are recognised as other financial assets in the balance sheet.

Other
financial liabilities

Liabilities/
other

Provisions

Equity

Cash and cash
equivalents/

securities 1

Property, plant
and equipment

Financial assets/
investment property

Receivables/
inventories/other

Intangible assets
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Balance Sheet as at December 31 
 
EUR m

 
Dec. 31, 2016

 
Dec. 31, 2017

 
Dec. 31, 2018

Structure  
Dec. 31, 2018

ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and goodwill 675.1 702.4 736.1 43.8 %

Investment property 69.0 85.0 78.4 4.7 %

Financial assets accounted for using the equity method 9.6 8.1 9.2 0.5 %

Inventories, trade and other receivables 385.9 457.8 439.6 26.1 %

Other financial assets 122.0 131.0 107.7 6.4 %

thereof financial investments in securities 60.9 80.6 55.8 –

Cash and cash equivalents 277.8 290.0 310.0 18.4 %

Assets held for sale 2.4 0.0 0.3 0.0 %

 1,541.8 1,674.2 1,681.2 100 %

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity 670.0 698.8 699.1 41.6 %

Provisions 503.3 563.7 551.1 32.8 %

Other financial liabilities 5.6 6.8 10.3 0.6 %

Trade and other payables 361.9 404.9 420.6 25.0 %

Liabilities classified as held for sale 0.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 %

 1,541.8 1,674.2 1,681.2 100 %

The analysis of the balance sheet structure by term 
shows that non-current assets prevail on the assets side, 
accounting for 58.2 % of total assets or EUR 978.2 m. An 
important non-current asset item is property, plant and 
equipment at EUR 652.8 m. The principal current asset 
items include trade and other receivables at EUR 305.7 m 
as well as cash and cash equivalents of EUR 310.0 m. 

On the equity and liabilities side, the balance sheet 
total is composed of equity (41.6 %), non-current liabilities 
(25.1 %) and current liabilities (33.3 %). The non-current 
liabilities totalling EUR 421.7 m largely consist of provi-
sions in the amount of EUR 386.3 m. Current liabilities of 
EUR 560.4 m mainly relate to liabilities of EUR 395.6 m 
(including trade payables of EUR 333.0 m). 

Balance Sheet Structure by Term 
EUR m

1,681.2

702.8

978.2

thereof cash  
and

cash equivalents 
310.0

thereof property,
plant and equipment 

652.8

560.4

421.7

699.1

thereof
liabilities 

395.6

thereof
provisions 

386.3

1,681.2

 ASSETS EQUITY AND 
LIABILITIES
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2.3.2 Cash Flow 

The cash flow in the 2018 financial year was im
pacted by various special effects. A special payment of 
EUR 107.0 m from BAWAG P.S.K. in connection with the 
termination of the cooperation agreement with Austrian 
Post less the financial services provided in the amount 
of EUR 37.0 m in the reporting period resulted in a positive 
special cash flow effect of EUR 70.0 m. In contrast, higher 
maintenance and growth CAPEX totalling EUR 139.4 m, 
above the prior-year level of EUR 102.1 m, had the oppo-
site effect. Higher payments relating to provisions and the 
income tax expense as well as the acquisition of a 6.5 % 
shareholding in FinTech Group AG within the context of the 
planned financial services partnership also reduced the 
cash flow. 

The gross cash flow totalled EUR 352.9 m in the 2018 
financial year, compared to EUR 316.6 m in the prior-year 

period. The cash flow from operating activities amounted 
to EUR 295.9 m in the period under review, up from EUR 
255.7 m in the previous year.

The cash flow from investing activities amounted 
to minus EUR 137.5 m in 2018 in comparison to minus 
EUR 109.1 m in the previous year. This increase resulted 
from payments for the acquisition of property, plant and 
equipment (CAPEX) and relates mainly to payments for 
investments made as part of the parcel logistics capac-
ity expansion programme. Growth CAPEX in the reporting 
period amounted to EUR 58.1 m. The disposal of property, 
plant and equipment had the opposite effect. 

The free cash flow before acquisitions/securities and 
growth CAPEX amounted to EUR 231.9 m in the 2018 finan-
cial year, compared to the prior-year level of EUR 178.3 m. 
This provides a good foundation for Austrian Post’s ability 
to finance investments and dividends in the future.

Cash Flow 

EUR m 2016 2017 2018

Gross cash flow  1 315.6 316.6 352.9

Cash flow from operating activities 223.6 255.7 295.9

Cash flow from investing activities –105.1 –109.1 –137.5

thereof maintenance CAPEX –69.9 –77.8 –81.3

thereof growth CAPEX  2 –33.5 –24.3 –58.1

thereof cash flow from acquisitions/divestments –1.7 12.2 –38.3

thereof acquisition/disposal of securities –3.1 –19.7 23.0

thereof other cash flow from investing activities 3.1 0.4 17.3

Free cash flow 118.5 146.6 158.4

Free cash flow before acquisitions/securities 123.3 154.0 173.7

Free cash flow before acquisitions/securities and growth CAPEX  3 106.1 178.3 231.9

Cash flow from financing activities –140.6 –134.6 –138.1

thereof dividends –132.2 –135.1 –138.8

Change in cash and cash equivalents –22.1 12.0 20.2

1	� Reclassification of taxes paid – refer to Note 3.2 of the consolidated financial statements
2	� 2016 and 2017: CAPEX new corporate headquarters; 2018: incl. remaining payment for “Post am Rochus”
3	� 2016 and 2017: Free cash flow before acquisitions/securities and new corporate headquarters
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Development of Cash and Securities in 2018
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When analysing the development of cash and secu
rities in 2018, the starting position was at EUR 370.6 m 
on January 1, 2018. The cash flow from operating activi-
ties generated by Austrian Post amounted to EUR 295.9 m 
in 2018. After deducting maintenance CAPEX for 2018, 
this resulted in a free cash flow before acquisitions/

securities and growth CAPEX of EUR 231.9 m. This suffi-
ciently covered dividends in the amount of EUR 138.8 m 
distributed in 2018 as well as growth CAPEX for the capac-
ity expansion programme. On balance, financial resources 
including securities amounted to EUR 365.8 m as at 
December 31, 2018. 

295.9

–138.8

+0.7 –38.3

352.9
–81.3

231.9 –58.1+17.3

Business Development and Economic Situation - 79

C
O

N
S

O
LI

D
A

TE
D

FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L 
S

TA
TE

M
E

N
TS



80 - Financial Report 2018 - Austrian Post

2.3.3 Net Cash/Net Debt 

Net Cash

EUR m Dec. 31, 2016 Dec. 31, 2017 Dec. 31, 2018

+ Other financial liabilities 5.6 6.8 10.3

+ Interest-bearing provisions 373.0 407.1 394.9

Interest-bearing debt 378.5 413.9 405.2

– Other financial assets –121.6 –130.5 –107.6

– Non-current interest-bearing receivables –3.4 –3.6 –1.0

– Cash and cash equivalents –277.8 –290.0 –310.0

Interest-bearing assets –402.8 –424.1 –418.6

– Assets held for sale –2.4 0.0 –0.3

+ Liabilities classified as held for sale 0.9 0.0 0.0

Net cash (–)  1 –25.7 –10.2 –13.7

1	� In light of the positive net cash reported in the years shown, the indicators of net debt/EBITDA and the gearing ratio (net debt/equity) are not included in this year’s report  
due to their limited meaningfulness.

Austrian Post Group reported a net cash position of 
EUR 13.7 m at the end of 2018.

On the basis of existing liquidity and the solid cash 
flow from operating activities, Austrian Post is able to 
meet its current financing requirements. The company 
does not plan to make any substantial use of borrowed 
capital at the present time. 

Within the context of its dividend policy, Austrian 
Post aims to achieve a dividend pay-out ratio of at least 
75 % of the Group’s net profit attributable to sharehold-
ers in the coming years, assuming the successful business 
development continues and that no extraordinary circum-
stances arise.

2.3.4 Investments and Acquisitions 

In the 2018 financial year, capital expenditure at Aus-
trian Post Group reached a level of EUR 137.0 m, up EUR 
15.0 m from the prior-year level. This included EUR 126.5 m 
of investments for property, plant and equipment and EUR 
10.5 m of investments in intangible assets.

 The focus of Austrian Post’s investment programme 
during the reporting period was on other equipment, 

furniture and fittings constituting a share of 38.1 %. In 
addition to ongoing investments in the vehicle fleet, this 
area involved investments in branch office equipment 
and furnishings as well as various types of hardware. 
Property, buildings and investment property accounted 
for 20.8 % of capital expenditure, whereas investments 
in assets under construction comprised 25.8 % of the 
investment programme. The two latter categories mainly 
relate to investments made within the context of the 
capacity expansion programme. Moreover, 3.9 % of cap-
ital expenditure was dedicated to technical plant and 
machinery, and 3.7 % to prepayments. 

New and replacement investments are subject to 
a detailed profitability assessment for each measure. 
Replacement investments are made only if the newer 
technology enables increased productivity achieving 
an ongoing reduction in costs for the company’s own or 
external staff or in the purchase of transport services, 
or if the investments come at the optimal time so that 
life-cycle costs, especially maintenance costs for existing 
property, plant and equipment, exceed the costs for 
newer facilities.
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Investments by Category 2018
in %

A – Intangible assets
B – �Property, buildings and investment 

property
C – Technical plant and machinery

D – Other equipment, furniture and fittings
E – Assets under construction
F – Prepayments

Investments are also subject to an internal approval 
and authorisation process by a committee during the var-
ious planning phases as well as in the procurement phase. 
This committee consists of area or department managers, 
one or all members of the Management Board and the 
Supervisory Board of Austrian Post depending on the level 
of investment. In addition to actual and target compari-
sons, an investment review and evaluation takes place at 
the end of the investment phase, particularly in the case 
of large projects.

In addition to the return on investment (ROI), which 
serves as the main decision-making parameter for invest-
ments and acquisitions, the amortisation period and the 
present value of the investments are taken into consid-
eration, both in the planning phase and in performance 
monitoring.

The cash outflow for the acquisition and sale of sub-
sidiaries as well as for financial assets accounted for using 
the equity method amounted to EUR 3.4 m in 2018, com-
pared to a cash outflow of EUR 6.7 m in 2017. Generally, 

a consistent Group-wide selection process precedes every 
acquisition. The decision-making basis is a due diligence 
test followed by an evaluation based on the discounted 
cash flow method and, if applicable, validation of the plau-
sibility of the determined values based on the comparable 
value method.

2.4 Key Financial Performance 
Indicators

2.4.1 Capital Employed 

The capital employed by Austrian Post Group fell 
from EUR 616.4 m to EUR 607.9 m at the end of 2018. This 
difference is primarily due to the decline in receivables 
and higher non-interest-bearing debt. This was in contrast 
to the increase in property, plant and equipment, espe-
cially related to the capacity expansion programme in the 
field of parcel logistics.

 The aim of Austrian Post is to optimise the capital 
employed in accordance with specific conditions in the 
postal sector. Against this backdrop, investments are 
made extremely selectively and purposefully, primarily 
to enable productivity increases and profitable growth. 
Goodwill is continously tested for impairment and is writ-
ten down in case of indications of impairment. 

The main priority of Austrian Post’s receivables man-
agement is to continually monitor outstanding receiva-
bles. Management is regularly informed about the level 
of outstanding receivables in order to be able to take 
appropriate measures if necessary. Payment terms may 
be switched to advanced payment or payment in cash 
in case the customer is designated as a risk, or a bank 
guarantee may be requested. 

Capital Employed

EUR m Dec. 31, 2016 Dec. 31, 2017 Dec. 31, 2018

+ Intangible assets and goodwill 77.5 86.7 83.3

+ Property, plant and equipment 597.6 615.7 652.8

+ Investment property 69.0 85.0 78.4

+ Financial assets accounted for using the equity method 9.6 8.1 9.2

+ Inventories 18.1 22.0 17.3

+ Trade payables, other receivables and tax assets  1 288.5 360.4 343.8

– Non interest-bearing debt –492.3 –561.5 –576.9

Capital employed 567.9 616.4 607.9

1	� Less interest-bearing receivables

3.7

F
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2.4.2 Ratios 

The EBITDA margin of Austrian Post improved from 
15.2 % in 2017 to 15.6 % in 2018. The EBIT margin rose 
from 10.7 % in 2017 to 10.8 % in 2018. The return on equity 
was down from 30.9 % to 25.8 %. The return on capital 
employed remained stable at 34.4 % compared to the 
prior-year level of 35.1 %. 

Ratios

in % 2016 2017 2018

EBITDA margin  1 13.6 15.2 15.6

EBIT margin  2 10.0 10.7 10.8

ROE  3 30.0 30.9 25.8

ROCE  4 35.3 35.1 34.4

1	� EBITDA margin = EBITDA/revenue
2	� EBIT margin = EBIT/revenue
3	� Return on equity = Profit for the period/(equity on Jan. 1 less dividend payment)
4	� Return on capital employed = EBIT/average capital employed



M
A

N
A

G
E

M
E

N
T 

R
E

P
O

R
T

Research and Development /Innovation Management - 83

3. RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT/
INNOVATION MANAGEMENT 

An important factor for sustainable success in chang-
ing markets is the development and market launch of 
innovative products and the expansion of the existing 
product portfolio in the core business. Austrian Post is 
a service company, and thus continuously expands or 
improves its services on the basis of internal R&D meas-
ures. For the most part, the research work at Austrian 
Post is carried out on a decentralised basis by the par-
ticular organisational unit responsible for the products or 
services. Moreover, Austrian Post consistently works on 
optimising its processes and procedures. New innovative 
solutions are explored and developed either in-house 
or together with cooperation partners. In many cases, this 
leads to new market standards for the entire logistics 
sector. 

In terms of products and services, Austrian Post has 
once again implemented a large number of innovative, 
self-developed solutions in the 2018 financial year. A 
series of product management projects were carried out 
in the Mail & Branch Network Division and the Parcel & 
Logistics Division. In contrast, the company has set up 
its own competence centres for the fast-growing field of 
online services, with the priority to develop new online 
products and solutions. The Customer Initiatives depart-
ment has about ten employees focusing on the deploy-
ment of new technologies, improvements in core services 
as well as the creation of and research into new business 
models. Austrian Post consistently continued to further 
develop its solutions in the fields of dual shipping (e-letter)  
and mobile services (“Post App”) in 2018. The online 
services provided by Austrian Post are characterised by 
a high level of security, flexibility, efficiency and trustwor-
thiness. 

The Mail Solutions business area of the Mail & Branch 
Network Division and the Logistics Services business area 
of the Parcel & Logistics Divisions hold a special position 
when it comes to R&D, employing more than 300 people. 
The Mail Solutions area primarily works on innovative 
solutions in the fields of business process outsourcing, 
electronic delivery, data management and digital adver-
tising. The focus is on efficient business solutions for 
business customers such as intelligent input manage-
ment, efficient mailroom management, digital document 

management and effective address management. The 
online flyer platform Aktionsfinder as the digital extension 
of physical flyers and the successful print media KUVERT 
complement the portfolio of solutions offered by Mail 
Solutions.

With regard to Logistics Services, Austrian Post con-
tinuously develops tailor-made customer solutions for 
warehousing and fulfilment as well as various value-added 
services. Combined with innovative online services, these 
solutions ensure greater efficiency, flexibility and optimi-
sation of customer-oriented communication and distribu-
tion. Due to the stake it acquired in ACL advanced com-
merce labs GmbH, the e-commerce offering was further 
expanded, enabling more service-oriented and simplified 
one-stop-shop solutions to be offered to customers.

In addition to its own development activities, Austrian 
Post has also been cooperating with reputable Austrian 
universities, universities of applied sciences and other 
research facilities for a long time. Key partners include the 
Austrian Research Promotion Agency (FFG), the Climate 
and Energy Fund and the Vienna Economic Chamber. The 
objective of this collaboration is to further intensify its 
focus on innovation and to be able to rely on sound sci-
entific research findings in the development of products 
and services. Alongside its product development, Austrian 
Post also constantly conducts research and develops its 
processes and procedures, as mentioned beforehand. 
Due to its extensive social responsibility as an Austrian 
flagship company, one of the priorities of all the initiatives 
being implemented is to preserve natural resources and 
increase energy efficiency. The CSR & Environmental Man-
agement department consults and supports the research 
and development activities of the business units when 
required.

In this regard, one showcase project in the field of 
applied research is the topic of e-mobility at Austrian 
Post. Research on the suitability of e-vehicles for use in 
practice and the optimal utilisation of local resources 
for renewable energy generation is being carried out in 
cooperation with the federal government’s Climate and 
Energy Fund and the Federal Ministry of Sustainability 
and Tourism. Austrian Post had already invested ap
proximately EUR 17 million in the CO₂ neutral and zero 
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emission delivery of mail items between 2009 and the 
end of 2018. On the basis of this experience, valuable 
insights were gained for further expansion of electric-
powered vehicles. This expansion will be implemented 
with the support of the European Agricultural Fund for 
Rural Development (EFRD) and the Federal Ministry for 
Sustainability and Tourism within the context of several 
cross-border mobility projects. 

Austrian Post has received numerous awards for its 
previous successes in the field of e-mobility. For exam-
ple, it won the top prize not only in Vienna and Austria but 
also globally at the Energy Globe Award. In its capacity as 
the operator of Austria’s largest e-vehicle fleet, Austrian 
Post is a trailblazer with respect to green logistics. For this 
reason, it was granted the “EPCON Award” for outstanding 
energy projects and the “Recognition Award for Sustaina-
bility in the Supply Chain through CO₂ neutral delivery” for 
its e-mobility activities. 

In addition, the following projects were initiated or 
continued in the 2018 financial year. Together with the AIT 
Austrian Institute of Technology, Austrian Post carried 
out a project called PEAR to evaluate the energy-efficient 
automation and regulation of buildings, with the principal 
aim of achieving a significantly shorter start-up phase 
and consistent energy-optimised operation while ensuring 
the same level of working space quality. Another research 
project involving cooperation with AIT deals with e-mobil-
ity (project SEAMLESS). As a project and research demon-
stration partner, Austrian Post contributes towards inves-
tigating various mobility paths and opportunities on the 
basis of its practical experience. As a consortium partner, 
Austrian Post also participates in the KoopHubs project, in 

which a comprehensive, two-phased city logistics concept 
with micro-hubs and neighbourhood hubs and city distri-
bution centres is being developed. 

Within the context of the project “smarter together” 
funded by the EU programme “Horizon 2020”, Austrian 
Post supports the project partners (City of Vienna, AIT) 
by providing various data, which is then used for research 
purposes.

Austrian Post pays attention to ensuring gender equal-
ity and equal opportunity within the context of its pro-
ject planning and implementation. Accordingly, the DO-IT 
project was implemented in-house as part of a tender 
called FemPower ICT 2018 issued by the Vienna Economic 
Chamber. This research and development project in the 
field of predictive analytics, which is being led by women, 
includes the development of a statistical model aimed at 
predicting daily parcel volumes at logistics centres 90 days 
in advance on the basis of historical corporate data. In 
turn, this will allow for more efficient personnel planning 
in each mail distribution shift as well as improve tour 
deployment planning. Austrian Post is creating a scalable 
IT infrastructure based on a container architecture as 
part of its project implementation. 

The “City Logistics” programme was continued in the 
Parcel & Logistics Division in 2018. New, innovative, cus-
tomer- and market-oriented services and solutions in the 
field of logistics for the last mile of delivery in urban areas 
are being developed in collaboration with various stake-
holders, applying service design methods.

The above-mentioned projects comprise an exemplary 
but not exhaustive presentation of selected research 
projects. 
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4. OPPORTUNITIES AND RISKS

4.1 Risk Management System

Austrian Post operates a comprehensive risk man
agement system integrating all business units and subsid
iaries. It complies principally with the COSO standard 
“Enterprise Risk Management – Integrated Framework”. 
The objective of risk management is to identify risks at an 
early stage and manage them by taking appropriate meas-
ures designed to minimise any potential deviation from  

the company’s business targets. Risks are identified, 
evaluated, monitored and documented in their over-
all context by a Group-wide risk management system in 
accordance with uniform principles. The Management 
Board defines the risk strategy and policy of the com-
pany and sets out a framework for the risk management 
system. The most important steps in the risk manage-
ment process are presented below: 

1. Identification and Evaluation: Risks are defined as 
the potential deviation from planned medium-term corpo-
rate results. The risk manager analyses the risk situation 
of the respective business area on a biannual basis. For 
each identified risk an employee is assigned responsibil-
ity to evaluate and monitor that risk. Within the context 
of analysis and evaluation, risks are depicted in scenarios 
and are subsequently quantified to the greatest possible 
extent with respect to the dimensions of potential conse-
quences and probability of occurrence. Non-quantifiable 
risks are evaluated on the basis of pre-defined qualitative 
criteria. In addition, the central risk management team 
periodically examines the risk situation of the individual 
business areas on the basis of proactive risk assessments 
and workshops. The results of the identification and eval
uation process are documented in a specially designed 
risk management software. 

2. Aggregation and Reporting: The central risk 
management team gathers information and reviews the 
identified and estimated risks. The financial impacts 
of potential overlapping are taken into account in the 
aggregation process. The overall risk position of Austrian 
Post is determined by using statistical methods. Subse-
quently, the risks are analysed by the Risk Management 

Committee and are subject to a plausibility check. This 
Risk Management Committee consists of representatives 
of the controlling, legal, strategy and accounting depart-
ments as well as representatives of the operating units. 
The results are integrated in the half-year report of the 
central risk management team to the Management Board 
focusing on risks and their development. Risks which arise 
unexpectedly, are immediately reported to the Manage-
ment Board on an ad-hoc basis. The Supervisory Board 
and Audit Committee are also regularly informed about 
the risk situation.

3. Designing of Measures: The control of risks 
is based on defining appropriate measures aimed at 
avoiding or reducing risks otherwise transferring them 
to third parties. The business areas examine the poten-
tial measures on the basis of a cost-benefit analysis, 
and subsequently implement them. These measures are 
monitored and adjusted within the context of a biannual 
analysis undertaken by the risk manager. Austrian Post 
operates an internal insurance management to system
atically deal with insurable risks. Its primary responsi-
bility is to continuously optimise the insurance situation 
and processes relating to the handling and settling of 
claims.

IDENTIFICATION & 
EVALUATION

■  � Identification
■  � Analysis
■  � Evaluation

AGGREGATION & 
REPORTING

■  � Assessment and 
plausibility check

■  � Aggregation
■  � Reporting

DESIGNING  
OF MEASURES

■  � Planning
■  � Implementation
■  � Monitoring

MONITORING & 
CONTROL

■  � Evaluation by external 
auditors

■  � Self-assessments
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4. Monitoring and Control: In conformity with the 
Austrian Corporate Governance Code, the reliability and 
performance of the risk management system are subject 
to annual evaluation by the auditor. Moreover, the con-
cept, suitability and effectiveness of the risk management 
system are assessed by an external auditor. Internally, the 
risk management system is monitored and controlled via 
annual self-assessments.

4.2 Top Risks 

4.2.1 E-Substitution of Traditional  
Letter Mail 

Traditional letter mail is being increasingly replaced 
by electronic media. The trend towards the electronic 
substitution of letters and especially towards electronic 
delivery will continue in future. This development, which is 
being facilitated by legislation, could lead to a significant 
decline in mail volumes and thus negatively impact earn-
ings. A 1 % revenue decrease in the letter mail segment 
implies a negative revenue effect of about EUR 7 m per 
annum, which in turn reduces earnings in the short and 
medium term for the most part due to the fixed cost struc-
ture of the company’s operations. There is a possibility 
that a change in legal regulations with regard to the deliv-
ery of governmental mail would mean that some of these 
mail items will no longer be delivered by Austrian Post. 
Austrian Post counteracts the volume decline resulting 
from the electronic substitution of letter mail by electronic 
media by developing new products and services. Diversifi-
cation of business operations helps to minimise or spread 
risks in individual sectors. 

4.2.2 Staff Costs and Structure of 
Employment Contracts 

The business model of Austrian Post is character-
ised by a high staff cost structure. A 1 % change in wages 
and salaries corresponds to average costs of EUR 9 m 
per annum. Furthermore, a large number of Austrian Post 
employees have the status of civil servants, which means 
that they are subject to public sector employment laws. 
This leads to peculiarities with respect to the way these 
employees are deployed in line with existing labour regu-
lations. Due to prevailing legal regulations, the company 
is not allowed to make capacity adjustments for a part 
of its staff in the event of volume declines. Similarly, no 
adjustments in wage or salary levels are permitted in 
case of less favourable market conditions. Therefore, on 
balance, public sector employment regulations result in 
less cost flexibility. Against the backdrop of a liberalised 
market, Austrian Post increasingly faces limited flexibility 

in making a good usage of the civil servants it employs. 
The solution to this problem is the key to the dialogue 
being carried out with the responsible lawmaker. Ongoing 
changes made to civil service laws and other new regula-
tions, which do not take the special competitive situation 
of Austrian Post into account, could result in an addi-
tional burden and unexpected additional costs for the 
company over which it has no influence. 

4.2.3 Parcel Market 

The strong growth of the parcel market driven by 
the ongoing online shopping boom leads to more intense 
competition. As a consequence, there can be shifts in 
market shares as well as a decline in average achievable 
prices. Furthermore, strong parcel growth is driven by 
large online mail order companies at a disproportionately 
high rate compared to the market itself. In particular, 
the development of margins and average prices of these 
large customers could lead to material revenue and earn-
ings effects. The own delivery by individual large-scale 
mailers, which has already partly been implemented, poses 
an additional risk.

4.2.4 Strategic Partnerships 

In the branch network, Austrian Post is partly depend-
ent on strategic partners in the fields of telecommuni-
cations and financial services. In particular, the financial 
services sector faces a structural transformation due to 
changed customer requirements. In 2017 the coopera-
tion agreement was terminated by the banking partner 
BAWAG P.S.K. Austrian Post and BAWAG P.S.K. agreed 
upon an amicable and gradual separation of this coopera-
tion by the end of 2020. Austrian Post and Fintech Group 
AG have mutually agreed to withdraw the plan to estab-
lish a 50/50 capitalised joint venture to provide financial 
services. In the medium term, Austrian Post plans to 
continue offering financial services via its branch network, 
as they are considered to be a meaningful complement 
to postal services. Austrian Post is working on ensuring a 
future-oriented solution. Specific decisions are likely to 
be made in the course of 2019. If Austrian Post does not 
succeed in implementing an alternative solution, the nec-
essary restructuring measures could pose a revenue and 
cost risk to Austrian Post, depending on the selected 
business model. 

4.2.5 Decline in Direct Mail Volumes 

The business with direct mail items is influenced by 
the overall economic development and strongly depends 
on the intensity of advertising activities by companies. 
However, physical retailers, the most important customer 
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group for direct mail items, will continue to be confronted 
with the following structural trends e. g. an increasing 
market consolidation is perceptible whereas physical 
retailers continue to suffer due to the strong growth of the 
e-commerce market. In turn, this could result in a reduc-
tion in advertising materials and direct mail volumes which 
would have a negative impact on earnings. 

4.3 Other Risks 

Like any other company, Austrian Post is subject to a 
series of risks related to the particular sector and market 
environment in which it operates. These risks are mini-
mised in an economic manner on the basis of state-of-the-
art measures but cannot be completely eliminated. 

4.3.1 Operating Risks 

MARKET AND COMPETITIVE RISKS 
Austrian Post generates most of its revenue in Austria. 

If current economic growth forecasts have to be revised 
downwards, this would force a change in the planning 
assumptions upon which the company operates and thus 
would limit the reliability of its planning. In addition, the 
company generates a considerable share of its revenue 
from a small number of large customers. The going con-
cern of these large customers is an important prerequi-
site in ensuring the stable development of Austrian Post. 
Moreover, large customers are not contractually required 
to have their mail handled by Austrian Post and could 
decide on a medium-term basis to transfer the delivery 
of at least part of their mail items to competitors on the 
postal services market. The parcel business, in which Aus-
trian Post has a leading position in the Austrian market, 
is dependent on the economic development of its custom-
ers as well as increased competition, which arises on the 
basis of the market penetration by alternative providers. 
The possibility of a decline in revenue cannot be excluded. 
For this reason, the company is striving to maintain cus-
tomer loyalty by offering an attractive range of services. 
All the above-mentioned market and competitive risks 
could lead to significant volume decreases and thus to a 
corresponding drop in earnings.

TECHNICAL AND CYBER RISKS 
To a significant degree, Austrian Post is depend-

ent upon the use of complex technical systems. Its 
postal services heavily rely on the support provided by 
data processing systems, modern communications media 
and other technical equipment. Against this backdrop, 
Austrian Post has made extensive investments in recent 
years designed to modernise its distribution and delivery 
network. In this regard, the performance of the company 

is closely linked with the efficiency of a small number 
of key operational sites. In the case of a temporary or 
permanent technical system failure, or should an unau-
thorised data access or data manipulation occur, for 
instance as a result of cybercrime, this could potentially 
lead to disruptions in Austrian Post’s business operations, 
a loss of reputation and customer defections and cause 
additional expenses. Safety and security measures and 
guidelines aiming to reduce technical and cyber risks have 
been defined as a means of ensuring smooth business 
operations. Austrian Post pursues an outsourcing strategy 
to fulfil its computing and data processing requirements. 
Austrian Post ensures the availability of outsourcing 
resources by concluding appropriate contractual agree-
ments and through its targeted service level management. 
Contractual partners are required to show proof of rele-
vant and valid certifications. 

PROCUREMENT RISKS 
Procurement risks of Austrian Post are mainly limited 

to fluctuations in energy prices. A rise in energy prices 
could have minor negative effects on the earnings situa-
tion of Austrian Post.

4.3.2 Financial Risks 

Austrian Post’s financial risks include liquidity, 
credit, counterparty and interest rate risk. The foreign 
exchange risk can also negatively affect earnings. How-
ever, Austrian Post carries out 99 % of all its business 
in the eurozone, which limits the risk from exchange rate 
fluctuations. Furthermore, Austrian Post continuously 
evaluates whether the use of currency hedging instru-
ments would benefit the company.

A more detailed presentation of financial risks is 
included in Note 10 of the notes to the consolidated finan-
cial statements of Austrian Post. 

Within the context of its expansion, Austrian Post 
has recognised a considerable level of goodwill and non-
depreciable trademark rights in the balance sheet. These 
must be subject to an impairment test at least once per 
annum. If there are indications of impairment, goodwill 
and non-depreciable trademarks must be written down. 

4.3.3 Strategic Investments 

One key aspect of Austrian Post’s strategy is growth 
through selective acquisitions and partnerships. In this 
regard, it is important to identify appropriate acquisition 
targets and successfully integrate acquired companies. 
The opportunities and risks related to strategic invest-
ments are, to a great extent, dependent on political, eco-
nomic and legal circumstances. 
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4.3.4 External Risks 

REGULATORY AND LEGAL RISKS 
The full-scale liberalisation of the Austrian postal 

market took place on January 1, 2011, when the new Postal 
Market Act came into effect. This development carries the 
risk of future shifts in market share. The legal framework 
for full-scale liberalisation of the postal sector was also 
defined in this new Postal Market Act. In many cases, this 
Postal Market Act does not prescribe equal treatment of 
Austrian Post and its competitors but places an additional 
burden on Austrian Post. The Universal Postal Service 
Obligation requires Austrian Post to provide a minimum 
offering of postal services of comparable quality across 
the country and to ensure a nationwide distribution net-
work of at least 1,650 postal service points. Austrian Post 
is only allowed to close company-operated post offices 
manned by its own staff following a regulatory approval 
process. The possibility that Austrian Post will be required 
to continue operating unprofitable postal branches, at 
least in the short term, cannot be excluded. 

At present, Austrian Post does not assume that it will 
be obliged to grant its competitors access to a part of its 
services. If this were to happen, these firms could poten-
tially provide services in segments of the postal market 
which are particularly lucrative and rely on partial services 
provided by Austrian Post at regulated prices in less lucra-
tive business segments. This could also potentially have a 
significantly negative effect on earnings.

 The public relations activities of Austrian Post and 
the dialogue with all its stakeholders assign a high prior
ity to the issue of equal treatment of Austrian Post vis-
à-vis other market participants. The company considers 
itself responsible for making people aware of the unre-
solved issues related to compensation for universal postal 
services, and the problems arising as the result of an 
asymmetric market liberalisation.

 Austrian Post is subject to legal restrictions by reg
ulatory authorities when setting its business terms and 
conditions (including postal rates) in providing universal 
postal services. For this reason, the company has only 
limited flexibility to impose price adjustments for the uni
versal postal services as a means of reacting to market 
changes. A difference in the definition of the limits to 
universal postal services between regulatory authorities 
and the company could be reflected in the design of the 
product portfolio and pricing policies. 

In the past, Austrian Post has already been subject 
to anti-trust investigations and processes evaluating 
the legitimacy of its agreements and business practices 
in the light of existing antitrust regulations. Other legal 
risks may arise as the consequence of unexpected court 
cases initiated by competitors, customers or suppliers as 
well as relating to the issue of data protection. In order 

to optimally avoid any potential adverse effects on 
earnings resulting from regulatory and legal risks as 
much as possible, Austrian Post strives to expand its 
value-added chain and product portfolio in its core pro-
cesses, as a means of offering its customers even better 
services and optimising the quality of service. Moreover, 
Austrian Post intends to generate increased revenue 
in areas which are not regulated. The legal framework 
for new, innovative products and services and the related 
data processing leaves leeway for interpretation of the 
data protection regulations applicable since May 2018. 
For this reason, it can repeatedly be subject to discus-
sions and legal proceedings relating to the issue of data 
protection. 

According to the Postal Services Structure Act of 
1996, changes in civil service laws for civil servants are 
fundamentally applicable to civil servants working for 
Austrian Post. Thus, revisions to civil service laws could 
have a direct effect on the cost structure of the company. 
In principle, further risks arising from varying interpreta-
tions of the Postal Services Structure Act also cannot be 
excluded. The corresponding reform of the salary system 
was implemented in 2015 with respect to determining 
the correct reference date for salary increments for civil 
servants. This reform dealt with the main criticism of 
the European Court of Justice and completely removed 
the problem. Of course, the salary reform was also imple-
mented for civil servants employed by Austrian Post. In 
the event that a new classification of a civil servant takes 
place in the period before the transition to a new salary 
system, a clear redefinition of the reference dates for sen-
iority was laid down, so that there is no longer any leeway 
for future legal proceedings with respect to the reference 
date for salary increases. Proceedings currently pend-
ing before the European Court of Justice relating to the 
recognition of periods of previous employment relating to 
federal contract staff could impact the salary system of 
civil servants. A decision of the European Court of Justice 
is expected before the end of 2019. As at December 31, 
2018, it is assumed that legislators will once again deal 
with and resolve the criticisms of the European Court of 
Justice. Therefore, it remains unlikely that this will lead 
to any financial burdens imposed upon Austrian Post. 
This assessment was concluded in cooperation with exter-
nal experts. 



M
A

N
A

G
E

M
E

N
T 

R
E

P
O

R
T

CSR RISKS 
CSR and environmental management play a key role 

in Austrian Post’s business operations. CSR risks are 
subject to comprehensive monitoring and control. For a 
detailed presentation, refer to the report on non-financial 
information. 

4.4 Main Opportunities 

The changes faced by Austrian Post can also lead 
to outperformance of pre-defined business targets. For 
this reason, risk management also focuses on identifying 
and managing opportunities which arise. The objective 
is to point out opportunities and exploit the potential by 
implementing suitable measures. The identification, eval-
uation, management and reporting of opportunities take 
place in line with the above-mentioned process. The iden-
tification of opportunities is carried out by the planners 
in the business areas (on a bottom-up basis) within the 
context of medium-term planning. Opportunities are also 
verified and supplemented by the Risk Committee (on a 
top-down basis). For this reason, Austrian Post implements 
an ongoing evaluation of opportunities in order to be able 
to leverage the existing potential.

In the first strategic pillar – Defending market lea
dership in the core business – the expansion and adap-
tation of Austrian Post’s product portfolio in the Mail & 
Branch Network and Parcel & Logistics Divisions in ac
cordance with customer requirements is considered to 
be an opportunity. Various value-added physical and 
electronic services are continuously expanding the range 
of services offered by Austrian Post. Opportunities pre
dominantly arise as a result of the growth of e-commerce. 
In this respect, Austrian Post stands out due to its new, 
quick and sleek solutions for online orders, and covers 
all delivery speed requirements, including same-day 
delivery. Austrian Post has clear competitive advantages 
with respect to its quality and cost structure and tries 
to increase its market share. Ongoing e-substitution has 
already been taken into account within Austrian Post’s 
planning, in which case the more moderate decline in mail 
volumes in Austria compared to original expectations is 
seen as an opportunity.

On the basis of the second strategic pillar – Growth 
in selected markets – opportunities arise with respect to 
Austrian Post’s strategic international shareholdings in 
the growth markets of Central and Eastern Europe as well 
as the increase in the depth of value added in its domes-
tic market of Austria. Competitive advantages arise from 
the existing infrastructure and extensive logistics know-
how. For example, opportunities for future growth exist in 

Austrian Post’s online activities, financial services or the 
promotion of international shipment volumes.

The third cornerstone of Austrian Post’s strategy – 
Enhancing efficiency and increasing flexibility of the 
cost structure – can be promoted by the use of state-of-
the-art sorting technologies in mail and parcel logistics. 
Furthermore, staff optimisation measures and sales initia
tives could provide added impetus and are considered to 
be opportunities. The bundling of logistics networks under 
one leadership also aims to enhance efficiency. 

The fourth strategic thrust – Customer orientation 
and innovation – enables Austrian Post, for example, 
to exploit the potential derived from the expansion of 
its online and self-service offering as well as from new 
e-commerce business models.

 

4.5 Overall Assessment of the 
Group’s Risk Situation 

The company continuously monitors the above de
scribed risks and opportunities. In response, appropriate 
measures are carried out and initiatives launched. From 
today’s perspective, none of these risks threaten the com-
pany as a going concern. 

The following chart summarises various opportu-
nities and risk profiles of the individual segments. The 
Mail & Branch Network segment is characterised by the 
electronic substitution of traditional letter mail. Volume, 
market share and average margins influence the Parcel & 
Logistics segment. Key factors impacting opportunities 
in the Corporate segment are cost optimisation and effi-
ciency enhancement measures. Staff-related and IT risks 
affect all segments.

  � see p. 35ff
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Risk Spectrum

Risk 2019 Opportunity 2019Division

Parcel & Logistics

Mail & Branch  
Network

Corporate

SIGNIFICANT OPPORTUNITIES/RISK FACTORS  
PER DIVISION 

Mail & Branch Network
■  � E-substitution of conventional letter mail
■  � Volume development and market share shift
■  �  Development of the traditional mail order business

Parcel & Logistics 
■  � Volume and market share development
■  � Development of annual revenue in the B2C business
■  � Opportunities and risks relating to strategic investments

Corporate 
■  � Optimisation of staff costs
■  � Cost management/Efficiency enhancement

All divisions
■  � Staff costs (optimisation)/Structure of employment 

contracts
■  � IT risks
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5. OTHER LEGAL DISCLOSURES

5.1 Internal Control System and 
Risk Management with Regard 
to the Accounting Process 

As an international postal and logistics services 
provider, Austrian Post Group is subject to a variety of 
operational risks in carrying out its business operations. 
The company deals with these risks proactively. The focus 
on its core business activities along with decades of 
experience in the business have enabled Austrian Post to 
identify risks at an early stage, evaluate them and quickly 
implement suitable precautionary measures. A unified risk 
management system has been set up for the entire Aus-
trian Post Group, encompassing all organisational units 
and important subsidiaries as well as an internal control 
system for all important processes. This risk manage-
ment system essentially complies with the COSO standard 
“Enterprise Risk Management – Integrated Framework”. 
The Internal Control System (ICS) serves as part of the 
risk management system and encompasses risk-oriented 
procedures integrated into business operations. Accord-
ingly, appropriate measures support project implementa-
tion or are carried out within the context of upstream or 
downstream operations. The ICS is based on precise infor-
mation on accounting and financial reporting processes 
and also encompasses upstream processes. Changes in 
the company’s organisation and business processes have 
direct effects on the ICS, which must be directly adapted 
to actual conditions. The particular business unit is 
responsible for carrying out controls. 

5.1.1 Controlling Environment 

The Group financial accounting system consists of 
the local-level accounting departments of Group compa-
nies and Group Accounting at Austrian Post. Subsidiaries 
compile comprehensive and appropriate IFRS Reporting 
Packages in a timely manner on the basis of the unified 
accounting and valuation rules in force. The IFRS Report-
ing Package serves as the starting point for further pro-
cessing within the context of Group consolidation. Group 
Accounting is responsible for the consolidated financial 
statements. Its duties and responsibilities mainly focus 
on the structured transfer of the reported data stemming 

from subsidiaries, the carrying out of consolidation and 
elimination measures, the analytical processing of the 
data compiled in the consolidated accounts and the cor-
responding preparation of financial reports. The process 
governing the preparation of the consolidated accounts 
is based upon a schedule requiring strict adherence. The 
deadlines in the schedule are specified and published to 
cover the entire year. In addition, the subsidiaries receive 
an information bulletin issued by the Group on a quarterly 
basis, containing detailed information and Group guide-
lines on selected subjects relating to the compilation of 
quarterly financial statements. Detailed time schedules 
and work plans are drawn up for both local-level organi-
sational units and Group Accounting for the purposes of 
preparing the financial statements and financial reporting. 
This takes place in line with the deadlines established for 
the compilation and publication of monthly and quarterly 
financial statements. 

5.1.2 Risk Assessment 

Multi-tiered quality assurance measures are imple-
mented with the objective of correctly compiling IFRS 
Reporting Packages for consolidation purposes. On the 
one hand, these measures include automatic checks 
(validations) performed in SAP SEM-BCS. On the other 
hand, they include manual checks by employees at sub-
sidiaries as well as staff members working for Group 
Accounting. In turn, Group Accounting takes the financial 
accounts compiled by the subsidiaries and subjects them 
to several levels of comprehensive plausibility and data 
quality checks. These measures are designed to ensure 
that the transactions undertaken by the subsidiaries have 
been correctly reported and are thus suitable for consoli-
dation and for the compilation of the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements. The carrying out of quality checks 
at all levels is a prerequisite for the authorisation to pub-
lish the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

5.1.3 Control Measures 

The consolidated financial statements of Austrian 
Post are compiled on a monthly basis and use a simulta-
neous consolidation method carried out in SAP SEM-BCS. 
The compilation of the notes to the accounts and the 
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calculation of deferred taxes are also performed in SAP 
SEM-BCS. The unified methods of accounting and valu-
ation applied throughout the Group are contained in the 
Group manual. Revisions to IFRS are monitored by Group 
Accounting on an ongoing basis and are published on a 
quarterly basis as IFRS updates in the Group information 
letters. The incorporation of the updates into the Group 
manual and subsequent publication of the updated ver-
sion are carried out once a year. In addition to the Group 
manual, there are guidelines and specialised concepts 
on selected Group processes, particularly changes in the 
scope of consolidation. Centralised processes for data 
entry and data changes have been defined for the master 
data area (comprising SAP SEM positions, SAP Group 
account charts and customer data). The consolidation pro-
cesses are described in the consolidation manual, which 
provides a comprehensive overview of the processes 
to be employed when using SAP SEM-BCS to compile the 
Group’s consolidated financial statements, stipulates 
quality assurance measures, and describes the system 
of reporting used in Group Accounting. The consolidation 
of business operations forms the basis of the documen-
tation and specification of the methods of consolidation 
used by Austrian Post. SAP R/3 is predominantly used 
to compile the accounts for individual companies accord-
ing to IFRS. The transition to IFRS is accomplished em
ploying parallel (dual) SAP accounting. The transfer of 
reporting data in SAP SEM-BCS is undertaken using 
automatic uploads. For monitoring and control purposes, 
the consolidated financial statements are subject to an 
EBIT-based reconciliation. In this process, reconciliation 
from individual financial statements to Group financial 
statements is carried out, taking into account bookings 
as well as eliminations in the Group. 

5.1.4 Information and Communcation 

Preliminary data from the consolidated financial 
statements are provided to top management levels to 
enable them to fulfil their monitoring and control duties. 
The following reports are issued in the context of pre-
paring the consolidated financial statements: Report to 
the Supervisory Board, monthly report including strategy 
cockpit, interim reports, report on the performance of 
subsidiaries, data analysis and evaluation. The quarterly 
reports to the Supervisory Board are primarily provided 
for the Management Board and Supervisory Board of 
Austrian Post. Other internal reports are also prepared 
containing detailed comments on selected financial state-
ment items, earnings reconciliations and performance 
indicators in addition to the reports for the Supervisory 
Board and the legally stipulated notes and interim finan-
cial reports. The monthly report provides an overview of 
key financial and performance indicators of the company. 

Indicators are prepared, especially on sales and staff 
data, based on the four strategic areas of action and the 
related benchmarks. The other internal reporting struc-
ture is built upon and derived from the monthly report. 
Another important aspect of the internal reporting system 
of the Austrian Post Group is data analysis and evaluation. 
This mainly includes calculating the consolidated cash 
flow as well as the related detailed notes and calculation 
of key earnings and value-based indicators and liquidity 
figures. The Controlling Department of Austrian Post pre-
pares a monthly report on strategic investments focusing 
on the business development of Austrian Post’s subsidi-
aries. Communications with shareholders of Austrian Post 
takes place in accordance with the stipulations contained 
in the Austrian Corporate Governance Code. Communica-
tions are conveyed through the Investor Relations website 
(post.at/ir) as well as through direct discussions with 
investors. Published information is made available to all 
investors simultaneously. In addition to legally stipulated 
publications, i. e. the annual financial report and annual 
report, the interim report for the first quarter, half-year 
financial report and interim report for the first three quar-
ters, investors are also provided with extensive additional 
information on the Austrian Post investor relations web-
site, including investor presentations, information on the 
Austrian Post share, published inside information and the 
financial calendar. 

5.1.5 Monitoring 

The key focus of Austrian Post’s operational risk 
management is the identification, evaluation and control 
of major risks which arise from the company’s core 
business. This process is coordinated by key managers 
of the divisions. Austrian Post Group is structured into 
two divisions operating on the market, the Mail & Branch 
Network Division and the Parcel & Logistics Division, as 
well as the Corporate Division, which additionally provides 
central administrative services. The subsidiaries within 
Austrian Post Group are assigned to the various divisions 
in accordance with particular focus of their business 
activities. The major business risks in these operational 
units are continuously identified and monitored, serving 
as the basis for determining appropriate risk management 
measures, e. g. back-ups or emergency plans. Additional 
key instruments to control and counteract risks include 
Group-wide guidelines for dealing with major risks, plan-
ning and control processes as well as ongoing reporting. 
These guidelines encompass, for example, definition and 
monitoring of limits and procedures designed to limit 
financial risks and strict adherence to the principle of 
having two pairs of eyes oversee all business transac-
tions. These guidelines represent an integral part of the 
company’s internal control system, and are designed, 
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amongst other things, to ensure proper internal and exter-
nal financial reporting. The planning and control processes 
serve as an early warning system, and simultaneously as 
the basis to evaluate the effectiveness of the controlling 
measures being implemented. In addition to the report to 
the Management Board containing the main indicators, 
there are also monthly performance reviews at operating 
units, which continue on a hierarchical manner in line with 
the integrated planning and reporting processes. Along-
side vertical integration, the main feature of the planning 
and reporting processes is the convergence between in
ternal and external reporting. Moreover, in the planning 
phase reporting already focuses on the opportunities and 
risks related to the plausibility of achieving planning tar-
gets. The effectiveness of the ICS is regularly evaluated by 
Group Auditing. 

5.2 Information Pursuant to 
Section 243a of the Austrian 
Commercial Code

The share capital of Austrian Post amounts to EUR 
337,763,190 and is divided into 67,552,638 non-par value 
shares with a nominal value of EUR 5 per share. There 
are no voting rights restrictions or syndicate agreements 
applying to Austrian Post that the company is aware of.

Through Österreichische Beteiligungs AG (in short 
ÖBAG, formerly Österreichische Bundes- und Industrie
beteiligungen GmbH), the Republic of Austria has a 52.85 % 
shareholding in Austrian Post, based on the number of 
outstanding shares (a total of 67,552,638). Austrian Post 
is not aware of any other shareholders holding more than 
10 % of the company’s shares.

To the company’s best knowledge, there are no share-
holders owning shares with special controlling interests. 
Employees who are shareholders of Austrian Post exercise 
their voting rights on an individual basis. No rules exist 
with regards to the appointment or dismissal of members 
of the Management Board or the Supervisory Board, or as 
regards to changes to be made to the company’s Articles 
of Association which can be directly inferred from legal 
regulations.

Authorised Capital: In accordance with Section 5a of 
the Articles of Association of Austrian Post, the Manage-
ment Board is authorised until April 14, 2020, to under-
take the following, provided that the Supervisory Board so 
approve: the increase of the share capital, in accordance 
with Section 169 of the Austrian Stock Corporation Act, by 
a further EUR 33,776,320 through the issuance of up to 
a further 6,755,264 new, ordinary bearer shares (non-par 
value shares) in exchange for cash and/or contributions 
in kind, and in some cases also by excluding shareholder 

subscription rights. This amendment to the Articles of 
Association was entered in the commercial register on 
June 11, 2015.

Conditional Capital: In accordance with Section 5b 
of the Articles of Association of Austrian Post, the share 
capital of the company was increased by up to EUR 
16,888,160 by issuing up to 3,377,632 new, ordinary bearer 
shares. The capital increase may only be carried out for 
the purpose of granting rights of exchange and subscrip-
tion rights to creditors of financial instruments pursuant 
to Section 174 Austrian Stock Corporation Act, as well as 
for the purpose of granting stock options to employees and 
senior managers of the company or its affiliates. The Man-
agement Board is authorised, contingent upon approval 
of the Supervisory Board, to set the further conditions 
associated with conducting of the conditional increase in 
capital. This amendment to the Articles of Association was 
entered in the commercial register on June 11, 2015.

Share Buy-Back Programme: The Annual General 
Meeting of Austrian Post held on April 20, 2017, author-
ised the Management Board pursuant to Section 65 Para 1 
(4) and (8), Para 1a and 1b of the Austrian Stock Corpo-
ration Act to acquire non-par value bearer or registered 
shares of the company, with this to amount to up to 10 % 
of the company’s share capital over a period of 30 months 
starting on April 15, 2017, on or outside stock exchanges, 
and with these to be offered for purchase in such cases 
to individual shareholders or to a single shareholder, 
especially ÖBAG, at a lowest equivalent value of EUR 20 
(twenty euros) per share, and at a highest equivalent value 
of EUR 60 (sixty euros) per share. 

The trading in treasury shares is excluded as the 
objective of the purchase. The authorisation can be exer-
cised in two or more partial tranches and for the pur-
poses of realising one or more objectives of the company, 
by a subsidiary (Section 228 Para 3 Austrian Commercial 
Code) or by a third party acting on a paid commission 
basis on behalf of the company. The acquisition by the 
Management Board may especially be performed in cases 
in which the shares are to be offered to employees, senior 
managers and members of the Management Board of the 
company or of one affiliated with it in conjunction with an 
employee participation programme, a stock option pro-
gramme and /or for purposes of being issued to a private 
foundation enabling employee participation. 

The Management Board of Austrian Post can re
solve to make this purchase on a stock exchange. In such 
cases, the Supervisory Board has to be subsequently 
informed of this resolution. A purchase not made via an 
exchange requires the prior approval of the Supervisory 
Board. In a case of a purchase not made on the exchange, 
this purchase can be undertaken in a way excluding the 
proportionate right of sale (reverse exclusion of sub
scription rights).
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The Management Board is authorised for a term of 
five years starting with approval of the resolution pursu-
ant to Section 65 Para 1b Austrian Stock Corporation Act, 
with the approval of the Supervisory Board but without 
requiring the Annual General Meeting’s passing of a reso-
lution, to pass a resolution stipulating that treasury shares 
are to be sold or used in a way other than their sale via an 
exchange or through a public offer, appropriately adhering 
to the rules established for the exclusion of subscription 
rights held by shareholders, especially with respect to 
shares to be offered to employees, senior managers and 
members of the Management Board of the company or of 
one affiliated with it in conjunction with an employee par-
ticipation programme or with a stock option programme 
and/or issued to a private foundation constituted for pur-
poses of employee participation. The Management Board 
is also authorised to establish the conditions of sale. The 
authorisation can be exercised in two or more partial 
amounts and for the purposes of realising one or more 
objectives by the company, a subsidiary (Section 228 Para 
3 Austrian Commercial Code) or by a third party acting on 
a paid commission basis on behalf of the company. 

The Management Board is also authorised to reduce 
the share capital with the consent of the Supervisory 
Board and, if necessary, this is to be undertaken through 
the withdrawal of treasury shares and does not require 
the Annual General Meeting’s passing a resolution, in 
accordance with Section 65 Para 1 (8) last sentence and 
Section 122 Austrian Stock Corporation Act. The Super
visory Board is authorised to resolve upon amendments 
to the Articles of Association arising from the with-
drawal of shares.

Income Bonds: The Management Board was also 
authorised, with the consent of the Supervisory Board, 
to issue, up to April 14, 2020, financial instruments, as 
defined by Section 174 Austrian Stock Corporation Act, 
with these especially including convertible bonds, income 
bonds and profit participation rights, featuring a total 
nominal amount of up to EUR 250,000,000. This author-
isation comprises the rights of exchange of and /or sub-
scription rights for up to 3,377,632 shares of the company 
and is configured in a way permitting the shares to be 
reported as equity. This issuance is to be allowed to be 
undertaken in one or more tranches and in a variety of 
combinations, also incorporating the direct rendering 
of a guarantee for the issuance of financial instruments 
by an affiliated company, and with this extending to the 
granting of rights of exchange of and /or subscription 
rights for the shares of the company. 

To satisfy rights of exchange and/or subscription, the 
Management Board is entitled to make use of conditional 
capital or treasury shares, or a combination of both.

The price and terms of issuance of financial instru-
ments are to be set by the Management Board with 

the approval of the Supervisory Board. The setting of 
this price has to adhere to recognised financial and 
mathematical methods of calculation and the share price 
of the company, within the context of a recognised pricing 
procedure.

The Management Board is authorised to exclude 
shareholders’ subscription rights to the financial instru-
ments, as stipulated in Section 174 Austrian Stock 
Corporation Act, contingent upon approval of the Super
visory Board. 

There are no significant contractual agreements to 
which the company is a party, which would take effect, 
cause major changes or expire in the event of a change 
in ownership resulting from a takeover.

No compensation agreements exist between the mem-
bers of the Management Board and Supervisory Board or 
with employees in case of a public takeover offer.

5.3 Non-financial Information 
Pursuant to the Sustainability 
and Diversity Improvement Act 
(NaDiVeG) 

Austrian Post prepares a separate non-financial 
report which fulfils the legal requirements pursuant to 
Section 243b Austrian Commercial Code in connection 
with Section 267a Austrian Commercial Code and is 
audited by an independent third party. 

  � see p. 35ff
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6. OUTLOOK 2019

Current developments in Austrian Post’s core business 
show that the basic trends in the mail and parcel business 
are expected to continue.

 The traditional addressed letter mail business is 
anticipated to show ongoing volume declines of about 5 % 
annually in the future. In contrast, the direct mail business 
strongly depends on the economic environment as well as 
the advertising behaviour of high-volume senders. 

Prospects for the market development of the parcel 
business are considered to be clearly positive. Against 
the backdrop of further growth in online business, upper 
single-digit market growth is expected. This sector is char-
acterised by high demands imposed on delivery quality 
and speed as well as innovative service solutions. In turn, 
it is impacted by changed competitive conditions and price 
pressure.

In the light of this market environment, Austrian Post 
once again forecasts a stable revenue development in the 
2019 financial year (2018 revenue: EUR 1,958.5 m). 

The underlying planning assumptions are the ongoing 
trends in the letter mail and direct mail markets. It is also 
assumed that the postage rate model introduced on July 1, 
2018 (next-day PRIO delivery and ECO delivery within 
2 – 3 days), will continue to be well received. 

 Austrian Post’s parcel business will further expand 
in 2019. It is expected that the quality and performance 
advantages of Austrian Post will be reflected in revenue 
increases against the backdrop of higher competition and 
price pressure as well as own delivery in Vienna on the 
part of a large-volume customer. 

The company’s branch network is currently dissolv-
ing the financial services cooperation with the previous 
banking partner. However, the goal remains of maintaining 
the offering of financial services in the branch network 
in the future because it is an important and meaningful 
complement for customers to Austrian Post’s range of 
services. 

In addition to numerous market initiatives, the capacity 
expansion investment programme in the parcel business is 
of considerable importance to the further development of 
the company. The objective is to gradually double the 2018 
sorting capacity in the years to come. For this reason, in 

addition to maintenance investments of about EUR 70 m, 
in excess of EUR 50 m of growth investments are planned 
again for 2019. Moreover, there is the possibility of ex
panding existing commercial properties or newly acquiring 
land, for example by the existing logistics centre in the 
south of Vienna. Capacity is already expected to increase 
by 25 % when the parcel centre in Hagenbrunn to the north 
of Vienna is put into operation in the summer of 2019. 

In terms of its earnings, Austrian Post is also pursu-
ing the target of achieving stability in its operating results 
of the core business in 2019 (2018 EBIT: EUR 210.9 m). An 
important priority will be to enhance the efficiency of ser-
vices and change structures and processes. For example, 
mail and parcel logistics were merged under one unified 
operational management at the beginning of 2019. The aim 
is to leverage further synergies in the new organisational 
structure as a means of further expanding upon Austrian 
Post’s role as the quality leader on the Austrian mail and 
parcel markets. This is based on volume forecasts for 
Austrian Post’s mail and parcel business. Furthermore, 
business plans will be examined in 2019 to what extent 
Austrian Post can continue offering financial services in 
the future. 

Stability and security comprise the cornerstones of 
the company’s financial management. In recent years the 
company has generated the financial resources for the 
required growth investments, and they will now be used to 
expand Austrian Post’s strategic positioning. The oper-
ating cash flow generated by Austrian Post will continue 
to be used prudently and in a targeted manner to finance 
sustainable investments in business operations and to 
pay dividends. 

The Management Board will propose to the Annual 
General Meeting scheduled for April 11, 2019, to approve 
the distribution of a dividend in the amount of EUR 2.08 
per share. Thus, the company is once again continuing 
its attractive and predictable dividend policy on the basis 
of a solid balance sheet structure and generated cash 
flow. Austrian Post continues to pursue the objective of 
distributing at least 75 % of the Group’s net profit to its 
shareholders.
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Vienna, February 22, 2019

The Management Board

GEORG PÖLZL 
Chairman of the Management Board  
Chief Executive Officer

WALTER OBLIN 
Deputy Chairman of the Management Board 
Mail & Direct Mail, Finance

PETER UMUNDUM 
Member of the Management Board
Parcel & Logistics, Logistics Networks
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME 
STATEMENT 
for the 2018 financial year

EUR m Notes 2017 2018

Revenue (8.2) 1,938.9 1,958.5

Other operating income (8.3) 112.7 96.2

Total operating income  2,051.6 2,054.6

Raw materials, consumables and services used (8.4) –409.9 –441.2

Staff costs (8.5) –1,020.1 –1,008.7

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses (8.6) –86.8 –94.5

Other operating expenses (8.7) –325.0 –295.7

Total operating expenses  –1,841.9 –1,840.2

Profit from operations  209.7 214.5

Results from financial assets accounted for using the equity method (9.5) –1.9 –3.6

Financial income  16.4 8.5

Financial expenses  –3.6 –21.6

Other financial result (8.8) 12.8 –13.1

Total financial result  10.9 –16.7

Profit before tax  220.6 197.8

Income tax (9.14) –55.6 –53.6

Profit for the period  165.0 144.2

Attributable to:    

Shareholders of the parent company (9.10) 165.2 143.7

Non-controlling interests (9.10) –0.2 0.6

EARNINGS PER SHARE (EUR)    

Basic earnings per share (8.9) 2.45 2.13

Diluted earnings per share (8.9) 2.45 2.13
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
for the 2018 financial year

EUR m Notes 2017 2018

Profit for the period  165.0 144.2

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to the income statement:    

Currency translation differences – investments in foreign businesses (9.10) 0.6 –0.1

Changes in the fair value of financial assets available for sale (10.1) –3.0 –

At fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) – debt instruments (10.1) 0.0 –0.1

Tax effect of changes in the fair value (9.14) 1.2 0.0

Total items that may be reclassified  –1.2 –0.2

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to the income statement:    

At fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) – equity instruments (10.1) 0.0 –18.9

Tax effect of changes in the fair value (9.14) 0.0 4.4

Revaluation of defined benefit obligations (9.11) –1.2 4.1

Tax effect of revaluation (9.14) 0.3 –1.0

Total items that will not be reclassified  –0.9 –11.4

Other comprehensive income  –2.1 –11.5

Total comprehensive income  162.9 132.7

Attributable to:    

Shareholders of the parent company (9.10) 163.1 132.1

Non-controlling interests (9.10) –0.2 0.6
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 
as at December 31, 2018 

EUR m Notes Dec. 31, 2017 Dec. 31, 2018

A S S E T S    

Non-current assets    

Goodwill (9.1) 62.1 58.7

Intangible assets (9.2) 24.7 24.5

Property, plant and equipment (9.3) 615.7 652.8

Investment property (9.4) 85.0 78.4

Financial assets accounted for using the equity method (9.5) 8.1 9.2

Other financial assets (9.6) 86.4 62.4

Contract assets  0.0 0.1

Other receivables (9.8) 19.0 14.5

Deferred tax assets (9.14) 72.2 77.6

  973.1 978.2

Current assets    

Other financial assets (9.6) 44.6 45.4

Inventories (9.7) 22.0 17.3

Contract assets  0.0 23.5

Trade and other receivables (9.8) 343.6 305.7

Tax assets  1.0 1.0

Cash and cash equivalents (9.9) 290.0 310.0

  701.1 702.8

Assets held for sale  0.0 0.3

  1,674.2 1,681.2

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES    

Equity (9.10)   

Share capital  337.8 337.8

Capital reserves  91.0 91.0

Revenue reserves  287.7 298.5

Other reserves  –18.5 –30.1

Equity attributable to the shareholders of the parent company  697.9 697.1

Non-controlling interests  0.9 2.0

  698.8 699.1

Non-current liabilities    

Provisions (9.11) 385.1 386.3

Other financial liabilities (9.12) 3.4 3.5

Trade and other payables (9.13) 39.3 31.1

Deferred tax liabilities (9.14) 1.1 0.8

  428.9 421.7

Current liabilities    

Provisions (9.11) 178.6 164.8

Tax liabilities  13.2 6.8

Other financial liabilities (9.12) 3.4 6.8

Trade and other payables (9.13) 351.2 333.0

Contract liabilities  0.0 49.0

  546.5 560.4

  1,674.2 1,681.2
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
for the 2018 financial year 

 
EUR m

 
Notes

2017  
adjusted  1

 
2018

OPERATING ACTIVITIES    

Profit before tax  220.6 197.8

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses (8.6) 86.8 94.5

Results from financial assets accounted for using the equity method (9.5) 1.9 3.6

Provisions non-cash  70.3 42.4

Other non-cash transactions (11.1) –63.1 14.6

Gross cash flow  316.6 352.9

Trade and other receivables  –23.5 52.3

Inventories  –3.2 –4.2

Contract assets  0.0 –16.5

Provisions  –12.9 –49.7

Trade and other payables  21.6 7.3

Contract liabilities  0.0 18.0

Taxes paid  –42.9 –64.2

Cash flow from operating activities  255.7 295.9

INVESTING ACTIVITIES    

Acquisition of intangible assets  –8.2 –10.6

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment/investment property  –102.1 –139.4

Cash receipts from disposal of assets  7.3 21.3

Acquisition of subsidiaries (4.2) –5.2 –0.9

Disposal of subsidiaries (4.2) 0.8 0.0

Acquisition of financial assets accounted for using the equity method (4.2) –5.6 –2.6

Sale of financial assets accounted for using the equity method (4.2) 3.3 0.1

Acquisition of other financial instruments  –0.1 –35.0

Cash receipts from sales of other financial instruments  19.0 0.0

Acquisition of financial investments in securities  –35.0 –5.0

Cash receipts from sales of financial investments in securities  15.3 28.0

Loans granted (11.1) –1.4 –1.8

Dividends received from financial assets accounted for using the equity method (9.5) 0.2 0.2

Interest received  2.5 8.3

Cash flow from investing activities  –109.1 –137.5

Free cash flow  146.6 158.4

FINANCING ACTIVITIES    

Changes of other financial liabilities (11.1) 0.7 1.6

Dividends paid  –135.1 –138.8

Interest paid  –0.3 –1.0

Acquisition of non-controlling interests  0.0 0.1

Cash flow from financing activities  –134.6 –138.1

Change in cash and cash equivalents  12.0 20.2

Cash and cash equivalents at January 1  278.0 290.0

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31 (11.1) 290.0 310.2

1	 Reclassification of taxes paid – refer to Note 3.2 of the consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the 2017 financial year

Other reserves

 
 
 
 
EUR m

Share 
capital

Capital 
reserves

Revenue 
reserves 

IAS 19 
reserve

Revaluation 
of financial 

instruments

Currency 
translation 

reserve

Equity 
attributable 

to share-
holders of 
the parent 

company

Non-
controlling 

interests Equity

Balance as at January 1, 2017 337.8 91.0 257.6 –18.3 4.2 –2.3 670.0 0.1 670.0

Profit for the period 0.0 0.0 165.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 165.2 –0.2 165.0

Other comprehensive income 0.0 0.0 0.0 –0.9 –1.8 0.6 –2.1 0.0 –2.1

Total comprehensive income 0.0 0.0 165.2 –0.9 –1.8 0.6 163.1 –0.2 162.9

Dividends paid 0.0 0.0 –135.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 –135.1 –0.1 –135.2

Transactions with owners 0.0 0.0 –135.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 –135.1 –0.1 –135.2

Step acquisition of a subsidiary 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.1 1.1

Other changes 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.1 1.1

Balance as at December 31, 2017 337.8 91.0 287.7 –19.2 2.4 –1.7 697.9 0.9 698.8



C
O

N
S

O
LI

D
A

TE
D

FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L 
S

TA
TE

M
E

N
TS

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity - 103

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the 2018 financial year

Other reserves

 
 
 
EUR m

Share 
capital

Capital 
reserves

Revenue 
reserves 

IAS 19 
reserve

Revaluation 
of finan

cial instru
ments/
FVOCI  

reserve

Currency 
translation 

reserve

Equity 
attributable 

to share-
holders of 
the parent 

company

Non-
controlling 

interests Equity

Balance as at December 31, 2017 337.8 91.0 287.7 –19.2 2.4 –1.7 697.9 0.9 698.8

Adjustment due to initial application 
of IFRS 9 (net of tax) 0.0 0.0 0.6 0.0 –0.1 0.0 0.5 0.0 0.5

Adjustment due to initial application 
of IFRS 15 (net of tax) 0.0 0.0 5.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 5.1 0.0 5.1

Adjusted status as at January 1, 2018 337.8 91.0 293.3 –19.2 2.3 –1.7 703.5 0.9 704.4

Profit for the period 0.0 0.0 143.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 143.7 0.6 144.2

Other comprehensive income 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.1 –14.5 –0.1 –11.5 0.0 –11.5

Total comprehensive income 0.0 0.0 143.7 3.1 –14.5 –0.1 132.1 0.6 132.7

Dividends paid 0.0 0.0 –138.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 –138.5 –0.3 –138.8

Payments from non-controlling  
interests 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1

Transactions with owners 0.0 0.0 –138.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 –138.5 –0.2 –138.7

Step acquisition of a subsidiary 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.8 0.8

Other changes 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.8 0.8

Balance as at December 31, 2018 337.8 91.0 298.5 –16.1 –12.2 –1.8 697.1 2.0 699.1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE  
2018 FINANCIAL YEAR

1. Reporting Entity

Austrian Post and its subsidiaries are logistics and 
service companies in the letter mail and parcel segments. 
The business activities of the Austrian Post Group include 
the provision of postal and parcel services, specialised 
logistics such as express mail delivery and value logis-
tics as well as sales of telecommunications products and 
financial transactions in the branch network. Moreover, 
the service offering also encompasses fulfilment services, 
various online services such as the e-letter and cross-
media services data and output management as well as  
document collection, digitalisation and processing, 
amongst other services. 

The headquarters of Austrian Post is located in 
Vienna, Austria. The mailing address is Austrian Post AG, 
Rochusplatz 1, 1030 Vienna. The company is registered 
in the company register at the Vienna Commercial Court 
under the registry number FN 180219d.

2. Summary of Accounting 
Principles

The consolidated financial statements of Austrian 
Post for the 2018 financial year have been prepared in 
accordance with the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) valid as at December 31, 2018, as issued 

by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) 
and adopted by the European Union and the additional 
requirements of Section 245a Austrian Commercial Code 
(UGB). 

The consolidated financial statements of Austrian 
Post consist of the consolidated income statement, the 
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated 
balance sheet, the consolidated cash flow statement, 
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements. The con-
solidated financial statements are presented in euros. 
All amounts are stated in millions of euros (EUR m) unless 
otherwise stated. When aggregating rounded amounts 
and percentages, rounding differences may occur due to 
the use of automated calculation aids.

3. Changes in Accounting and 
Valuation Methods

3.1 Revisions to International Financial 
Reporting Standards

3.1.1 MANDATORY APPLICATIONS OF NEW AND 
REVISED STANDARDS 

The following new and revised standards had been 
applied on a mandatory basis for the first time during the 
2018 financial year: 

Mandatory application of new standards Effective date EU  1

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments Jan. 1, 2018

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers Jan. 1, 2018

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration Jan. 1, 2018

1	 To be applied in the financial year beginning on or after the effective date.
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Mandatory application of revised standards Effective date EU  1

Miscellaneous Improvements to IFRS (2014 – 2016) Jan. 1, 2018

IFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-Based Payment Transactions Jan. 1, 2018

IFRS 4 Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts Jan. 1, 2018

IFRS 15 Clarifications to IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers Jan. 1, 2018

IAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property Jan. 1, 2018

1	 To be applied in the financial year beginning on or after the effective date.

A number of new or revised standards took effect in 
the current reporting period. The first-time application 
of the new standards IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and 
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers resulted 
in changes to the accounting methods used by the Aus-
trian Post Group. The effects of the initial application of 
these two standards are subsequently described in Note 
3.3 Significant changes based on the initial application of 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and IFRS 15 Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers. Revisions to other standards 

do not have any effects on the accounting methods of the 
Austrian Post Group.
 
3.1.2 INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS WHICH ARE PUBLISHED BUT NOT  
YET APPLIED 

The following standards have been endorsed or are in 
the process of endorsement by the European Union. How-
ever, mandatory application of these standards will only 
take place in the future. 

New standards/interpretations not yet applied Endorsement EU Effective date EU  1

IFRS 16 Leases Oct. 31, 2017 Jan. 1, 2019

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts to be decided planned Jan. 1, 2022

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments Oct. 23, 2018 Jan. 1, 2019

Revised standards not yet applied Endorsement EU Effective date EU  1

Miscellaneous Improvements to IFRS (2015 – 2017) planned Q1 2019 planned Jan. 1, 2019

Miscellaneous Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards planned 2019 planned Jan. 1, 2020

IFRS 3 Definition of a Business planned 2019 planned Jan. 1, 2020

IFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation Mar. 22, 2018 Jan. 1, 2019

IAS 1/IAS 8 Definition of Materiality planned 2019 planned Jan. 1, 2020

IAS 19 Plan Changes, Reductions or Compensations planned Q1 2019 planned Jan. 1, 2019

IAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures Feb. 8, 2019 planned Jan. 1, 2019

1	 To be applied in the financial year beginning on or after the effective date.

IFRS 16 Leases IFRS 16 Leases was published in 
January 2016 and it has to be applied for the first time on 
a mandatory basis for financial years beginning on or after 
January 1, 2019. IFRS 16 replaces the previous regulations 
contained in IAS 17 and the related interpretations. In 
particular, the accounting treatment of lease agreements 
by the lessee is redefined. According to the new stand-
ard, the decisive factor in the accounting treatment of a 
lease is whether the leased object is an identifiable asset, 

the lessee has the right to direct the use of the asset and 
obtains the resulting economic benefits. The previous 
distinction between finance lease and operating lease 
agreements no longer applies. The lessee now recognises a 
liability for every leasing relationship in the amount of the 
future lease payments. At the same time, the right-of-use 
asset is capitalised as the present value of future lease 
payments and is subsequently written off as an expense 
on a straight-line basis. 
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IFRS 16 allows for exercising an accounting option in 
the case of short term leases whose contractual period is 
for twelve months or less. Moreover, the accounting treat-
ment does not have to be applied in the leasing of low-
value assets. Austrian Post will make use of both options 
and will thus continue to recognise the corresponding lease 
payments in profit or loss. Similarly, leases of intangible 
assets will not be recognised.

IFRS 16 continues to prescribe the distinction between 
finance and operating lease agreements for accounting 
purposes. With respect to this point, the accounting model 
contained in IFRS 16 does not significantly differ from 
IAS 17 Leases. 

Austrian Post applies the modified retrospective 
approach of IFRS 16 without any adjustment of compar
ative information for previous periods. Any potential 
accumulated adjustment effect resulting at the time of 
initial application on January 1, 2019, will be recognised in 
equity. In this regard, Austrian Post has chosen the option 
to state the rights of use at the transition date to the 
amount of the leasing liability adjusted by the previously 
recognised amounts paid or received in advance. As a 
consequence, there will be no impact on the equity of the 
Austrian Post Group at the date of the first time adoption.

In the consolidated balance sheet, rights of use will 
be included in the same balance sheet items in which the 
underlying assets of leases are stated. 

The following practical expedients will be used within 
the context of the first-time application of IFRS 16:

■  � Application of a discount rate to a portfolio of leases
■  � Leases with a remaining term of less than twelve 

months will be treated as short term leases. 
■  � Recourse to the assessment of provisions for 

onerous leases instead of a separate testing for 
impairment pursuant to IAS 36

Furthermore, Austrian Post will exercise its option not 
to reassess whether or not an agreement already in effect 
at the time of initial application comprises a lease pursu-
ant to IFRS 16. Accordingly, the definition of a lease pur-
suant to IAS 17 and IFRC 4 will continue to apply for leases 
which existed before January 1, 2019. 

From the perspective of the lessee, the most impor-
tant specific application of IFRS 16 in the Austrian Post 
Group relates to real estate leasing contracts for logistics 
sites, branch offices and administrative buildings. Apart 
from that, there are mostly lease contracts for vehicles. 
The most significant effects result from the recognition 
of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for these lease 
agreements. Furthermore, the type of expenses related 
to these lease agreements will change, in line of the fact 
that IFRS 16 replaces expenses recognised on a straight-
line basis by depreciation expenses for right-of-use-assets 
and interest expenses for lease liabilities in accordance 
with IAS 17. 

Based on its latest estimates, Austrian Post assumes 
that it will recognise rights of use and lease liabilities 
in the amount of EUR 269.4 m as at January 1, 2019. The 
resulting increase in the balance sheet total will lead to 
a decline in the equity ratio by 5.7 percentage points. 
There will be no reclassifications on the balance sheet for 
existing finance leases in light of the fact that rights of 
use are stated under the respective balance sheet items 
(largely property, plant and equipment). 

On the basis of a preliminary assessment of exist-
ing agreements as at January 1, 2019, it is expected that 
the leasing and rental payments of Austrian Post will 
decrease by EUR 32.1 m in 2019. In contrast, planned de
preciation will climb by EUR 30.0 m and the net interest 
expense will rise by EUR 4.2 m. An increase of EBITDA 
by EUR 32.1 m and a rise in the EBITDA margin by 1.6 per
centage points is anticipated. 

Pursuant to IAS 17, leasing payments for operating 
leases are stated under the cash flow from operating 
activities. The application of IFRS 16 will likely increase 
the cash flow from operating activities by EUR 32.1 m and 
reduce the cash flow from financing activities by the same 
amount, in light of the fact that both the redemptions 
and interest components of the leasing payments will be 
recognised under the cash flow from financing activities 
in the future. 

No material effects are expected for existing lease 
agreements in which Austrian Post acts as the lessor as 
well as for subleases in which Austrian Post acts as an 
intermediate lessor. 

Other The other new and revised standards are 
unlikely to have a material impact on the consolidated 
financial statements of Austrian Post.
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3.2 Changes in the Presentation of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements and 
Adjustments to Prior-Year Figures

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement The recognition 
of taxes paid in the consolidated cash flow statement 
was adjusted in the 2018 financial year. Taxes paid were 

previously disclosed separately within the context of the 
reconciliation of the profit before tax to the gross cash 
flow. Now taxes paid are stated after the gross cash flow 
within the context of calculating the cash flow from oper-
ating activities. 

The change in recognition has the following effect on 
the consolidated cash flow statement:

 
EUR m

2017  
(previous presentation)

2017  
(new presentation)

2018  
(previous presentation)

2018  
(new presentation)

Taxes paid –42.9 0.0 –64.2 0.0

Gross cash flow 273.7 316.6 288.7 352.9

     

Taxes paid 0.0 –42.9 0.0 –64.2

Cash flow from operating activities 255.7 255.7 295.9 295.9

3.3 Significant Changes Based on the Initial 
Application of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
and IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers

Austrian Post applied IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 for the first 
time effective January 1, 2018. Comparative information 
for previous periods was not adjusted. Impacts on profit 
and loss resulting from the application of the new stand-
ards were recognised in revenue reserves as at January 1, 
2018. For this reason, adjustments to the new standards 
were not recorded retroactively on the balance sheet as at 
December 31, 2017, but on the opening balance sheet as 
at January 1, 2018. 

The following chart shows necessary adjustments on 
the level of individual balance sheet items. The individual 
adjustments will be subsequently explained in detail for 
each new standard.
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EUR m Dec. 31, 2017 Adjustments IFRS 9 Adjustments IFRS 15 Jan. 1, 2018

ASSETS

Non-current assets     

Goodwill 62.1   62.1

Intangible assets 24.7   24.7

Property, plant and equipment 615.7   615.7

Investment property 85.0   85.0

Financial assets accounted for using the equity method 8.1   8.1

Other financial assets 86.4   86.4

Contract assets 0.0  0.3 0.3

Other receivables 19.0   19.0

Deferred tax assets 72.2 –0.1  72.0

 973.1 –0.1 0.3 973.2

Current assets     

Other financial assets 44.6   44.6

Inventories 22.0  –8.8 13.3

Contract assets 0.0  6.6 6.6

Trade receivables and other receivables 343.6 0.8 15.2 359.6

Tax assets 1.0   1.0

Cash and cash equivalents 290.0 –0.1  289.8

 701.1 0.7 13.1 714.9

 1,674.2 0.5 13.4 1,688.1

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity     

Share capital 337.8   337.8

Capital reserves 91.0   91.0

Revenue reserves 287.7 0.6 5.1 293.3

Other reserves –18.5 –0.1  –18.6

Equity attributable to the shareholders  
of the parent company 697.9 0.5 5.1 703.5

Non-controlling interests 0.9   0.9

 698.8 0.5 5.1 704.4

Non-current liabilities     

Provisions 385.1   385.1

Other financial liabilities 3.4   3.4

Trade and other payables 39.3   39.3

Contract liabilities 0.0   0.0

Deferred tax liabilities 1.1  1.7 2.8

 428.9 0.0 1.7 430.6

Current liabilities     

Provisions 178.6   178.6

Tax liabilities 13.2   13.2

Other financial liabilities 3.4   3.4

Trade and other payables 351.2  –24.2 327.0

Contract liabilities 0.0  30.9 30.9

 546.5 0.0 6.6 553.2

 1,674.2 0.5 13.4 1,688.1
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3.3.1 IFRS 9 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments contains regulations for 

the recognition, classification, measurement and elimina-
tion of financial instruments and replaces the previously 
applicable standard IAS 39 Financial Instruments. 

The first-time application of IFRS 9 as at January 1, 
2018, led to an adjustment of the accounting and valuation 
methods and an adjustment of the amounts recognised in 
the consolidated financial statements up to December 31, 
2017. The application of the new standard took place in 

accordance with the modified retrospective approach pur-
suant to IFRS 9.7.2.15. Accordingly, there was no adjust-
ment of comparative information for previous periods but 
rather an accumulated adjustment of impacts on profit 
and loss in equity as at January 1, 2018.

Impacts on Equity 
The initial application of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

led to the following adjustments in equity as at January 1, 
2018:

 
 
EUR m Comment

Revaluation 
of financial 

instruments FVOCI reserve Revenue reserve Equity

Balance at December 31, 2017 (IAS 39)  2.4 – 287.7 698.8

Classification      

Reclassification of securities from held for sale to FVTPL A) –0.1 0.0 0.1 0.0

Reclassification of other investments from held for sale to FVOCI C) –2.2 2.2 0.0 0.0

Reclassification of securities from held for sale to FVOCI B) –0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0

  –2.4 2.3 0.1 0.0

Impairment      

Expected credit losses securities FVOCI B) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Expected credit losses receivables measured at amortised cost F) 0.0 0.0 0.7 0.7

Deferred tax on expected credit losses  0.0 0.0 –0.1 –0.1

  0.0 0.0 0.5 0.5

Balance at January 1, 2018 (IFRS 9)  0.0 2.3 288.3 699.3

The adjustments had no effect on non-controlling 
interests.

IN
FO

R
M

A
TI

O
N



110 - Financial Report 2018 - Austrian Post

Classification and Valuation of Financial Assets 
On the basis of the initial application of IFRS 9 Finan-

cial Instruments as at January 1, 2018, the Austrian Post 
Group assessed which business models are valid for the 
financial assets held by the Group and assigned the finan-
cial instruments to IFRS 9 measurement categories:

 
 
 
EUR m Comment

At fair value 
through profit or 

loss (FVTPL) Available for sale

At fair value 
through other 

comprehensive 
income (FVOCI)

Recognised at 
amortised cost Total

Financial assets at December 31, 2017  
(IAS 39)  0.1 130.8 0.0 547.9 678.8

Reclassification of securities A), B) 60.1 –80.6 20.5 0.0 0.0

Reclassification of other investments C) 0.0 –50.2 50.2 0.0 0.0

Reclassification of inventories to other 
receivables (initial application IFRS 15) D) 0.0 0.0 0.0 4.3 4.3

Reclassification of receivables for services  
not yet provided to contract liabilities  
(initial application IFRS 15) E) 0.0 0.0 0.0 10.9 10.9

Adjustment of financial losses on financial 
assets in the transition to IFRS 9 F) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.7 0.7

Financial assets at January 1, 2018  
(IFRS 9)  60.3 0.0 70.7 563.8 694.7

There were no changes in financial liabilities compared 
to the classification as at December 31, 2017.

A) Reclassification of Securities Securities (shares in 
investment funds and debt instruments) with a carrying 
amount of EUR 60.1 m were reclassified from the category 
“available for sale” to the category “at fair value through 
profit or loss”. The cash flow criteria for these securities 
was not fulfilled due to the fact that generated cash flows 
do not represent payments of principal and interest pursu-
ant to IFRS 9. Adjustments to fair value in the revaluation 
reserve were reclassified in the revenue reserves.

B) Reclassification of Securities Securities (debt 
instruments) with a carrying amount of EUR 20.5 m were 
reclassified from the category “available for sale” to the 
category “at fair value through other comprehensive 
income”. In this case, the securities fulfil the cash flow 
criteria and are held within the context of a business mod
el whose objective is the collection of contractual cash 
flows as well as the sale of financial assets. Adjustments 
at fair value recorded in the revaluation reserve were 
reclassified to the FVOCI reserve. Immaterial amounts 
relating to expected credit losses as at January 1, 2018, 
were also reported in the FVOCI reserve. 

C) Reclassification of Other Investments Other in
vestments (equity instruments) with a carrying amount of 
EUR 50.2 m were reclassified from available for sale to at 
fair value through other comprehensive income. In light 

of the fact that these investments are exclusively held for 
strategic reasons, the so-called FVOCI option was exer-
cised pursuant to IFRS 9.4.1.4. Adjustments to fair value 
in the revaluation reserve were reclassified to the FVOCI 
reserve.

D) Reclassification from Inventories to Other Receiv-
ables (first-time application of IFRS 15) In connection 
with the sale of A1 hardware and other products, contrac-
tual prepayments are to be made which were recognised 
as inventories as at December 31, 2017. These sales activ-
ities are to be considered as comprising the rendering of 
intermediary services pursuant to IFRS 15. For this reason, 
prepayments made in the amount of EUR 4.3 m were 
reported as financing receivables under trade and other 
receivables as at January 1, 2018. 

E) Reclassification from Trade Receivables for 
Services Not Yet Provided to Contract Liabilities (first-
time application of IFRS 15) Up until December 31, 2017, 
the portion of an already invoiced but not yet fulfilled 
service obligation was deducted from trade and other 
receivables (net reporting). Following the reclassification 
of these circumstances pursuant to IFRS 15, there is 
an unconditional entitlement to receiving a payment. For 
this reason, the amount previously deducted from the 
trade receivable is now recognised within contract liabil
ities (gross reporting).
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F) Adjustment of Financial Losses on Financial 
Assets in the Transition to IFRS 9 The transition of ex
isting impairment losses to the impairment losses for 
expected credit defaults as at December 31, 2017, pursuant 
to the stipulations contained in IFRS 9 led to a change in 
the carrying amount totalling EUR 0.7 m. This effect was 
recognised in the revenue reserves. 

The Austrian Post Group has the following categories 
of financial assets and contract assets subject to the new 
model of expected credit defaults pursuant to IFRS 9:

■  � Securities in the category FVOCI 
■  � Trade receivables
■  � Other receivables
■  � Receivables due from banks
■  � Contract assets
The impairment losses to be recognised for the 

first time as at January 1, 2018, for securities in the cat-
egory FVOCI as well as for receivables due from banks 
represented immaterial amounts as at January 1, 2018. 
A deposit in escrow exists for the contract assets in the 
amount of the contingent receivables, thus representing 
a full collateralisation. Correspondingly, no impairment 
losses were recognised. 

The impairment loss on trade receivables as at Decem-
ber 31, 2017, is carried over to the value of the impairment 
loss as at January 1, 2018, as follows:

 
EUR m

Loss allowances –  
Trade receivables

Balance at December 31, 2017 (IAS 39) 7.1

Adjustment revaluation –0.6

Derecognition –2.8

Balance at January 1, 2018 (IFRS 9) 3.7

As at January 1, 2018, trade receivables already in a 
state of insolvency are derecognised in the amount of the 
still expected cash inflow within the context of insolvency 
proceedings. These receivables were already completely 
written off as at December 31, 2017, in the amount of the 
derecognition. 

The impairment loss for other receivables as at 
December 31, 2017, is carried to the value of the impair-
ment loss as at January 1, 2018, as follows:

 
EUR m

Loss allowances –  
Other receivables

Balance at December 31, 2017 (IAS 39) 13.7

Adjustment revaluation –0.2

Derecognition –7.2

Balance at January 1, 2018 (IFRS 9) 6.3

As at January 1, 2018, fully impaired other receivables 
from claims for damages in the amount of EUR 7.2 m were 
fully or partially derecognised. This is due to the fact that 
a reasonable assessment led to the assumption that the 
receivables can no longer be recovered.

3.3.2 IFRS 15 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS  
WITH CUSTOMERS 

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
replaces the previous regulations on revenue recogni-
tion pursuant to IAS 18 Revenue and IAS 11 Construction 
Contracts as well as the related interpretations. The new 
standard sets as uniform the basic principles that must 
be used to determine when and in which amount or over 
what period the revenue is to be recognised. For this 
purpose, the standard offers a principle-based five-step 
model framework applicable to all categories of revenue 
transactions with customers falling within the scope of 
IFRS 15. Revenue is recognised when the customer is given 
control of the goods or services. 

The first-time application of IFRS 15 as at January 1, 
2018, led to an adjustment of the accounting and valuation 
methods as well as the amounts reported in the consoli-
dated financial statements up to December 31, 2017. The 
application of the new standard took place according to 
the modified retrospective approach pursuant to IFRS 15.C. 
Accordingly, there was no adjustment of comparative in
formation for previous periods, but rather the accumulated 
adjustment of impacts on profit and loss in equity as at 
January 1, 2018.

IN
FO

R
M

A
TI

O
N



112 - Financial Report 2018 - Austrian Post

Impacts on Equity 
The following adjustments in equity were made as at 

January 1, 2018, due to the initial application of IFRS 15 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers:

EUR m Comment Revenue reserve

Balance at January 1, 2018  
(IAS 18 – after IFRS 9 adjustment)  288.3

�Over-time revenue recognition  
of core business G) 2.6

�Over-time revenue recognition  
of property project J) 3.9

Contract costs K) 0.3

Increase of deferred tax liabilities J), K) –1.7

Total effect (IFRS 15)  5.1

Balance at January 1, 2018  
(IFRS 9 and IFRS 15)  293.3

Impacts on the Balance Sheet 
To summarise, the following adjustments were made to 

the amounts reported on the balance sheet as at Decem-
ber 31, 2017, at the time of the initial application (January 1, 
2018): 

 
EUR m

 
Comment

Dec. 31, 2017 
(IAS 18)

 
Transfer

 
Revaluation

Jan. 1, 2018 
(IFRS 15)

ASSETS

Non-current assets      

Contract assets K) 0.0  0.3 0.3

Current assets      

Inventories J), L) 22.0 –8.8  13.3

Contract assets I), J) 0.0 2.8 3.9 6.6

Trade receivables and other receivables H), L) 343.6 15.2  358.8

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity      

Revenue reserves  287.7  5.1 292.7

Non-current liabilities      

Deferred tax liabilities J), K) 1.1  1.7 2.8

Current liabilities      

Trade and other payables I) 351.2 –24.2  327.0

Contract liabilities G), H), I) 0.0 33.4 –2.6 30.9
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G) Period-related Realisation of Revenue in the 
Core Business Only minor adjustments are required with 
respect to the main business activities of Austrian Post, 
i. e. the collection, sorting and delivery of letters and par-
cels. This was the consequence of the fact that such ser-
vices are fulfilled over time pursuant to IFRS 15, whereas 
before the service was considered to have been provided 
when the mail item was handed over to the addressee. 
Accordingly, there is a minor bringing forward with respect 
to when the revenue is realised. As a result, the approach 
to determining deferred income at the balance sheet 
dates has been adjusted. The effect from this adjustment 
in the amount of EUR 2.6 m was recognised under revenue 
reserves and led to a reduction of contract liabilities for 
the same amount. 

H) Contract Liabilities The collection of a mail item at 
a Post drop-off point (i. e. at the beginning of the service 
obligation) leads to invoicing and thus to the related recog-
nition of revenue as well as recognition of a trade receiv-
able. At this point in time, only a part of the service obli-
gation has already been provided. For this reason, IAS 18 
had stipulated that services, which were not yet provided, 
were recognised as deferred income and the receivables 
were correspondingly reduced. According to IFRS 15, a 
receivable is to be cancelled once an unconditional claim 
on receiving payment exists. By accepting a mail item in 
a Post drop-off point, the Group is obliged to provide a 
service within a short time and is simultaneously entitled 
to issue an invoice and to receive a payment from the 
customer. As at January 1, 2018, that portion of the service 
obligation which has not yet been provided is reported as 
a contract liability instead of a reduction in trade receiva-
bles. In turn, this leads to an increase in trade receivables 
on the asset side and a corresponding recognition of a 
contract liability in the amount of EUR 10.9 m.

I) Contract Liabilities Payments received in advance 
for services not yet provided, especially in connection with 
postage stamps and revenue from senders using franking 
machines, were previously reported on the balance sheet 
as deferred income under other liabilities. The Austrian 
Post Group is obliged to provide a service when it receives 
the prepayment. For this reason, a reclassification to 
contract liabilities totalling EUR 24.2 m was carried out as 
at January 1, 2018. EUR 1.6 m in prepayments received in 
connection with the Neutorgasse 7 real estate develop-
ment project were netted against the short-term contract 
assets.

 J) Period-Related Revenue Recognition of a Real 
Estate Project Fundamental changes arose for the Neu-
torgasse 7 real estate development project with respect 
to the recognition of revenue pursuant to IFRS 15. Instead 
of a realisation of revenue related to a specific point 
in time pursuant to IAS 18, e. g. the handing over of an 
apartment, IFRS 15 stipulates contract-related revenue 

realisation over the period of building the housing units. 
The benchmark for determining the progress made is 
the degree of completion on the basis of the proportion 
of costs incurred to the entire expected production cost 
(cost-to-cost method). As a result, progress made pre-
viously recognised as inventories in the amount of EUR 
4.4 m was reclassified as contract assets. Netted against 
the already existing contract liabilities as at January 1, 
2018, in the form of payments received in advance in the 
amount of EUR 1.6 m, the total reclassification amounts 
to EUR 2.8 m. Furthermore, contract assets were capital-
ised in the amount of the pro rata revenue to be recog-
nised of EUR 3.9 m. This led to an increase in the deferred 
tax liabilities of EUR 1.0 m.

K) Costs for Initiating a Contract Up until now, within 
the context of initiating and concluding a contract on the 
sale of housing units in the Neutorgasse 7 real estate 
development project, additional costs relating to broker-
age fees were recognised as expenses in light of the fact 
that they do not fulfil the valuation criteria of an asset. 
These costs are to be capitalised pursuant to IFRS 15 and 
depreciated over the duration of the contract. As a result, 
these costs were recognised as at January 1, 2018, taking 
account of the depreciation of contract costs to be carried 
out against the revenue reserves in the amount of EUR 
0.3 m as well as an increase in the deferred tax liabilities 
of EUR 0.1 m. The asset is subsequently depreciated on a 
straight-line basis over the contract duration.

L) Inventories Adjustments were necessary with 
respect to sales services provided in the branch network, 
especially relating to telecommunications products. This 
was the result of the changed stipulations according to 
IFRS 15 compared to IAS 18 on the evaluation of the prin-
cipal versus agent consideration. Accordingly, individual 
contracts would have to be classified as providing inter-
mediary services, which is why revenue in the amount of 
the commissions received (net method) is recognised as 
of January 1, 2018, instead of revenue from the sale of 
products (gross method). With respect to calculating the 
amount of these products, contractually required prepay-
ments are to be made which were recognised as inven-
tories as at December 31, 2017. These sales activities 
are to be considered as intermediary services pursuant 
to IFRS 15. For this reason, prepayments made in the 
amount of EUR 4.3 m were recognised as financing receiv
ables under trade and other receivables as at January 1, 
2018.
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Impacts on the Reporting Period
The following table shows the impacts from the appli-

cation of IFRS 15 on the consolidated financial statements 
of the reporting period:

 
 
EUR m

2018  
(as reported under 

IFRS 15)

 
 

Reconciliation 

2018  
(without the applica-

tion of IFRS 15)

Revenue 1,958.5 7.5 1,966.0

Other operating income 96.2 –17.9 78.2

Total operating income 2,054.6 –10.5 2,044.2

Raw materials, consumables and services used –441.2 –7.3 –448.6

Staff costs –1,008.7 0.0 –1,008.7

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses –94.5 0.0 –94.5

Other operating expenses –295.7 11.0 –284.8

Total operating expenses –1,840.2 3.6 –1,836.6

Profit from operations 214.5 –6.8 207.6

Results from financial assets accounted for using the equity method –3.6 0.0 –3.6

Financial income 8.5 0.0 8.5

Financial expenses –21.6 0.0 –21.6

Other financial result –13.1 0.0 –13.1

Total financial result –16.7 0.0 –16.7

Profit before tax 197.8 –6.8 191.0

Income tax –53.6 1.9 –51.7

Profit for the period 144.2 –5.0 139.2



Notes - 115

C
O

N
S

O
LI

D
A

TE
D

FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L 
S

TA
TE

M
E

N
TS

 
 
EUR m

Dec. 31, 2018 
(as reported under 

IFRS 15)

 
 

Reconciliation 

Dec. 31, 2018  
(without the applica-

tion of IFRS 15)

ASSETS

Non-current assets    

Goodwill 58.7 0.0 58.7

Intangible assets 24.5 0.0 24.5

Property, plant and equipment 652.8 0.0 652.8

Investment property 78.4 0.0 78.4

Financial assets accounted for using the equity method 9.2 0.0 9.2

Other financial assets 62.4 0.0 62.4

Contract assets 0.1 –0.1 0.0

Other receivables 14.5 0.0 14.5

Deferred tax assets 77.6 0.6 78.2

 978.2 0.5 978.7

Current assets    

Other financial assets 45.4 0.0 45.4

Inventories 17.3 18.8 36.1

Contract assets 23.5 –23.5 0.0

Trade receivables and other receivables 305.7 –3.6 302.1

Tax assets 1.0 0.0 1.0

Cash and cash equivalents 310.0 0.0 310.0

 702.8 –8.2 694.6

Assets held for sale 0.3 0.0 0.3

 1,681.2 –7.7 1,673.5

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

Equity    

Share capital 337.8 0.0 337.8

Capital reserves 91.0 0.0 91.0

Revenue reserves 298.5 –10.1 288.4

Other reserves –30.1 0.0 –30.1

Equity attributable to the shareholders of the parent company 697.1 –10.1 687.1

Non-controlling interests 2.0 0.0 2.0

 699.1 –10.1 689.1

Non-current liabilities    

Provisions 386.3 0.0 386.3

Other financial liabilities 3.5 0.0 3.5

Trade and other payables 31.1 0.0 31.1

Contract liabilities 0.0 0.0 0.0

Deferred tax liabilities 0.8 –2.9 –2.1

 421.7 –2.9 418.8

Current liabilities    

Provisions 164.8 0.0 164.8

Tax liabilities 6.8 0.0 6.8

Other financial liabilities 6.8 0.0 6.8

Trade and other payables 333.0 54.2 387.2

Contract liabilities 49.0 –49.0 0.0

 560.4 5.3 565.7

 1,681.2 –7.7 1,673.5
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The impacts from the application of IFRS 15 primarily 
relate to the following circumstances. Reference is made 
to the explanations above with respect to the significant 
differences between the accounting treatment of these 
circumstances compared to the IFRS standards valid as at 
December 31, 2017: 

Realisation of Revenue from the Neutorgasse 7  
Real Estate Project

Without the period-related realisation of revenue from 
the Neutorgasse 7 real estate development project pur-
suant to IFRS 15, other operating income would have been 
down by EUR 17.9 m and the profit for the period would 
be EUR 5.1 m lower in the 2018 financial year. Similarly, 
contract assets with a carrying amount of EUR 23.4 m less 
the earnings contributions contained therein as well as the 
included netting with contract liabilities from prepayments 
received would have been recognised in the amount of 
EUR 15.2 m in inventories. 

Inventories – Assessment as Principal or Agent 
Without the change classification of sales services in 

the branch network pursuant to IFRS 15, especially relat-
ing to telecommunications products, revenue in the 2018 
financial year would have been EUR 7.5 m higher. Further-
more, retail goods in the amount of EUR 3.6 m would have 
been reported under inventories instead of other receiv-
ables as at the balance sheet date of December 31, 2018. 
The change in the accounting treatment did not impact 
earnings. 

Contract Liabilities
Contract liabilities totalling EUR 49.0 m as at Decem-

ber 31, 2018, contain EUR 41.0 m in prepayments received 
which would have been recognised under other liabilities 
without application of IFRS 15. An additional EUR 7.8 m 
in contract liabilities relate to the invoicing and realisa-
tion of revenue already at the time letters and parcels 
are accepted, thus before the entire service is completely 
rendered. This revenue would have been recognised under 
other liabilities.

4. Consolidation Scope

4.1 Principles of Consolidation

All companies in which Austrian Post has a control
ling interest (subsidiaries) are fully consolidated in the 
consolidated financial statements of Austrian Post. Full 
consolidation of the subsidiary begins at the point in time 
when Austrian Post gains control and ends when control 
is terminated. The first-time inclusion of acquisitions in 
the consolidated financial statements is carried out in 
accordance with the acquisition method as stipulated in 
IFRS 3. In accordance with the acquisition method, the 
respective acquisition costs correspond to the fair value of 
the consideration transferred (e. g. cash and cash equiv-
alents, other assets, contingent consideration, equity 
instruments) which are offset against the fair value of the 
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Posi-
tive differences are recognised as goodwill, whereas neg-
ative differences are reported in profit and loss. Auxiliary 
acquisition costs are recognised in profit and loss. 

Companies which are jointly managed according to 
IFRS 11 (joint ventures) as well as companies in which 
a significant influence can be exercised (associates) 
are included in the consolidated financial statements 
using the equity method. Pursuant to the equity method, 
investments are recognised at cost and subsequently 
increased or reduced by the respective changes in equity 
in proportion to the particular stake held by Austrian 
Post. Negative changes in equity are recognised in excess 
of other non-current interests (e. g. loans) at amortised 
cost inasmuch as they in substance form part of the net 
investment in the associate or joint venture. 

All intercompany assets, liabilities and equity as well 
as operating income and expenses in connection with 
business transactions between subsidiaries are elimi-
nated in the consolidation.

4.2 Changes in the Consolidation Scope

In addition to the parent company Austrian Post, a 
total of 24 domestic subsidiaries (December 31, 2017: 
23) and eleven foreign subsidiaries (December 31, 2017: 
eleven) are included in the consolidated interim finan-
cial statements. Furthermore, four domestic companies 
(December 31, 2017: five) and two foreign companies 
(December 31, 2017: two) are consolidated according to 
the equity method.
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The following changes in the consolidation scope and 
business combinations within the Austrian Post Group 
took place in the 2018 financial year: 

Interest

Company name from
 

to
Date of  

transaction Comment

MAIL & BRANCH NETWORK

Weber Escal d.o.o., Hrvatski Leskovac 100.00 % 0.00 % Jan. 1, 2018 Segment change

sendhybrid ÖPBD GmbH, Graz 26.00 % 51.00 % Jul. 1, 2018 Acquisition

PARCEL & LOGISTICS

Weber Escal d.o.o., Hrvatski Leskovac 0.00 % 100.00 % Jan. 1, 2018 Segment change

PHS Logistiktechnik GmbH, Graz 26.00 % 40.00 % Oct. 23, 2018 Acquisition

CORPORATE

Verteilzentrum Hagenbrunn Vermietungs GmbH, Vienna 0.00 % 100.00 % Apr. 9, 2018 Acquisition

Verteilzentrum Hagenbrunn Vermietungs GmbH, Vienna 
(Österreichische Post AG, Vienna)  1 100.00 % 0.00 % Dec. 21, 2018 Merger

ADELHEID GmbH, Berlin 50.12 % 50.44 % Feb. 26, 2018 Capital increase

1	 The first-named Group company was merged with the subsidiary listed in parenthesis and is therefore no longer included in the consolidation scope.

MAIL & BRANCH NETWORK
sendhybrid ÖPBD GmbH An additional 25 % of the 

shares in sendhybrid ÖPBD GmbH, Graz, were acquired 
as at July 1, 2018, increasing Austrian Post’s stake from 
26 % to 51 %. The company was included as a fully con-
solidated subsidiary in the consolidated financial state-
ments of Austrian Post from this point in time. Previously 
the company was classified as an associated company 
pursuant to IAS 28 and accounted for using the equity 
method. sendhybrid ÖPBD GmbH is a consulting and 

communications company focusing on process and 
market consulting with respect to receiving and sending 
documents. 

Software in the amount of EUR 3.8 m and goodwill 
totalling EUR 0.9 m were recognised within the context of 
the purchase price allocation. On balance, the remaining 
fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the 
company are immaterial. Goodwill results from the earn-
ings expectations related to the company in connection 
with the e-letter strategy of Austrian Post. 

EUR m Fair values

Determination of goodwill  

Total amount of consideration transferred 1.2

Non-controlling interests based on total net identifiable assets 0.8

Fair value of previous shares 0.6

Total net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed –1.7

Goodwill 0.9

Breakdown of cash outflow/inflow  

Total amount of consideration transferred in cash 0.9

Acquired cash 0.0

Net cash outflow/inflow 0.9
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The total amount of the consideration transferred 
contains the carrying amount at the closing date for the 
call option held for the share increase in the amount of 
EUR 0.2 m.

CORPORATE
Verteilzentrum Hagenbrunn Vermietungs GmbH 

On April 9, 2018, Austrian Post Group acquired a 100 % 
stake in Verteilzentrum Hagenbrunn Vermietungs GmbH. 
As of this point in time, the company was included in the 
consolidated financial statements as a fully consolidated 
subsidiary. The assets and liabilities of this company were 
primarily a commercial property in Hagenbrunn, Lower 
Austria, intended for construction of a new distribution 
centre. The acquired assets and liabilities do not entail 
business operations in line with IFRS 3 Business Combi
nations. Accordingly, the addition of the property was 
recognised as an acquisition in the category property and 
buildings (EUR 15.8 m) as well as assets under construc-
tion (EUR 0.8 m). 

The company was merged into Austrian Post (Öster
reichische Post AG) in December 2018. 
 

5. Currency Translation

The reporting currency of the Austrian Post Group is 
the euro. The annual financial statements prepared by 
Group companies in foreign currencies are translated 
into euros in accordance with the concept of a functional 
currency as laid down in IAS 21. The functional currency 

is determined by the primary economic location in which 
the company mainly generates and uses cash and cash 
equivalents. The euro is both the functional currency of 
Group companies located in Austria and in those coun-
tries, which are members of the European Economic and 
Monetary Union. The functional currency of the other 
companies is the respective local currency.

Business Transactions in the Functional Currency 
Group companies report business transactions in the 
functional currency at the reference exchange rate at 
the date of transaction in their financial statements. The 
subsequent valuation of monetary items takes place at 
the valid European Central Bank reference rate on the 
balance sheet date. Foreign exchange gains and losses 
arising at the balance sheet date are reported as a net 
profit or loss.

Transaction to the Foreign Currency The modified 
closing rate method is used in the translation of the 
financial statements of Group companies as well as com-
panies accounted for using the equity method in which 
the euro is not the functional currency. All balance sheet 
items with the exception of equity items are translated 
at the reference rate of the European Central Bank on 
the balance sheet date, whereas equity items are trans-
lated at the prevailing rate on the date of acquisition or 
formation. Income and expense items are translated at 
the average reference rates for the financial year in ques-
tion. The resultant currency translation differences are 
directly recognised in equity. 

The movements in foreign exchange rates against the 
euro used in translation were as follows:

Reference rate at balance sheet date Average annual rate

1 EUR Dec. 31, 2017 Dec. 31, 2018 2017 2018

Bosnian Convertible Mark 1.9558 1.9558 1.9558 1.9558

Bulgarian Lev 1.9558 1.9558 1.9558 1.9558

Croatian Kuna 7.4400 7.4125 7.4637 7.4182

Polish Zloty 4.1770 n /a 4.2570 n /a

Romanian Leu 4.6585 n /a 4.5688 n /a

Serbian Dinar 118.4727 118.1946 121.3111 118.2617

Czech Koruna 25.5350 25.7240 25.7603 25.6470

Turkish Lira 4.5464 6.0588 4.1206 5.7077

Hungarian Forint 310.3300 320.9800 309.1933 318.8897
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6. Accounting Policies

The annual financial statements of Austrian Post 
subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial state-
ments are based on standard accounting and valuation 
methods (together comprising accounting policies). The 
Management Board has to make judgments with respect 
to the application of accounting policies. The summary 
of the primary accounting policies also includes informa-
tion on the application and impact of these judgments.

6.1 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is realised 
when the customer is given control of the goods or ser-
vices. Information on the type, amount, timeframe and 
uncertainty relating to income and cash flows for the main 
product groups of the Austrian Post Group is provided 
hereafter.

LETTER MAIL, DIRECT MAIL & MEDIA POST 
The Austrian Post Group performs services involving 

the collection, sorting and delivery of various letter mail 
items, direct mail and print media. In accordance with 
IFRS 15, such service obligations are considered to be ful
filled over a period of time. On balance, the existing con
tracts or services to be provided in this business area are 
characterised by a very high degree of uniformity and very 
short processing times in providing the services. As a uni-
versal service provider, Austrian Post is fundamentally 
required to accept and deliver every mail item. As a rule, a 
value-added service (e. g. registered mail) is classified as a 
service which is not separately identifiable in the contrac
tual context and is thus bundled with the mail item and 
treated as a single service obligation. Overseas mail items 
are usually delivered to the recipients abroad in coopera-
tion with international postal operators.

Statistical empirical values are used to measure the 
progress of the service provided, including regularly 
implemented processing time measurements. The amount 
of the revenue to be realised is determined on the basis 
of the proportion of previously incurred costs to the total 
costs involved in the delivery of letter mail, direct mail 
and print media (cost-to-cost method). 

The collection of a mail item at a Post drop-off point 
(i. e. at the beginning of the service obligation) leads to 
invoicing and thus to the related recognition of revenue 
as well as recognition of a trade receivable. According to 
IFRS 15, a receivable is to be cancelled once an uncon-
ditional claim on receiving a payment exists. By accept-
ing a mail item at a Post drop-off point, Austrian Post 
is obliged to provide a service within a short time and is 
simultaneously entitled to issue an invoice and receive a 
payment from the customer. The portion of the service 

obligation which has not yet been provided is considered 
as deferred income and reported as a contract liability.

The payment of the transaction price takes place 
either on the basis of a prepayment of the contracted 
transport service (sale of postage stamps or postage paid 
at the branch office), or a payment is made subsequently 
in case of business customers with an average term of 
payment of one or two months. As a rule, such receivables 
do not involve any significant financing components at 
Austrian Post. 

With respect to prepayments received for services not 
yet provided in connection with postage stamps and reve-
nue from senders using franking machines, the service to 
be performed by Austrian Post is recognised as a defer-
ral under contract liabilities. Calculating the service to be 
performed takes place on the basis of empirical values (in 
the case of postage stamps) or by transferring historical 
data within the context of the loading process (franking 
machines used by senders). 

With respect to the sale of letter mail, direct mail and 
print media to business customers, volume discounts are 
often granted based on the revenue of a financial year. 
These are to be classified as variable consideration pursu-
ant to IFRS 15. Revenue from these sales is recognised in 
the amount of the price stipulated in the contract less the 
estimated volume discount. The estimate of expected vol-
umes is based on empirical values and is updated at every 
balance sheet date. Necessary adjustments take place on 
an accumulated basis in the period in which the estimate 
is revised.

MAIL SOLUTIONS 
Services in the field of Mail Solutions encompass the 

electronic delivery of mail items, data management, docu-
ment scanning and mailroom management. 

These service obligations are primarily fulfilled over 
time, in which case revenue is realised after the passage 
of time. The period of time in which the service is provided 
is generally less than one month. As a rule, payment is 
made subsequently with an average term of payment of 
one or two months.
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BRANCH SERVICES
The services provided by the branch network include 

the sale and placement of various retail goods as well as 
postal and telecommunications products and services 
within the context of Austrian Post’s cooperation with 
BAWAG P.S.K. 

Revenue from the sale of retail goods is recognised 
at a specific point in time, i. e. when the goods are handed 
over to the customer. The payment of the transaction price 
is due immediately as soon as the customer purchases a 
retail product. 

Furthermore, Austrian Post provides intermediary ser-
vices, especially with respect to telecommunications con-
tracts and products for its business partner A1 Telekom 
Austria AG. Accordingly, this revenue is recognised at the 
time the intermediary service is provided (e. g. signing of 
a telecommunications contract by the A1 customer or the 
handover of a mobile telephone to the A1 customer) in the 
amount of the commissions received (net method). Con-
tractually required prepayments are to be made in con-
nection with the placement of these products which are 
reported as financing receivables under other receivables.

A longstanding partnership with BAWAG P.S.K. existed 
for the sale of financial products, counter transactions 
and the joint use of infrastructure (branch offices) within 
the context of a cooperation agreement. The signing of a 
change agreement at the end of 2017 and the termination 
agreement dated February 21, 2018, stipulates the amica-
ble and gradual dissolution of the cooperation agreement 
for the most part by the end of 2020. However, there is 
the possibility to prematurely terminate some individual 
services. The agreement on dissolving the partnership 
defined the modalities of terminating the cooperation 
and the extent of and remuneration for services to be 
provided retroactively as of January 1, 2018. Services to 
be provided will continue to include the sale of financial 
products, the carrying out of counter transactions and 
supplying of a branch office infrastructure which are to 
be classified as individual service obligations pursuant to 
IFRS 15. The entire remuneration stipulated in the disso-
lution agreement includes a lump sum payment of EUR 
20.1 m for the premature termination of the cooperation 
agreement, which does not fall under the scope of appli-
cation of IFRS 15 as well as remuneration for services yet 
to be provided within the scope of application of IFRS 15. 
The allocation of the entire remuneration in a lump-sum 
compensation and reimbursement for services on the one 
hand and the individual service obligations on the other 
hand took place on the basis of the relative individual sale 
price. The fulfilment of the service obligations and thus 
the recognition of revenue takes place for all three types 
of services in the 2018 financial year on the basis of a 
given time period. The underlying reason for this classifi-
cation is the type of remuneration, which largely foresees 

lump-sum payments, and the type of the service provided, 
which to a large extent consists of providing capacities. 
At the beginning of 2018, BAWAG P.S.K. made a prepay-
ment of the expected future remuneration in the amount 
of EUR 76.0 m. The additional payments are accounted for 
and paid on an annual basis. Determining the amount of 
the lump-sum payment as well as the compensation for 
the individual service obligations require judgments to be 
made, especially with respect to the expected amount of 
the relative individual sales price and the expected scope 
of the services which will actually be provided. Similarly, 
revenue recognition requires judgements to be made with 
respect to the type of the services to be provided.

PARCEL & LOGISTICS
The Austrian Post Group performs the pick-up, collec

tion, sorting and delivery of various parcel and express 
mail items. According to IFRS 15, such service obligations 
are fulfilled over time. A high level of standardisation, 
tracking services and short processing times characterise 
the services performed in this business area. As a rule, 
a value-added service (e. g. cash on delivery) is classified 
as a service which is not separately identifiable in the 
contractual context and is thus bundled with the parcel 
item and treated as a single service obligation. Austrian 
Post makes use of sub-contractors and freight compa-
nies which assume responsibility for part of the delivery 
process. As a rule, overseas parcel items are delivered to 
the recipients abroad in cooperation with international 
postal operators or parcel service providers.

Data from shipment tracking for each parcel is used to 
measure the progress of the degree of completion of the 
service provided. The amount of the revenue to be realised 
is determined on the basis of the relation of previously 
incurred costs to the total costs involved in the delivery of 
parcels (cost-to-cost method). 

The collection of a parcel at a Post drop-off point 
(i. e. at the beginning of the service obligation) leads to 
invoicing and thus to the related recognition of revenue as 
well as recognition of a receivable. According to IFRS 15, 
a receivable is to be cancelled once an unconditional 
claim on receiving a payment exists. By accepting a par-
cel item at a Post drop-off point, Austrian Post Group 
is obliged to provide a service within a short time and is 
simultaneously entitled to issue an invoice and receive a 
payment from the customer. That portion of the service 
obligation which has not yet been provided is considered 
as deferred income and reported as a contract liability. 

With respect to the sale of parcels to business cus-
tomers, volume discounts are frequently granted based on 
revenue of a financial year. These are to be classified as 
variable consideration pursuant to IFRS 15. Revenue from 
these sales is recognised in the amount of the price stip-
ulated in the contract less the estimated volume discount. 
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The estimate of expected volumes is based on empirical 
values and is updated at every balance sheet date. Nec-
essary adjustments take place in the period in which the 
estimate is revised.

OTHER OPERATING INCOME
Revenue from contracts with customers from the 

Neutorgasse 7 real estate development project is reported 
under other operating income. The Neutorgasse 7 Projekt
entwicklungs AG & Co OG develops and sells housing 
units in Vienna. By concluding a purchase agreement for a 
specified apartment, the possibility of using it for alter-
native purposes no longer exists. Accordingly, the result 
is contract-related revenue realisation over the period of 
building the housing units. 

The benchmark for determining the progress made is 
the degree of completion on the basis of the proportion of 
costs incurred to the expected construction costs (cost-
to-cost method). The recognised contract assets are net-
ted against the previously received payments. 

Brokerage fees incurred within the context of initiat-
ing and concluding a contract for sale of housing units in 
the Neutorgasse 7 real estate development project are 
capitalised and depreciated over the term of the contract.

6.2 Termination of Partnership  
with BAWAG P.S.K.

Austrian Post has had a longstanding partnership 
with BAWAG P.S.K. in selling financial products, counter 
transactions and the joint use of infrastructure (branch 
offices) on the basis of a cooperation agreement. On 
November 9, 2017, BAWAG P.S.K. informed Austrian Post 
in writing that the cooperation agreement of the two com-
panies would be terminated by the end of 2020. Subse-
quently, the contractual parties contractually agreed upon 
an amicable and step by step dissolution of the entire 
cooperation to be largely concluded by the end of 2020. 
However, there is the possibility to prematurely terminate 
some individual services. On the basis of the termina-
tion agreement, Austrian Post will continue to carry out 
counter transactions on behalf of BAWAG P.S.K. and sell 
financial products but to a lesser extent compared to pre-
vious years. Reference is made to Note 6.1 Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers with respect to the accounting 
treatment of the termination agreement. 

Restructuring provisions in the amount of EUR 21.5 m 
were allocated in the 2018 financial year due to the ex
pected reduction in the services to be rendered. The nec-
essary restructuring relates to the planned downsizing of 
the staff in the branch network. 

Austrian Post already allocated provisions for em
ployee under-utilisation in the amount of EUR 56.2 m due 
to the necessary reduction in the number of financial 

consultants working on behalf of BAWAG P.S.K. This was in 
contrast to a payment of EUR 31.0 m on the part of BAWAG 
P.S.K. Of this amount, EUR 26.9 m was netted against the 
allocation to provisions recognised under staff costs in the 
income statement. EUR 4.1 m was classified as considera-
tion for sales activities to be carried out in 2018, and thus 
recognised as revenue in this financial year.

6.3 Income Tax

Information on Tax Groups Austrian Post has taken 
advantage of the legally permissible option to create cor-
porate tax groups for the purpose of joint taxation. Two 
tax groups exist with the group parents Österreichische 
Post AG (the parent company of the Austrian Post Group) 
and Post 001 Finanzierungs GmbH. All members of the 
tax groups are based in Austria. 

In the corporate tax groups, the group members are 
either fiscally burdened or enjoy tax relief from the group 
parent by means of tax apportionments allocated to them. 
The calculation of positive and negative apportionments 
takes place in the amount of 25 % of the taxable results 
(stand-alone method). 

The group taxation scheme leads to a joint assess-
ment of the actual corporate income tax and an offset-
ting of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities 
within the corporate groups pursuant to IAS 12.74. The 
tax advantage resulting from the amortisation of good-
will (Section 9 Para. 7 Austrian Corporate Income Tax Act) 
is recognised as a temporary difference in goodwill 
(IAS 12.32a).

Information on Income Tax Income tax consists of 
the income tax for the current year and deferred taxes. 
It is always reported in the consolidated income statement 
provided it is not based on circumstances which would 
result in it being recognised under other comprehensive 
income (OCI) or in equity or when the tax relates to busi-
ness combinations. 

Austrian Post is of the opinion that potential inter-
est expenses and penalties imposed in connection with 
income tax payments do not fulfil the definition of income 
taxes pursuant to IAS 12. Accordingly, any such amounts 
are generally recognised pursuant to the stipulations con-
tained in IAS 37. 

Calculation of the Current Income Tax The current 
income tax consists of the expected tax payments or tax 
credits for the current financial year or adjustments for 
expected payments on tax arrears or tax credits from pre-
vious financial years. The recognised amount provides 
the best possible estimate and also includes the withhold-
ing tax on distributed dividends. 

In certain circumstances, actual tax assets and lia
bilities can be netted. This is the case in the Austrian Post 
Group when the tax relates to income tax levied by the 
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same tax authority and the company has an enforceable 
right to the offsetting of tax assets and liabilities.

Calculation of Deferred Taxes Deferred taxes are 
calculated in accordance with the balance sheet liabil-
ity method for all temporary differences arising between 
the carrying amounts in the IFRS consolidated financial 
statements and the corresponding tax values. However, 
Austrian Post will not make use of the option to recognise 
deferred taxes in the following cases:

■  � temporary differences related to the initial recogni-
tion of an asset or liability in which there is no under-
lying business combination and neither impacts the 
earnings before tax as shown in the balance sheet or 
taxable income (tax loss) (“Initial Recognition Exemp-
tion – IRE”) 

■  � temporary differences related to stakes held in 
subsidiaries, branch offices, associated companies 
and shares in joint agreements inasmuch as the 
parent company is able to control the timing of the 
reversal of temporary differences and it is likely that 
the temporary differences will not be reversed in the 
foreseeable future 

■  � taxable differences in connection with the initial 
recognition of goodwill

The recognition of deferred tax assets from temporary 
differences from balance sheet items as well as tax loss 

carryforwards takes place to the extent to which a) suffi-
cient deferred tax liabilities exist or b) in case of a profit 
history, it is likely that taxable income will be available in 
the foreseeable future and the tax expense will be realis-
able. Deferred taxes will not be recognised if a company 
generated taxable losses in recent years (in one of the last 
two years). 

Unrecognised deferred taxes will be subject to a 
revaluation at every balance sheet date and recognised if 
applicable, inasmuch as there is a justifiable opinion that 
the tax advantage can be realised. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities can be netted under 
certain circumstances. The above-mentioned informa-
tion in the section “Calculation of the current income tax” 
applies analogously to deferred taxes. 

Deferred tax is calculated on the basis of the prevail-
ing tax rates in the individual countries at the balance 
sheet date or at the rate publicly announced as applicable 
at the point in time in which the deferred tax assets and 
tax liabilities are realised. For Group companies in Austria, 
the calculation of deferred taxes is based on a corporate 
tax rate of 25 %. 

The following table shows the corporate tax 
rates applied in calculating deferred taxes for foreign 
companies:

Country Tax rate Country Tax rate

Bosnia and Herzegovina 10 % Montenegro 9 %

Bulgaria 10 % Serbia 15 %

Germany 32 % Slovakia 21 %

Croatia 18 % Hungary 9 %
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6.4 Earnings per Share

The basic earnings per share are calculated on the 
basis of the profit for the period attributable to the share-
holders of Austrian Post divided by the weighted average 
of the outstanding share in the respective financial year. 
Newly issued shares or shares repurchased during a spe-
cific period are taken into account on a pro rata basis for 
the period of time in which they are still outstanding. In 
order to calculate diluted earnings per share, the aver-
age number of shares as well as the profit for the period 
attributable to shareholders of the parent company Öster-
reichische Post AG are adjusted for dilutive effects.

A dilutive effect on the earnings per share could 
potentially arise from the existing share-based remuner-
ation programme of Austrian Post. In light of the fact that 
the participating Management Board members opted for 
remuneration in cash, which was also defined as the form 
of payment for the participating executives, no dilutive 
effects will arise from the current share-based remunera-
tion programme.

6.5 Goodwill and Allocation to Cash 
Generating Units (CGU)

Goodwill is reported as an intangible asset at acqui-
sition cost less accrued impairment losses. Goodwill from 
the acquisition of a foreign operation will be recognised in 
its functional currency and translated into the reporting 
currency using the reference rate on the balance sheet 
date. Impairment tests are carried out in accordance with 
the principles in IAS 36 as described in Note 6.10 Impair-
ment pursuant to IAS 36. Reversals of write-downs are 
not permitted. Goodwill is allocated to the respective cash 
generating units (CGU). Cash generating units are groups 
of assets on the lowest possible level that generate sepa-
rately identifiable cash flows independent of other assets. 
As a rule, the lowest level in the Austrian Post Group 
corresponds to individual operating companies or groups 
of operating companies. The allocation to CGUs is based 
on business areas of the parent company Österreichische 
Post AG.

6.6 Intangible Assets 

Intangible assets acquired in return for payment are 
reported at cost and are amortised on a straight-line basis 
over a period of three to ten years, depending on their 
economic useful lives or the contract period. Trademark 
rights are usually considered as having indefinite useful 
lives, due to the fact that there is no foreseeable end to 
their economic benefit. Intangible assets with indefinite 
lives and goodwill are not subject to amortisation but are 
subject to annual impairment testing. 

The recognition of internally generated intangible 
assets takes place inasmuch as the general criteria for 
recognition as well as the special application guidelines 
of IAS 38 are considered to be fulfilled. In this case, the 
creation process is divided into a research and a devel-
opment phase. The initial recognition takes place in the 
amount of the directly attributable intangible assets 
starting at the time in when these internally generated 
intangible assets fulfil the criteria contained in IAS 38. 
At the Austrian Post Group, this primarily applies to inter-
nally developed software. 

In case of any indications for impairment, intangible 
assets are tested for impairment in accordance with 
IAS 36 as described in Note 6.10 Impairment pursuant to 
IAS 36.

6.7 Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment assets are carried at 
historical cost less depreciation and impairment losses. 
Depreciation rates are linked to the expected useful lives 
of the particular items.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis 
in accordance with the following useful lives, which are 
applied uniformly throughout the company:

Useful lives Years

Buildings 10  –  50

Technical plant and machinery 5  –  10

Vehicle fleet 2  –  8

IT equipment 3  –  6

Other equipment, furniture and fittings 5  –  20

Impairment tests are carried out for property, plant 
and equipment in accordance with the principles described 
in Note 6.10 Impairment pursuant to IAS 36 in case there 
are any indications of impairment. If there are indications 
that a recognised impairment loss no longer applies, the 
recoverable amount will be reestimated, and if necessary, 
a reversal will be recognised, taking account of the amor-
tised cost excluding the impairment loss. 

Investment grants are included as a liability without 
recognition to profit or loss by applying the gross method 
and reported under other financial liabilities in the consol-
idated balance sheet. Investment grants are depreciated 
on a straight-line basis in accordance with the useful lives 
of the respective assets and reported as other operating 
income in the consolidated income statement.
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6.8 Measurement of Fair Value Pursuant  
to IFRS 13 

The measurement of fair values at Austrian Post 
Group is carried out pursuant to the requirements con-
tained in IFRS 13. According to this standard, the fair value 
is defined as the price that would be received to sell an 
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transac-
tion between market participants at the measurement 
date. In this connection the following points are defined: 
the particular assets or liabilities being measured; for 
a non-financial asset, the measurement assumptions 
(assumption of the highest and best use of the asset); the 
preferred (or most favourable) market in which such an 
orderly transaction would take place for the asset or lia-
bility; the appropriate valuation technique (depending on 
the available data); and the particular level in the meas-
urement hierarchy to which this data (input factors) are 
assigned. Depending on the particular asset and the avail-
able input data, market-based as well as cost-based and 
income-based valuation techniques are used at Austrian 
Post Group. Highest priority is attached to the use of 
observable input factors.

6.9 Investment Property

Investment property is property held to earn rental 
income and/or for the purpose of capital appreciation, and 
which could be sold on an individual basis. Recognition 
of the owner-occupied portion of the property is carried 
out in accordance with the percentage of use. Investment 
property is carried on the balance sheet at acquisition 
cost less accumulated depreciation, which is performed 
on a straight-line basis, applying useful lives of between 
20 and 50 years. 

Properties developed with the goal of selling them at 
a later point in time are reclassified as inventories starting 
with the beginning of their development (point of time in 
which a construction permit was granted). 

The fair values of the investment properties included 
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements were 
determined by experts at Austrian Post as well as exter-
nal experts using the requirements contained in IFRS 13. 
Measurement is primarily carried out on the basis of an 
income-based valuation approach (in particular present 
value techniques). As a rule, the income approach is used, 
while the discounted cash flow method is employed in the 
event of more complex investment property. These involve 
Level 3 valuations in line with IFRS 13 (fair value hierarchy). 
The inputs used especially encompass object-related plan-
ning data, yield curves and market yields. Market-based 
approaches (in particular the comparative value method) 
are used for undeveloped sites and properties under con
struction, in which case Level 2 valuations apply from the 

perspective of IFRS 13. The inputs used mainly involve 
price information from comparable transactions in active 
markets.

6.10 Impairment Pursuant to IAS 36

On each balance sheet date, the company evaluates 
whether there are any indications of a potential impair-
ment of the carrying amount of intangible assets, property, 
plant and equipment, and investment property. If such indi-
cations exist, an impairment test is carried out. In addition, 
intangible assets with indefinite lives as well as goodwill 
are subject to annual impairment tests even if there are no 
indications for impairment. 

Goodwill as well as individual assets whose recovera-
ble amount cannot be separately determined on a stand-
alone basis, are assigned to the level of cash generating 
units (CGU) for the purpose of the impairment tests. Good-
will originally determined by using the so-called partial 
goodwill method are extrapolated to 100 % for purposes 
of the impairment test using the current holding. 

The recoverable amount of a particular asset or the 
CGU is determined within the context of an impairment 
test and compared to the carrying amount. The recov-
erable amount is the higher amount of the fair value 
less costs to sell and the value in use. Thee recoverable 
amounts are determined by using the net present value 
method, in which case the discount rate is calculated as 
the weighted average cost of capital (WACC) in accordance 
with the capital asset pricing model (CAPM). Correspond-
ing surcharges in the discount rate are considered in the 
depiction of country, currency and price risks. In case of 
non-euro cash flows, the recoverable amount is estimated 
in the respective functional currency and translated into 
euros using the reference rate on the balance sheet date. 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying 
amount is higher than the recoverable amount. If the rea-
sons for impairment no longer apply, then the write-down 
is reversed (except for goodwill). The increased carrying 
amount resulting from a reversal of impairment may not 
exceed amortised historical costs. Impairment losses 
and reversals of impairment are reported in the income 
statement under the item depreciation, amortisation and 
impairment losses or other operating income.
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6.11 Interests Accounted for Using  
the Equity Method

The accounting treatment of the strategic investment 
of Austrian Post is carried out in accordance with the 
equity method, if a significant influence is exercised over 
the company due to contractual rights or actual circum-
stances. The assessment of the existence of a significant 
influence takes place on the basis of the criteria required 
in IAS 28.5 et seq.

In cases where the existence of a significant influence 
cannot be clearly determined, the Management Board has 
to make discretionary decisions. As in the case of Aras 
Kargo a.s., Turkey, the crucial factor is not formal criteria, 
but whether in fact the possibility exists to have an impact 
on financial and business policy decisions. 

On each balance sheet date, the company evaluates 
whether there are any indications of a potential impair-
ment of net investments in associates and joint ventures 
in accordance with IAS 39. If such indications exist, an 
impairment test is carried out. An impairment loss is rec-
ognised if the carrying amount of the net investment is 
above the recoverable amount. If the recoverable amount 
subsequently increases, the write-down is reversed up to 
a maximum of the initial impairment. The pro-rata shares 
of the impairment applying to the carrying amount of the 
interest in the associates is reported in the income state-
ment under the results of investments consolidated at 
equity. The recognition of impairment losses on the carry-
ing amounts of other items relating to the net investment 
depends on the nature of these items.

6.12 Finance Leases

If all the major risks and rewards related to the leased 
assets are transferred to the Austrian Post Group (finance 
leases pursuant to IAS 17), these assets are capitalised as 
non-current assets at the lower of their fair value or the 
present value of the future minimum lease payments. The 
leased assets are depreciated over the expected useful 
life or the duration of the lease, if shorter. The future lease 
payment obligations arising from these leasing agree-
ments are reported under financial liabilities.

6.13 Financial Assets and Liabilities

At Austrian Post Group, financial assets and liabili-
ties are assigned to the following categories, pursuant to 
IFRS 7: financial investments in securities, other invest-
ments, derivative financial instruments, trade and other 
receivables, receivables from financial assets accounted 
for using the equity method, receivables from banks, other 
financial liabilities, trade and other payables and liabilities 
to financial assets accounted for using the equity method.

CLASSIFICATION
As at January 1, 2018, Austrian Post Group classi-

fies its financial assets using the following valuation 
categories:

■  � At fair value through other comprehensive income 
(FVOCI) – debt instruments 

■  � At fair value through other comprehensive income 
(FVOCI) – equity instruments 

■  � At fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
■  � Measured at amortised cost
The classification of financial assets at the time of 

their initial recognition is contingent upon the business 
model of the company in the light of managing the finan-
cial assets and contractual cash flows. 

The existing securities portfolio of Austrian Post is 
held within the context of a business model whose objec-
tive is the collection of contractual cash flows as well as 
the sale of financial assets. Depending upon the fulfilment 
of cash flow criteria pursuant to IFRS 9, there is a classi-
fication either as FVOCI (fulfilled) or FVTPL (not fulfilled). 
The cash flow criteria are fulfilled inasmuch as cash flows 
are generated which exclusively represent redemption or 
interest payments on the outstanding principal pursuant 
to IFRS 9. 

Trade and other receivables as well as receivables 
from banks are held by Austrian Post within the context of 
a business model whose objective is the collection of con-
tractual cash flows. The cash flow criteria are fulfilled in 
the case of this instrument. Correspondingly, these receiv-
ables are classified as being measured at amortised cost. 

With respect to investments in equity instruments 
(which are not held for trading purposes), the classifica-
tion depends on whether Austrian Post Group irrevocably 
decided to recognise the equity instruments at fair value 
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) at the time 
of their initial recognition. If the so-called FVOCI option 
is not exercised pursuant to IFRS 9.4.1.4, the instruments 
are assigned to the category “at fair value through profit 
or loss” (FVPTL). 

As a rule, derivative financial instruments (outside of 
hedge accounting) must be assigned to the category of 
measured “at fair value through profit or loss” (FVTPL).
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Financial liabilities will continue to be classified in the 
following valuation categories:

■  � Measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
■  � Measured at amortised cost
Pursuant to IFRS 9, financial liabilities are to be rec-

ognised at amortised cost if they are not subject to the 
exceptions stipulated in IFRS 9.4.2.1. Accordingly, other 
financial liabilities, trade and other payables and liabil-
ities to financial assets accounted for using the equity 
method are to be measured at amortised cost. The contin-
gent purchase price liability held by Austrian Post pursu-
ant to IFRS 3 is considered as an exception as stipulated 
in IFRS 3 and must be assigned to the category of being 
measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).

MEASUREMENT AT INITIAL RECOGNITION 
At initial recognition, the Austrian Post Group meas-

ures a financial asset or a financial liability at fair value 
which, as a rule, coincides with the transaction price. In 
the case of a financial asset or financial liability which is 
not measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), 
recognition also entails the transaction costs directly 
relating to the acquisition of this asset or liability. Recog-
nition of trade receivables is in line with requirements on 
revenue recognition contained in IFRS 15.

SUBSEQUENT MEASUREMENT AND PRESENTATION
Debt instruments measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income are recognised at fair value at the 
balance sheet date. With exception of foreign currency 
valuation reported in the income statement, changes in 
fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income 
(OCI) or in the FVOCI reserve. In case of the disposal of 
debt instruments, the amounts reported in other compre-
hensive income are reclassified to the income statement. 
Current income and impairments are directly recognised 
in the income statement. 

Debt instruments measured at amortised cost are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective inter-
est rate method. Similar to current income and impair-
ments, profits or losses from their disposal are recognised 
directly in the income statement. 

Equity instruments recognised at fair value through 
other comprehensive income (FVOCI) are recognised at 
fair value at the respective balance sheet date. Changes in 
fair value, including foreign currency valuation, are recog-
nised in other comprehensive income (OCI) or in the FVOCI 
reserve. In the case of the disposal of equity instruments, 
no reclassification takes place of the amounts reported in 
other comprehensive income to the income statement, but 
as a reclassification from the FVOCI reserve to the reve-
nue reserves. Current income is directly recognised in the 
income statement. 

For financial instruments measured at fair value 
through profit or loss (FVTPL), all changes of the carrying 
amount as well as current income are directly recognised 
in the income statement. 

The presentation of the carrying amounts of financial 
instruments assigned to the individual categories is shown 
in Note 10.1 Financial Instruments. Furthermore, gains and 
losses resulting from the disposal of trade receivables in 
the category “measured at amortised cost” and impair-
ment expenses in accordance with IFRS 9 are to be listed 
as separate items in the income statement pursuant to 
IAS 1.82. Due to the immateriality of the related amounts 
for the Austrian Post Group, information on impairment 
losses in the 2018 financial year is provided in Note 10 
Financial instruments in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements and in the related risks. 

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES
Debt instruments of the following valuation categories 

are subject to the new impairment model of IFRS 9 as of 
January 1, 2018: 

■  � Measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income (FVOCI) – debt instruments 

■  � Measured at amortised cost
Furthermore, contract assets according to IFRS 15 

are subject to the new impairment model at Austrian Post. 
As of January 1, 2018, Austrian Post Group recog-

nises impairment losses on a future-oriented basis in 
the amount of the expected credit defaults. The specific 
impairment loss method is contingent upon the class of 
debt instruments and also upon whether there is a sig
nificant increase in the credit risk.

Trade Receivables In case of trade receivables, 
impairment losses are recognised in the amount of the 
expected credit losses over their term. From a method-
ological perspective, Austrian Post applies the permissi-
ble simplified approach pursuant to IFRS 9 to determine 
the expected credit losses in the form of an impairment 
matrix. By means of this matrix, impairment losses are 
recognised on the basis of historically observed default 
rates calibrated according to maturities and credits which 
are overdue. Trade receivables with a carrying amount 
of more than EUR 0.1 m are also individually assessed with 
respect to the recognition of expected credit defaults 
over their term. The calculation of expected credit losses 
takes place separately for domestic and foreign custom-
ers as well as for international postal service companies.

Other Debt Instruments For all other debt instru-
ments subject to the impairment model, impairment los
ses are fundamentally recognised in the amount of the 
expected twelve-month credit losses. However, if a signi
ficant increase in credit loss is determined, impairment 
losses are recognised in the amount of the expected credit 
losses over their term. Austrian Post Group assumes that 
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a significant increase in credit risk exists when a trade 
receivable is more than 30 days overdue. In case of trade 
receivables measured at amortised cost whose credit-
worthiness is negatively affected, the effective interest 
rate is to be applied at amortised cost (i. e. after deducting 
impairment losses) instead of the gross carrying amount. 
Austrian Post Group considers the creditworthiness of a 
debtor to be negatively affected if the following factors 
exist:

■  � The individual receivable is overdue > 90 days 
■   Insolvency proceedings have been initiated
In methodological terms, the calculation of expected 

credit losses for securities and receivables from banks 
takes place in accordance with the so-called loan loss 
provisioning model. The expected credit loss and the pro
bability weighted value are determined based on the pro
bability of default (PD) and the loss given default (LGD). 
The company primarily relies on issuer-specific data sup
plied by Bloomberg to calculate the probability of de
fault. To simplify things, global default rates published 
by Standard & Poor’s or Moody’s are taken into account. 
However, total expected credit losses are considered 
to be immaterial.

For other receivables, Austrian Post decided to 
apply practical expedients in line with IFRS 9.B5.5.35 due 
to the type and scope of the receivables, and similar to 
trade receivables, to methodically determine impairment 
losses by using an impairment matrix. The derivation of 
loss rates take place in part on the basis of historical 
empirical values and in part on the basis of reasonable 
estimates. Receivables with a carrying amount of more 
than EUR 0.1 m are also individually assessed with respect 
to the recognition of expected credit defaults over their 
term. The calculation of expected credit losses takes 
place separately for claims for damages and other sundry 
receivables.

Modified Financial Assets If the contractually stip-
ulated cash flows of a financial asset are renegotiated 
or modified, an assessment is carried out as to whether 
the existing financial asset should be derecognised. If the 
renegotiation or modification does not lead to derecog-
nition, the gross carrying amount is recalculated taking 
account of the modified cash flows. Similarly, an assess-
ment is made at the time of modification and at the follow-
ing balance sheet dates as to whether there is a significant 
increase in the credit risk of the financial instrument. 
The judgment of a significant increase in the credit risk 
takes place by comparing the default risk at the respec-
tive balance sheet date and the risk at initial recognition. 
The transition of the impairment loss recognised for the 
expected credit losses over the term to maturity to the 
amount of the expected twelve-month credit losses takes 
place when the debtor shows a significantly improved per-
formance as well as positive business prospects.

6.14 Derivative Financial Instruments

Derivative financial instruments are assigned to the 
category “measured at fair value through profit and loss” 
pursuant to IAS 39 and are carried at fair value at the time 
of acquisition and in subsequent periods. At the time of 
acquisition, as a rule, the purchase price is considered to 
be the best possible approximation of the fair value and is 
thus recognised as the acquisition cost. Unrealised valua-
tion gains and losses from derivative financial instruments 
are reported in profit or loss. 

Austrian Post uses derivative financial instruments 
occasionally as a means of limiting and managing interest 
rate, currency and price risks. No transactions involving 
such derivative financial instruments were concluded in 
the 2018 financial year. Furthermore, in connection with 
the acquisition of shares in a company, future exercisable 
rights to the acquisition of further interests (call options) 
as well as purchase obligations (put options) are to be 
classified as derivative financial instruments pursuant to 
IFRS 9. Also refer to Note 9.6 Other Financial Assets. 

Derivative financial instruments for which the settle-
ment takes place immediately in cash are reported under 
the items trade and other receivables or trade and other 
payables. Derivative financial instruments related to the 
acquisition of shares in a company are reported as other 
financial assets.

6.15 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower amount of historical 
cost and net realisable value on the balance sheet date. 
Any impairments resulting from obsolescence or inviability 
are taken into account in determining the net realisable 
value. The measurement of materials and consumables 
and retail products is implemented in accordance with the 
moving average cost formula. 

Work in progress refers to apartments built within 
the context of the Neutorgasse 7 real estate development 
project in Vienna’s inner city with the goal of selling them. 
The individual apartment is determined to be the unit of 
account, in which case the allocation of production costs 
takes place on the basis of the respective usable space. 
Changes in the portfolio of unfinished buildings as well 
as valuation effects are included in the income statement 
under the item raw materials, consumables and services 
used. 
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6.16 Non-current Assets Held for Sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if 
the related carrying amount is primarily realised by a dis-
posal transaction and not by continued use. This prereq-
uisite is only fulfilled if the disposal is considered to be 
highly likely and the non-current asset in its current state 
is available for immediate sale. The disposal of assets is 
highly likely, if the management has decided upon a plan 
for the sale of the assets and has actively begun search-
ing for a buyer and implementing the divestment plan, and 
it can be assumed that the disposal process will be con-
cluded within one year after such a classification. 

Non-current assets classified as held for sale are 
measured at the lower of the carrying amount and the fair 
value less costs to sell. 

6.17 Provisions for Termination Benefits  
and Jubilee Benefits

Provisions for Termination Benefits Obligations for 
termination benefits of the Austrian Post Group encom-
pass both a contribution-based system as well as a 
defined benefit system.

The provisions in the defined benefit system apply 
to legal and contractual entitlements on the part of em
ployees. Civil servants have principally no entitlement 
to termination benefits. Employees working for Group 
companies in Austria are entitled to severance pay when 
they reach the legally stipulated retirement age as well as 
when their employment contracts are terminated by the 
employer. The amount of the severance pay depends on 
the number of years of service of the affected employ-
ees and the relevant salary at the time the employment is 
terminated. The provisions are calculated on an actuarial 
basis, using the projected unit credit method. 

Contribution-based termination benefits exist with 
respect to salaried employees working for Group compa
nies in Austria and whose employment commenced 
after December 31, 2002. These obligations for termina-
tion benefits are fulfilled by regular contributions of  

the respective amounts to the employee pension fund. 
Except for this, there is no other obligation on the part of 
the Austrian Post Group, hence there is no requirement 
to recognise a provision.

Provisions for Jubilee Benefits In some cases, the 
Austrian Post Group is obliged to pay jubilee benefits to 
employees on the occasion of them reaching a specified 
length of service in the company. 

These obligations particularly apply to employees 
of the parent company Österreichische Post AG. In 
part, there are obligations on the part of Austrian Post 
to employees to pay jubilee benefits to employees who 
have served the company for specified periods of time. 
According to Austrian Post’s employment rules, civil 
servants and salaried employees are given jubilee bene-
fits amounting to two monthly salaries after 25 years of 
service and four monthly salaries after 40 years. Civil 
servants with at least 35 years of service at the time of 
their legally defined start of their retirement and who have 
already reached the age of 65 on that day are also paid 
jubilee benefits in the amount of four monthly salaries. 
Salaried employees subject to the first part of the col-
lective wage agreement receive jubilee benefits totalling 
one monthly salary for 20 years of service, one and one 
half monthly salaries for 25 years and two and one half 
monthly salaries for 35 years working for the company. 
40 years of service results in jubilee benefits of three and 
one half monthly salaries. 

The provisions for jubilee benefits are calculated in 
a similar manner to the provisions made for termination 
benefits, in accordance with the projected unit credit 
method.

Actuarial Parameters Within the context of regularly 
evaluating and ensuring the best possible estimation of 
actuarial parameters used in determining provisions for 
termination and jubilee benefits, Austrian Post Group 
has defined company-specific parameters as the basis 
for calculating the relevant amounts of these provisions. 
The parameters are determined using standard Group 
guidelines. 
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The following parameters were used as the basis for 
calculating provisions for termination and jubilee benefits: 

Termination benefits Jubilee benefits

 2017 2018 2017 2018

Discount rate 2.00 % 2.00 % 1.75 % 1.75 %

Salary/pension increase 3.25 % 3.00 % 3.00 % 3.00 %

Employee turnover discount (staggered) 0.24 % – 1.45 % 0.19 % – 0.46 % 6.93 %  –  29.71 % 6.82 %  –  30.13 %

Retirement age 2017 2018

Female employees 60 – 65 60 – 65

Male employees 65 65

Civil servants 65 65

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit 
obligation amounts to fourteen years for termination ben-
efits (2017: 15 years) and eleven years for jubilee benefits 
(2017: 12 years). 

In order to determine the discount interest rate, an 
index for unsubordinated, fixed-interest industrial loans 
(Mercer Pension Discount Yield Curve) is used and then 
the relevant interest rate is determined on the basis of the 
duration of the individual obligations. 

The biometric assumptions used in actuarial calcu-
lations are based on the calculation published by the 
Austrian Actuarial Association (AVÖ) for the social security 
system (“mortality tables”). The new tables (AVÖ 2018-P: 
Insurance tables for calculating pensions) published in 
the middle of 2018 were used in the current financial year.

The salary increases used in the calculations are 
derived from future expected wage and salary increases 
based on the averages observed over past years as well 
as future expected wage and salary increases. The calcu
lation is individually made for each provision, taking ac
count of requirements contained in legal regulations and 
the collective wage agreements, for example biannual 
salary increases for civil servants. 

The employee turnover discount is determined on the 
basis of the average observed over past years. 

The effects of changes in actuarial parameters lead 
to actuarial gains and losses, which in the case of pro-
visions for termination benefits are reported as other 
comprehensive income, whereas actuarial gains and losses 
from the provisions for jubilee benefits are reported as 
staff costs. The effects from the changes in the interest 
rate and changes in future salary increases are included as 
financial assumptions in the actuarial gains and losses. 

The actuarial gains and losses from the change of demo-
graphic assumptions include the effects from the adjust-
ment of the discount for employee turnover. The recon-
ciliation of the present value of the individual obligations 
is presented in Note 9.11.1 Provisions for Termination and 
Jubilee Benefits. 

The interest expense from provisions for termination 
and jubilee benefits are reported in the financial result. 
All other changes are reported as staff costs.

Benefit Obligation The benefit obligations of the 
Austrian Post Group encompass only contribution-based 
systems. There are no entitlements existing from defined 
benefit obligations at the Austrian Post Group.

Defined contribution obligations exist towards mem-
bers of the Management Board. The obligations are ful-
filled on the basis of corresponding contributions paid to 
a pension fund. 

There are no pension fund obligations on the part 
of Austrian Post to civil servants and salaried employ-
ees. Pension obligations to civil servants and salaried 
employees are principally met by the Republic of Austria. 
Due to legal regulations, Austrian Post is obliged to pay 
a pension contribution margin to the Republic of Austria. 
Since January 1, 2017, the contributions for civil servants 
(including the civil servants’ own employee contributions) 
amount to a maximum of 25.10 % of the remuneration 
paid to active civil servants depending on age and contri
bution base and are reported as staff costs. Contribu-
tions on behalf of salaried employees are in line with the 
currently valid regulations of the Austrian General Social 
Security Act (ASVG).
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6.18 Provisions for Under-Utilisation

Provisions for under-utilisation are made for future 
staff costs applying to those employees who lose their 
jobs, or those who can no longer carry out their previous 
work and cannot be used any longer to perform services 
on behalf of the company. These represent provisions for 
employees who are assigned to the organisational unit 
Post Internal Labour Market and whose employment sta-
tuses are considered to be onerous contracts pursuant to 
IAS 37. Furthermore, the provisions for under-utilisation 
apply to civil servants who are in the process of commenc-
ing retirement for reasons of physical disability, as well 
as for employees involved in the programme to potentially 
transfer them to various federal ministries. 

Provisions for the Post Internal Labour Market are 
allocated for future staff costs of employees with perma
nent status (primarily civil servants) who lose their jobs 
within the context of ongoing internal organisational pro
cesses designed to reflect changing market conditions and 
can only be used partially to perform services on behalf 
of the company or who cannot be utilised at all anymore. 
These employment statuses are onerous contracts pur
suant to IAS 37, in which the unavoidable costs to fulfil the 
contractual obligations are higher than the expected eco-
nomic benefit. The calculation of the amount allocated to 
provisions is based on the present value of the expenses 
up until each employee’s retirement based on the appli
cation of an average level of under-utilisation and taking 
account of a fluctuation discount. If employees with tenure 

cannot be deployed by the company and cannot be leased 
to external companies in a cost-covering manner, provi-
sions are defined by using a percentage cost deficit. All 
parameters are continually evaluated and adjusted to 
reflect changing conditions. 

The provisions for under-utilisation encompass future 
staff costs for civil servants who are in the process of 
commencing retirement for reasons of physical disability. 
The provisions are calculated as the present value of the 
future staff costs for the period of the average expected 
time involved until retirement is approved.

The provision for under-utilisation also includes pro
visions for employees involved in the programme to poten-
tially transfer them to various federal ministries based 
on a framework agreement concluded with the federal 
government in October 2013. In this case, the staff costs 
of employees who have agreed to transfer to the federal 
public service will be refunded for a specified period of 
time, and their provisions are allocated until the end of the 
refund period. 

The present value of the individual provisions is cal-
culated using a discount rate, future salary increases and 
the employee turnover. The calculation of the parameters 
takes place in accordance with the approach described in 
Note 6.17 Provisions for Termination and Jubilee Benefits. 
The interest expense is reported under staff costs.

The following parameters were used in calculating pro-
visions for the Post Internal Labour Market, changes which 
led – ceteris paribus – to the following changes in the pro-
visions for the Post Internal Labour Market:

 
Post Internal Labour Market 2017 2018

Change  
EUR m

Discount rate 1.25 % 1.50 % –2.8

Salary increase 2.75 % 2.75 % 0.0

Employee turnover discount 28.80 % 26.90 % 4.6

Rate of under-utilisation 88.70 % 87.10 % –3.2
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The following parameters were used in calculating 
provisions for employees in the process of commencing 
retirement or in a programme for potentially transferring 
them to various federal ministries:

Other under-utilisation 2017 2018

Discount rate 0.25 % – 1.25 % 0.50 % – 1.50 %

Salary increase 2.75 % 2.75 %

6.19 Provisions for Voluntary Termination 
Benefit Programmes

Within the context of Austrian Post’s internal organ-
isational processes designed to make adjustments in 
line with changing market conditions, there are continu-
ously job losses or else future job losses are foreseeable, 
in which case the affected employees can only be used 
within the company to a very limited extent. In order to 
ensure a socially compatible solution for the necessary 
personnel cutbacks, social plans have been negotiated 
with the Central Works Council or the employees are 
offered the opportunity to participate in voluntary termi-
nation benefit programmes. These offers involve payments 
on the occasion of the termination of their employment 
contracts, which are capitalised when the company can 
no longer withdraw the offers for such payments or when 
these payments take place within the context of restruc-
turing provisions pursuant to IAS 37. Valuation takes 
place at initial recognition, in which case, depending on 
the term to maturity, either the stipulations contained in 
IAS 19 for short-term benefits to employees or for other 
long-term benefits to employees apply.

6.20 Other Provisions

In accordance with IAS 37, contingent legal or fac-
tual obligations to third parties resulting from past events, 
which are likely to require an outflow of economic benefits 
and which can be reliably estimated, are recorded as other 
provisions. The provisions are recognised in the amount 
of a reliable estimate at the time of preparation of the 
annual financial statements. Provisions are not recognised 
in those cases where a reliable estimate is not possible. In 
the event that the present value of a provision determined 
on the basis of a market interest rate differs materially 
from the nominal value, the present value of the obligation 
is recognised. 

Provisions for onerous contracts are recognised if the 
unavoidable costs required to fulfil the contractual obliga-
tions are higher than the expected economic benefit.

Pursuant to IAS 37, restructuring provisions are 
recognised upon development of a formal, detailed re
structuring plan and the restructuring measures have 
already begun or the restructuring plan has been publicly 
announced before the balance sheet date.

6.21 Share-based Incentive Programmes

In December 2009, the Supervisory Board of Austrian 
Post decided to introduce a share-based remuneration 
programme. Such a share-based remuneration pro-
gramme (Long-term Incentive Programme) for the mem-
bers of the Management Board and one for top executives 
has been implemented in the 2010 – 2018 financial years. 
This programme is a share-based and performance-orien
ted remuneration model whose tranches extend over a 
three-year period (performance period), the prerequisite 
being a one-time own investment on the part of the par-
ticipants. The performance period extends from January 
1st of the year in which the particular tranche is issued 
until December 31st of the third year. 

As at December 31, 2018, all members of the Man
agement Board are taking part in the share-based incen-
tive programmes (at present the tranches seven to nine 
are open). 

The number of Austrian Post shares required to 
be purchased by members of the Management Board 
is linked to a specified percentage of their gross fixed 
salaries divided by the reference price of the Austrian 
Post share for the fourth quarter of the respective year. 
The number of Austrian Post shares to be acquired by 
top executives is determined on the basis of the selected 
investment category in line with the terms and condi-
tions of the share-based remuneration programme. The 
total sum of the required own investments for participa
tion in the existing share-based payment programme as 
at December 31, 2018, amounted to 41,680 shares for 
members of the Management Board and 206,073 shares 
for top executives. The Austrian Post shares must be held 
continuously until the end of the subsequent financial 
year following the expiration of the performance period.
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Remuneration takes place on the basis of so-called 
bonus shares as a unit of measure. The number of bonus 
shares is linked to the extent to which pre-defined per-
formance indicators are reached (earnings per share, free 
cash flow and total shareholder return). Target values for 
the performance indicators are defined at the beginning 
of each individual tranche, with each indicator considered 
to be equally important. The achievement of objectives is 
monitored over a period of three years. The total bonus is 
based on the total achievement of the objectives defined 
according to previously mentioned parameters as well as 
the share price development of the Austrian Post share. 
The total bonus applicable for the members of the Man-
agement Board and for executives is subject to a specified 
ceiling. It is limited to 225 % of the bonus for the Manage-
ment Board in case of 100 % goal achievement. Moreover, 
within the context of approving the LTIP 2018 to 2020, the 
Remuneration Committee reached an agreement with the 
Management Board members with respect to ceilings set 
for the maximum Management Board remuneration start-
ing in 2021. For top executives, in case of maximum goal 
achievement, the bonus ranges between 115 % and 130 %, 
and cannot exceed the amount of the individual’s annual 
gross salary. 

The currently expected number of bonus shares (unit 
of measure) of the individual tranches on the respective 
settlement dates can be broken down as follows:

Number of bonus shares per tranche Dec. 31, 2017 Dec. 31, 2018

Tranche 5 385 0

Tranche 6 180,808 0

Tranche 7 250,859 248,876

Tranche 8 251,630 258,946

Tranche 9 0 206,370

683,682 714,192

Principally, the payment is made either in shares of 
Austrian Post or in cash. All the members of the Manage-
ment Board opted for the payment in cash, which was also 
decided for the executives participating in the programme. 
Accordingly, there is currently no obligation to carry out a 
settlement in the form of equity instruments. The pay-
ments are reported as share-based remuneration with a 
cash settlement.

The acquired services and the arising obligation are 
recognised at the fair value of the obligation on a pro rata 
basis to the extent of the performance rendered to date. 
Until this debt is settled, the fair value must be newly 
determined at every reporting date and on the settle-
ment date. All changes in fair value are reported in profit 
and loss under staff costs. The fair value of the obligation 
is calculated by means of a specified model taking into 
account the performance indicators and the scope of the 
employee’s achievements. This involves an income-based 
approach (present value technique) pursuant to IFRS 13 
taking account of the expected goal attainment (based on 
company planning), employee turnover and an estimate of 
the future share price. The data used as to be considered 
as Level 3 inputs are in line with the fair value hierarchy. 

The fair value of the obligation is reported as a provi-
sion and can be broken down according to the respective 
settlement dates of the individual tranches as follows:

EUR m Dec. 31, 2017 Dec. 31, 2018

Net carrying amount  
of provision   

Tranche 6 9.8 0.0

Tranche 7 7.1 10.9

Tranche 8 3.5 7.8

Tranche 9 0.0 3.4

20.4 22.2

In the 2018 financial year, a total of EUR 9.8 m was 
paid out completely in cash for tranche 6. 

The total expense for the share-based remuneration 
in the particular reporting period can be broken down 
according to the individual tranches as follows:

EUR m 2017 2018

Total expense   

Tranche 6 7.2 0.0

Tranche 7 5.3 3.9

Tranche 8 3.5 4.2

Tranche 9 0.0 3.4

16.0 11.5
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7. Future-oriented Assumptions 
and Estimation Uncertainties

The preparation of consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with IFRS requires management to make 
assumptions about future developments which materially 
influence the recognition and measurement of assets and 
liabilities, the reporting of other obligations on the balance 
sheet date and the recognition of income and expense for 
the financial year. In particular, there is a risk that the use 
of the following assumptions and estimates may lead to 
adjustments of assets and liabilities in upcoming financial 
years.

7.1 Provisions for Termination and Jubilee 
Benefits

The measurement of provisions for existing termina-
tion and jubilee benefits is based on assumptions regard-
ing the discount rate, retirement age, life expectancy, 
employee turnover and future salary increases. 

If all other parameters remain constant, a change in 
the discount rate by +/–1 percentage point, a change in 
salary increases by +/–1 percentage point and a change 
in the employee turnover by +/–1 percentage point would 
have the following effects on the provisions:

Discount rate Salary increase Employee turnover discount

EUR m –1 %-point +1 %-point –1 %-point +1 %-point –1 %-point +1 %-point

Termination benefits 14.4 –12.0 –12.0 14.0 0.2 –1.0

Jubilee benefits 6.9 –6.0 –6.0 6.7 0.9 –0.9

7.2 Provisions for Under-utilisation

The measurement of the provisions for under-utilisa
tion is based on assumptions regarding the degree of 
under-utilisation, discount rate, future salary increases and 
employee turnover of the employees with permanent status. 

If all other parameters remain constant, a change in 
the degree of under-utilisation and employee turnover by 
+/–10 percentage points, or a change in the discount rate 
and salary increases by +/–1 percentage point in each case 
would have the following effects on the provisions:

Rate of under-utilisation Employee turnover discount Discount rate Salary increase

EUR m –10 %-points +10 %-points –10 %-points +10 %-points –1 %-point +1 %-point –1 %-point +1 %-point

Under-utilisation –23.7 23.5 24.2 –24.2 13.1 –11.9 –11.8 12.7

7.3 Provisions for Voluntary Termination 
Benefit Programmes

The valuation of provisions for voluntary termina-
tion benefit programmes involve estimates with respect 
to expected acceptance rates. Past empirical values 
exist, but they can be representative to a limited extent 
for current programmes only, depending on the particu-
lar programme and the target group. In addition to past 
empirical values, an assessment as to the attractiveness 
of the offers is also used to make the corresponding esti-
mates. However, significant adjustments to the provi-
sions in subsequent periods may be required despite all 
efforts made to make the best possible estimates.

7.4 Reference Date for Civil Servants

In a decision handed down on November 11, 2014, the 
European Court of Justice concurred with the previous 
ruling made by the Austrian Administrative Court and 
determined that the legal regulations enacted in Austria 
in the year 2010 to end discrimination based on age in the 
salary system of civil servants violates EU law. In light of 
the fact that the issue of recognising previous employ-
ment periods not only affects the civil servants assigned 
to Austrian Post but also all civil servants working for the 
federal government, the Austrian Parliament subsequently 
reacted, and undertook a comprehensive reform of the 
remuneration system for the federal government on Jan-
uary 21, 2015. This reform addressed the main criticism 
of the European Court of Justice and completely resolves 
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the problem. Of course, this reform of the salary system 
was also implemented for civil servants working for Aus-
trian Post. 

At the end of 2016, due to a decision made by the 
Federal Administrative Court, the legislator once again 
clearly and unambiguously clarified in the Remuneration 
Law Amendment Act (Federal Law Gazette I No. 104/2016) 
that the new salary system is to be applied retroactively. 
In the event that a new reclassification of a civil servant 
takes place in the period before the transition to a new 
salary system, a clear redefinition of the reference dates 
for seniority was laid down, so that there is no longer any 
leeway to undertake any further legal proceedings with 
respect to the reference date for salary increases.

Legal proceedings currently pending before the Euro-
pean Court of Justice with respect to contractual federal 
employees could potentially impact employment laws for 
civil servants depending on the final ruling, and thus lead 
the legislator to deal with the issue once again. A decision 
is expected to be made by the European Court of Justice 
by the end of 2019. As at December 31, 2018, it is assumed 
that legislators will once again deal with and eliminate 
the criticisms of the European Court of Justice. Therefore, 
it remains unlikely that this will lead to any financial bur
dens imposed upon Austrian Post. This appraisal was 
coordinated with external experts. 

7.5 Reclamation of Employer Contributions 
Related to the Payroll Accounting of Civil 
Servants

Austrian Post or its legal predecessor made contribu-
tions within the context of payroll accounting for the civil 
servants assigned to it in the period from May 1, 1996, to 
May 31, 2008. Due to a ruling handed down by the Austrian 
Administrative Court in 2015, there was no obligation on 
the part of Austrian Post to make these payments. 

As a result, the Austrian Federal Finance Court 
awarded compensation to Austrian Post in the amount of 
EUR 83.1 m in the years 2015 to 2018. At the same time, 
interest in the amount of EUR 8.8 m (thereof EUR 6.1 m in 
the current financial year) was received on the conten-
tious tax claim. 

As a rule, assets are capitalised for judicially pursued 
claims when the occurrence of such claims is considered 
to be virtually certain. This is assumed to be the case 
when an individual case ruling is handed down by the 
Austrian Federal Finance Court. At the same time, it must 
be determined whether a contingent asset exists in case 
of other judicially pursued claims. This is assumed to 
exist when the probability of occurrence is considered to 
exceed 50 %, which is currently not the case. In both situa-
tions the estimation of probability is made in consultation 
with external experts.

Conversely, in contrast to the amounts credited by the 
court, Austrian Post has obligations for any compensation 
payments, which amount to EUR 39.9 m on the basis of the 
best possible estimate and are reported under other pro-
visions. The estimate concerning compensation payments 
entails considerable uncertainty in light of the uncertain-
ties relating to the available data as well as the calculation 
method.

7.6 Assets and Liabilities in Connection  
with Business Combinations

Within the context of acquisitions, estimates and 
assumptions are required in connection with the estima-
tion of the fair value of the acquired assets and liabilities 
as well as contingent purchase-price liabilities. 

All available information relating to the prevailing 
conditions at the date of acquisition is used for the initial 
accounting treatment of the identifiable acquired assets 
and liabilities at the end of the reporting period in which 
the business combination took place. If the available 
information is not yet complete, preliminary amounts are 
disclosed. Additional information about the facts and 
conditions prevailing at the time of acquisition which 
becomes available during the valuation period (up to one 
year) leads to a retroactive adjustment of the reported 
preliminary amounts. Changes relating to events after the 
date of acquisition do not lead to adjustments during the 
valuation period.

The value of intangible assets is determined on the 
basis of a suitable valuation method, depending on the 
type of asset and the availability of information. As a rule, 
the income approach is used for customer relationships 
and trademark rights. The fair value of land and buildings 
is generally determined by independent experts or experts 
in the Austrian Post Group. These valuations are signifi-
cantly influenced by the discount rate used in addition to 
assumptions about the future development of the esti-
mated cash flows. 

Similar to the recognition of assets acquired and liabil-
ities assumed, all available information about the under-
lying conditions at the date of acquisition is also used for 
the first-time recognition of contingent purchase-price 
liabilities. In this case, additional information about the 
facts and conditions prevailing at the time of acquisition 
and which become known during the valuation period also 
leads to a retroactive adjustment of the reported prelim-
inary amounts. Changes relating to events after the date 
of acquisition (for example achieving the desired earnings 
objectives) are not treated as adjustments made during 
the valuation period but lead to an adjustment of the pur-
chase price liability recognised as a profit or loss.
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7.7 Impairment of Intangible Assets,  
Goodwill, Property, Plant and Equipment, 
and Investment Property

The assessment of the recoverability of intangible 
assets, goodwill, property, plant and equipment, and in
vestment property is based on future-oriented assump-
tions. The underlying assumptions used to determine the 
recoverable amount within the context of impairment 
tests as well as the resulting sensitivities are described 
in the chapter on income statement disclosures under 
Note 9.1 Goodwill.

7.8 Financial Instruments

Alternative financial valuation methods (i. e. income 
approach or multiple processes) using uncertain estimates 
are applied to evaluate the recoverability of equity capital 
instruments if no active market exists for these financial 
instruments. The underlying parameters used in the valu-
ation of these financial instruments are partially based on 
future-oriented assumptions or the selection of a suitable 
peer group and require assumptions on their comparabil-
ity. The approach is described in Note 10 Financial Instru-
ments and Related Risks.

7.9 Income Tax

The recognition and subsequent valuation of the cur-
rent and deferred taxes are subject to uncertainties due 
to complex tax regulations in different national jurisdic-
tions which are continually being changed. The manage-
ment of Austrian Post assumes that it has made a reason-
able estimate of tax-related uncertainties. However, due 
to these existing tax uncertainties, there is the risk that 
deviations between the actual results and the assumptions 
made could have an effect on the recognised tax liabilities 
and deferred taxes. 

Deferred tax claims to existing tax loss carryforwards 
are capitalised to the extent of the expected actual ap
plication. The recognition of these tax claims is based on 
planning calculations on the part of the company’s man-
agement concerning the level of taxable income and the 
effective application, which in turn require discretionary 
decisions.

 

8. Income Statement 
Disclosures

8.1 Segment Reporting

General Information At Austrian Post Group, report-
able segments are identified based on the differences 
between products and services. The reporting segments 
“Mail & Branch Network”, “Parcel & Logistics” and “Cor-
porate” have been defined on the basis of the divisional 
structure of the Austrian Post Group. The accounting 
treatment of transactions between the segments does not 
fully correspond to the accounting principles used in pre-
paring the consolidated financial statements. 

Mail & Branch Network The core business of the 
Mail & Branch Network Division is comprised of the collec-
tion, sorting and delivery of letters, postcards, addressed, 
partly addressed and unaddressed direct mail items and 
newspapers as well as parcels within the context of joint 
mail and parcel delivery services. Furthermore, postal and 
telecommunications products as well as financial services 
are offered in the branch network. Austrian Post also 
offers its customers various online services such as the 
e-letter and cross-media solutions. The service offer-
ing is complemented by physical and digital value added 
services such as address and data management, mailroom 
management and document scanning. 

Parcel & Logistics The Parcel & Logistics Division 
offers parcel shipping solutions from one source covering 
the entire value chain. Its core business consists of the 
transport of parcels as well as Express Mail Service (EMS) 
items. In addition to conventional parcel products, express 
delivery and food delivery, the portfolio also includes a 
broad range of value-added services. For example, the 
company offers customised fulfilment solutions such as 
warehousing, commissioning, returns management, the 
transport of valuable goods and cash, webshop logistics 
and webshop infrastructure. 

Corporate The core business of the Corporate Divi-
sion is online innovation management and the develop-
ment of new business models. In addition, the Corporate 
Division mainly provides services in the fields of group 
administration, the development of new business models 
and real estate projects. Non-operational services typi-
cally provided for the purpose of managing and controlling 
a corporate group encompass, amongst others, the man-
agement of commercial properties owned by the Group, 
IT support services as well as the administration of the 
Internal Labour Market of Austrian Post.

Consolidation The elimination of transactions between 
segments is shown in the Consolidation column. Further-
more, the Consolidation column serves as a reconciliation 
from segment to Group figures.
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INFORMATION ABOUT PROFIT OR LOSS

2017 Financial Year

 
EUR m

Mail & Branch 
Network

 
Parcel & Logistics

 
Corporate

 
Consolidation

 
Group

Revenue (segments) 1,447.8 495.6 0.2 –4.6 1,938.9

Revenue intra-Group 101.7 4.8 15.5 –122.0 0.0

Total revenue 1,549.5 500.4 15.7 –126.7 1,938.9

thereof revenue with third parties 1,446.8 491.9 0.1 0.0 1,938.9

Results from financial assets accounted  
for using the equity method 0.1 –0.1 –1.9 0.0 –1.9

EBITDA 312.8 58.1 –76.2 –0.1 294.6

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses –23.2 –15.2 –48.4 0.0 –86.8

�thereof impairment losses recognised in  
profit or loss –3.1 –4.5 –6.5 0.0 –14.1

EBIT 289.6 42.8 –124.6 –0.1 207.8

Other financial result     12.8

Profit before tax     220.6

Segment investments 12.6 18.9 90.6 0.0 122.1

2018 Financial Year

 
EUR m

Mail & Branch 
Network

 
Parcel & Logistics

 
Corporate

 
Consolidation

 
Group

Revenue (segments) 1,412.3 552.4 0.2 –6.4 1,958.5

Revenue intra-Group 112.9 4.9 17.3 –135.1 0.0

Total revenue 1,525.2 557.4 17.5 –141.6 1,958.5

thereof revenue with third parties 1,409.6 548.6 0.2 0.0 1,958.5

Results from financial assets accounted for  
using the equity method 0.3 –2.7 –1.2 0.0 –3.6

EBITDA 311.2 54.9 –60.7 0.0 305.4

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses –21.4 –13.6 –59.6 0.0 –94.5

�thereof impairment losses recognised in  
profit or loss –1.5 –2.6 –9.8 0.0 –13.9

EBIT 289.8 41.3 –120.3 0.0 210.9

Other financial result     –13.1

Profit before tax     197.8

Segment investments 13.3 10.3 113.5 0.0 137.0
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Intersegment transactions take place at market-
based transfer pricing. 

Revenue (segments) contains revenue generated with 
companies outside of the Austrian Post Group as well as 
with Group companies outside of the segment. In Reve-
nue intra-Group, the settlement of business relationships 
in which services are supplied across different segments 
and the invoicing of these services are shown within Aus-
trian Post. Revenue with third parties refers to business 
relationships with companies outside of the Austrian 
Post Group. Depreciation and amortisation including 

impairment losses result from assets assigned to the 
respective segment. Segment investments include invest-
ments in intangible assets, property, plant and equipment, 
and investment property.

INFORMATION ABOUT GEOGRAPHICAL AREAS
Revenue is shown according to the location of the 

company performing the service and exclusively refers to 
revenue generated with companies outside of the Austrian 
Post Group:

2017 Financial Year

EUR m Austria Germany Other countries Group

Revenue 1,780.4 47.9 110.7 1,938.9

Non-current assets other than financial instruments and  
deferred tax assets 765.5 0.3 38.5 804.4

2018 Financial Year

EUR m Austria Germany Other countries Group

Revenue 1,797.1 53.1 108.3 1,958.5

Non-current assets other than financial instruments and  
deferred tax assets 793.3 0.3 35.0 828.5
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8.2 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

8.2.1 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS 
The following table shows revenue from contracts with 

customers broken down according to reportable segments 
and product groups (areas encompassed within these 
segments):

EUR m 2017 2018

Revenue with third parties   

Letter Mail 737.8 753.2

Mail solutions 44.0 49.0

Direct Mail 413.3 382.6

Media Post 137.1 131.2

Branch services 114.6 93.7

Mail & Branch Network 1,446.8 1,409.6

Premium Parcels 240.3 265.9

Standard Parcels 217.8 228.5

Other Parcel Services 33.8 54.3

Parcel & Logistics 491.9 548.6

Other revenue 0.1 0.2

Corporate 0.1 0.2

Total revenue with third parties 1,938.9 1,958.5

Revenue Neutorgasse 7 real estate 
development project (segment 
Corporate) 0.0 17.9

Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers 1,938.9 1,976.5

8.2.2 CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES FROM 
CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS 

The following table contains the status of contract 
costs (costs for initiating a contract), trade receivables, 
contract assets and contract liabilities from contracts with 
customers pursuant to IFRS 15 as at January 1, 2018, and 
December 31, 2018:

EUR m Jan. 1, 2018 Dec. 31, 2018

Contract costs 0.3 0.1

Trade receivables 221.0 260.5

Contract assets 6.6 23.5

Contract liabilities 30.9 49.0

Costs to initiate a contract include brokerage fees 
arising within the context of concluding a contract on the 
sale of apartments in the Neutorgasse 7 real estate devel-
opment project. These costs are capitalised and depreci-
ated over the duration of the contract. 

Contract assets of the Austrian Post Group result from 
the entitlement to receive a consideration in return for the 
already fulfilled part of a service obligation of the Neu-
torgasse 7 real estate project (refer to Note 3.3.2 IFRS 15 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers). Contract assets 
are reclassified as trade receivables as soon as there is 
an unconditional claim to consideration at the completion 
and handover of the housing unit. 

Contract liabilities relate to the prepayments received 
as at December 31, 2018 as described in Note 3.3.2 IFRS 15 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers and in the sub-
sections H and I within the context of mail and parcel de
livery as well as prepayments made in connection with the 
termination agreement regulating the dissolution of the 
partnership with BAWAG P.S.K. (refer to Note 6.2 Termina-
tion of partnership with BAWAG P.S.K.) 

A total of EUR 15.2 m in contract liabilities reported at 
January 1, 2018, were recognised as revenue. 
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8.3 Other Operating Income

EUR m 2017 2018

Rents and leases 25.1 26.3

Termination of cooperation agreement 
BAWAG P.S.K. 0.0 20.1

Revenue realisation real estate 
project Neutorgasse 7 0.0 17.9

Disposal of property, plant and 
equipment 4.0 7.0

Work performed by the enterprise 
and capitalised 3.5 4.4

Damages 2.2 2.6

Personnel leasing and administration 2.0 1.8

Unchargeable expenses 2.2 0.5

Reclaim of contributions 56.4 0.0

Income from deconsolidation 3.0 0.0

Other 14.2 15.5

 112.7 96.2

Other operating income from rents and leases fully 
or partially relates to leased assets (property, plant and 
equipment, and investment property). The corresponding 
assets are recognised in the balance sheet as at Decem-
ber 31, 2018, with a net carrying amount of EUR 58.0 m 
(December 31, 2017: EUR 50.6 m). As a rule, the underlying 
leasing relationships involve cancellable operating leases 
with an indexation of rentals. In the 2018 financial year, 
the rental income derived from non-cancellable lease 
agreements or those limited in duration was mainly gener-
ated by the parent company Österreichische Post AG. 

Reference is made to Note 3.3.2 IFRS 15 Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers with respect to revenue realised 
from the Neutorgasse 7 real estate development project. 

Reference is made to Note 6.2 Termination of Part-
nership with BAWAG P.S.K. with regard to revenue derived 
from the dissolution of the cooperation agreement with 
BAWAG P.S.K. 

The item Reclaim of contributions in the 2017 finan-
cial year refers to credited repayment claims from em
ployer contributions related to the payroll accounting of 
civil servants in previous periods (also refer to Note 7.5 
Reclamation of Employer Contributions Related to the 
Payroll Accounting of Civil Servants). 

The other items contained in other operating income 
relate to a large number of individual immaterial amounts. 

Future minimum lease payments from non-cancella-
ble operating leases as at the balance sheet date are as 
follows:

EUR m Dec. 31, 2017 Dec. 31, 2018

No later than one year 5.5 6.4

Later than one year and not later than 
five years 12.9 17.3

Later than five years 34.4 46.7

 52.8 70.4

8.4 Raw Materials, Consumables and  
Services Used

EUR m 2017 2018

Material   

Fuels 17.7 19.6

Merchandise 14.6 5.6

Supplies, clothing, stamps 17.5 18.8

Other 3.1 3.7

 52.9 47.7

Services used   

International postal carriers 63.5 62.5

Unaddressed mailing lists 24.6 16.6

Addressed mailing lists 11.5 10.6

Energy 14.0 14.2

Transport 175.0 200.2

Other 68.4 89.3

 357.0 393.5

 409.9 441.2
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8.5 Staff Costs

EUR m 2017 2018

Wages and salaries 803.0 795.4

Termination benefits 18.2 4.8

Pension scheme 0.2 0.3

Statutory levies and contributions 192.2 191.6

Other staff costs 6.5 16.6

 1,020.1 1,008.7

Wages and salaries in the 2017 financial year con-
tained contributions of BAWAG P.S.K. from the amend-
ment agreement in the amount of EUR 26.9 m which were 
offset by expenses for allocable provisions. Refer to Note 
6.2 Termination of Partnership with BAWAG P.S.K. and 
Note 9.11.2 Other Employee Provisions. 

The breakdown of termination benefits is as follows:

EUR m 2017 2018

Management Board 0.1 –0.4

Senior executives 0.1 0.2

Other employees 17.9 5.0

 18.2 4.8

In the 2018 financial year, contributions of EUR 4.2 m 
(2017: EUR 3.6 m) to the employee benefit fund in respect 
of defined contribution termination benefit obligations 
were recognised as an expense. 

The average number of employees during the financial 
year was as follows:

2017 2018

Blue-collar employees 2,147 1,857

White-collar employees 12,836 13,841

Civil servants 7,168 6,421

Trainees 78 91

Total number 22,229 22,210

Corresponding full-time equivalents 20,524 20,545

8.6 Depreciation, Amortisation and 
Impairment Losses

EUR m 2017 2018

Impairment losses on goodwill 4.3 2.2

Amortisation of intangible assets   

Scheduled amortisation 6.9 9.6

Impairment losses 0.2 4.0

 7.1 13.6

Depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment   

Scheduled amortisation 63.5 68.2

Impairment losses 3.0 1.8

 66.5 70.0

Depreciation of investment property   

Scheduled amortisation 2.4 2.8

Impairment losses 6.5 6.1

 8.9 8.8

 86.8 94.5

With respect to the impairment losses, reference is 
made to Note 9.1 Goodwill, Note 9.2 Intangible Assets and 
Note 9.4 Investment Property.
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8.7 Other Operating Expenses

EUR m 2017 2018

IT services 43.6 51.2

Maintenance 49.1 49.9

Leasing and rental payments 48.5 46.3

Travel and mileage 24.9 27.0

Communications and advertising 18.5 21.0

Consultancy 20.1 19.7

Contract and leasing staff 15.8 19.0

Waste disposal and cleaning 12.2 12.3

Other taxes (excl. income taxes) 9.0 8.6

Damages 7.5 8.5

Insurance 6.3 6.9

Telephone 3.2 3.1

Training and professional 
development 3.2 3.0

Impairment losses on receivables 8.2 2.7

Losses from the disposal of property, 
plant and equipment 2.2 2.2

Compensation payments 35.4 0.7

Other 17.3 13.5

 325.0 295.7

Impairment losses on receivables in the 2018 financial 
year include impairment losses on receivables pursuant 
to the new impairment model of IFRS 9 to the amount of 
EUR 1.1 m and losses from the derecognition of receiva-
bles totalling EUR 1.6 m. Due to the immaterial amounts 
involved, there is no separate reporting for these receiva-
bles in the income statement pursuant to IAS 1.82.

The 2017 financial year included impairment losses 
of EUR 5.9 m on receivables from BAWAG P.S.K. This was 
based on different opinions with respect to the remunera-
tion of counter transactions from previous periods. 

Other operating expenses include expenses for any 
compensation payments in the amount of EUR 0.7 m (2017: 
EUR 35.4 m). There was only a slight adjustment of claims 
for compensation and the corresponding provisions in 
the period under review. Refer to Note 7.5 Reclamation of 
Employer Contributions Related to the Payroll Accounting 
of Civil Servants. 

The other items contained in other operating expenses 
include a large number of individual immaterial amounts. 

8.8 Other Financial Result

EUR m Note 2017 2018

Financial income    

Interest income  3.4 7.0

Income from securities  1.9 1.5

Income from disposal of 
securities and other bonds  11.0 0.0

  16.4 8.5

Financial expenses    

Interest expense (financial 
liabilities)  –0.3 –0.3

Interest expense (interest 
effects of provisions) (9.11.1) –3.0 –3.3

Expense from revaluation of 
financial assets  0.0 –15.7

Other  –0.4 –2.3

  –3.6 –21.6

  12.8 –13.1

Interest income in the 2018 financial year included 
interest on contentious claims to the amount of EUR 6.1 m 
in connection with the reclamation of employer contribu-
tions related to the payroll accounting of civil servants. 

Expenses relating to the revaluation of financial assets 
contain EUR 14.4 m in adjusting the fair value of the stake 
held in FinTech Group AG. 

The income from disposals of securities and other 
bonds in the amount of EUR 11.0 m in the previous year 
resulted from the sale of Austrian Post’s indirect stake in 
BAWAG P.S.K.
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8.9 Earnings per Share

EUR m 2017 2018

Profit for the period attributable to 
equity holders of the parent company 165.2 143.7

Adjusted profit for the period for  
the identification of diluted earnings 
per share 165.2 143.7

Shares 2017 2018

Weighted average number of 
outstanding ordinary shares used in 
calculating basic earnings per share 67,552,638 67,552,638

Weighted average number of 
outstanding ordinary shares used in 
calculating diluted earnings per share 67,552,638 67,552,638

EUR 2017 2018

Basic earnings per share 2.45 2.13

Diluted earnings per share 2.45 2.13

9. Balance Sheet Disclosures

9.1 Goodwill 

EUR m 2017 2018

Historical costs   

Balance at January 1 82.8 72.4

Additions arising from acquisitions 10.0 0.9

Disposals –20.9 –3.1

Currency translation differences 0.4 –0.1

Balance at December 31 72.4 70.1

Impairment losses   

Balance at January 1 26.5 10.3

Additions 4.3 2.2

Disposals –20.9 –1.0

Currency translation differences 0.3 0.0

Balance at December 31 10.3 11.4

Carrying amount at January 1 56.3 62.1

Carrying amount at December 31 62.1 58.7

Additions arising from acquisitions relate to the 
merger with sendhybrid ÖPBD GmbH. Refer to Note 4.2 
Changes in the Consolidation Scope. Disposals refer 
to the discontinuation of a business area in the Mail & 
Branch Network segment.

The following table shows goodwill by segment and 
cash generating unit:

EUR m Dec. 31, 2017 Dec. 31, 2018

MAIL & BRANCH NETWORK

feibra Group 30.9 30.9

Other 5.8 2.6

 36.8 33.6

PARCEL & LOGISTICS

Parcel & Logistics Austria 11.7 11.7

Other 13.6 13.5

 25.3 25.2

 62.1 58.7
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There was a shift in carrying amounts between the 
Mail & Branch Network segment and the Parcel & Logis-
tics segment in the 2018 financial year. The cash gener-
ating unit (CGU) Weber Escal d.o.o., Croatia, with goodwill 
of EUR 1.0 m was reclassified to the Parcel & Logistics 
Division. 

The annual obligatory impairment test takes place 
at Austrian Post in accordance with the value-in-use 
concept. In this case, the recoverable amount of the CGU 
is determined on the basis of the value in use. In order 
to determine the value in use, the expected future cash 
flow is discounted to its present value with the help of 
the discounted cash flow method by using the weighted 
average cost of capital after tax. In order to determine 
the weighted average cost of capital after tax, groups of 
comparable companies (peer group) are determined for 
all the CGU assigned to the same segment. 

The cash flow forecasts in the planning period are 
based on the approved planning for the 2019 financial 
year and the medium-term business planning for a period 
of an additional three years (2020 – 2022). The cash flow 
forecasts are based on both the company’s experience in 
the past as well as economic data collected outside of the 
company and sector-specific data if available. The amount 
starting in the year 2023 is accounted for assuming a 
perpetual annuity. The maximum amount for the growth 
rate set for the perpetual annuity is the long-term growth 
and inflation expectations of the countries and sectors 
in which the particular CGU generates its cash flow. As a 
rule, a growth rate of 1.0 % (2017: 1.0 %) is applied, while 
necessary retained earnings were taken into account. The 
main valuation assumptions underlying the determina-
tion of the recoverable amount were assumptions by the 
management about the expected short- and long-term 
revenue development, the discount rate applied and the 
expected long-term growth rate. 

The following table shows the discount rates applied to 
the primary individual cash generating units:

2017 
Post-tax WACC

2018 
Post-tax WACC

MAIL & BRANCH NETWORK

feibra Group 6.7 % 6.2 %

Other 6.7 %  –  9.0 % 6.2 %

PARCEL & LOGISTICS

Parcel & Logistics Austria 7.6 % 7.7 %

Other 8.2 %  –  14.8 % 8.3 %  –  16.0 %

The following table shows the additions to the 
impairment losses on goodwill by segment and cash 
generating unit:

Additions to Impairment Losses on Goodwill

EUR m 2017 2018

MAIL & BRANCH NETWORK

EMD GmbH 0.0 1.1

Weber Escal d.o.o. 2.7 0.0

 2.7 1.1

PARCEL & LOGISTICS

City Express d.o.o. 0.0 1.1

Slovak Parcel Service s.r.o. &  
IN TIME s.r.o. 1.7 0.0

 1.7 1.1

 4.3 2.2

In the 2018 financial year, an impairment loss on 
goodwill was recognised for the CGU EMD GmbH, Austria 
(Mail & Branch Network segment), and the CGU City 
Express d.o.o., Serbia (Parcel & Logistics segment), which 
is reported in each case under depreciation, amortisa-
tion and impairment losses in the income statement. The 
underlying reason for the impairment loss in both cases 
was the loss of individual key customers which is consid-
ered to be long-lasting. 

In addition to the impairment test, sensitivity analyses 
related to the primary valuation assumptions were also 
carried out for all significant cash generating units. The 
revenue expectations were reduced by one percentage 
point in the first sensitivity analysis, whereas the discount 
rate was raised by one percentage point in the second 
sensitivity analysis. 

The following additional impairment losses would arise 
ceteris paribus for the significant cash generating units 
for 2018:

Revenue expectations WACC

–1 %-point +1 %-point

EUR m 2017 2018 2017 2018

Slovak Parcel Service s.r.o. & 
IN TIME s.r.o. 1.6 0.2 3.1 1.6

M&BM Express OOD 0.2 0.6 0.2 0.4

City Express d.o.o. 0.2 1.6 0.1 1.3
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9.2 Intangible Assets 

2017 Financial Year
 
EUR m Note

Customer  
relationships Trademarks

Other intangible 
assets Total

Historical costs      

Balance at January 1, 2017  22.9 4.0 67.6 94.5

Additions arising from acquisitions  0.1 0.0 2.7 2.8

Additions  0.0 0.0 8.2 8.2

Disposals  –4.7 –0.1 –11.3 –16.1

Currency translation differences  0.3 0.0 0.0 0.3

Balance at December 31, 2017  18.7 3.9 67.2 89.7

Depreciation and impairment losses      

Balance at January 1, 2017  18.0 3.7 51.7 73.3

Scheduled amortisation (8.6) 1.8 0.0 5.1 6.9

Disposals  –4.1 –0.1 –11.2 –15.4

Currency translation differences  0.3 0.0 0.0 0.3

Balance at December 31, 2017  15.9 3.5 45.7 65.1

Carrying amount at January 1, 2017  4.9 0.4 15.9 21.2

Carrying amount at December 31, 2017  2.8 0.4 21.5 24.7

2018 Financial Year
 
EUR m Note

Customer  
relationships Trademarks

Other intangible 
assets Total

Historical costs      

Balance at January 1, 2018  18.7 3.9 67.2 89.7

Additions arising from acquisitions  0.0 0.0 3.8 3.8

Additions  0.0 0.0 10.5 10.5

Disposals  –2.8 0.0 –6.9 –9.7

Currency translation differences  0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Balance at December 31, 2018  15.9 3.9 74.7 94.4

Depreciation and impairment losses      

Balance at January 1, 2018  15.9 3.5 45.7 65.1

Scheduled amortisation (8.6) 1.0 0.0 8.6 9.6

Impairment losses (8.6) 0.4 0.0 3.6 4.0

Disposals  –2.8 0.0 –6.0 –8.8

Currency translation differences  0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Balance at December 31, 2018  14.6 3.5 51.8 69.9

Carrying amount at January 1, 2018  2.8 0.4 21.5 24.7

Carrying amount at December 31, 2018  1.3 0.4 22.8 24.5
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No external borrowing costs were capitalised in the 
2018 financial year as was the case in the previous year. 

Intangible assets include trademark rights with 
indefinite useful lives with a carrying amount of EUR 
0.4 m (December 31, 2017: EUR 0.4 m). The trademarks are 
assigned to the Parcel & Logistics segment. 

Additions to other intangible assets relate to self-
produced software in the amount of EUR 5.1 m (2017: 
EUR 4.1 m).

Impairment losses on other intangible assets relate to 
software in the business area of e-commerce which were 
to be written down within the context of impairment tests 
pursuant to IAS 36 (Corporate segment). 

9.3 Property, Plant and Equipment

2017 Financial Year

 
 
EUR m Note

Property and 
buildings

Technical plant 
and machinery

Other equipment, 
furniture and 

fittings

Payments received 
in advance 

and assets under 
construction Total

Historical cost       

Balance at January 1, 2017  658.2 147.6 322.9 75.8 1,204.5

Additions arising from acquisitions  0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Additions  19.5 9.8 34.5 38.8 102.5

Disposals  –1.1 –6.0 –35.8 –1.2 –44.1

Transfers  47.8 3.6 12.9 –64.3 0.0

Reclassification as investment property (9.4) –14.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 –14.3

Currency translation differences  0.2 0.0 0.2 0.0 0.5

Balance at December 31, 2017  710.4 154.9 334.8 49.0 1,249.1

Depreciation and impairment losses       

Balance at January 1, 2017  341.4 86.4 179.1 0.0 606.9

Scheduled amortisation (8.6) 17.2 11.0 35.3 0.0 63.5

Impairment losses (8.6) 2.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.8

Disposals  –0.9 –5.9 –32.7 0.0 –39.4

Transfers  0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Reclassification as investment property (9.4) –0.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 –0.6

Currency translation differences  0.1 0.0 0.2 0.0 0.2

Balance at December 31, 2017  360.0 91.5 181.9 0.0 633.4

Carrying amount at January 1, 2017  316.8 61.2 143.8 75.8 597.6

Carrying amount at December 31, 2017  350.4 63.4 152.9 49.0 615.7
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2018 Financial Year

 
 
EUR m Note

Property and 
buildings

Technical plant 
and machinery

Other equipment, 
furniture and 

fittings

Payments received 
in advance 

and assets under 
construction Total

Historical cost       

Balance at January 1, 2018  710.4 154.9 334.8 49.0 1,249.1

Additions  25.2 5.3 52.2 40.4 123.3

Disposals  –0.8 0.0 –42.9 –11.4 –55.1

Transfers  17.5 1.3 12.9 –31.7 0.0

Reclassification as investment property (9.4) 3.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.3

Reclassification to “held for sale”  0.0 0.0 –3.0 0.0 –3.0

Currency translation differences  0.0 –0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0

Balance at December 31, 2018  755.7 161.5 354.0 46.3 1,317.5

Depreciation and impairment losses       

Balance at January 1, 2018  360.0 91.5 181.9 0.0 633.4

Scheduled amortisation (8.6) 18.3 11.3 38.6 0.0 68.2

Impairment losses (8.6) 1.6 0.0 0.2 0.0 1.8

Disposals  –0.4 0.0 –38.0 0.0 –38.4

Reclassification as investment property (9.4) 2.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.4

Reclassification to “held for sale”  0.0 0.0 –2.7 0.0 –2.7

Currency translation differences  0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Balance at December 31, 2018  381.9 102.8 180.0 0.0 664.7

Carrying amount at January 1, 2018  350.4 63.4 152.9 49.0 615.7

Carrying amount at December 31, 2018  373.8 58.7 174.0 46.3 652.8

In the 2018 financial year, impairment losses on prop-
erty and buildings relate to properties owned by the CGU 
Overseas Trade Co. Ltd. d.o.o., Croatia (Parcel & Logistics 
segment), whose fair value declined further from the pre-
vious year. The impairment loss is reported under depre-
ciation, amortisation and impairment losses in the income 
statement. 

No external borrowing costs were capitalised in the 
2018 financial year as was the case in the previous year. 

The existing investment grants for fixed assets as at 
December 31, 2018, totalling EUR 2.0 m (2017: EUR 2.6 m) 
mainly relate to federal government grants for electric-
powered vehicles. 
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The following table shows the total sum of future min-
imum lease payments at the balance sheet date and their 
present value:

EUR m 2017 2018

Minimum lease payments   

No later than one year 0.4 0.5

Later than one year and not later than 
five years 1.3 1.4

Later than five years 2.3 2.1

 4.0 4.0

Less:   

Future financing cost –0.2 –0.2

Present value of the minimum lease 
payments   

No later than one year 0.4 0.4

Later than one year and not later than 
five years 1.1 1.3

Later than five years 2.2 2.0

 3.8 3.7

The corresponding liability is recognised under other 
financial liabilities. Refer to Note 9.12 Other Financial 
Liabilities.

The criteria underlying the classification as finance 
leases were primarily the present value and the lease 
maturity test. Furthermore, preferential terms for pur-
chase options existing at the end of the lease period as 
well as extension and price adjustment clauses were 
also taken into account.

For part of the lease contracts, payments are linked 
to a six-month EURIBOR. There were no such payments 
in connection with lease contracts in the 2018 financial 
year, as in the previous year.

9.4 Investment Property

EUR m Note 2017 2018

Historical cost    

Balance at January 1  240.5 265.4

Additions  11.4 3.2

Disposals  –0.7 –0.4

Reclassification property, 
plant and equipment  14.3 –3.3

Reclassification to  
“held for sale”  0.0 –0.5

Balance at December 31  265.4 264.5

Depreciation and impairment 
losses    

Balance at January 1  171.4 180.5

Scheduled amortisation (8.6) 2.4 2.8

Impairment losses (8.6) 6.5 6.1

Disposals  –0.5 –0.2

Reclassification property, 
plant and equipment  0.6 –2.4

Reclassification to  
“held for sale”  0.0 –0.5

Balance at December 31  180.5 186.1

Carrying amount at January 1  69.0 85.0

Carrying amount at  
December 31  85.0 78.4

EUR m Dec. 31, 2017 Dec. 31, 2018

Fair value 268.9 262.8

Rental income 15.9 17.2

Expenses arising from property 
generating rental income 10.9 9.9

Expenses arising from property  
not generating rental income 1.0 2.2

IN
FO

R
M

A
TI

O
N



148 - Financial Report 2018 - Austrian Post

The additions to investment property in the 2018 
financial year are mainly attributable to the real estate 
development of the Neutorgasse 7 property in Vienna’s 
inner city. The entire Neutorgasse 7 property is being 
developed for future apartment rentals (classified as 
investment property) and for the sale of apartments (clas-
sified as inventories). 

Impairment losses recognised to the amount of EUR 
5.3 m relate to the property shopping mall “Post am 

Rochus”, where a write down was carried out on the basis 
of the routinely prepared expert opinion on the market 
value of the property. 

The income from rental and unrented properties only 
contain income and expenses related to third parties. 
Intercompany expenses and income are not included in 
the table above. 

No external borrowing costs were capitalised in the 
2018 financial year as was the case in the previous year. 

9.5 Joint Ventures and Associates

9.5.1 INVESTMENTS CONSOLIDATED AT EQUITY 

Composition of Carrying Amounts
 
EUR m Interest % 2017 Interest % 2018

Associates     

ADELHEID GmbH, Berlin 50.1 3.5 50.4 3.9

adverserve Holding GmbH, Vienna 49.0 2.7 49.0 2.8

D2D – direct to document GmbH, Vienna 30.0 1.5 30.0 1.7

IN TIME SPEDICE, spol. s r.o., Prague 31.5 0.0 31.5 0.0

PHS Logistiktechnik GmbH, Graz 26.0 0.4 40.0 0.7

sendhybrid ÖPBD GmbH, Graz 26.0 0.0 –  1 0.0

  8.1  9.2

Joint ventures     

OMNITEC GmbH, Vienna 50.0 0.0 50.0 0.0

  0.0  0.0

Net carrying amount at December 31  8.1  9.2

1	 Termination of accounting using the equity method in the 2018 financial year; refer to Note 4.2 Changes in the Scope of Consolidation.

Joint control of OMNITEC Informationstechnologie-
Systemservice GmbH was agreed upon with the remaining 
shareholders on the basis of the respective shareholders’ 
agreement. Due to the fact that the company is operated 
as an individual entity, it is considered to be a joint ven-
ture according to IFRS 11. 

Although the shareholding in ADELHEID GmbH, 
Berlin, amounts to 50.4 %, there is no controlling interest 

pursuant to IFRS 10. On the basis of the existing corporate 
governance, the required voting rights majority to attain 
control of relevant corporate bodies amounts to 66.6 %. 

All shares in associates and joint ventures are 
accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated 
financial statements of Austrian Post pursuant to IAS 28. 
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Reconciliation of Carrying Amounts
 
EUR m 2017 2018

Net carrying amount at January 1 9.6 8.1

Additions arising from acquisitions 3.1 0.0

Additions arising from  
capital increase 0.9 2.1

Decrease from sale of shares –0.6 0.0

Decrease from change in  
accounting method –2.9 0.0

Proportionate share of profit  
for the period –1.8 –0.9

Dividends –0.2 –0.2

Net carrying amount at December 31 8.1 9.2

The additions arising from capital increase in the 
year under review amounted to EUR 1.7 m for ADELHEID 
GmbH and EUR 0.4 m for PHS Logistiktechnik GmbH (2017: 
EUR 0.5 m for ACL advanced commerce labs GmbH and 
EUR 0.4 m for PHS Logistiktechnik GmbH). 

The aggregated net carrying amount of the shares 
in essentially immaterial associates totalled EUR 9.2 m 
(December 31, 2017: EUR 8.1 m). 

sendhybrid ÖPBD GmbH Accounting for sendhybrid 
ÖPBD GmbH in accordance with the equity method was 
terminated effective July 1, 2018. Due to Austrian Post’s 
gaining of a controlling interest based on the increase in 
its stake from 25 % to 51 %, the company was included as 
a fully consolidated company in the consolidated financial 
statements of Austrian Post as of this point in time. 

PHS Logistiktechnik GmbH Austrian Post acquired an 
additional 14 % of the shares in PHS Logistiktechnik GmbH 
effective October 23, 2018. 

ADELHEID GmbH The outstanding liability of EUR 
0.4 m existing as at December 31, 2017, for the purpose of 
paying a premium from capital increases carried out in the 
2016 financial year was settled in the 2018 financial year. 
Austrian Post’s stake in ADELHEID GmbH was increased by 
0.33 %, from 50.12 % to 50.44 %. 

ADELHEID GmbH owns a 100 % stake in AEP GmbH, 
Alzenau, Germany, which supplies pharmaceutical prod-
ucts to pharmacies in Germany under the name “AEP”.

9.5.2 RESULTS FROM FINANCIAL ASSETS ACCOUNTED 
FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD 

The following table breaks down the share of total 
earnings and other comprehensive income of individ-
ual, insignificant associates and joint ventures. The table 
also shows the reconciliation to the results from financial 
assets accounted for using the equity method:

Results of Investments Consolidated at Equity
 
EUR m 2017 2018

Immaterial associates   

Share of profit for the period –1.9 –3.6

Results from financial assets 
accounted for using the equity 
method –1.9 –3.6

Financial assets accounted for using 
the equity method – share of other 
comprehensive income 0.0 0.0

The share of the profit for the period of financial 
assets accounted for using the equity method includes – 
classified as part of the net investments, counterclaims on 
profits for the period and the impairment losses linked to 
these investments for IN TIME SPEDICE, spol. s r.o. to the 
amount of EUR 2.6 m.
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9.6 Other Financial Assets

Dec. 31, 2017 Dec. 31, 2018

 
EUR m

Due within  
1 year

Due in more  
than 1 year Total

Due within  
1 year

Due in more  
than 1 year Total

Securities, other stakes 44.6 36.1 80.6 45.4 10.4 55.8

Other stakes 0.0 50.2 50.2 0.0 51.8 51.8

Derivative financial assets 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.1

Total 44.6 86.4 131.0 45.4 62.4 107.7

Securities essentially relate to investment funds and 
bonds. The securities held by Austrian Post feature an 
investment grade or comparable first-class creditworthi-
ness. Austrian Post only invests in internationally recog-
nised asset management companies.

Other Stakes The book value of other stakes as at 
December 31, 2018, includes shares in Aras Kargo. a.s., 
FinTech Group AG and CEESEG AG.

The 25 % stake held in Aras Kargo a.s. continues to be 
recognised as a financial asset pursuant to IAS 39. The 
company has been managed by a trustee panel appointed 
by the court since the spring of 2017. The trustee panel is 
only responsible to the court. For this reason, there is no 
possibility for the shareholders to exercise any influence. 
The fair value amounted to EUR 25.9 m, a decrease of 
EUR 18.7 m from the previous year. The decline in value 
is reported in other comprehensive income as fair value 
changes through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). 

Within the course of negotiations to establish a joint 
venture designed to provide financial services, Austrian 
Post acquired a stake in FinTech Group AG. The two 
parties mutually agreed to withdraw from this coopera-
tion. The 6.54 % stake in FinTech Group AG is recognised 
as a financial asset pursuant to IFRS 9. This sharehold-
ing is assigned to the category of fair value through 
profit or loss (FVTPL). The fair value corresponds to the 
market value of the shares on the balance sheet date 
and amounts to EUR 20.5 m. 

Due to its being publicly traded on the Vienna Stock 
Exchange, Austrian Post holds an approx. 1.7 % stake in 
CEESEAG AG (fully owned by Wiener Börse AG). The share-
holding in CEESAG AG is recognised as a financial asset 
pursuant to IFRS 9 and is assigned to the category fair 
value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). The 
carrying amount equalled EUR 5.2 m at the balance sheet 
date. 

Derivative Financial Assets In the 2013 financial 
year, Austrian Post acquired 25 % of the shares of Aras 
Kargo a.s. In addition, Austrian Post was granted the 
unilaterally exercisable right to acquire an additional 
50 % of the shares from the Aras family in the period 
April 1 to June 30, 2016. Austrian Post exercised this call 
option on May 18, 2016. However, differences of opin-
ion exist between Austrian Post and the majority owner 
with respect to the implementation of the call option 
agreement. Austrian Post initiated arbitration proceed-
ings in Geneva to defend Austrian Post’s legal position. 
No agreement had been reached by the balance sheet 
date and no decision had been made within the context 
of the arbitration proceedings. The call option contin-
ued to be stated at zero as at December 31, 2018. 

The book value of the derivative financial assets is 
in connection with the acquisition of sendhybrid ÖPBD 
GmbH. 

For disclosures on determining market values refer 
to Note 10.1 Financial Instruments.
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9.7 Inventories

EUR m Dec. 31, 2017 Dec. 31, 2018

Materials and consumables 10.4 12.2

Less impairment losses –4.3 –4.2

Work in progress buildings 8.9 6.6

Less impairment losses –0.6 –0.6

Merchandise 8.7 4.5

Less impairment losses –1.3 –1.4

Prepayments inventories 0.1 0.2

Services not yet invoiced 0.2 0.0

 22.0 17.3

Work in progress refers to buildings built within the 
context of the Neutorgasse 7 real estate development 
project in Vienna’s inner city, in which case Austrian Post 
is the property developer. Part of this real estate develop-
ment project involves apartments which are to be sold in 
the coming years.

9.8 Trade and Other Receivables

Dec. 31, 2017 Dec. 31, 2018

 
EUR m

Due within  
1 year

Due in more  
than 1 year Total

Due within  
1 year

Due in more 
than 1 year Total

Trade receivables 209.5 0.0 209.5 260.5 0.0 260.5

Receivables from financial assets accounted 
for using the equity method 3.2 1.8 5.0 1.6 0.4 2.1

Other receivables 130.9 17.1 148.0 43.5 14.1 57.6

343.6 19.0 362.6 305.7 14.5 320.2

The receivables from financial assets accounted for 
using the equity method are mainly subordinate share-
holder loans including accrued interest from AEP GmbH, 
Germany, to the amount of EUR 1.6 m (December 31, 2017: 
EUR 1.5 m). In 2017 this item included additional subor-
dinate shareholder loans from sendhybrid ÖPBD GmbH 
totalling EUR 1.5 m and from IN TIME SPEDICE, spol. s r.o., 
Czech Republic, amounting to EUR 0.8 m. The company 
sendhybrid ÖPBD has been included as a fully consoli-
dated company of the consolidated financial statements 
of Austrian Post since July 1, 2018.

Other receivables as at December 31, 2017, included 
repayment claims from employer contributions related 
to the payroll accounting of civil servants in previous 
periods of EUR 56.4 m (December 31, 2018: EUR 0.0 m). 
Furthermore, other receivables as at December 31, 2017, 
also included receivables of EUR 31.0 m (December 31, 
2018: EUR 0.0 m) from BAWAG P.S.K. from the change in 
the cooperation agreement.

With respect to the presentation of impairment losses 
on trade and other payables, refer to Note 10.1 Financial 
Instruments.

IN
FO

R
M

A
TI

O
N



152 - Financial Report 2018 - Austrian Post

9.9 Cash and Cash Equivalents

 
EUR m Dec. 31, 2017 Dec. 31, 2018

Bank balances 96.3 45.2

Short-term deposits (demand 
deposits) 182.2 250.1

Cash on hand 11.5 14.8

Impairment losses on receivables  
due from banks 0.0 –0.2

 290.0 310.0

9.10 Equity

Equity Items The share capital of Austrian Post 
amounts to EUR 337.8 m, which is split into 67,552,638 
ordinary bearer shares with voting rights and entitled to 
participate in profits, and which have a nominal value of 
EUR 5.00. 

At the Annual General Meeting held on April 15, 2015, 
the Management Board of Austrian Post was authorised 
to issue new authorised capital, and the Articles of Asso-
ciation of Austrian Post were correspondingly adapted. 
Contingent upon the approval of the Supervisory Board, 
the share capital of Austrian Post can be increased by up 
to EUR 33,776,320.00 over a period of five years ending 
on April 14, 2020, by issuing up to 6,755,264 new non-
par value bearer shares. Furthermore, the Annual Gen-
eral Meeting voted in favour of a conditional increase of 
the company’s share capital by up to EUR 16,888,160.00 
through the issuance of up to 3,377,632 non-par value 
bearer shares to (i) creditors of financial instruments and 
(ii) for the purpose of granting stock options to employ-
ees and senior managers of Austrian Post or an affiliated 
company. 

At the Annual General Meeting held on April 20, 2017, 
the Management Board was authorised over a period 
of 30 months starting on April 20, 2017, to acquire trea
sury shares comprising up to 10 % of the company’s share 
capital. 

The number of shares outstanding which are entitled 
to dividends developed as follows during the 2018 finan-
cial year:

Shares

Balance at January 1, 2018 67,552,638 

Balance at December 31, 2018 67,552,638 

Weighted average number of shares in the 2018 
financial year 67,552,638 

The main shareholder of Austrian Post on the basis of 
the outstanding shares is Österreichische Beteiligungs AG 
(ÖBAG), Vienna, with a 52.85 % shareholding. 

Austrian Post’s capital reserves resulting from capital 
surplus and contributed capital by shareholders as re
ported in the consolidated statement of changes in equity 
correspond to those reported in the company’s financial 
statements of the parent company Austrian Post. 

Other reserves contain IAS 19 reserves, reserves from 
the revaluation of financial instruments and currency 
translation reserves. The IAS 19 reserves result from ad
justments and changes made to actuarial assumptions 
whose effects are recognised in other comprehensive 
income. The item revaluation of financial instruments en
compasses fair value changes for financial assets classi-
fied as being at fair value through other comprehensive 
income (FVOCI). Gains and losses on changes in the market 
value measurements of financial assets are directly recog-
nised in the reserves without recognition to profit or loss. 
The amounts are shown after tax. The currency translation 
reserves comprise all exchange differences arising from 
the translation of the annual financial statements of the 
company’s subsidiaries and financial assets accounted for 
using the equity method in foreign currencies.

The non-controlling interests relate to M&BM Express 
OOD as well as ACL advanced commerce labs GmbH and 
sendhybrid ÖPBD GmbH. 

The profit for the period in the 2018 financial year 
amounted to EUR 144.2 m (2017: EUR 165.0 m). The profit 
for the period attributable to equity holders of the parent 
company amounted to EUR 143.7 m (2017: EUR 165.2 m). 
In accordance with the provisions stipulated in the Aus-
trian Stock Corporation Act, the basis for the distribution 
of profits is the annual financial statements of Österrei
chische Post AG at the balance sheet date on December 31, 
2018. In this respect, the profit shown in the balance 
totalled EUR 250.2 m (2017: EUR 234.0 m). 

The Management Board will propose a dividend for the 
2018 financial year totalling EUR 140.5 m, corresponding to 
a basic dividend of EUR 2.08 per share (2017: EUR 138.5 m, 
basic dividend of EUR 2.05 per share). 
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The following table shows the composition of other 
comprehensive income for the 2017 and 2018 financial 
years:

2017 Financial Year
Other reserves

 
EUR m IAS 19 reserves

Revaluation  
of financial 

instruments

Currency 
translation 

reserves

Equity attribut- 
able to share- 
holders of the 

parent company
Non-controlling 

interests Equity

Currency translation differences –  
investments in foreign businesses 0.0 0.0 0.7 0.7 0.0 0.7

Currency translation differences –  
reclassification to profit and loss 0.0 0.0 –0.1 –0.1 0.0 –0.1

Changes in the fair value of financial  
assets available for sale 0.0 8.2 0.0 8.2 0.0 8.2

Changes in the fair value of financial  
assets available for sale – reclassification  
to profit or loss 0.0 –11.2 0.0 –11.2 0.0 –11.2

Revaluation of defined benefit obligations –1.2 0.0 0.0 –1.2 0.0 –1.2

Tax effect 0.3 1.2 0.0 1.4 0.0 1.4

Other comprehensive income –0.9 –1.8 0.6 –2.1 0.0 –2.1

2018 Financial Year
Other reserves

 
EUR m IAS 19 reserves

FVOCI  
reserve

Currency 
translation 

reserves

Equity attribut- 
able to share- 
holders of the 

parent company
Non-controlling 

interests Equity

Currency translation differences – 
investments in foreign businesses 0.0 0.0 –0.1 –0.1 0.0 –0.1

Fair value adjustment FVOCI – debt 
instruments – reclassified to profit and loss 0.0 –0.1 0.0 –0.1 0.0 –0.1

Fair value adjustment FVOCI –  
equity instruments 0.0 –18.9 0.0 –18.9 0.0 –18.9

Revaluation of defined benefit obligations 4.1 0.0 0.0 4.1 0.0 4.1

Tax effect –1.0 4.5 0.0 3.4 0.0 3.4

Other comprehensive income 3.1 –14.5 –0.1 –11.5 0.0 –11.5

IN
FO

R
M

A
TI

O
N



154 - Financial Report 2018 - Austrian Post

In the 2017 financial year, the revaluations of the 
shares Austrian Post indirectly held in BAWAG P.S.K. which 
were previously reported in other comprehensive income 
were reclassified to the income statement to the amount 
of EUR 11.4 m following the sale of these shares. 

In the 2018 financial year, fair value changes of eq
uity instruments recognised in the FVOCI reserve mainly 
resulted from the valuation of the shares held in Aras 
Kargo a.s., Turkey. Refer to Note 9.6 Other Financial Assets.

Capital Management The capital management of 
Austrian Post aims at ensuring a suitable capital struc-
ture to serve as the basis for achieving its growth and 

acquisition targets as well as a sustainable increase in 
shareholder value. 

Within the context of its dividend policy for the up
coming years, Austrian Post intends to distribute at least 
75 % of the profit for the period attributable to the share-
holders of the parent company (Group net profit), assum-
ing the continuation of the company’s successful business 
development and that no exceptional circumstances arise. 

Taking the balance sheet total of EUR 1,681.2 m as 
at December 31, 2018, as a basis (December 31, 2017: 
EUR 1,674.2 m), the equity ratio as at December 31, 2017, 
equalled 41.6 % (December 31, 2017: 41.7 %). 

9.11 Provisions

Dec. 31, 2017 Dec. 31, 2018

 
EUR m

Due within  
1 year

Due in more  
than 1 year Total

Due within  
1 year

Due in more 
than 1 year Total

Provisions for termination benefits 3.3 101.6 104.9 3.9 97.2 101.0

Provisions for jubilee benefits 8.2 77.5 85.7 6.9 80.0 86.8

Other employee provisions 101.9 204.8 306.7 104.6 208.1 312.6

Other provisions 65.4 1.1 66.5 49.5 1.1 50.6

 178.6 385.1 563.7 164.8 386.3 551.1

9.11.1 PROVISIONS FOR TERMINATION AND  
JUBILEE BENEFITS 

2017 Financial Year
 
EUR m Termination benefits Jubilee benefits Total

Present value of the obligation at January 1, 2017 103.6 92.4 196.0

Current service cost 5.0 4.8 9.8

Interest expense 1.7 1.2 3.0

Actuarial gains (–) and losses (+) from the change in demographic assumptions 0.1 –0.1 0.1

Actuarial gains (–) and losses (+) from the change in financial assumptions –0.1 –1.7 –1.8

Experience adjustments 1.1 –5.6 –4.5

Actual payments –6.6 –5.4 –12.1

Present value of the obligation at December 31, 2017 104.9 85.7 190.5
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2018 Financial Year
 
EUR m Termination benefits Jubilee benefits Total

Present value of the obligation at January 1, 2018 104.9 85.7 190.5

Current service cost 4.9 4.4 9.3

Interest expense 2.0 1.3 3.3

Actuarial gains (–) and losses (+) from the change in demographic assumptions –1.4 10.0 8.6

Actuarial gains (–) and losses (+) from the change in financial assumptions –3.2 0.0 –3.2

Experience adjustments 0.5 –7.4 –6.9

Actual payments –6.6 –7.1 –13.7

Present value of the obligation at December 31, 2018 101.0 86.8 187.9

Actuarial gains and losses arise from the adjust-
ments to the parameters for the discount rate, salary in
creases, and employee turnover as described in Note 6.17 
Provisions for Termination Benefits and Jubilee Benefits. 
Actuarial gains and losses as well as adjustments to ter
mination benefits made from experience are recognised 
in other comprehensive income. Actuarial gains and losses 
as well as adjustments to jubilee benefits made from ex
perience are recognised in staff costs. The application of 

the new calculation base for the social security system 
(“mortality tables”) led to an increase in the provisions 
for jubilee benefits to the amount of EUR 10.0 m, which is 
included in the losses from the change of demographic 
assumptions. 

Expenses for termination benefits and jubilee ben-
efits are included under staff costs in the consolidated 
income statement, with the exception of the interest ex
pense, which is included in the financial result.

9.11.2 OTHER EMPLOYEE PROVISIONS 

2017 Financial Year
 
EUR m Under-utilisation

Other employee 
related provisions Total

Balance at January 1, 2017 167.6 91.4 259.0

Transfer –7.4 –2.3 –9.7

Allocation 79.6 74.7 154.3

Use –16.9 –51.1 –68.0

Reversals –10.0 –20.5 –30.5

Accrued interest 1.7 0.0 1.7

Balance at December 31, 2017 214.5 92.1 306.7
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2018 Financial Year
 
EUR m Under-utilisation

Other employee 
related provisions Total

Balance at January 1, 2018 214.5 92.1 306.7

Change in the consolidation scope 0.0 0.2 0.2

Transfer –5.0 0.0 –5.0

Allocation 26.3 86.7 113.0

Use –19.5 –50.0 –69.5

Reversals –12.4 –22.8 –35.2

Accrued interest 2.5 0.0 2.5

Balance at December 31, 2018 206.4 106.2 312.6

Provisions for Under-utilisation Refer to Note 6.18 
Provisions for Under-utilisation for details on the account-
ing and valuation methods underlying the provisions for 
under-utilisation. 

On balance, the development of provisions for 
under-utilisation showed an allocation of EUR 26.3 m in 
the 2018 financial year. This also includes an adjustment 
of the provisions amounting to minus EUR 1.4 m due to the 
change in relevant parameters since the previous year. 
The high level of allocations to provisions in 2017 were 
particularly necessary due to the acceptance of branch 
network employees in the Post Internal Labour Market as 
a result of the termination of the cooperation agreement 
with BAWAG P.S.K. 

Allocations to provisions in the current financial year 
mainly resulted from pension applications submitted 
by civil servants to initiate retirement proceedings on 
grounds of invalidity. (2018: EUR 18.3 m; 2017: EUR 14.3 m) 
and EUR 3.2 m (2017: EUR 9.3 m) for civil servants applying 
to be accepted into the programme enabling a possible 
transfer to the federal public service. The use of provi-
sions related to ongoing payments for the employees in 
the Post Internal Labour Market and was somewhat above 
the prior-year level. The transfer of minus EUR 5.0 m 
related to the provisions for employees transferring to the 
federal public service. Following the final integration of 
employees in the federal ministries, the allocated provi-
sions are to be reclassified as liabilities.

Other Employee-related Provisions Other employee-
related provisions mainly encompass provisions for em
ployee profit-sharing schemes and performance-related 
bonuses, provisions for employees leaving the company 
(stop-gap measures in line with the social plan and pro-
grammes with voluntary termination benefit offers) and 
restructuring provisions.

Allocation to provisions of EUR 86.7 m (2017: EUR 
74.7 m) primarily relates to allocations for employee profit-
sharing schemes and performance related bonuses (2018: 
EUR 55.3 m, 2017: EUR 58.4 m) and restructuring provi-
sions in the Mail & Branch Network (2018: EUR 21.5 m; 
2017: EUR 0.1 m) as a consequence of the termination of 
the cooperation agreement with BAWAG P.S.K.

The use of provisions totalling EUR 50.0 m refers to 
payments for employee profit-sharing schemes and per-
formance related bonuses (2018: EUR 46.1 m; 2017: EUR 
42.1 m) and programmes involving voluntary termination 
benefit offers (2018: EUR 1.7 m; 2017: EUR 3.7 m).

The reversal of EUR 22.8 m refers to provisions which 
were not required for programmes involving voluntary ter-
mination benefit offers to the amount of EUR 9.7 m (2017: 
EUR 11.4 m) and EUR 6.5 m (2017: EUR 6.7 m) for provisions 
for employee profit-sharing schemes and performance 
related bonuses. Furthermore, EUR 6.5 m (2017: EUR 1.4 m) 
in provisions were reversed for restructuring provisions 
in the Mail & Branch Network segment.
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9.11.3 OTHER PROVISIONS 

2017 Financial Year

EUR m  

Balance at January 1, 2017 48.4

Transfer –22.7

Allocation 44.8

Use –3.5

Reversals –0.5

Balance at December 31, 2017 66.5

2018 Financial Year

EUR m  

Balance at January 1, 2018 66.5

Allocation 3.3

Use –6.2

Reversals –13.0

Balance at December 31, 2018 50.6

In addition to provisions for litigation and legal 
expenses, auditing and consulting fees as well as provi-
sions for damages, other provisions are also for potential 
compensation payments to the amount of EUR 39.9 m 
(2017: EUR 40.6 m). More information can be found in Note 
7.5 Reclamation of employer contributions related to the 
payroll accounting of civil servants. The reversal of provi-
sions to the amount of EUR 13.0 m related to risks which 

did not materialise in connection with audits carried out 
by tax authorities and litigation risks.

The transfer in the previous year was for uncertain 
liabilities in connection with statutory levies and contribu
tions to the amount of EUR 22.7 m. It was reclassified as 
other liabilities following an agreement reached with the 
federal government. 
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9.12 Other Financial Liabilities

Dec. 31, 2017 Dec. 31, 2018

 
EUR m

Due within  
1 year

Due in more  
than 1 year Total

Due within  
1 year

Due in more 
than 1 year Total

Borrowings from banks 3.1 0.0 3.1 6.4 0.2 6.6

Finance lease liabilities 0.4 3.4 3.8 0.4 3.3 3.7

 3.4 3.4 6.8 6.8 3.5 10.3

9.13 Trade and Other Payables

Dec. 31, 2017 Dec. 31, 2018

 
EUR m

Due within  
1 year

Due in more  
than 1 year Total

Due within  
1 year

Due in more 
than 1 year Total

Trade payables 189.7 0.1 189.7 200.9 0.1 201.0

Payables from financial assets accounted  
for using the equity method 1.1 0.0 1.1 0.7 0.0 0.7

Other liabilities 160.4 39.3 199.6 131.3 31.0 162.3

 351.2 39.3 390.5 333.0 31.1 364.0

In addition to liabilities to tax authorities and social 
security institutions totalling EUR 35.7 m (December 31, 
2017: EUR 38.0 m), other liabilities also include liabili-
ties for holiday entitlements not taken to the amount of 

EUR 33.3 m (December 31, 2017: EUR 33.7 m) and pay-
ments received in advance for services which have not yet 
been provided totalling EUR 2.8 m (December 31, 2017: 
EUR 26.4 m). 
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9.14 Income Tax
 
EUR m 2017 2018

Income tax expense for the current year 49.2 51.5

Tax credits arrears from prior tax years 1.3 5.0

Deferred tax expense/income 5.1 –2.9

 55.6 53.6

A tax audit for the years 2011 – 2014 carried out by 
financial authorities was concluded in 2018. The income 
tax burden resulting from the tax audit amounts to EUR 
3.3 m (of which EUR 2.2 m was already recognised in the 
2017 financial year). 

Reconciliation of Deferred Tax Expense The corpo-
rate tax rate for the Group is defined as the relation of the 
actual income tax expense for the period to the earnings 
before tax, corresponding to a rate of 27.1 % in 2018 (2017: 
25.2 %). 

The reconciliation of the deferred tax expense in the 
Austrian Post Group is based on the legally applicable tax 
rate for the parent company in Austria of 25 %. Deviations 
from the statutory tax rates for subsidiaries are pres
ented in a separate reconciliation. 

The reconciliation between the expected and recog-
nised tax expense is as follows:

 
EUR m 2017 2018

Profit before tax 220.6 197.8

Expected taxes on income 55.1 49.4

Tax deductions due to   

Write-down of subsidiaries to lower going concern value –5.1 –3.1

Adjustments to foreign tax rates 0.0 –0.1

Other tax-reducing items –1.9 –1.3

 –7.0 –4.5

Tax increases due to   

Impairment losses on goodwill 1.1 0.5

Adjustments to foreign tax rates 0.4 0.0

Changes in the consolidation scope 0.1 0.0

Losses not affecting taxes (accounted for using the equity method) 0.5 0.9

Appreciation subsidiaries 0.0 0.5

Other tax-increasing items 3.3 3.8

 5.4 5.8

Income tax expense for the period 53.5 50.7

Adjustment of actual income tax expenses/income from prior years 1.3 5.0

Adjustment of deferred tax expenses/income from prior years –0.7 –3.6

Change in unrecognised deferred tax assets 1.5 1.5

Current tax expense 55.6 53.6
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INFORMATION ON DEFERRED TAX ASSETS  
AND LIABILITIES

The effects on the deferred tax reported on the bal-
ance sheet of the temporary differences between the 
amounts shown in the consolidated financial statements 
and those recognised for tax purposes were as follows:

EUR m Dec. 31, 2017 Dec. 31, 2018

Deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences   

Goodwill 0.6 0.4

Customer relationships 0.6 0.6

Trademarks 0.2 0.1

Other intangible assets 0.0 0.8

Property, plant and equipment 2.1 2.8

Financial assets (write-down to lower going concern value) 41.1 39.1

Inventories 0.2 4.1

Receivables 0.1 0.9

Provisions 28.5 35.2

Liabilities and contract liabilities 1.7 1.6

Cash and cash equivalents 0.0 0.1

 75.1 85.7

Deferred tax liabilities arising from temporary differences   

Goodwill –0.2 –0.2

Customer relationships –0.3 –0.1

Trademarks –0.1 –0.1

Other intangible assets –1.3 –1.5

Property, plant and equipment –1.9 –0.8

Other financial assets –0.3 –0.1

Inventories –0.2 –0.1

Contract assets 0.0 –5.9

Liabilities 0.0 –0.1

 –4.2 –9.1

Deferred tax arising from loss carry-forwards 0.3 0.2

less: deferred tax assets not recognised –0.1 –0.1

Total net deferred tax 71.1 76.8

Recognition of total net deferred tax in the consoli-
dated balance sheet is as follows:

EUR m Dec. 31, 2017 Dec. 31, 2018

Recognition in the consolidated balance sheet   

Deferred tax assets 72.2 77.6

Deferred tax liabilities –1.1 –0.8

Total net deferred tax 71.1 76.8
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The development and breakdown of the entire changes 
to deferred taxes affecting income or recognised directly 
in equity are presented in the following table:

 
EUR m Deferred tax assets Deferred tax liabilities

Balance at January 1, 2017 76.4 0.9

Changes affecting net income –5.6 –0.5

Changes recognised directly in equity   

Available for sale securities 1.2 0.0

Revaluation of defined benefit obligation 0.3 0.0

Additions arising from acquisitions 0.0 0.7

 1.4 0.7

Balance at December 31, 2017 72.2 1.1

   

Balance at January 1, 2018 72.2 1.1

Changes affecting net income 2.6 –0.3

Changes recognised directly in equity   

Fair value adjustment FVOCI – equity and debt instruments 3.8 0.0

Revaluation of defined benefit obligation –1.0 0.0

IFRS 9 adjustment 1.9 0.0

IFRS 15 adjustment –1.7 0.0

Additions arising from acquisitions –0.2 0.0

 2.8 0.0

Balance at December 31, 2018 77.6 0.8

The following temporary differences were not recog-
nised due to the improbability of their being taxable earn-
ings in the future to which the Group can apply deferred 
tax assets. The timing of the ability to recognise tax loss 
carryforwards is as follows:

EUR m Dec. 31, 2017 Dec. 31, 2018

Unrecognised temporary differences from:   

Loss carry forwards 30.7 37.8

thereof due within not later than 2 years 0.0 0.0

thereof due within 3 – 4 years 0.0 0.3

thereof due within 5 – 6 years 0.3 3.8

thereof due later than 6 years 0.0 0.0

due within an indefinite period of time 30.3 33.7

Other temporary differences 0.6 0.5

 31.3 38.3

Temporary differences totalling EUR 38.0 m (Decem
ber 31, 2017: EUR 28.4 m) in connection with invest-
ments in subsidiaries (outside basis differences) were 

not recognised, due to the fact that these temporary 
differences are not likely to be reversed in the foresee
able future.
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10. Financial Instruments and 
Related Risks

10.1 Financial Instruments

10.1.1 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
The following tables show the book value of the finan-

cial assets and liabilities in line with the measurement 
categories according to IFRS 9 and their classification in 
the fair value hierarchy of IFRS 13. Comparative informa-
tion for previous periods was not adjusted. Accordingly, 
the presentation of the book value of the financial assets 
and liabilities as at December 31, 2017, is in accordance 
with the measurement categories in IAS 39.

2017 Financial Year
 
 
EUR m Level

At fair value 
through profit 

or loss
Available  

for sale
Loans and  

receivables
Recognised at 

amortised cost Total

Financial assets       

Measurements carried out at fair value       

Securities 1 0.0 80.6 0.0 0.0 80.6

Other stakes 3 0.0 50.2 0.0 0.0 50.2

  0.1 130.8 0.0 0.0 131.0

Measurements not carried out at fair value       

Trade receivables – 0.0 0.0 209.5 0.0 209.5

�Receivables from financial assets accounted 
for using the equity method – 0.0 0.0 5.0 0.0 5.0

Other receivables  1 – 0.0 0.0 43.4 0.0 43.4

Cash and cash equivalents – 0.0 0.0 290.0 0.0 290.0

  0.0 0.0 547.9 0.0 547.9

Financial liabilities       

Measurements carried out at fair value       

Contingent consideration 3 3.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.5

  3.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.5

Measurements not carried out at fair value       

Other financial liabilities – 0.0 0.0 0.0 6.8 6.8

Trade payables – 0.0 0.0 0.0 189.7 189.7

�Payables from financial assets accounted for 
using the equity method – 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.1 1.1

Other liabilities  2 – 0.0 0.0 0.0 95.0 95.0

  0.0 0.0 0.0 292.7 292.7

1	 Excluding prepayments and receivables from tax authorities and social security carriers
2	 Excluding payments received in advance and liabilities to tax authorities and social security carriers as well as not consumed vacation
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2018 Financial Year

 
 
EUR m Level

At fair value 
through profit or 

loss (FVTPL)

At fair value 
through other 

comprehensive 
income (FVOCI)

Recognised at 
amortised cost Total

Financial assets      

Measurements carried out at fair value      

Securities 1 44.4 11.4 0.0 55.8

Other stakes      

At fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 1 20.5 0.0 0.0 20.5

At fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 3 0.0 31.3 0.0 31.3

  20.5 31.3 0.0 51.8

Derivative financial assets 3 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1

  65.0 42.7 0.0 107.7

Measurements not carried out at fair value      

Trade receivables – 0.0 0.0 260.5 260.5

�Receivables from financial assets accounted  
for using the equity method – 0.0 0.0 2.1 2.1

Other receivables  1 – 0.0 0.0 15.5 15.5

Cash and cash equivalents – 0.0 0.0 310.0 310.0

  0.0 0.0 588.0 588.0

Financial liabilities      

Measurements carried out at fair value      

Contingent consideration 3 2.5 0.0 0.0 2.5

  2.5 0.0 0.0 2.5

Measurements not carried out at fair value      

Other financial liabilities – 0.0 0.0 10.3 10.3

Trade payables – 0.0 0.0 201.0 201.0

�Payables from financial assets accounted  
for using the equity method – 0.0 0.0 0.7 0.7

Other liabilities  2 – 0.0 0.0 85.0 85.0

  0.0 0.0 297.0 297.0

1	 Excluding prepayments and receivables from tax authorities and social security carriers
2	 Excluding payments received in advance and liabilities to tax authorities and social security carriers as well as not consumed vacation
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The following table shows the comparison of the book 
value and fair value of other financial liabilities:

Dec. 31, 2017 Dec. 31, 2018

EUR m Book value Fair value Book value Fair value

Other financial liabilities     

Borrowings from banks 3.1 3.1 6.6 6.6

Finance lease liabilities 3.8 3.8 3.7 3.7

Other financial liabilities 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

 6.8 6.8 10.3 10.3

In the case of all other financial assets and liabilities, 
which are not measured at fair value, it is assumed that 
the fair values correspond to the book value due to the 
primarily short-term nature of these items.

10.1.2 INFORMATION ON DETERMINING FAIR VALUES 
The following table shows the valuation method and 

the input factors used in determining fair values:

Level Financial Instruments Valuation method Input factors

MEASUREMENTS CARRIED OUT AT FAIR VALUE

1 Securities, other stakes Market approach Nominal values, stock market price

3 
 

Other stakes 
 

Market approach or net 
present value approach 

Multiples of comparable companies; Business plans and  
related probability-weighted scenarios; risk-weighted discount 
rates (WACC)

3 Derivative financial assets Net present value 
approach

Business plans and related probability-weighted scenarios; 
risk-weighted discount rates (WACC)

3 Contingent consideration Net present value 
approach

Business plans and related probability-weighted scenarios; 
discount rates

MEASUREMENTS NOT CARRIED OUT AT FAIR VALUE

3 Trade receivables and other receivables – Book value as realistic estimates of fair value

3 Other financial liabilities Net present value  
approach

Payments related to financial instruments, market interest rates 
of comparable financing

3 Trade payables and other payables – Book value as realistic estimates of fair value
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Material sensitivities in determining the fair values 
of Level-3 financial instruments can arise from changes 
to the underlying market data of comparable companies 
as well as in the input factors (especially discount rates 
and planning data) applied in determining the net pres-
ent value. No transfers between the Levels 1, 2 and 3 took 
place during the year under review. 

In relation to determining the fair value of Aras Kargo 
a.s., a variation in the following key input factors as well as 
in the exchange rate at the balance sheet date resulted in 
the following sensitivities:

WACC inflation rate
Exchange rate at balance  

sheet date EUR/TRY

EUR m –1 %-point +1 %-point –0.5 %-point +0.5 %-point –10 % +10 %

Fair value Aras Kargo a.s. 3.3 –2.8 5.3 –5.5 2.9 –2.4

The following table shows the reconciliation of Level 3 
measurements at fair value applying to financial assets 
and liabilities for the 2017 and 2018 financial years:

Financial Assets

EUR m 2017 2018

Opening balance at January 1 61.1 50.3

Total gains and losses   

Recognised in profit or loss (as other operating income) 0.0 0.2

Recognised in other comprehensive income 8.4 –18.9

Additions 0.2 0.0

Decrease from change in accounting method 0.0 –0.2

Other disposals -19.4 0.0

Closing balance at December 31 50.3 31.4

The loss of EUR 18.9 m recognised in other compre-
hensive income in the 2018 financial year mainly relates 
to the revaluation of Austrian Post’s 25 % stake in Aras 
Kargo a.s. In the 2017 financial year, the gains reported in 

other comprehensive income related to the revaluation of 
the indirectly held shares in BAWAG P.S.K. The disposals 
totalling EUR 19.4 m resulted from the sale of the indi-
rectly held shares in BAWAG P.S.K.

Financial Liabilities

EUR m 2017 2018

Opening balance at January 1 2.1 3.5

Total gains and losses   

Recognised in profit or loss (as other operating income) –0.2 –1.0

Additions from business combinations 3.4 0.0

Payments –1.8 –0.1

Closing balance at December 31 3.5 2.5
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The income recognised in profit or loss in the 2018 
financial year resulted from the revaluation of the residual 
purchase price obligations in connection with the shares 
in ACL advanced commerce labs GmbH and adverserve 
Holding GmbH acquired in previous years. The disposal in 
the 2018 financial year related to the residual purchase 
price payment for the stake in IN TIME SPEDICE, spol. s r.o. 
acquired in the 2017 financial year.

10.1.3 OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
The Austrian Post Group primarily makes use of 

offsetted invoices according to IFRS 7 with internation
al postal providers, in which cases the offset and corre-
spondingly netted amounts are immaterial.

10.1.4 INFORMATION ON THE STATEMENT OF 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

The following table shows the net gains and losses 
from financial instruments included in the statement of 
comprehensive income for the 2017 and 2018 financial 
years:

2017 2018

 
EUR m

Income  
statement

Other com
prehensive income

 
Total

Income 
statement

Other compre-
hensive income

 
Total

At fair value through profit or loss 
(FVTPL)       

Results from disposal 0.2 0.0 0.2 –0.5 0.0 –0.5

Valuation results 0.1 0.0 0.1 –14.6 0.0 –14.6

 0.3 0.0 0.3 –15.1 0.0 –15.1

At fair value through OCI (FVOCI) –  
equity instruments       

Valuation results 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 –18.9 –18.9

 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 –18.9 –18.9

At fair value through OCI (FVOCI) –  
debt instruments       

Results from disposal 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 –0.1 0.0

 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 –0.1 0.0

Available for sale       

Results from disposal 11.0 –11.2 –0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0

Valuation results 0.0 8.2 8.2 0.0 0.0 0.0

 11.0 –3.0 8.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Financial assets measured at  
amortised cost       

Results from disposal 0.0 0.0 0.0 –1.6 0.0 –1.6

Valuation results 0.0 0.0 0.0 –1.2 0.0 –1.2

 0.0 0.0 0.0 –2.8 0.0 –2.8

Loans and receivables       

Valuation results –8.2 0.0 –8.2 0.0 0.0 0.0

 –8.2 0.0 –8.2 0.0 0.0 0.0

 3.1 –3.0 0.1 –17.8 –19.0 –36.8
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The total interest income and expenses for financial 
assets and liabilities calculated according to the effec-
tive interest rate method, with the exception of financial 
instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss 
are presented below:

EUR m 2017 2018

Interest income   

Cash and cash equivalents 0.5 0.3

Other financial assets 0.2 0.1

 0.6 0.4

Interest expenses   

Other financial liabilities –0.3 –0.3

 –0.3 –0.3

10.2 Risks and Risk Management Related to 
Financial Instruments

10.2.1 PRESENTATION OF TYPES OF RISKS 
The following risks exist as a result of the financial 

instruments deployed by the Austrian Post Group:
■  � Credit risk
■  � Liquidity risk 
■  � Market risk

Default Credit Risk
Default risk for the Austrian Post Group involves the 

possibility of contractual partners being unable to fulfil 
their obligations from the operating business and finan-
cial transactions. The amounts reported on the assets side 
of the balance sheet represent the maximum creditwor-
thiness and default risk. Where there are recognisable 
default risks in respect to the financial assets, impair-
ments are made to account for them. Refer to Note 6.13 
Financial Assets and Liabilities.

The overall risk attached to receivables is low, as 
most of the customers have agreed to direct debit ar
rangements, have arranged for bank guarantees in risky 
cases or have paid in advance. In addition, most of the 
outstanding amounts are owed by contracting partners 
which have excellent credit ratings. 

In order to minimise default risk relating to securi-
ties, Austrian Post’s portfolio of securities is restricted 
to papers from issuers with an investment grade rat-
ing or a comparable level of credit-worthiness. Austrian 
Post only invests in investment funds managed by inter
nationally reputably asset management companies. 
Particularly close attention is paid to the liquidity and 
low exposure to settlement risk of the financial products. 
Money market transactions are subject to fixed trad-
ing limits. 

The gross book value of the main classes of default 
risk within the Austrian Post Group as at December 31, 
2018, is as follows:

December 31, 2018
General approach Simplified approach

Expected 12 months 
credit loss

Expected credit loss over  
contract period

Expected credit loss over  
contract period

EUR m
Gross carrying 

amount total  

significant increase 
in the credit risk,  
but not impaired impaired

not  
impaired impaired

Trade receivables 263.5 – – – 257.5 6.0

Other receivables 16.6 14.0 1.2 1.4 – –
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The overall default risk of all securities in the category 
FVOCI in Austrian Post’s portfolio and receivables from 
banks is considered to be low, and is not presented here 
due to the immaterial amounts involved. 

Trade Receivables The Austrian Post Group applies 
the simplified approach pursuant to IFRS 9 to determine 
expected credit losses. Accordingly, impairment losses 

are recognised for trade receivables to the amount of the 
expected credit losses over their term. Trade receivables 
are classified according to common credit risk character-
istics and days overdue (matrix) in order to measure the 
expected credit losses. 

On this basis, impairment losses on trade receivables 
as at January 1, 2018, and December 31, 2018, were calcu-
lated as follows:

January 1, 2018
Overdue

EUR m Not overdue 1 – 30 days 31 – 90 days > 90 days Total

Gross book value 169.4 47.4 3.9 4.1 224.7

Expected loss rate 1.1 % 0.3 % 3.3 % 36.4 % 1.6 %

Impairment losses 1.9 0.2 0.1 1.5 3.7

December 31, 2018
Overdue

EUR m Not overdue 1 – 30 days 31 – 90 days > 90 days Total

Gross book value 209.8 41.4 6.4 6.0 263.5

Expected loss rate 0.1 % 0.3 % 3.9 % 40.5 % 1.1 %

Impairment losses 0.2 0.1 0.2 2.4 3.0
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Other Receivables The calculation of expected 
credit losses for other receivables takes place in accord-
ance with the general approach pursuant to IFRS 9, in 
which case practical expedients are applied in line with 
IFRS 9.B5.5.35 due to the type and scope of the receiv
ables. In order to measure the expected credit losses, 
other receivables, classified into receivables from 
claims for damages and sundry receivables, are grouped 
according to days overdue (matrix). Impairment losses 
of EUR 1.2 m were recognised as at December 31, 2018. 

The underlying reason for the strong decline in impair-
ment losses is the disposal of disputed trade receivables 
from BAWAG P.S.K., for which impairment losses were 
already recognised as at December 31, 2017. Furthermore, 
other receivables with a contractual value of EUR 0.5 m 
and which are still subject to enforcement measures were 
derecognised in the reporting period.

On this basis, impairment losses on the main default 
risk classes developed as follows:

2018 Financial Year
Other receivables Trade receivables

Expected credit loss over  
contract period

Expected credit loss over  
contract period

EUR m

Expected  
12 months  
credit loss

significant 
increase in the 
credit risk, but 

not impaired impaired Total
not  

impaired impaired Total

Balance at January 1, 2018 0.2 0.0 6.1 6.3 1.1 2.6 3.7

Derecognition 0.0 0.0 –4.7 –4.7 0.0 –1.3 –1.3

Net revaluation 0.0 0.0 –0.4 –0.4 –0.5 1.1 0.6

Balance at December 31, 2018 0.2 0.0 0.9 1.2 0.6 2.4 3.0

Securities in the Category FVOCI All securities in 
the category FVOCI in Austrian Post’s portfolio feature a 
low risk of default. The impairment loss was recognised 
to the amount of the expected 12-month credit loss. A low 
default risk remains for securities as long as an invest-
ment grade rating exists. The impairment losses recognised 
as at December 31, 2018, involve immaterial amounts. 

Receivables from Banks Receivables from banks 
include cash holdings with credit institutions and short-
term investments (time deposits). The calculation of the 
expected credit losses is carried out in accordance with 
the general approach according to IFRS 9 to the amount 
of the expected credit losses and the actual remaining 
term to maturity of the receivables. Impairment losses 
on receivables from banks were recognised for the first 

time with the transition to IFRS 9. Impairment losses 
of EUR 0.1 m were recognised despite the immaterial 
amounts involved. 

Liquidity Risk
The purpose of Austrian Post’s liquidity management 

procedures is to maintain the solvency of the Group at 
all times. The liquidity management system is based on a 
liquidity plan which is regularly subject to target/perfor-
mance comparisons and adjusted as necessary. Net inter-
est income is maximised by actively managing payment 
systems. 

The following tables show the maturity dates of the 
gross payment obligations:
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December 31, 2017

Term to maturity

EUR m Book value Gross cash flow Within 1 year 1 – 5 years More than 5 years

Financial liabilities      

Other financial liabilities 6.8 6.8 3.5 1.1 2.2

Trade payables 189.7 189.7 189.7 0.1 0.0

Payables from financial assets accounted  
for using the equity method 1.1 1.1 1.1 0.0 0.0

Other liabilities 95.0 95.3 66.4 28.9 0.0

 292.7 293.0 260.7 30.0 2.2

December 31, 2018

Term to maturity

EUR m Book value Gross cash flow Within 1 year 1 – 5 years More than 5 years

Financial liabilities      

Other financial liabilities 10.3 10.5 6.8 1.4 2.3

Trade payables 201.0 201.0 200.9 0.0 0.1

Payables from financial assets accounted  
for using the equity method 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.0 0.0

Other liabilities 87.4 87.7 63.7 24.0 0.0

 299.5 300.0 272.2 25.4 2.4

Market Risk
Market risks imply the existing risks related to changes 

in market prices. The primary risks for Austrian Post Group 
are from changes in interest rates and foreign exchange 
rates which could impact the company’s assets, financial 
and earnings position.

Interest Rate Risk Interest rate risk implies the risk 
of changes in the value of financial instruments or interest 
payment flows as a result of movements in market inter-
est rates. Interest rate risk includes the risk of changes 
in the present value of fixed interest balance sheet items 
and cash flow risk of variable interest balance sheet items. 
Interest rate risk exists particularly in case of receiva-
bles and payables with maturities of more than one year. 
Such long maturities are not of material importance in the 
operational area but do affect financial investments in 
securities and financial liabilities. 

Management of interest rate risk is based on the port-
folio approach. Normally, it is not individual positions but 
the entire portfolio that is managed, taking account of the 
underlying transactions. For this purpose, selective use 
is made of derivative instruments such as interest rate 
swaps and interest rate caps. There were no derivative 
financial items held by Austrian Post at the balance sheet 
date. The financial portfolio is compared with the bench-
mark on a daily basis. 

If all other parameters remained constant, a change 
in the market interest rate of +/–1 percentage point would 
have the following effects on the items listed in the table 
below:

2017 Financial Year

Market interest rate

EUR m –1 %-point +1 %-point

Other financial result 1.6 –1.6

2018 Financial Year

Market interest rate

EUR m –1 %-point +1 %-point

Other financial result 0.9 –0.5
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Currency Risk Currency risk refers to potential losses 
arising from the market changes in connection with move-
ments in foreign exchange rates. 

There are only limited risks on the asset side of the 
balance sheet arising from currency changes, as deliv-
eries are almost entirely conducted on a euro basis and 
investments in securities and fixed term deposits are also 
almost entirely carried out on a euro basis. Currency risk 
exists in part from service relationships with international 
postal operators settled on the basis of an artificial cur-
rency (special drawing rights). 

A currency risk exists as well from the stake held in 
Aras Kargo a.s., Turkey, where changes in exchange rates 
can impact the total fair value (refer to Note 10.1.2 Infor-
mation on determining fair values).

10.2.2 RISK MANAGEMENT 
The finance and risk management policies of Austrian 

Post are aimed at hedging profits against financial risks 
of all kinds. In managing its financial positions, the Group 
fundamentally takes a strategic approach to portfolio 
assessment and follows conservative risk policies. 

The Austrian Post Group continually monitors poten-
tial concentrations of risk. This can arise in the case of 
financial instruments with similar features, terms and 
conditions, for example with respect to terms to maturity, 
counterparty structure and the implementation of the 
investment strategy. Concentration risks are counter-
acted, for example, by the investments of time deposits at 
different banks, the diversification of the securities port-
folio and by spreading the maturity profile.

 A standardised reporting system is used to track risks 
relating to the current financial situation. In addition, 
Austrian Post has clearly defined written strategies and 
operational guidelines for the management of all financial 
risks. 

Risk management is subject to a body of rules devel-
oped by the Management Board, which define the relevant 
objectives, principles, functions and responsibilities. In 
addition, these rules lay down standardised processes, so 
as to provide an assurance of reliable internal auditing.

Furthermore, the organisational risks relating to treas-
ury operations are kept to a minimum by structuring the 
processes involved in an appropriate manner (e. g. keeping 
the trading and accounting of financial transactions sepa-
rate, electronic data storage).

11. Other Disclosures 

11.1 Consolidated Cash Flow Disclosures

In accordance with IAS 7, cash and cash equivalents 
encompass cash in hand and demand deposits and cur-
rent, liquid financial investments, which can be converted 
into specified cash amounts at any time and are only sub-
ject to immaterial movements in value. As a rule, financial 
investments with a remaining time to maturity as calcu-
lated from the acquisition date of not more than three 
months are classified as cash equivalents. 

The cash and cash equivalents included in the consoli-
dated cash flow statement contain time deposits redeem-
able at any time even if their time to maturity goes beyond 
three months. They serve the purpose of being able to ful-
fil short-term payment obligations, but they are not held 
for investment purposes. The primary goal is ongoing cash 
management or securing the liquidity of the company and 
not to achieve the highest possible return on investment. 
Interest rates on matching maturities are used in the case 
of the premature termination of time deposits. When mak-
ing investments, considerable importance is attached to 
the first-class credit ratings of financial institutions. Risks 
relating to value changes for time deposits do not exist at 
the present time. 

Within the context of putting together the consoli-
dated cash flow statement, the cash flows of subsidiaries 
whose functional currency is not the euro are directly con-
verted into euros for reasons of simplification. Potential 
currency translation differences on the company’s finan-
cial resources are considered to be immaterial. 
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Cash Flow Relating to the Acquisition and Disposal 
of Subsidiaries The cash flow arising from the acquisition 
and disposal of subsidiaries is comprised of the following:

EUR m 2017 2018

Acquisitions of subsidiaries   

Cash outflow for acquisitions   

Acquisition date in the current financial year (purchase price) –8.0 –0.9

Outstanding purchase price liability 2.4 0.0

Acquisition date in previous years (remaining purchase price) –1.3 0.0

 –6.9 –0.9

Cash and cash equivalents acquired 1.7 0.0

 –5.2 –0.9

Sale of subsidiaries   

Cash inflows for disposal of subsidiaries   

Time of sale current financial year (sales prices) 1.6 0.0

 1.6 0.0

Disposed cash and cash equivalents –0.7 0.0

 0.8 0.0

Total –4.4 –0.9

Other Non-cash Transactions The other non-cash 
transactions neutralised in the operating cash flow are 
comprised of the following:

EUR m 2017 2018

Results from the disposal of property, plant and equipment –1.6 –1.9

Results from the disposal of financial assets accounted for using the equity method –2.8 0.0

Results from the disposal of financial instruments –11.0 0.5

Measurement of securities and stakes at fair value through profit and loss 0.0 15.7

Net interest income/expense –5.0 –7.4

Currency translation 0.2 0.0

Valuation of receivables 8.2 3.6

Without effect in profit and loss (IAS 19) –1.2 4.1

Effects from termination of collaboration with BAWAG P.S.K. –26.9 0.0

Reclamation of employer contributions related to the payroll accounting –21.0 0.0

Other –1.9 –0.1

Total –63.1 14.6
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Other Financial Liabilities The change in other finan-
cial liabilities in the cash flow contains cash inflows of 
EUR 2.6 m (2017: EUR 1.2 m) from loan liabilities and pay-
ments to the amount of EUR 0.4 m (2017: EUR 0.5 m) from 
obligations relating to financial lease contracts as well as 
payments for other financial liabilities to the amount of 

EUR 0.6 m (2017: EUR 0.0 m). Cash inflows and outflows 
from short-term revolving items are netted in the reported 
amounts pursuant to IAS 7.22 (a). 

The reconciliation of other financial liabilities from 
January 1, 2018, to December 31, 2018, taking account of 
the cash flow from financing activities is as follows: 

2017 Financial Year
 
EUR m

Borrowings  
from banks

Finance lease  
liabilities

Other financial  
liabilities

Other financial  
liabilities total

Balance at January 1, 2017 1.4 4.2 0.0 5.6

Cash flow from financing activities 1.2 –0.5 0.0 0.7

Acquisition of subsidiaries 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.5

Balance at December 31, 2017 3.1 3.8 0.0 6.8

2018 Financial Year
 
EUR m

Borrowings  
from banks

Finance lease  
liabilities

Other financial  
liabilities

Other financial  
liabilities total

Balance at January 1, 2018 3.1 3.8 0.0 6.8

Cash flow from financing activities 2.6 –0.4 –0.6 1.6

Acquisition of subsidiaries 0.9 0.0 0.6 1.5

Balance at December 31, 2018 6.6 3.7 0.0 10.3

Cash and Cash Equivalents The cash and cash equiv-
alents presented in the consolidated cash flow statement 
can be reconciled to the cash and cash equivalents in the 
consolidated balance sheet as follows:

EUR m Dec. 31, 2017 Dec. 31, 2018

Cash and cash equivalents according to the cash flow statement 290.0 310.2

Impairment losses on receivables due from banks 0.0 –0.2

Cash and cash equivalents according to the balance sheet 290.0 310.0
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11.2 Other Obligations

Other financial obligations mainly arise from operat-
ing rental and lease agreements with respect to factory 
and office buildings and to technical plant and machinery, 
furniture and fixtures. 

The future minimum lease payments arising from 
operating lease and rental agreements which cannot be 
terminated before the end of the respective maturity 
period comprise the following:

EUR m Dec. 31, 2017 Dec. 31, 2018

No later than one year 14.7 11.8

Later than one year and not later than five years 33.8 30.5

Later than five years 14.2 12.0

 62.7 54.3

The main rental and leasing agreements for buildings 
used in the production or supply of goods contain exten-
sion and termination clauses, which are in line with normal 
market terms and conditions for business properties. The 
agreements also provide for the indexation of the leasing 
prices. 

In the 2018 financial year, a total of EUR 46.3 m (2017: 
EUR 48.5 m) in payments within the context of operating 
rental and lease agreements were recognised in the in
come statement. This amount mainly relates to minimum 
lease payments. 

Acquisition obligations as at December 31, 2018, 
existed to the amount of approx. EUR 0.5 m (December 31, 
2017: EUR 0.4 m) for intangible assets. Acquisition obliga
tions for property, plant and equipment totalled EUR 
42.4 m as at December 31, 2018 (December 31, 2017: EUR 
23.0 m). 

11.3 Related Party Transactions

The Republic of Austria holds a 52.85 % share in Aus-
trian Post through its privatisation and industrial holding 
company Österreichische Beteiligungs AG (in short ÖBAG, 
formerly Österreichische Bundes- und Industriebeteili-
gungen GmbH, ÖBIB). Consequently, the Republic of Aus-
tria and companies in which it has a controlling interest 
may be considered to be related companies of the Aus-
trian Post Group, along with all subsidiaries, joint venture 
companies and associates. Related persons are members 
of the management team holding key positions (members 
of the Management Board and Supervisory Board as well 
as senior executives of Austrian Post, managing directors 
of Group subsidiaries) and close family members. 

Balances and business transactions between Austrian 
Post and its subsidiaries are eliminated within the context 
of consolidation and correspondingly no explanations are 
provided. Outstanding items with related parties at the 
balance sheet date are recognised under trade receivables 
and trade payables. 

Business transactions with related parties only exist 
within the service portfolio of Austrian Post Group and are 
provided or purchased at standard market rates. 
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The following table shows the extent of business 
transactions with joint venture companies, associates and 
other related companies and persons:

2017 Financial Year
 
EUR m Associates Joint Ventures

Other related  
companies Related persons Total

Total operating income 2.3 0.6 194.4 0.0 197.3

Total operating expenses 7.4 1.5 52.2 0.0 61.2

      

Outstanding receivables 5.0 0.0 21.1 0.0 26.1

Outstanding payables 1.1 0.0 3.5 0.0 4.7

2018 Financial Year
 
EUR m Associates Joint Ventures

Other related  
companies Related persons Total

Total operating income 1.7 0.7 199.4 0.0 201.7

Total operating expenses 6.7 1.4 50.6 0.0 58.7

      

Outstanding receivables 2.0 0.1 27.0 0.0 29.0

Outstanding payables 0.7 0.0 6.0 0.0 6.8

Operating income in the 2017 and 2018 financial 
years mainly refers to services provided by BBG Bundes
beschaffung GmbH, the Federal Procurement Agency. 
There is an agreement in the name of and for the account 
of the federal government for the delivery of postal items 
for federal agencies. In the 2018 financial year, delivery 
services valued at EUR 133.1 m (2017: EUR 129.0 m) were 
provided for the federal agencies stipulated in the agree-
ment.

 Operating expenses mainly refer to IT services and 
telephone services from A1 Telekom Austria AG to the 
amount of EUR 13.6 m (2017: EUR 11.0 m), purchases of re
tail goods from A1 Telekom Austria AG valued at EUR 11.8 m 
(2017: EUR 14.3 m) and energy purchases from the OMV 
Group of EUR 4.6 m (2017: EUR 5.5 m). 

The following table shows the remuneration, including 
changes in provisions, which was paid to key management 
staff: 

2017 Financial Year
 
EUR m Supervisory Board Management Board Senior executives Total

Short-term employment benefits 0.3 4.3 6.8 11.4

Post-employment benefits 0.0 0.3 0.1 0.4

Other long-term employment benefits 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Termination benefits 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Allocation to share-based remuneration programme 0.0 5.4 9.9 15.3

 0.3 10.0 16.8 27.1
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2018 Financial Year
 
EUR m Supervisory Board Management Board Senior executives Total

Short-term employment benefits 0.4 4.4 6.0 10.8

Post-employment benefits 0.0 –0.3 0.2 –0.1

Other long-term employment benefits 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Termination benefits 0.0 0.7 0.0 0.7

Allocation to share-based remuneration programme 0.0 3.5 8.1 11.5

 0.4 8.3 14.3 22.9

11.4 Audit Fees

The fees for the auditor KPMG Austria GmbH Wirt
schaftsprüfungs- und Steuerberatungsgesellschaft in 
the 2017 and 2018 financial years can be broken down as 
follows:

Audit Fees

EUR thousand 2017 2018

Audits   

�Audit of individual and consolidated financial statements of the parent company  
Österreichische Post AG as at December 31st 98.0 98.0

Audits of Austrian Post subsidiaries as at December 31st 147.5 142.8

Other audit related services 16.8 26.4

Other services 56.9 129.8

 319.2 397.0

11.5 Events After the Reporting Period

Events after the balance sheet date that are relevant 
for valuation on the balance sheet date are included in 
these consolidated financial statements.

Effective January 31, 2019, Austrian Post acquired an 
additional 40 % of the shares in D2D – direct 2 document 
GmbH, raising its stake in the company to 70 %. D2D, 

Austria’s largest printing outsourcing service provider, 
handles customer orders, from data transfer and print 
data preparation to enveloping and mailing. Due to the 
largely unchanged corporate governance, Austrian Post 
does not have a controlling interest. For this reason, the 
stake held in D2D continues to be accounted for using 
the equity method.
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11.6 Group Companies

Dec. 31, 2017 Dec. 31, 2018

Company and location Interest %
Method of 

consolidation  1 Interest %
Method of 

consolidation   1

ACL advanced commerce labs GmbH, Graz 70.00 FC 70.00 FC

Austrian Post International Deutschland GmbH, Bonn 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

City Express d.o.o., Belgrade 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

City Express Montenegro d.o.o, Podgorica 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

EMD – Elektronische- u. Mikrofilm-Dokumentationssysteme Ges.m.b.H.,  
Haid bei Ansfelden 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

Express One d.o.o., Sarajevo 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

feibra GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

IN TIME s.r.o., Ivanka pri Dunaji 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

M&BM Express OOD, Sofia 76.00 FC 76.00 FC

Medien.Zustell GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

Neutorgasse 7 Projektentwicklungs AG & Co OG, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

Overseas Trade Co Ltd d.o.o., Hrvatski Leskovac 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

Post 001 Finanzierungs GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

Post 002 Finanzierungs GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

Post 102 Beteiligungs GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

Post 104 Beteiligungs GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

Post 106 Beteiligungs GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

Post 107 Beteiligungs GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

Post 108 Beteiligungs- und Dienstleistungs GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

Post 202 Beteiligungs GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

Post 206 Beteiligungs GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

Post 207 Beteiligungs GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

Post 301 Beteiligungs GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

Post E-Commerce GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

Post Immobilien GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

Post & Co Vermietungs OG, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

Post.Wertlogistik GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

PROWERB Gesellschaft für produktive Werbung GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

Scanpoint GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

Scanpoint Slovakia s.r.o., Nitra 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

sendhybrid ÖPBD GmbH, Graz 26.00 EM 51.00 FC

Slovak Parcel Service s.r.o., Ivanka pri Dunaji 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

Post Systemlogistik GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

trans-o-flex Group     

trans-o-flex Logistics Group GmbH, Weinheim 100.00 NC 100.00 NC

LogIn Service d.o.o., Ilidza 100.00 NC 100.00 NC

Distributions GmbH – 31, Cologne 100.00 NC 100.00 NC

Distributions GmbH Dortmund, Dortmund 100.00 NC 100.00 NC

Distributions GmbH Duisburg, Duisburg 100.00 NC 100.00 NC

Express One Hungary Kft. (formerly trans-o-flex Hungary Kft), Budapest 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

Weber Escal d.o.o., Hrvatski Leskovac 100.00 FC 100.00 FC
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Dec. 31, 2017 Dec. 31, 2018

Company and location Interest %
Method of 

consolidation  1 Interest %
Method of 

consolidation   1

ADELHEID/AEP     

ADELHEID GmbH, Berlin  2, 3 50.12 EM 50.44 EM

AEP GmbH, Alzenau  2, 3 50.12  50.44  

adverserve     

adverserve Holding GmbH, Vienna  2 49.00 EM 49.00 EM

adverServe digital advertising Services Gesellschaft m.b.H., Vienna  2 49.00  49.00  

adverServe digital advertising Services d.o.o., Zagreb  2, 4 36.75  36.75  

adverServe digital advertising Services Schweiz GmbH, Zurich  2 49.00  49.00  

adverServe digital advertising Services Deutschland GmbH, Hamburg  2 49.00  49.00  

D2D – direct to document GmbH, Vienna 30.00 EM 30.00 EM

IN TIME SPEDICE, spol. s r.o., Prague 31.50 EM 31.50 EM

OMNITEC Informationstechnologie-Systemservice GmbH, Vienna 50.00 EM 50.00 EM

PHS Logistiktechnik GmbH, Graz 26.00 EM 40.00 EM

1	 FC – Full consolidation, NC – Subsidiary not consolidated due to immateriality, EM – Equity method
2	 The profit for the period of assets accounted for using the equity method corresponds to the proportionate profit for the period of the respective group
3	 No controlling influence due to a contractual agreement or legal circumstances
4	 No material influence due to a contractual agreement or legal circumstances

OTHER INVESTMENTS

 
Company and location Interest %

Equity  
EUR m

Profit for  
the period  

EUR m

Aras Kargo Yurtici Yurtdisi Tasimacilik a.s., Istanbul 25.00 33.8 6.2

EURODIS GmbH, Weinheim 37.46 0.4 0.0

The Management Board of Austrian Post approved the 
audited consolidated financial statements for the finan-
cial year ending on December 31, 2018, for transmission to 
the Supervisory Board on February 22, 2019. The Super
visory Board is responsible for reviewing and approving 
the audited consolidated financial statements.

Vienna, February 22, 2019

The Management Board

GEORG PÖLZL 
Chairman of the Management Board
Chief Executive Officer

WALTER OBLIN 
Deputy Chairman of the Management Board
Mail & Direct Mail, Finance

PETER UMUNDUM 
Member of the Management Board
Parcel & Logistics, Logistics Networks
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AUDIT OPINION

Report on the Consolidated 
Financial Statements 

Audit Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial state
ments of 

Österreichische Post Aktiengesellschaft, Vienna, 

(“Austrian Post”) and its subsidiaries (Austrian Post 
Group, hereafter “the Group”) consisting of the consol
idated balance sheet as at December 31, 2018, the con
solidated income statement, the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income, the consolidated cash flow 
statement and the consolidated statement of changes in 
equity for the fiscal year ending on this date as well as 
the notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial state-
ments comply with legal requirements and give a true 
and fair view of the financial position of the Group as 
at December 31, 2018, and of its financial performance 
and its cash flows for the fiscal year ending on this date 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU, and the addi-
tional stipulations contained in Section 245a Austrian 
Commercial Code.

Basis for the Auditor’s Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Regula-
tion (EU) No 537/2014 (requirements relating to the stat-
utory audit of public interest entities as well as generally 
accepted accounting principles in Austria. These stand-
ards require the application of International Standards on 
Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards 
and additional guidelines are further described in the 
“Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consoli-
dated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are 
independent of the Group in accordance with the require-
ments of Austrian commercial law and the rules of pro-
fessional conduct, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities applicable in Austria in accordance with 
these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence 

we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our pro-
fessional judgment, were of most significance in our audit 
of the consolidated financial statements for the fiscal 
year. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, 
and in forming our opinion thereon, but we do not provide 
a separate opinion on these matters. 

We have identified the following issues as important 
focal points for the audit:

■  � Valuation of the provisions for employee 
under-utilisation

■  � Termination of the cooperation  
with BAWAG P.S.K.

Valuation of the Provisions for Under-utilisation
Refer to Note 6.18 Provisions for under-utilisation as 

well as Note 7.2 Provisions for under-utilisation as well as 
Note 9.12.2 Other employee provisions of the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements. 

The Financial Statement Risk
The provisions for employee under-utilisation recog-

nised at the balance sheet date amount to EUR 206.4 m. 
The valuation of these provisions requires material 
forward-looking estimates and assumptions about 
future salary increases, employee turnover, the level of 
under-utilisation for the respective employees and the 
applied discount interest rate. Changes in these param-
eters have substantial effects on the amount of these 
provisions and the profit for the period. 

The financial statement risk is that the provisions 
are either over-valued or under-valued, and that for this 
reason the profit for the period is not accurately deter-
mined.

Our Audit Approach
We reviewed the existing documentation for processes 

relating to the valuation of provisions for under-utilisation 
and critically examined whether these processes are 
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suitable to appropriately measure the provisions for 
under-utilisation. Moreover, we identified the main inter-
nal controls and evaluated the key controls with respect 
to their organisation and implementation. 

We judged the appropriateness of calculations with 
respect to salary increases and employee turnover based 
on the company’s past experience.

For a statistically selected number of employees, we 
examined whether the level of under-utilisation underlying 
the valuation reflects the actual situation. 

We reviewed the appropriateness of the assumptions 
used in determining the discount interest rate by compar-
ing them with publicly available information.

Finally, we also assessed whether the information 
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial state-
ments with respect to accounting and valuation methods 
in Note 6.18 Provisions for under-utilisation as well as 
Note 7.2 Provisions for under-utilisation with respect to 
forward-looking assumptions and estimates is applicable 
and appropriate.

TERMINATION OF THE COOPERATION  
WITH BAWAG P.S.K.

Refer to Note 6.1 Revenue from contracts with cus-
tomers and Note 6.2 Termination of the partnership with 
BAWAG P.S.K. in the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements.

The Financial Statement Risk
At the end of 2017 the company concluded an agree-

ment with BAWAG P.S.K. with respect to changing their 
cooperation, followed bv the termination agreement 
concluded on February 21, 2018, specifying a dissolution 
of the partnership with BAWAG P.S.K. by the end of 2020. 
The remuneration stipulated in the termination agreement 
encompasses both a lump-sum payment of EUR 20.1 m 
for the premature termination of the cooperation agree-
ment as well as remuneration for services which have 
yet to be rendered. Due to the expected reduction of the 
financial services to be rendered, a restructuring plan 
was approved for the planned downsizing of the branch 
network staff, and provisions to the amount of EUR 21.5 m 
were allocated.

The accounting treatment of these circumstances 
requires major assumptions to be made. There is the risk 
to the consolidated financial statements that the applied 
valuation and accounting methods are not appropriate 
and that the recognised provisions and contract liability 
as well as the corresponding items in the consolidated 
income statement and thus the profit for the period are 
not accurately determined.

Our Audit Approach
We analysed the documentation for processes in 

connection with the termination of the partnership with 
BAWAG P.S.K. and critically examined whether these 
processes are suitable to appropriately measure the 
impacts. Moreover, we evaluated the key controls with 
respect to their organisation and implementation. 

In order to evaluate the accounting treatment of 
these circumstances, we read the relevant sections of 
the change and termination agreements and the valuation 
and accounting methods which were applied to deter-
mine their appropriateness. Furthermore, we traced the 
allocation of the entire remuneration from BAWAG P.S.K. 
with respect to the lump-sum payment and remuneration 
for services provided as well as regarding the individ-
ual service commitments which have yet to be rendered 
and checked them for accuracy. 

With regard to the restructuring provisions, we inter-
viewed people familiar with the facts, examined the extent 
to which the valuation criteria were fulfilled and traced 
the calculation of the amounts and checked the results for 
accuracy. 

Finally, we also assessed whether the information 
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial state-
ments with respect to accounting and valuation meth-
ods in Note 6.1 Revenue from contracts with customers 
and Note 6.2 Termination of the partnership with BAWAG 
P.S.K. is applicable and appropriate.

 
Responsibilities of the Management Board 
and the Audit Committee of the Supervisory 
Board for the Consolidated Financial 
Statements

The Management Board of Austrian Post is respon-
sible for the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements which comply with IFRS as adopted by the 
EU and the supplementary requirements of Section 245a 
Austrian Commercial Code and give a true and fair view 
of the net assets, financial position and financial perfor-
mance of the Group in accordance with these require-
ments. Furthermore, the Management Board is respon-
sible for such internal control as the Management Board 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from ma
terial misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, 
the Management Board is responsible for assessing the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclos-
ing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
Management Board either intends to liquidate the Group 
or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative 
but to do so. 
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The Audit Committee of the Supervisory Board is 
responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting 
process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the  
Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the consolidated financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion on the consolidated financial state-
ments. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accord-
ance with the Regulation of the Financial Market Author-
ity (FMA) on the Annex to the Audit Report (AP-VO) and 
generally accepted accounting principles in Austria for the 
audit of financial statements requiring compliance with 
ISA will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the eco-
nomic decisions of users taken based on these consoli-
dated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with AP-VO and 
generally accepted accounting principles in Austria requir-
ing compliance with ISA, we exercise professional judg-
ment and maintain professional scepticism throughout 
the audit. 

We also:

■  � Identify and assess the risks of intended or unin-
tended material misstatement of the consolidated 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and plan the carrying out of audit proce-
dures responsive to those risks and obtain audit evi-
dence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may in
volve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, mis-
representations, or the override of internal controls.

■  � Obtain an understanding of the internal control 
system relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circum-
stances, however not for the purpose of giving an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s inter-
nal control system.

■  � Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used by the Management Board and the reason-
ableness of its accounting estimates and related 
disclosures.

■  � Draw conclusions on the appropriateness of the 
Management Board’s use of the going concern basis 
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence ob
tained, whether a material uncertainty exists related 
to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our audi
tor’s report to the related disclosures in the consol
idated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events 
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to con-
tinue as a going concern.

■  � Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consol-
idated financial statements represent the under-
lying transactions and events in a manner that the 
consolidated financial statements give a true and 
fair view of the underlying transactions, events 
and conditions.

■  � Obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence 
regarding the financial information of the entities 
or business activities within the Group to express an 
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the Group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion.

■  � We communicate with the Audit Committee, amongst 
other matters, on the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in the internal control system 
that we identify during our audit.

■  � We also provide the Audit Committee with a state-
ment that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence and commu-
nicate with them all relationships and other mat
ters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safe-
guards.
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■  � From the matters communicated with the audit 
committee, we determine those matters that were 
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these 
matters in our report on the audit of the consoli-
dated financial statements unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter or, 
in extremely rare cases, we determine that spec-
ified circumstances are not to be disclosed in our 
audit opinion, because it can be reasonably assumed 
that the negative consequences of such a disclo-
sure would outweigh the advantage for the public 
interest.

Other Legal and  
Regulatory Requirements

Opinion on the  
Group Management Report

Pursuant to Austrian commercial law regulations, 
the Management Report for the Group is to be audited as 
to whether it is consistent with the consolidated financial 
statement and whether it complies with valid legal stipu-
lations.

The Management Board is responsible for the prepa-
ration of the Group Management Report in accordance 
with Austrian commercial law regulations.

We carried out our audit in compliance with accepted 
professional standards governing the audit of a group 
management report.

AUDIT OPINION
In our view, the Group Management Report of Austrian 

Post complies with valid legal regulations, provides accu-
rate information pursuant to the stipulations of Section 
243a Austrian Commercial Code and is consistent with the 
consolidated financial statements.  

DECLARATION
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the 

Group and its environment obtained in the course of the 
audit, we did not detect any material misstatements in the 
consolidated financial statements.

Other Disclosures

The Management Board is responsible for the other 
disclosures, which contains all information in the Annual 
Report with the exception of the annual financial state-
ments and the consolidated financial statements, the 
Management Report and Group Management Report and 
the related independent auditor’s opinion. The annual 
report will likely be made available to us after the date of 
the independent auditor’s report. 

Our audit opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements does not extend to these other disclosures, 
and we will not provide any kind of assurances on this 
information. 

In connection with our audit of these consolidated 
financial statements, it is our responsibility to read these 
other disclosures, inasmuch as they are already availa-
ble, and to assess, in the light of the knowledge obtained 
in the course of the audit, whether they are materially 
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements, 
and whether they seem to represent a material misrep-
resentation.
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Additional Disclosures Pursuant 
to Article 10 AP-VO

We were elected by the Annual General Meeting held 
on April 19, 2018, to serve as the auditors and contracted 
by the Supervisory Board on August 28, 2018, to audit the 
consolidated financial statements. We have been inter-
ruptedly working as the auditor of the Company since the 
consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2015. 

We declare that the audit opinion in the section 
“Report on the consolidated financial statements” is 

consistent with the additional report submitted to the 
Audit Committee pursuant to Article 11 AP-VO. 

We also declare that we have not performed any 
impermissible non-audit services (Article 5 Para. 1 AP-VO) 
and that we have maintained our independence from the 
Group companies in carrying out the audit.

Responsible auditor
The certified public accountant responsible for carry-

ing out the audit is Mr. Helmut Kerschbaumer.

Vienna, February 27, 2019

KPMG Austria GmbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungs- und Steuerberatungsgesellschaft

Helmut Kerschbaumer m. p.
Certified Public Accountant
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STATEMENT OF LEGAL 
REPRESENTATIVES  
PURSUANT TO SECTION 82  
PARA. 4 (3) AUSTRIAN STOCK 
EXCHANGE ACT

As the legal representatives of Österreichische 
Post AG, we declare, to the best of our knowledge, that 
the consolidated financial statements for the 2018 finan-
cial year, which were prepared in accordance with the 
applicable financial reporting standards, present a fair 
and accurate picture, in all material respects, of the profit, 
asset and financial position of the Group, that the Group 
Management Report presents the business development, 
earnings and overall situation of the Group in such a man
ner as to provide a fair and accurate picture of the profit, 
asset and financial position of the Group, and that the 
Group Management Report also describes the most impor-
tant risks and uncertainties facing the Group.

Vienna, February 22, 2019

The Management Board

GEORG PÖLZL 
Chairman of the Management Board  
Chief Executive Officer

WALTER OBLIN 
Deputy Chairman of the Management Board 
Mail & Direct Mail, Finance

PETER UMUNDUM 
Member of the Management Board
Parcel & Logistics, Logistics Networks
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OVERVIEW OF KEY INDICATORS 
2009 – 2018

Revenue and Earnings
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014  1 2015 2016  2 2017 2018

Revenue EUR m 2,356.9 2,351.1 2,348.7 2,366.1 2,366.8 2,363.5 2,401.9 2,030.5 1,938.9  1,958.5 

Revenue excl. trans-o-flex EUR m 1,834.2 1,820.2 1,791.3 1,839.2 1,862.0 1,863.5 1,903.9 1,895.6 1,938.9  1,958.5 

Other operating income EUR m 89.6 90.5  74.6 72.0 69.7 134.4 99.2 70.1 112.7  96.2 

Raw materials, consumables and  
services used EUR m –766.1  –771.0 –759.8 –766.9 –753.3 –737.5 –749.6 –495.2 –409.9 –441.2 

Staff costs EUR m –1,139.3 –1,120.7  –1,050.8 –1,091.4 –1,073.5 –1,109.5 –1,106.0 –1,035.2 –1,020.1 –1,008.7 

Other operating expenses EUR m –277.0 –288.8 –320.0 –294.8 –298.6 –317.0 –344.0 –294.1 –325.0 –295.7 

Results from financial assets accounted 
for using the equity method EUR m 5.1 1.0  –10.8 –13.9 –6.6 –0.1 1.1 0.9 –1.9 –3.6 

EBITDA EUR m 269.2 262.1 281.9 271.2 304.5 333.8 302.7 277.1 294.6  305.4 

Depreciation, amortisation and 
impairment losses EUR m –119.8 –105.2 –114.4 –88.8 –118.5 –136.9 –213.7 –74.8 –86.8 –94.5 

EBIT EUR m 149.4 156.9 167.5 182.4 186.0 196.9 89.0 202.3 207.8  210.9 

Other financial result EUR m –24.6  –8.2  –5.2 –30.8  –14.8 –2.8 2.0 –0.7 12.8 –13.1 

Earnings before tax EUR m 124.8 148.7 162.3 151.6 171.2 194.0 91.0 201.5 220.6  197.8 

Income tax EUR m –45.1 –30.3  –39.1 –28.4 –47.2 –47.2 –19.5 –48.8 –55.6 –53.6 

Profit for the period EUR m 79.7 118.4 123.2 123.2 124.0 146.8 71.6 152.7 165.0  144.2 

Earnings per share  3 EUR 1.18 1.75 1.82 1.82 1.82 2.17 1.06 2.26 2.45  2.13 

Employees (average for period)

full-time 
equiva-
lents 25,921 24,969 23,369 23,181 24,211 23,912 23,476 21,695 20,524  20,545 

1	�� The presentation of revenue in the Parcel & Logistics Division and raw materials, consumables and services used was adjusted. Exported services were recognised according to the net method  
(previously reported as revenue and expenses for services used).

2	 Change in reporting of gains and losses from the disposal of financial assets accounted for using the equity method, now recognised as other operating income or other operating expenses.
3	 Undiluted earnings per share, on the basis 67,552,638 shares

Cashflow
2009 2010 2011 2012  1 2013  2 2014 2015 2016 2017  3 2018

Gross cash flow EUR m 195.8 134.1 248.6 276.6 304.8 283.3 265.0 274.7 316.6 352.9

Cash flow from operating activities EUR m 230.0 178.9 228.2 246.7 250.4 232.2 216.2 223.6 255.7 295.9

Cash flow from investing activities EUR m 6.9 –25.3 –65.8 –115.4 –189.9 –69.4 –49.0 –105.1 –109.1 –137.5

Free cash flow EUR m 236.9 153.6 162.5 131.3 60.5 162.8 167.2 118.5 146.6 158.4

Operating free cash flow   4 EUR m 182.8 156.4 151.4 172.1 153.9 158.5 160.5 156.8 171.4 161.9

Dividend payout   5 EUR m 101.3 108.1 114.8 121.6 128.4 131.7 131.7 135.1 138.5 140.5

1	� Reporting adapted for 2012: In connection with the offsetting of the reclassification of non-current provisions to current provisions and liabilities, the use of non-current provisions was also recognised 
in the cash flow from changes in net working capital. As a result, the cash flow statement for the 2012 financial year was correspondingly adapted.

2	�� Reporting adapted for 2013: Non-cash changes in provisions which are considered as non-current as well as restructuring provisions are adjusted in the gross cash flow starting in the 2014 financial 
year. The cash flow statement for the 2013 financial year was correspondingly adapted.

3	 Reclassification of taxes paid – reported separately in the cash flow from operating activities
4	� Free cash flow before acqusitions/securities and old/new corporate headquarters, adjusted for major property sales, 2017: excl. change in temporary customer cash holdings not yet remitted to them; 

2018: excl. special effect relating to BAWAG P.S.K. of EUR 70.0 m
5	� Payment of the dividend in the following year, 2018: Proposal to the Annual General Meeting on April 11, 2019
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Balance Sheet
2009 2010 2011 2012  1 2013  1 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Total assets EUR m 1,775.3 1,715.1 1,668.3 1,694.6 1,640.2 1,671.0 1,613.0 1,541.8 1,674.2 1,681.2 

Non-current assets EUR m 1,141.3 1,067.6 1,005.1 1,047.6 1,066.4 1,025.4 909.6 921.0 973.1 978.2 

Current assets EUR m 634.0 647.5 660.4 647.0 571.9 645.0 639.6 618.4 701.1 702.8 

Assets held for sale EUR m 0.0 0.0 2.8 0.0 1.9 0.6 63.8 2.4 0.0 0.3 

Equity EUR m 673.7 690.8 702.0 708.6 699.4 702.7 641.7 670.0 698.8 699.1 

Non-current liabilities EUR m 514.0 479.4 452.9 445.2 423.4 431.4 384.9 395.2 428.9 421.7 

Current liabilities EUR m 587.6 544.9 502.8 540.9 517.5 536.9 516.3 475.6 546.5 560.4 

Liabilities classified as held for sale EUR m 0.0 0.0 10.6 0.0 0.0 0.6 70.0 0.9 0.0 0.0 

Net cash (–)/Net debt (+) EUR m 231.2 126.6 61.5 68.5 112.4 99.7 28.1 –25.7 –10.2 –13.7 

1	 Balance sheet structure following the adjusted presentation of current tax assets and tax liabilities and the recognition of payments received in advance as well as the combining of balance sheet items  

Financial Performance Indicators
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Net debt/EBITDA  1  0.86 0.48 0.22 0.25 0.37 0.30 0.09 – – –

Gearing ratio  1 % 34.3 18.3 8.8 9.7 16.1 14.2 4.4 – – –

Equity ratio % 38.0 40.3 42.1 41.8 42.6 42.1 39.8 43.5 41.7 41.6

Return on equity (ROE) % 13.9 20.7 21.1 21.0 21.2 25.8 12.5 30.0 30.9 25.8

Capital employed EUR m 861.7 767.5 708.9 713.2 753.4 733.8 577.0 567.9 616.4 607.9

Return on capital employed (ROCE) % 16.5 19.3 22.7 25.6 25.4 26.5 13.6 35.3 35.1 34.4

1	� A net cash is reported since 2016. For this reason, this chart does not include the indicators net debt/EBITDA and gearing ratio in 2016 and 2017 due to their limited relevance.

Shares Indicators
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Share price as at December 31 EUR 19.02 24.73 23.30 31.20 34.78 40.38 33.63 31.89 37.42 30.02

Dividends per share EUR 1.50 1.60 1.70 1.80 1.90 1.95 1.95 2.00 2.05 2.08  1

Total shareholder return  
(annual performance incl. dividends) % –10.7 37.9 0.7 41.2 17.2 21.6 –11.9 0.6 23.6 –14.3

Total shareholder return since the IPO % 31.2 69.1 70.0 120.5 148.8 188.3 163.1 164.2 203.8 175.6

Market capitalisation as at December 31 EUR m 1,284.9 1,670.6 1,574.0 2,107.6 2,349.5 2,727.8 2,271.8 2,154.2 2,527.8 2,027.9

1	 Proposal to the Annual General Meeting on April 11, 2019
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SUBSIDIARIES

ACL advanced commerce labs GmbH
Keplerstraße 69
8020 Graz, Austria
T: +43 800 22 33 23
I: acl.at 

Austrian Post International 
Deutschland GmbH 
Heinemannstr. 11 – 13 
53175 Bonn, Germany
T.: +49 (0) 228 932949 0
I: austrianpost.de

City Express d.o.o.
Svetog Save 36
11271 Belgrade, Serbia
T: +381 (0) 11 3093 000
I: cityexpress.rs

City Express Montenegro d.o.o.
Branka Radičevića 12
81000 Podgorica, Montenegro
T: +382 (0) 20 628 818
I: cityexpress.me

EMD GmbH
Stelzhamerstraße 16
4053 Haid, Austria
T: +43 (0) 7229 88 070 0
I: emd.at

Express One d.o.o.
Rajlovačka Cesta bb
71000 Sarajevo,  
Bosnia and Herzegowina
T: +387 (0) 33 756 657
I: expressone.ba

feibra GmbH
Altmannsdorfer Straße 329
1230 Vienna, Austria
T: +43 (0) 166 130 0
I: feibra.at

In Time s.r.o.
Senecká cesta 1
90028 Ivanka pri Dunaji, Slovakia
T: +421 (0) 2 16 160
I: intime.sk

Medien.Zustell GmbH
Rochusplatz 1
1030 Vienna, Austria
T: +43 (0) 664 624 1483

M&BM Express OOD
Boulevard Professor Tsvetan  
Lazarov No. 117
1582 Sofia, Bulgaria
T: +359 (0) 2 902 57 44
I: mbm-express.com

Overseas Trade Co.Ltd. d.o.o.
Zastavnice 38a
10251 Hrvatski Leskovac, Croatia
T: +385 (0) 134 54 555
I: overseas.hr

Post Wertlogistik GmbH
Steinheilgasse 1
1210 Vienna, Austria
T: +43 (0) 664 624 6491  

Scanpoint GmbH
Rochusplatz 1
1030 Vienna, Austria
T: +43 (0) 1 512 21 21 0
I: scanpoint.eu

sendhybrid ÖPBD GmbH
Göstinger Straße 213
8051 Graz, Austria
T: +43 (0) 50 8984 – 0
I: sendhybrid.com

Slovak Parcel Service s.r.o.
Senecká cesta 1
90028 Ivanka pri Dunaji, Slovakia
T: +421 (0) 2 16 877
I: sps-sro.sk

Post Systemlogistik GmbH
Czeija-Nissl-Gasse 8
1210 Vienna, Austria
T: +43 (0) 577 67 20 000
I: postsystemlogistik.at

Express One Hungary Kft.
Európa út 12
1239 Budapest, Hungary
T: +36 (0) 18777 400
I: expressone.hu

Weber Escal d.o.o.
Zastavnice 38a
10251 Hrvatski Leskovac, Croatia
T: +385 (0) 16175 111
I: weber-escal.com
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CONTACT

Österreichische Post AG
Headquarters
Rochusplatz 1
1030 Vienna
T: +43 (0) 577 67 0
E: info@post.at
I: post.at

Investor Relations
Harald Hagenauer
T: +43 (0) 577 67 30401
E: investor@post.at
I: post.at/ir

Corporate Communications
Manuela Bruck
T: +43 (0) 577 67 21897
E: info@post.at
I: post.at/pr

CSR & Environmental Management
Daniel-Sebastian Mühlbach
E: csr@post.at
I: post.at/csr

Compliance
Judith Pilles
T: 0800 202 224  1

E: compliance.helpdesk@post.at
I: post.at/compliance

Private Customers
Post customer service
T: 0800 010 100  1

I: post.at/kundenservice

Business Customers
T: 0800 212 212  1

I: post.at/business

Stamp Collector’s Service
T: 0800 100 197  1

I: post.at/philatelie

Subsidiaries / Contact - 189

If you want to know more about Austrian Post (annual reports, quarterly
reports, etc.), we would be happy to put you on our distribution list.
Please contact:
T: +43 (0) 577 67 30401
E: investor@post.at
I: post.at/ir

1	 For Austria
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FINANCIAL CALENDAR 2019

03/14/2019 Annual results 2018

04/11/2019 Annual General Meeting, Vienna

04/23/2019 Ex-date (dividend)

04/24/2019 Record date (dermination of entitled stocks in connection with dividend payments)

04/25/2019 Dividend payment day

05/16/2019 Interim report for the first quarter of 2019

08/09/2019 Half-year financial report 2019

11/14/2019 Interim report first three quarters 2019

Basic Information Post Share

ISIN AT0000APOST4

Trading symbol (Vienna Stock Exchange) POST

Reuters code POST.VI

Bloomberg code POST AV

Total outstanding shares as at December 31, 2018 67,552,638 shares

Listing Vienna Stock Exchange

Issue price EUR 19.00

First day of trading May 31, 2006

Minimum trading unit  
(smallest tradable number of shares) 1

Type of share Non-par value shares

Stock split None
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We have prepared this report and checked the figures 
with the greatest possible care. Nevertheless, rounding, 
typographical and printing errors cannot be excluded. 
The aggregation of rounded amounts and percentages 
may result in rounding differences due to the use of 
automated computational aids.

This Financial Report also contains forward-looking 
statements based on the information currently available 
to us. These are usually indicated by expressions such 
as “expect”, “anticipate”, “estimate”, “plan” or “calculate”. 
We wish to note that a wide variety of factors could 
cause actual circumstances – and thus actual results – 
to deviate from the forecasts contained in this report.

Statements referring to people are valid for both 
men and women. 

This Financial Report is also available in German.  
In case of doubt, the German version takes  
precedence.

Editorial deadline: March 13, 2019
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